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Chairman’s Message

I have great pleasure in handing over this proceeding of the International

Conference on Money,Finance and Economic Growth:Emerging Issues.

To fullfil the vision”Information to Knowledge and Knowledge to

Wisdom”,  VPM’s Josh-Bedekar College, Thane, India,  has been

organizing National and International Seminars and Conferences on

various subjects, which would enrich and enhance the knowledge of the

students, teachers and research scholars.

This year college has chosen a theme “Money, Finance and Economic

Growth: Emerging Issues”,which is very near and dear to our  people,

society and country as whole. The objectives seem to be very realastic.

There are various factors which influences the growth and development

of an economy such as savings, natural resources, educational attainment,

institutitonal development, effective legal systme, international trade, etc.

We know that countries grow and develop at different rate and it is also

true that India is one of the fastest as well as largest growing economy in

the world. For any countriy’s economic growth and development sound

and robustfinance system is essential. It can be financed through either

internal finance or and external finance.

Conference has covered many facets of this theme such as the role of

finance, reforms in fiscal and financial sector, open and diversified financial

system, fiscal and monetry policies, banking, finance and insurance sector,

financial innovation and financial engineering, RBI’s role, inclusive

development,foreign trade etc.

I wish this International conference a grand success.

Dr. Vijay V. Bedekar,

Chairman ,

Vidya Prasarak Mandal, Thane, Maharshtra, India.
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Combining Finance with Ethics

Finance and growth go together.  In every aspect of life, whether as a

basic and necessary need or as a luxury, money or finance plays a vital

role.

Today’s criteria of differentiating developed countries from

developing countries is money, finance and wealth related issues of money

power.

Food, shelter, clothing, education, industries etc are all dependent

on the availability of finance.

More money signifies a more developed populace — more

advanced and with greater luxuries. Less money signifies

underdevelopment, a poor and underprivileged society.

    According to Indian Philosophy, Money or Artha  is one of the four

Purusharthas,  the others being Kama, Dharma and Moksha.  Artha and

Kama have been given a high status in life but they should be earned and

enjoyed under the overarch of Dharma.  Money is required to do all kinds

of actions whether religious, moral or sacred.  Money is power, and when

someone with such a powerful weapon walks on the path of virtue, he, in

a real sense, makes himself, his society and nation, rich.

Any financial policy not based on ethical principles, any emerging

market without any virtues, or any financial/economic growth based on

immorality, will lead you nowhere. There will only be temporary pleasure

but no long lasting happiness.

Money by itself is blind.  It should be directed properly.

The direction or vision should be given by ethics.  Once money gets a

right direction, it should be utilized to create wealth.  Wealth has different

expressions —  physical, intellectual, industrial, educational, agricultural,

celebral, so on and so forth; and ultimately leads to the creation of

developed countries, refined societies and rational beings.

One who knows the potentiality of money and the strength of

ethics, and knows how and when to combine these two, becomes not

only successful individually, but a visionary leader of men and societies.

It is like a blind man and a lame man who want to reach a destination,

but without each others’ help, cannot do so.  When the lame sits on the

shoulders of the blind and gives him direction, both can complete their

journey.  Money is like the blind man, and ethics is like the lame one.

Both need each other to bring about sustainable, worthy development.

From the Principal’s desk



vi

  Thus, it can be said money without ethics is blind and ethics without money is empty.

As a teacher of philosophy my concerns, along with the usual problems of money, finance and

economic growth, would be:

• How did our wise men try to utilise money on the path of liberation?

• How earning and spending of money is important, but in a virtuous manner?

• How finance or money in itself is zero or nothing, but the moment it is connected to

ethics, it becomes a Purushartha ?

• Last, but not the least, how money without ethics is blind and ethics without money is

empty?

Let there be a dialogue between economists and philosophers.  Let every plan, project and

theory be based on and guided by ethics and morality.  Only then every pleasure produced by money will

result in happiness; excitement created by finance will end in contentment;  and luxury produced by

earning will end in peace.

Let there be prosperity, contentment and peace which is the very essence and purpose of money

and finance.

 I am sure this Conference, besides tackling the nitty-gritties of money, finance and economic

growth, will also take a step in this direction.

I wish the deliberations every success.

Dr. Shakuntala A. Singh

Principal
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Convener’s Message

 I am indeed delighted and feel very great pride to express myself as a convener of a two day International

Conference on “ Money, Finance and Economic Growth: Emerging Issues”.

The Department of Economics of VPM’s Joshi-Bedekar College, Thane, has completed 44 years from

its inception. The Department has guided and educated a large number of students who have excelled

in diversed carreers. The Department constantly organizes various activities for the students to enhance

their subject knowledge through study visits, remedial teaching, series of expert lectures. The Department

also conducts events like Cartooning, Poster Making, Essay Competition, Debate, Elocution Competition

as a part of economic festival related to economic issues.

 The main theme and sub-themes were finalized after a lot of discussion and valuable guidance from Dr.

Neeraj Hatekar, Professor, The Department of Economics, University of Mumabi. We invited abstracts

from Academicians, Research Scholars, Economists, Management Professionals, Bankers and Students.

The theme has global significance as a result of which we received excellent response from all over the

country and from seven foreign countires.

Economists emphasize different channels of transmission. Numbers of studies have dealt with different

aspects of the financial sector development and economic growth relationship at both the theoretical

and empirical levels. This concept is still very much in progress theoretically and empirically. The

relationship between financial sector development and economic growth can be analyzed from three

angles: financial deepening leading to economic growth, economic growth leading to financial deepening

and a bi-directional relationship between the two. There are pertinent questions such as Who should

finance our economic growth? Should the government or private sector or should foreigners or emigrants

finance the economic growth? Or Should there be a combination of all sources of financing?

The papers received would boost the critcial thinking. The conference would bring many aspects of

Money, Finance in the Economic Growth process which might hold mirror in present scenario. This

conference would intend to bring all those aspects of finance which would contribute to the growth and

development of an economy.

- Dr. Deepak P. Sable

Convener,

Head of the Deprtment of Economics.
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1. Introduction

Islamic finance is growing as a source of finance for

Islamic and other investors around the world. During the

past years, one of the rising stars in the world of finance has

been Islamic finance. The year 2012 marked a turning point

for Islamic finance growth, as new markets and new

regulations in the Mid East, helped the sector to flourish.

Recently, Ernst and Young’s World Islamic Banking

Competitiveness Report 2013 said global Islamic banking

assets are expected to reach $1.8tn by 2013, up from the

$1.3tn of assets held in 2011
1

. Neither the ongoing turmoil in

the Middle East nor the Euro Zone debt crisis could prevent

Islamic banks in the Middle East from reaching out to new

markets and more business. This rapid growth has been

fuelled by surging demand for Shariah
2

-compliant products

not only from financers in the Middle East and other Muslim

countries, but also by investors globally, thus making it a

global phenomenon. Despite the financial crisis which has

plagued the economies of both industrialized and developing

nations, the Islamic finance industry has been flourishing

and has enjoyed a 29 percent growth in assets  to reach

more than  U.S.$ 600 billion in 2008 (Figure1).

Islamic Financial Development and Economic Growth

Empirical Evidence from Qatar

Mosab I. Tabash
1

 and  Raj  S. Dhankar
2

1

PhD Scholar, Faculty of Management Studies (FMS) University of Delhi

2

Dean and Professor of Finance, Faculty of Management Studies (FMS)  University of Delhi

Abstract : This paper examines empirically the relationship between the development of Islamic finance system and economic

growth in Qatar. The study tries to investigate the long-term relationship between Islamic banks’ financing and economic

growth in the case of Qatar. Annually time-series data of economic growth and Islamic banks’ financing from 1990 to 2008 is

used. We have used Islamic banks’ financing credited to private sector through modes of financing as a proxy for the

development of Islamic finance system and Gross Domestic Product (GDP) as a proxy for economic growth. For the analysis,

the unit root test, co-integration test and Granger causality tests were done. Our empirical results generally signify that in the

long run, Islamic banks’ financing is positive and significantly correlated with economic growth in Qatar which reinforces the

idea that a well-functioning banking system promotes economic growth. The results obtained from Granger causality test

reveals a positive and statistically significant relationship between economic growth and Islamic bank’s financing in the long

run. The relationship, however, is neither Schumpeter’s supply-leading nor Robinson’s demand-following. It appears to be a

bi-directional relationship.

JEL classification: O16, C32

Key words: Islamic finance, Economic growth, Causality, Qatar

Fig.1 Global Shariah-Compliant Financial Assets

(2000-2011)

 Source: Deutsche Bank, (2011),

The relationship between financial development and

economic growth has been extensively examined in the

literature. Most empirical studies find that the former together

with a more efficient banking system accelerates the latter.

Levine (2005) suggested that financial institutions and

markets can foster economic growth through several

channels, i.e. by (i) easing the exchange of goods and

services through the provision of payment of services (ii)

mobilizing and pooling savings from a large number of

investors (iii) acquiring and processing information about

enterprises and possible investment projects, thus,

allocating savings to their most productive use (iv)

monitoring investment and carrying out corporate

governance and (v) diversifying, increasing liquidity and

reducing risk. Each of these functions can influence saving

and investment decisions and hence economic growth.

1

 These statistics can be reached through the website www.gulf-times.com/qatar/178/details/343320/qatar-has-potential-to-become-

major-islamic-finance-platform,-says-qiib-ceo.

2

 “The Path”, term of Islamic law consists of Islamic instructions based on the Holy Quran and Sunnah).
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Despite there are many studies examining the

relationship between conventional finance and economic

growth, the studies that examine the relationship between

Islamic finance and economic growth are not too many. So,

in this study, the relationship between the development of

Islamic finance system and growth of the economy in Qatar

will be tested to see whether Islamic finance contributes to

economic growth or not.

2. Islamic Finance in Qatar

Qatar has the highest GDP per capita in the world as

of 2012, according to World Fact book
3

.The economic growth

of Qatar has been almost exclusively based on its petroleum

and natural gas industries, which began in 1940
4

. The

banking sector in Qatar benefited from rapid economic

growth. As a result, Islamic banks posted strong results

over the past few years. During the period expanding from

1990 till 2008, combined assets of Qatar Islamic Banks,

including Qatar International Islamic Bank, Qatar Islamic

Bank, Masraf Al Rayan and First Finance Company

generated an impressive increase from less than 5,000 U.S. $

millions in 1990 to more than U.S $ Millions 30,000 in 2008

with a cumulative increase up to 0.98 percent as shown in

figure 2.  The Banking industry in Qatar consists of 11 local

banks registered with the central bank and 7 foreign banks

with branches in Qatar. Under the list of local banks, there

are 4 Islamic banks fully operating under Shariah principles,

3 conventional banks with Islamic windows and 5

conventional banks with no Islamic banking operations.
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Islamic Banking Assets (1990-2008�

Fig.2: Islamic Banking Assets (1990-2008)

Shariah-compliant assets, offered by both fully Islamic

banks and Shariah-compliant windows (or branches) of

conventional banks, experienced a strong growth of more

than 95% in 2006 (Blominvest report, 2009). This trend is

likely to continue as banks see Islamic banking as an

opportunity to attract new clients.  Islamic banking assets

in Qatar witnessed a strong growth over the last couple of

years, mainly driven by robust economic growth, increased

demand for Shariah-based products and government

willingness to promote the Islamic Banking industry. Many

underway projects including petrochemical, housing and

construction projects are demanding Shariah-based

products and this is likely to act as a future driver for Islamic

banking, especially, the country has outlined public

investment plans worth $95bn over five years to 2016, as it

prepares to host the 2022 World Cup.

The Islamic Banking industry in Qatar has a great

potential for growth backed by a booming economy, new

line of projects and people’s increasing acceptance of

Shariah-based products. Compared to Saudi Arabia and

Kuwait, Islamic banking in Qatar still claims a small share in

the total banking assets.  With the increased awareness, the

Islamic banking industry in Qatar is expected to grow well in

the near future.

3. Research Problem and Objectives

There is no doubt that Islamic financial sector

development plays an important role in the overall

development of an economy. Although, there are many

empirical studies that examined the relationship between

finance and economic growth but specific empirical studies

on the relationship between Islamic finance and economic

growth are not too many. So, this study tries to examine

empirically the relationship between Islamic finance and

economic growth and its direction in Qatar.

4. Research Methodology

The qualitative and quantitative methods have been

used.  The data set is extracted from Word Trade organization,

Global Development Finance and Islamic Banks and Financial

Institutions Information (IBIS) database for all Islamic banks’

financing in Qatar
5

. To serve our purpose, appropriate

variables were established and the long term relationships

between those variables are determined by using

econometric estimation methods. We use annually time

series data from 1990 to 2008 for the variables. Islamic bank’s

financing through modes of financing as a proxy for financial

sector and Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) as a proxy

for economic growth were used.

The first step of the study is to determine the

relationship between financial deepening and economic

growth and whether the series are stationary or not. In a

model, for a correct evaluation, time series should be

separated from all effects and the series should be stationary.

Thus, logarithms of time series were taken.  Augmented

3

This information can be reached through this website www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2004rank.html

4

  This information can be reached through the website www.onlineqatar.com/info/tourist-info.aspx

5

The Islamic Banks and Financial Institutions Information (IBIS) database is built to help researchers and finance professionals working

in the area of Islamic economics and finance. It seeks to provide comprehensive data and information on the activities of Islamic finance

institutions, up-to-date research and literature. It can be reached through the website http://www.ibisonline.net/IBISHomepage.aspx
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Dickey Fuller (1981) and Phillips Perron (1988) tests are used.

After that, Johansen co-integration test was used to examine

the long-term relationship between financial deepening and

economic growth and then, the Granger causality test is

used to test the causality between Islamic bank financing

and economic growth. We use Eviews
6

 software to test and

analyze the results.

5. Literature Review

The relationship between financial development and

economic growth has been extensively analysed in the

literature. The relationship between financial development

and economic growth is a controversial issue. Some authors

consider finance as an important element of growth

(Schumpeter, 1934; Goldsmith, 1969; McKinnon, 1973, Shaw,

1973; King and Levine (1993) whilst for others it is only a

minor growth factor (Robinson, 1952; Lucas, 1988).

Schumpeter (1934) sees the banking sector as an engine of

economic growth through its funding of productive

investment. On the contrary, Lucas (1988) argues that the

role of finance has been overstressed.

According  to  the  theory,  the  development  of  the

banking  industry  is favourable to the economic growth

because the activity of the banks increases the mobilization

of the saving, improves the efficiency of the resources

allowance and  stimulates the technological innovation.

Most studies (including recent ones) argue in accordance

with the theoretical predictions that there is a positive

relation between the financial development and the

economic growth. Beck et al (2000), Bekaert et al (2001) and

Levine (2005) strongly supported the idea that there is a

positive relationship between financial development and

economic growth.

With regard to the relationship between Islamic

financial development and economic growth, Abduh and

Omar (2012), Furqani and Mulyany (2009) and Majid and

Kassim (2008) are among the limited studies in this area.

Abduh and Omar (2012) identify that the relationship is bi-

directional. Therefore, the government policies in supporting

the development of Islamic finance in Indonesia are strongly

needed in order to support the economic development.

However, using different time span of quarterly data, findings

from Furqani and Mulyany (2009) and Majid and Kassim

(2008) are different in terms of the direction of the

relationship. Furqani and Mulyany (2009), on the one hand,

state that the relationship between Islamic financial

development and economic growth is following the view of

“demand-following” which means that growth in real sector

economy stimulates Islamic banking institutions to change

and develop. On the contrary, finding from Majid and Kassim

(2008) is in favour of the supply-leading view.

6. Analysis and Results:

6.1 Descriptive Statistics

Table (1) presents summary statistics of the variables

used in the econometric analysis for Qatar. This shows the

relationship between Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and

Islamic banks’ financing in Qatar graphically.

Table 1: Summary Statistics (1990-2008)
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���������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������

���������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������

Statistics (US $ Millions) GDP IBF

Mean 26,081.03 2,589.737

Median 12,393.13 0,861.00

Maximum 115,019.8 21,313.00

Minimum 6,883.520 0,510.00

Std. Dev. 29,345.49 2,589.737

observations 19 19

From table 1, we notice that the maximum value for

IBFinancing in 2008 reached to 21,313.00 from 0,861.00 in

1990 with standard deviation of 2,589.737. This gives us an

indication of high growth of the Islamic finance industry in

the recent years. The statistics show that the median for

GDP and IB Financing is less than the mean which indicates

that the values are positively skewed.

6.2 Unit Root Test

Results of ADF and PP Tests applied to time series

show that all series belong to economic growth and financial

deepening indicators are not stationary at level. To make

these series stationary, first differences of series have been

taken. Failure to reject the null hypothesis of unit roots

implies that the linear combination of the variables is non-

stationary; hence we cannot pursue for the cointegration

tests.  ADF Test results are shown in Table 2:

Table 2: Unit Root Test

�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������

�����������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������

��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�������������������������������
�������������������������������
�������������������������������
�������������������������������

�����������������������������������
�����������������������������������
�����������������������������������
�����������������������������������
�����������������������������������

�����������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������

����������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������

ADF   Test Phillip-Person Test

Level 1

First 

difference

Level 1 First difference

Country Variable

t- statistic

P value

t- statistic

P value

t- statistic

P value

t- statistic

P value

Qatar

GDP

-

2.008458

0.5618

-

4.889556*

*

0.0051

-2.056949

0.0015

-5.039952***

0.0038

IBFinancing

-2.3974

0.3688

-4.7272**

0.01

-2.4425

0.35

-15.8247

0.0001***

*,**,***  significant at 1%,5%,10%  level respectively

6

 Eviews is a statistical and econometric software package, which provides data analysis, regression, and forecasting tools. It is produced

by Quantitative Micro Software (QMS) in Irvine, California, USA.
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The results of the table 2 indicate that the data at the

first difference is stationary at á 1%, 5%, and 10% level of

significance respectively. For GDP variable, if p value is less

than á, then Ho is rejected, and the series is stationary.

From table 2, the first row shows that the p value (0.0051) is

less than á (0.05) in ADF test. Similarly, for IB Financing, the

result from the second row shows that the p value (0.01) is

less than á (0.05).  This suggests that the null hypothesis is

rejected for both variables. Hence, the failure to reject the

alternative hypothesis indicates that the two series are

stationary.

6.3 Johansen Co-integration Test

Table 3 shows the results of Johansen test for the

long relationship between Islamic banks’ financing and

economic growth. The trace test rejects the null hypothesis

if the trace statistics exceeds the critical value.

Table 3: Johansen’s test (trace statistic)

�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������

�������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������
����������������������������������

����������������������������������
����������������������������������
����������������������������������

Trace 

statistics

Critical values

5% 1%

Null hypothesis Ho: r = 0 23.61007*

*

15.41 20.04

Alternative hypothesis H1:r ≥ 1 4.991680*

*

3.76 6.65

Co-integration Equation GDP =  0.853113 IBF

** significant at 5 % level

The first row of table 3 shows that the trace statistics

(23.61007) exceeds the critical value of (15.41) at 95 percent

confidence level. It suggests that the null hypothesis of no

cointegrating relationships is rejected. The results confirm

that there is a cointegrating relationship among the variables.

The eigen value test tests the null hypothesis of r versus

r+1 cointegrating relationships. This test rejects the null

hypothesis if the eigen value test statistics exceeds the

respective critical value. Table 4 presents the results from

this test. Similarly, the result from the first row of table 4

shows that the eigen value test statistics (18.61839) exceeds

the critical value (14.07) at 95 percent confidence level. This

suggests that the null hypothesis is rejected. Hence, the

failure to reject the alternative hypothesis indicates that

there is one cointegrating relationship among the variables.

Table 4: Johansen’s test (Max-Eigenvalue statistic)

�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�����������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������

���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������
����������������������������������������

�����������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������������

Max-

Eigenvalue

Critical values

5% 1%

Null 

hypothesis

Ho: r = 0 18.61839** 14.07 18.63

Alternative 

hypothesis

H1:r = 1 4.991680** 3.76 6.65

Co-integration 

Equation

GDP =  0.853113 IBF

** significant at 5 % level

The results from table 3 and 4, if read together, show

that the null hypotheses of non-cointegation are rejected at

5 percent level of significance. This suggests that in the

long run Islamic banks’ financing will contribute in the

growth of GDP of Qatar.

 6.4 Granger Causality Test

Statistics and probability values constructed under

the null hypothesis of non-causality are reported in Table 5.

It can be observed that there is a causal relationship between

Islamic banks’ financing and economic growth. However,

our results show that two-way causality exists from Islamic

banks’ financing to economic growth and from GDP towards

Islamic Banks’ financing, since the probability values 0.01937

and 0.03306 are less than 0.05. So, the null hypothesis is

rejected and it can be concluded that the higher flow of

Islamic finance has led to the growth of the economy. At the

same time, the development of the real sector economy

stimulates Islamic banking institutions to change and

develop.

Table 5: Pair wise Granger Causality Tests (1990-2008)

��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

���������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������

�������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������

Null Hypothesis F statistics Probability

IBF does not Granger Cause GDP 5.55321 0.01937**

GDP does not Granger Cause IBF 4.53842 0.03306**

** Significant at 5 % level

7. Conclusion

This paper makes an attempt to examine the relationship

between the development of Islamic finance and economic

growth in the long-term in Qatar. We analyzed empirically

the relationship between Islamic banks’ financing and

economic growth.  Since, the variables in this paper are

non-stationary; therefore, the Johansen’s co-integration

technique has been applied. The co-integration results

provide evidence of a unique cointegrating vector.  In other

words, there is a long-term stable relationship between

Islamic banks’ financing and economic growth in Qatar. That

means Islamic banks’ financing and economic growth move

together in the long-run. It is proved that the Qatar has

benefited from strong banking system. We also find that

the causality relation exist in a bi-directional relationship

from Islamic banks’ financing to economic growth and vice

versa. Our results also indicate that improvement of the

Islamic financial institutions in the Qatar will benefit from

economic development and it is important in the long run

for the economic welfare and also for poverty reduction.

The results of study are quite significant as it is one of the

pioneering studies of Islamic finance.



7ISBN : 978-81-922741-2-6                                 Organised by Joshi-Bedekar College

 8.  References:

Abduh, M. and Omar, M. (2012),”Islamic banking and

economic growth: the Indonesian experience”, International

Journal of Islamic and Middle Eastern Finance and

Management, Vol. 5, 1, pp. 35 – 47.

· Beck, T., Levine, R. and Loayza, N. (2000), “Finance

and the Sources of Growth”, Journal of Financial

Economics, Vol. 58, pp.261–300.· Bekaert, G.

Harvey, C. and Lundblad, C. (2001), “Emerging Equity

Markets and Economic Development”, Journal of

Development Economics, Vol.66, pp. 465–504.·

Blominvest bank report, (2009), “Islamic Banking in the

MENA region”, February, UAE.

            Deutsche Bank, (2011), “Global Islamic Banking

Report”, November, London, UK.

· Dickey, D. and Fuller, W. (1981), “Likelihood Ratio

Statistics for Auto- regressive Time Series with a Unit

Root”, Econometric journal Vol.49 (4), pp. 1057-1072.

· Goldsmith, R. (1969), “Financial Structure and Economic

Growth in Advanced Countries”, National Bureau

Committee for Economic Research, Capital Formation

and Economic Growth, Princeton, University Press.·

Furqani, H. and   Mulyany, R. (2009), Islamic Banking

and Economic Growth: Empirical Evidence from

Malaysia, Journal of Economic Cooperation, 30, 2, 59-

74.

· Levine, R. (2005),” Finance and Growth: Theory and

Evidence”, In: Handbook of Economic Growth, ed. by

P. Aghion and S. Durlauf, vol.1, pp.865-934, Elsevier.·

Levine, R. (1993), “Financial Development and

Economic Growth: Views and Agenda”, Journal of

Economic Literature, Vol. 35(2), pp. 688-726.·

Lucas R.E., (1988),”On the Mechanics of Economic

Development”, Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol.

22(1), pp. 3-42.· Majid, S.A. and Kassim, S. (2008),

“Islamic finance and economic growth: The Malaysian

experience”, In: Kuala Lumpur Islamic Finance Forum,

Kuala Lumpur.

· McKinnon R.I., (1973), “Money and Capital in

Economic Development”, the Brookings Institution,

Washington, DC.

· Robinson, J. (1952), “The Generalization of the General

Theory in the Rate of   Interest and Other Essays”,

London: Macmillan.

· Schumpeter, J.A. (1934),”The Theory of Economic

Development”, Cambridge, MA, Harvard University

Press.· Shaw, E.S. (1973), “Financial Deepening in

Economic Development”, Oxford University Press, New

York.  .



8 “Money, Finance and Economic Growth: Emerging Issues” - 10
th

 & 11
th

 Jan. 2014

I. Introduction

The Financial System of a country consists of a

variety of specialised and non-specialised financial

institutions, organised and unorganised financial markets

and systematically related markets and instruments which

can mobilise the financial surpluses available in the

economy. A well-developed financial system is essential to

ensure smooth functioning of the economy and speed up

its future growth. We can ask ourselves the question –

What role does finance have in growth and development of

an economy? In the beginning, politicians and economists

emphasised the importance of the financial system for the

rise of capitalism, industrialisation and economic

development. On the other hand, Development Economists

have for many decades ignored the financial system and

focussed on other policy areas. Lucas (1988) said that the

role of finance in the growth process has been overstated.

Robinson (1952) also argued that financial development

automatically follows economic growth and not vice versa.

Economists like Goldsmith (1969), McKinnon (1973) and

Shaw (1973) have empirically studied the connection

between financial sector development and growth. Empirical

studies have found the impact of financial deepening on

economic growth statistically and economically significant.

Recent studies have related the development of the financial

sector to improvement of trade balance, income re-

distribution and reduced poverty levels.

Role of Finance in Growth and Development

Gita Mohandas

Economics Department, Bhavan’s College, Andheri (W).

Abstract : The financial system of a country consists of specialised and non-specialised financial institutions, organised and

unorganised financial markets and systematically related markets and instruments which can mobilise the financial surpluses

available in the economy.

Development economists have ignored the financial system and focussed on other policy areas. Lucas (1988) said that the role

of finance in the growth process has been overstated. Robinson (1952) also argued that financial development automatically

follows economic growth, not vice versa.

Economists in the 1970s related financial development to economic growth. Empirical studies have found the impact of

financial deepening on economic growth statistically and economically significant. Recent studies have related the development

of the financial sector to other real sector outcomes, like improvement of trade balance, income distribution and poverty levels.

The same mechanism that focussed on the positive role of finance also states that finance is a source of risk and fragility for

the entire economy. The history of finance is full of boom-and-bust cycles, bank failures and currency crises, which negatively

affected the real sector. There are major socio-economic costs of financial fragility, because of which the financial sector is often

at the top of the Government policy agenda. It is clear, however, that these sources in isolation are incapable of giving a thrust

to development. It is important to note: -

· Finance influences growth through the linkages provided through saving and investment.

· Financial development is a State induced activity and the Government has to play a very significant role in furthering it.

Our Five Year Plans have encouraged the creation and functioning of a diversified base of financial Institutions. This paper

proposes to show that financial institutions in general, have created a massive infrastructure in our economy which furthers

the development processes.

Key Words – Financial System, Organized & Unorganized Financial Markets, Instruments, Financial Deepening, Risk &

Fragility.

The same mechanism that focussed on the positive

role of finance also states that finance is a source of risk and

fragility for the entire economy. The history of finance is full

of boom and bust cycles, bank failures, all of which

negatively affect the real sector. There are many socio-

economic costs of financial fragility because of which the

financial sector is often at the top of Government Policy

agenda.

Though we will be discussing the financial sector in

the beginning, we must note that, this sector in isolation is

incapable of giving a thrust to development. This is

because:-

· Finance influences growth only through the linkages

provided through saving and investment.

· Financial development is a State induced activity and

the Government has to play a very significant role in

strengthening this sector.

Our Five Year Plans have succeeded in creating a large

number of Financial Institutions. We propose to show that

through these financial institutions, a massive infrastructure

has been created which has quickened the development

process. The infrastructure – both physical and financial

has propelled the economy faster on the road to

development.



9ISBN : 978-81-922741-2-6                                 Organised by Joshi-Bedekar College

II. Constituents of the financial System

The relevance of the financial system to a modern

economy exists to the extent of support it provides to the

‘real’ sectors engaged in production and distribution of

goods which not only accelerates economic development

but also enhances social welfare.The constituents of the

financial system are:-

a) Financial Institutions – These are business

organisations dealing in financial assets. They may be banks

which accept savings for lending to investors, participate

in payments mechanism or create bank credit. The non-

banking institutions also mobilise financial resources directly

or indirectly from the people and lend to the extent of

resources made available. These institutions lend funds but

do not create credit.

b) Financial Markets- As against real transactions

pertaining to goods and services, financial markets are

characterised by only financial transactions. A financial

transaction could mean the creation of a financial asset or a

transfer involving buying or selling of a financial asset. The

Money Market and Capital Market deal in financial assets

pertaining to short term and medium to long term assets or

claims. Another way of classification of financial markets is

the Primary Market (New issues market) and Secondary

Market (dealing in already created financial securities). Yet

another classification of financial markets is the Organised

Market (Commercial banks and Co-operative banks under

control of the Reserve Bank of India (RBI)) and the

Unorganised Market (Moneylenders, Indigenous bankers

etc.)

c) Financial Instruments -A developed financial

system is characterised by a wide range of instruments

which can mobilise and allocate savings for productive use.

The hallmark of financial assets or securities such as equity

shares of companies - debentures, government securities

and bonds is that they are viewed as liquid since they are

tradable and therefore transferable. One of the most

important Financial Instruments is primary securities created

by companies engaged in the production of goods and

services, equity shares, preference shares and debentures

as well as bonds. Financial intermediaries can create

secondary securities against themselves as a result of which

they can generate funds for subscribing to primary securities.

They can sell secondary securities on the one hand and

buy primary securities on the other thereby shifting funds

from savers to investors.

III. Financial Systems and Economic Development

We can mention some of the channels through which

the financial system can help to increase growth rates by

improving capital accumulation and productivity.Financial

Systems can:-

1. Enable efficient exchange of goods and services by

enabling large number of transactions.

2. Transfer pooled savings from savers and financial

institutions for investment purposes, thus enabling the

investors to earn economies of scale, which can be

obtained in large infrastructural projects.

3. Economise on screening and monitoring costs thus

allowing more investment projects to be financed thus

creating a positive impact on investment and resource

allocation

4. Monitor enterprises and reduce agency problems within

firms, managements and shareholders. By building long

term relationships, Financial Institutions can further

reduce monitoring costs. Financial markets and

institutions can thus improve resource allocation and

increase productivity.

5. Reduce liquidity risk and enable long term investment.

Financial institutions can transform short term liabilities

into long term assets so that economic growth can

take place.

6. Allow cross-sectional diversification across projects.

We can see from the above that higher growth induced

by financial deepening increases demand for financial

services, ultimately resulting in a “virtuous circle of economic

and financial development” (Greenwood and Jovanovic

1990)

There are two views in regard to the relationship

between financial development and economic growth. One

view regards an efficient financial system as a necessary

precondition for economic growth. The other view is that

economic growth actually creates demand for financial

services because of which financial development follows

economic growth. There is clearly a virtuous circle of

interdependence between finance and development. In fact,

the two way relation between the two with growth inducing

factors working on both sides is obvious. Availability of

finance encourages growth and growth in turn facilitates

economic development. The process of growth fosters

participation in financial markets thereby facilitating financial

development. Financial development in turn enables

selection of efficient projects, thereby stimulating more

investment which increases growth.

IV. Financial Development and Economic Growth in India

The Indian Financial System has changed in modern

times from being an undersized constricted one, to a more

open, deregulated and market oriented one. The process of

financial development is effectively linked to the following:-

1. Development of Commercial Banks- The number of

banks and branches has increased. Small banks have
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been consolidated and support has been given to the

Co-operative credit movement.

2. Impetus given to Industrialisation in the Five Year Plans

3. Nationalisation of Commercial Banks.

4. Financing of trade and industrial activities especially

during the ‘ fifties ‘ and ‘sixties ‘

5. Impetus given to:

a) All India Financial Institutions  (IFCI, ICICI, IDBI,

SIDBI  and NHBI)

b) Specialised Institutions ( EXIM Bank, IVCF, ICICI

Venture)

c) Investment Institutions ( UTI, LIC, GIC and its

subsidiaries)

d) Refinance Institutions (NAABARD, NHB)

e) State level Institutions like SFC’s and SIDC’s (To

date, there are 18 State Financial Corporations and

26 small Industries Development Corporations.

6. Expansion of NBFCs.

7. Mutual Funds- They provide households an  option

for  portfolio diversification and risk aversion by using

the funds  collected for  investment in the stock and

debt markets.

8. Increase in the number of Stock Markets, increase in

liquidity and increased prospects of long term growth.

Market capitalisation has increased manifold. The

increased turnover of BSE and NSE is indicative of

growth of our economy. The financial deepening and

widening in India as well as the role of Financial

development and Capital Formation taking place in our

country isevident from the variousfinancial

developmental ratios given below:-

a) Finance Ratio (Ratio of total issues to National

Income)

b) Financial Interrelations Ratio (Ratio of total Issues

to Net Domestic Capital Formation)

c) New Issues Ratio (Ratio of Primary issues to Net

Domestic Capital Formation)

d) Intermediation Ratio (Ratio of Secondary Issues

of Banks and  Financial Institutions to primary

Issues)

Critical Appraisal of Performance of Industrial

Financing Institutions:-

From the quantitative point of view, the lending of our

Financial Institutions to Industries seems to be quite

impressive especially when we examine the assistance

provided during the last two decades. From a meagre Rs

60.5 crore in 1961-62 (of which29.8 crore was disbursed) the

total assistance has increased to     Rs 8,01,998 crore by end

of March 2004 of which Rs 5,82,156 crore was disbursed. As

far as the quality of lending is concerned, though these

institutions are supposed to provide assistance to new

enterprises, small, medium firms and industries established

in backward areas, they have granted a major part of their

assistance to large industrial houses. Also more financial

assistance has been given to industries in developed states

like Maharashtra, Gujarat and Tamil Nadu. When assistance

had to be channelled to backward areas, the backward areas

in developed states received more assistance.

In recent years, the non-Performing Assets of the

Industrial Financing institutions have been increasing on

the one hand as also the cost of raising funds. As a result,

their profitability has gone on a downward spiral. The non-

performing assets of some financial institutions have risen

to more than 30 per cent of net assets which is very high.

The cost of raising funds has been 11 per cent for financial

institutions as against only 8.5 per cent for banks. Their

lacklustre performance has made it difficult for these

institutions to raise funds from the Capital Market.

Despite the above, we can see that the relevance of

Specialised DFI’s such as NABARD and EXIM Bank has

not declined despite competition from the securities market

and commercial banks. All that these institutions have to do

is to increase their competence and efficiency. The concept

of public-private partnership can also be emphasised so

that the private sector also feels responsible for introducing

different development strategies. The most important factor

responsible for development is of course, our vast manpower.

Unless the Government invests heavily on human capital,

we cannot expect an increase in development.

Endogeneous growth:- The link between finance and

economic development has been resurrected over the past

decade by the endogeneous growth theory. This theory

traces the steady state growth (g) in terms of three crucial

parameters namely the level of technology as captured by

the Social Marginal Productivity of Capital (A), the

proportion of Savings channelled to Investment (f)   and the

savings rate (s). Not taking into account depreciation, we

get the equation g=Afs.  This equation implies that Financial

development could influence economic growth either by

increasing the productivity of capital or lowering the

interrelation costs by increasing ‘f’ or by enhancing the

saving rate ‘s’.

Professor Indirani Chakraborty of the Institute of

Development Studies, Kolkata has studied the impact of

developments in the financial sector on economic growth in

India in the post reform period. The paper formalises the

relationship between Financial Development and economic

growth in the structure of an endogeneous growth model.
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The model was estimated using quarterly data for the period

1993 to 2005 for India. The results show that the investment-

output ratio has a positive significant effect on real rate of

growth in the GDP, irrespective of the indicator of stock

market development. An increase in market capitalisation

dampens economic growth but an increase in the money

market rate of interest has a positive significant effect. Real

wealth and interest rate differentials have negative significant

effect and the lagged values of foreign exchange reserves

have a marginally significant negative effect on economic

growth.  The findings do not support the theory that stock

markets play an important role in enhancing economic

growth in India. However the banking sector reforms seem

to have promoted economic growth significantly.

Panicos O. Demetriades and K.B. Luntel used newly

collected data from the RBI to examine the various types of

banking sector controls on the process of financial

deepening. They selected India to carry out an empirical

study not only because it is one of the most important

developing economies in the world, but also because it has

a rich history of varying types of banking sector controls.

They found that with the exception of a lending rate ceiling,

these controls were found to influence financial deepening

negatively independent of the well-known effect of the real

interest rate. Exogenity tests suggest that financial

deepening and economic growth are jointly determined.

Thus, policies which affect financial deepening may also

have an influence on economic growth.

We can note that when funds are allocated to projects

with the highest marginal product, development is bound

to take place. This process is definitely costly as we need to

closely screen alternative projects. Individuals would shun

very risky projects unless they were given a chance to share

the risk with some dependable party preferably with

Government backing. In fact, the role of financial institutions

is to collect and analyse information so as to channelize

funds into investment activities that yield highest returns.

Capital could be invested in a safe low yielding technology

or in a risky high yielding one. In contrast to individual

investors, financial intermediaries with their large portfolios

can obtain better information on aggregate productivity.

Savings can be channelized into those areas which would

result in higher productivity of capital and generate higher

growth in the economy.

V. Infrastructure and Economic Development

We have seen above how a well-developed Financial

System is vital to ensure Growth and Development. The

financial structure, however, cannot be viewed as the main

cause of development in isolation. Development of the

financial structure is a continuous process and it has to be

preceded, accompanied and followed by progress in

infrastructure if our objective of self- propelling Economic

Development has to take place. Adequate quantity, quality

and reliable infrastructural facilities are essential for the

development of an economy. The availability of these

facilities is all the more relevant in the case of a developing

country like India which is characterised by multiple

economic problems reinforcing one another. Good

infrastructure raises productivity, lowers production costs,

helps to diversify production, expands trade, improves living

standard, enables expansion of Commercial Banks all over

the country, increases the number of industries and NBFCs.

Improvement in Transport and Communication enables

people to easily invest in Mutual Funds and Stock Markets.

Infrastructure serves as an edifice for building the super

structure of an economy. As a necessary precondition, it

fosters and propels growth. That is why infrastructural

facilities are considered as the wheels of economic activity,

if not the engine. (Rao and Rao- 1999). In recent decades,

infrastructural facilities have become more vital with

dramatic advances in information technology and

telecommunications. (Chandran 1998). The World Bank has

put forward various benefits accruing to the economy from

infrastructure and increased public investment in Social

Overhead Capital. Financial Infrastructure is vital for every

economy. India has asked the World Bank and other

Multilateral Development Banks to create special windows

for ensuring finance for infrastructure development. In the

words of the Finance Minister P. Chidambaram in his

intervention at the G 20 meeting of finance minister- “Special

windows need to be created in the World Bank and other

Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs) for ensuring finance

in support of infrastructure development, including

provision of finance for on-going projects which face a

sudden scarcity of funds owing to volatile capital flows”.

It is very important to note that financial infrastructure

can play a critical role in sustaining global recovery in case

of economic crises. Investment in infrastructure in emerging

markets will increase the potential of these countries. They

will be able to service global demand in the short run itself

and grow more rapidly in the medium run.

VI. Conclusion

There have been a great number of studies using

national and international data supporting the result that

Infrastructure is important to growth. Research indicates

that while total infrastructure stocks increase by 1 per cent

with each 1 per cent increment in per capita GDP, household

access to safe water increases by 0.3 per cent, paved roads

by 0.8 per cent, power 1.5 per cent and telecommunications

i.7 per cent. It is infrastructure productivity which will

determine how India will cope with the increasing pace of

urbanisation, globalisation and technological innovations

in manufacturing and logistics.

We have seen the importance of Finance and Financial

Infrastructure in growth of the Indian Economy. Government

of India Policy initiatives have served the purpose of
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opening the Indian Economy. Today, we have achieved a

higher degree of integration with the world economy. A

focussed effort is being made to make Indian firms globally

competitive, reduce the barriers to entry and provide an

impetus to exports. To attain these goals, India has to

demonstrate its competitive advantage in terms of a deep

domestic market, purchasing power, natural resources and

infrastructure.
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I. Introduction

China has achieved remarkable economic performance

for more than three decades since the introduction of Reform

and Opening policy in 1978. Undoubtedly, China’s abundant

labour resource took an important role in the process of

China’s rapid economic growth. Since the beginning of 1980s,

millions of migrant workers shifted from rural area to coastal

cities to work which significantly contributed China to

becoming the world manufacturing centre or “world factory”,

while keeping wages at a relatively low level for many years.

Nevertheless, such “unlimited” labour supply in China

can not last forever. The initial labour shortage appeared in

2004 when “migrant workers shortage phenomena” in

manufacturing cities of Peal River Delta and Yangtze River

Delta was reported (Huang, 2004) and has spread to other

areas (Banister and Cook, 2011). More recently, more reports

on labour shortage in some manufacturing cities were

repeatedly highlighted in media since China’s economy

boldly recovered from the global financial crisis in the mid-

2009. Meanwhile, compared to China’s economic growth,

Chinese workers’ wage increased over the last several

decades but not significantly. According to the statistics

from National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBSC), in 1981,

the annual average wage in urban areas was about yuan 772

in nominal terms (US$ 453). In contrast, it increased to yuan

36,500 (US$ 4,400) in 2010. The average annual growth rate

is 14 per cent in nominal terms and less than 8 per cent in

real term. However, along with labour shortage emerged,

wage rising also accelerated to increase in the aftermath of

the global financial crisis.

The dramatic changes in China’s labour market

attracted heated debate. According to Cai (2007 and 2010),

China’s demographical dividends, which is one of the most

important China’s competitiveness advantage is diminishing

by analyzing China’s demographic transition. Zhang et al.

(2010) argue that China’s era of “unlimited labour supply” is

over. On the contrary, some researches (Minami and Ma,

2010) argue that there still exists the significant amount of

surplus labour in China’s agricultural sector by examining

marginal productivity of labour (MPL). In addition, Knight

Recent Labour Market in China: Labour Shortage and Wage Rising

Yuming Cui

Abstract : China’s abundant labour resource took an important role in the process of China’s rapid economic growth.

Recently, however, China experienced labour shortage and rapidly wage rising, which implies that China’s long-lasting

competitiveness: abundant labour force and low costs are vanishing. We find that demographic changes, regional disparity and

household registration system caused recent labour shortage in some coastal areas of China, while relatively long-lasting low

wage and household consumption in China drove wage increasing rapidly. Also, recent higher inflation pressed China’s

government and employers to increase workers’ wage. Labour shortage and rapidly wage rising signal that China is entering a

new stage of economic development. China’s past successful model of economic development need to make adjustment.
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et al. (2010) find the same evidence that a large pool of

surplus labour in rural area and rising wages in urban area

simultaneously exist in China. They also argue that there

will not be a “neat” Lewis turning point because of China’s

unique characteristics such as size and related regulations.

Labour shortage and rapidly wage rising signals that

China is entering a new stage of economic development.

History of economic development also suggests that cheap

labour and demographic dividends cannot last forever. Given

China’s expanding size of economy and increasing trade

share in the global economy, it is meaningful to understand

recent development of China’s labour market and wage

rising in China. In this paper, we review recent development

of labour market in China in the last decade. Also, we analyse

why labour shortage appeared and wage increased readily

in China.

Rest of this paper is organized as follows. We briefly

review recent development of China’s labour market

including labour shortage and wage rising in section Two.

This is followed by section Three, in which, the reasons of

drastic changes in China’s labour market are analysed.

Section Four concludes the paper.

II. Recent Development of Labour Market in China

Over the past decades, one of main challenges

confronted by Chinese government was creating sufficient

jobs for its growing labour force. Along with rapid economic

growth, China has created millions of jobs every year to

meet the needs of new young workers, who enter into China’s

labour market. From Table 1, we can see that total employment

and employment in urban area grew continuously from 1990

to 2010. But it is also notable that employment in rural area

shrunk since 1997. More detailed, increase of employment

in urban area was faster than the growth of total employment

during the same period. It reflects the fact that China’s rapid

economic growth created a large number of jobs, especially

in manufacturing sector which mainly is based in urban area.

What’s more, employment in secondary and tertiary sector

considerably increased, particularly in secondary sector in

last decades. In contrast, employment in primary sector has
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declined since 2002. We also noticed that growth of

employment in secondary sector decreased since 2008. It is

partly because of impact of global financial crisis on China’s

economy, especially on its manufacturing sector.

Table 1: China’s employment by sector, millions,  1990-2010

Year

Tota l

By region By industry

Urban Rural Primary Secondary Tertiary

Amount

Growth 

(%)

Amount

Growth 

(%)

Amount

Growth 

(%)

Amount

Growth 

(%)

Amount

Growth 

(%)

Amount

Growth 

(%)

1990 647.49 170.41 477.08 389.14 138.56 119.79

1991 654.91 1.15 174.65 2.49 480.26 0.67 390.98 0.47 140.15 1.15 123.78 3.33

1992 661.52 1.01 178.61 2.27 482.91 0.55 386.99 -1.02 143.55 2.43 130.98 5.82

1993 668.08 0.99 182.62 2.25 485.46 0.53 376.80 -2.63 149.65 4.25 141.63 8.13

1994 674.55 0.97 186.53 2.14 488.02 0.53 366.28 -2.79 153.12 2.32 155.15 9.55

1995 680.65 0.90 190.4 2.07 490.25 0.46 355.30 -3.00 156.55 2.24 168.80 8.80

1996 689.5 1.30 199.22 4.63 490.28 0.01 348.20 -2.00 162.03 3.50 179.27 6.20

1997 698.2 1.26 207.81 4.31 490.39 0.02 348.40 0.06 165.47 2.12 184.32 2.82

1998 706.37 1.17 216.16 4.02 490.21 -0.04 351.77 0.97 166.00 0.32 188.60 2.32

1999 713.94 1.07 224.12 3.68 489.82 -0.08 357.68 1.68 164.21 -1.08 192.05 1.83

2000 720.85 0.97 231.51 3.30 489.34 -0.10 360.43 0.77 162.19 -1.23 198.23 3.22

2001 727.97 0.99 241.23 4.20 486.74 -0.53 363.99 0.99 162.34 0.09 201.65 1.72

2002 732.8 0.66 251.59 4.29 481.21 -1.14 366.40 0.66 156.82 -3.40 209.58 3.93

2003 737.36 0.62 262.3 4.26 475.06 -1.28 362.04 -1.19 159.27 1.56 216.05 3.09

2004 742.64 0.72 272.93 4.05 469.71 -1.13 348.30 -3.80 167.09 4.91 227.25 5.18

2005 746.47 0.52 283.89 4.02 462.58 -1.52 334.42 -3.98 177.66 6.32 234.39 3.14

2006 749.78 0.44 296.3 4.37 453.48 -1.97 319.41 -4.49 188.94 6.35 241.43 3.00

2007 753.21 0.46 309.53 4.47 443.68 -2.16 307.31 -3.79 201.86 6.84 244.04 1.08

2008 755.64 0.32 321.03 3.72 434.61 -2.04 299.23 -2.63 205.53 1.82 250.87 2.80

2009 758.28 0.35 333.22 3.80 425.06 -2.20 288.90 -3.45 210.80 2.56 258.57 3.07

2010 761.05 0.37 346.87 4.10 414.18 -2.56 279.31 -3.32 218.42 3.61 263.32 1.84

Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China and authors’ calculation.

It is difficult to estimate the exact amount and scale of

labour shortage because of constraint of China’s statistic

system. Media reports about migrant worker shortage may

only provide us a surface phenomenon rather than a real

story. One of the striking features, however, is that labour

shortage in China is inconsecutive. It is relatively sensitive

to the fluctuation of external economy. This evidence is

more obvious in the manufacturing sector. Take 2008 and

2009 as example, many migrant workers lost their jobs and

returned to hometown because of the global financial crisis

in 2007-2008. Nevertheless, since 2009 when China’s

economy boldly recovered due to China’s large stimulus

package, labour shortage in Guangzhou, Hangzhou and other

coastal cities in which usually there were a large number of

migrant workers to work was extensively reported. China’s

labour shortage also appeared with seasonality. In other

words, labour shortage mainly occurs in specific periods

such as Chinese Spring festival. It is important to distinguish

seasonal labour shortage from real labour shortage.

Therefore, it may be too early to judge whether China is

already in the stage of labour shortage or not.

Lewis (1954) points out that wage would increase when

‘unlimited’ labour supply in subsistence sector was fully

absorbed by capitalist sector. Recently, however, it appeared

that China’s long-lasting international competitiveness is

vanishing. Chinese labour’s wage increased considerably

since 2008.  In 2011, 25 provinces or regions of China’s 32

provinces and regions lifted local minimum wage standard

(see Table 2). (China doesn’t have national minimum wage

standard but local standard). Only in the first half of 2011,

18 provinces or regions adjusted minimum wage standard

with increase of average 22 per cent. However, question on

if recent rapid wage increase implies China has reached the

Lewis turning point remains unclear.
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Table 2: Adjustment of minimum wage standard by province or region

Note: Shaded provinces or regions mean that minimum wage standard was increased in 2011.

Source: Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the People’s Republic of China, published on January 19, 2012.
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III. Reasons of Labour Shortage and Wage Rising

There are couple of reasons to cause recent labour

short in China. Recent labour shortage was only one of the

elements caused the adjustment of Chinese workers’ wage.

Also, rapidly wage rising need to be carefully studied. We

analyse the reason of labour shortage and wage rising in

China in this section.

A. Demographic change

China’s economic growth and urbanization process

significantly affect its population distribution and population

migration. Constantly shrinking share of population residing

in rural area and growing share of population in urban area

reflect the fact that a large number of surplus labour moved

from rural area to urban area to live since the end of 1970s

(see Figure 1). More than 80 per cent of population lived in

rural area in 1970. However, this share dropped to around 50

per cent in 2010. In contrast, the share of population residing

in urban grew to about 49.95 per cent in 2010 from less than

20 per cent in 1970. This significant demographic

transformation is mainly due to surplus labour in rural area,

called Nongmingong in Chinese, shifting to urban area.

Figure 1: China’s residence in rural and urban area,

percentage, 1970-2010
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China’s economy benefited considerably from the

migration of its large pool of surplus labour from rural area

to urban area over the last three decades. This labour

abundance advantage which fuelled China’s economy

growing for decades, however, appeared to change. As

Figure 2 shows that China’s fertility rate plunged since 1970s

because of China’s One-child Policy. Compared with India’s

2.6 fertility rate per woman, China’s1.6 of fertility rate in 2010

is relatively low. It is similar to 1.4 of fertility rate in Japan in

2010. Population aging is a durable challenge for Japanese

government.

Figure 2: Fertility rate, births per woman, 1960-2010
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The UN’s population division estimates population

composition by age for its member states. Figure 3 illustrates

that compared to population composition in 1950, China’s

working age group which includes groups from age 20 to

age 60 considerably expanded in 2010. However, group of

age 40-45 became the largest part, followed by the group of

age 35-40. China would run out of its demographic dividend

and become an aging society by 2050 when groups of age

50 and above become the larger than groups of age 20-50. It

implies that China’s population shows the aging trend which

will unavoidably change China’s labour supply. It will further

to change China’s economic growth pattern.

Figure 3: China’s total population by five-year age

group and sex, millions, 1950-2100

                     Amount                          Percentage
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Source: United Nations, Department of Economic and

Social Affairs, Population Division (2011): World Population

Prospects: The 2010 Revision, New York.

Large share of working age population which covers

age 15-64 was one of China’s competitiveness advantages.

It allows China to develop labour-intensive manufacturing

industry while keep wage relatively low. China’s this

advantage, however, is vanishing. Figure 4 shows

comparison of population composition by age between

China, Japan, India and Vietnam over the period of 1960-

2010. Japan is widely regarded as an “old” country where

challenge of population aging impaired the prospect of

Japanese economy. Later two, regarded as “young

countries”, are China’s main competitors in global low-cost

manufacturing industry. As for China, share of age 15-64

slightly increased mainly due to the decline of age 0-14.

More strikingly, age 65 and above increased significantly

from 4 per cent in 1960 to 8 per cent in 2010. Japan, which

has the oldest society in the world, is a good example to

compare. It shows that share of age 65 and above accelerated

to increase since 1990s. Meanwhile declining share of age

0-14 reflects low fertility rate in Japan. On the other hand,

both India and Vietnam have the increasing shares of working

age population and relatively low share of aging group. By

comparison, we found that China’s population composition

is changing and China may be approaching to an aging

society.

Figure 4: Comparison on population by age, 1960-2010
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B. Regional disparity

Economic growth in China’s non-coastal area growth

outpaced coastal area since mid-2000 (see Figure 7).

Economic growth in coastal area, such as Guangdong,

Shanghai and so on, was higher than the rest of area since

China adopted Reform and Opening policy. From the mid-

2000s, however, inland and west of China outperformed the

coastal area in term of economic growth partly because of

the Western Development and Northeast Area Revitalization

Plan implemented by China’s central government. From

Figure 5, we can see that rest of area of China, especial

Northwest and Southwest of China, achieved higher growth

rate than coastal area since 2004 which implies that there are

more jobs opportunities in non-coastal area. Migrant workers

from urban area do not have to transfer to coastal area to

find jobs. Alternatively, they can choose their home

provinces to live and work. In addition, some inland and

western provinces encourage labour-intensive industries

transfer to these provinces from coastal area when cost

surged in some coastal manufacturing cities. This change

of growth speed of regional economy also made contribution

to recent labour shortage in the coastal area of China.

Figure 5: Real GDP growth by region, base year=1979,

1980-2010
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C. Household registration system

Hukou system, a household registration system

existing in China, was criticized as an obstacle of labour

flow from rural area to urban area. Migrant worker with

registration in rural area are not allowed to share the equal

right as their peers with urban registration. This institutional

constraint creates difficulties living in urban area for migrant

workers (Knight and Song, 1999 and Knight et al, 2010).

Another factor could cause labour shortage in China is social

factor. Wang (2008) finds that there are obvious

intergenerational differences between two generations of

migrant workers in China. Compared to the first generation

of migrant workers, young migrant workers who were born

after 80s demand more social security and social recognition

than their parent’s generation. This suggests that formerly

stable labour supply from rural area is no longer to continue.

Related regulations and laws to protect migrant workers’

right weren’t improved as new generation of migrant workers

expected. It caused a series of social problems as well as

labour shortage in some urban areas of China.

D. Productivity improving

China’s labour productivity has been dramatically

improved due to constant investment in human capital and

technology. Relative high labour productivity is China’s one

of powerful competitiveness advantage compared to other

advanced countries and emerging economies. Table 2 shows

that China’s labour productivity surged at high growth rate

since 1996. In contrast, major economies, like the US, the EU

and Japan’s productivity grew at very low rate. Some

emerging countries, like India and Russia, experienced a

relative high growth of labour productivity, but not as fast

as China’s. Unit labour cost (ULC), the ratio of wage to

productivity, is one of the important factors to measure one

country’s international competitiveness. It appears that

labour productivity and wage increase exist simultaneously

in China. Given labour productivity has been improved

considerably, China’s wage adjustment will significantly

affect on China’s international competitiveness.

Table 3: Growth of labour productivity in major

emerging and developed economies

Note: growth rates are based on the per cent changes in the

levels of each variable.

Source: the Conference Board Total Economy

Database™, January 2012

E. Wage comparison with other countries

China’s wage level is still relatively low compared to

other countries. Wage in China is not only much lower than

that in developed countries, but also lower than emerging

economies, like Mexico and Philippines (see Figure 6).

According to Banister and Cook (2011), Chinese hourly

labour compensation cost in manufacturing sector were

roughly 4 per cent of that in the US and 3 per cent in of that

in the Euro Area in 2008. Federal minimum wage in the US is

US$ 7.25 per hour in 2011. While the hourly minimum wage

(Tier 1) in Beijing, the highest provincial minimum wage in

China by 2011, is yuan 13 (US$ 2.01) per hour which is only

about a quarter of US’s federal minimum wage.

Figure 6: Index of hourly compensation costs in

manufacturing sector, selected countries and areas, 2010
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Labour’s share, which is the percentage of

compensation for labour to total outcome, indicates that

wage increase in China has lagged behind its GDP growth.

Some literatures find the evidences of falling trend of labour’s

share in China (Cai 2005, Bai and Qian 2009), although

China’s economy achieved a rapid growth. Figure 7 shows

China’s labour’s share which is valued as ratio of total wage

bill to gross national income, nominal GDP growth and

labour’s share growth. We can see that wage share at

national level (in column) has slightly declined since 1990s.

In contrast, China’s nominal GDP grew at about 10 per cent

during the same period. Compared to China’s rapid GDP

growth, labour’s share did not grow at the same pace of

GDP. Therefore, to some extent, backward labour’s share

could explain recent wage adjustment occurring in China.

What’s more, Wei and Qian (2011) examine the regional
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disparity of China’s labour’s share by using provincial data

from 1997 to 2007. They finds that labour’s share in inland

of China is higher than coastal area which implies that wage

increase in coastal area of China was lagged behind the rest

area of China even though economic growth in coastal area

is faster in coastal area during the most of period. It suggests

that wage in coastal area where the most migrant workers

live did not increase as the same as national income growth.

This is one of reason that migrant workers in China,

especially in coastal area, demanded higher wage.

Figure 7: Change of labour’s share and nominal GDP

growth, 1990-2010
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F. Household consumption

One of the reasons to explain China’s rapid wage

increase is household consumption growth which has not

kept pace with GDP growth. Ma (2010) finds saving rate

rose in the last two decades which implies a falling

consumption share to GDP. Ideally, with rapid GDP growth

at around 9-10 per cent annually, China’s household

consumption should increase with China’s rapid economic

growth. But Baker and Orsmond (2010) find that China’s

household consumption share to GDP has continuously

declined even though total household consumption has

grown solidly. Figure 8 illustrates that household

consumption share to GDP constantly declined since 2000

except for year 2009. In contrast, government expenditures

share to GDP kept stable. It implies that China’s stagnant

wage increase discouraged Chinese people’s consumption.

Wage or salary is the main part in China’s household income,

especially in urban area. Household consumption share to

GDP should rise at the pace of GDP growth. More

importantly, it is also critical for government’s attempt that

transfers China’s growth model from export and investment-

oriented to domestic consumption-oriented. Recent wage

increase at national level reflected the fact that China’s

government would like encourage household consumption

to drive economy growing.

Figure 8: Ratios of household consumption and

government expenditures to nominal GDP, 1978-2010
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G. Inflation

Recent high inflation occurred in China also pressed

government and employers to increase workers’ wage. Since

2007, China experienced durable relatively high inflation,

especially in food prices (Figure 9). Couples of reasons are

behind it. First, import prices, particularly commodity prices,

rose fast. This imported inflation pushed China’s CPI index

increase. Second, agricultural product prices were relative

high during that period. Third, expectation of RMB

appreciation attracted speculative capital flow into China. It

therefore deteriorated the bubble in property market and

stock market which indirectly caused high inflation. Higher

inflation caused living cost increasing, especially when food

CPI rose at double digit in some periods. Several strikes

which workers demanded increasing wage happened in some

cities in coastal area in 2010-2011. It is unusual in China.

Thus rising inflation pressed employers to increase wage in

order to attract sufficient workers.

Figure 9: China’s overall and food inflation rate,

quarterly,

From Q1 of 2000 to Q1 of 2012
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In addition, as China’s regionally uneven

development, inflation in each of regions is various. Figure

10 shows that inflation rate in coastal area is higher than

rest of area of China. Rapid rising of living costs in coastal

area led a certain number of migrant workers leaving from

cities in coastal area and return to their home towns where

living costs are low.

Graph 10: CPI index by region, nominal GDP weighted,

1995-2010
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Above we analyze the reasons of recent labour

shortage and rapid wage rising in China. It implies that

China’s economy is entering a new phase of development.

“Unlimited” labour supply and low labour costs in China

are no longer true. However, it is worth noting that wage

levels and its dynamics in China are probably overstated,

because official data, on the one hand, mixes the skilled and

unskilled workers, on the other hand, tend to underestimates

the informal employment which is increasing rapidly since

the late of 1990s. Survey data, in fact, reveals that migrant

workers’ wages are considerably lower than those of urban

citizens and growth rate of wage of migrant worker has been

quite slow. Park et al. (2009) reports that in the period 2003-

2006 real wages of migrant workers grew by an average

annual rate of 6.9 per cent, compared to the growth rate of

12 per cent in aggregated official figures. According to

Banister and Cook’s estimations, despite the rapid increase

of wages in the manufacturing sector, average hourly

compensation costs were just US$ 1.36 in 2008, which is

lower than not only those of advanced countries, but also

those of many emerging countries, such as Mexico (6.5 US$),

or Taiwan (8.7 US$). Indeed, hourly wages in China are more

alike those of much poorer countries, such as the Philippines.

IV. Conclusion

China’s abundant labour force and internal migration

from rural to urban area together significantly contributed

China to becoming the world manufacturing centre, while

keeping wages at a relatively low level for many years.

However, history of economic development also suggests

that cheap labour and demographic dividends cannot last

forever. Recently drastic change occurred in China’s labour

market attracted intensive discussion on if China could

prolong its “economic miracle” or not.

We find that demographic change, regional disparity

and household registration system caused recent labour

shortage in some coastal areas, while relatively long-lasting

low wage and household consumption in China drove wage

increasing rapidly. Also, recent higher inflation pressed

China’s government and employers to increase workers’

wage. Labour shortage and rapidly wage rising signal that

China is entering a new stage of economic development.

China’s past successful model of economic development

needs to make adjustment.
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1.  Introduction

The financial crisis which started in 2007 and which

had its origin in the US was one of the most severe economic

crises in the last decades, even in the last centuries. It has

brought up that the standard macroeconomic models had

failed in explaining or predicting the crisis. Conventional

monetary policies as well as fiscal stimulus packages have

not been enough to combat the financial crisis. Therefore,

adjustments in the established macroeconomic theory are

necessary to get a more surround understanding of these

phenomena.

Until the mid-1990s models assumed frictionless

financial markets, in which households, firms and banks

could borrow or lend infinitely. By introducing financial

frictions the amount which agents can borrow will be limited

and in addition, interest rate spreads between risky and

risk-free assets can be modeled. Thereafter, by abandoning

the assumption of frictionless financial markets, these

modified DSGE models were able to capture the recent

increase in interest rate spreads. Further, besides the issue

of financial frictions, models which primarily focused on

monetary policy often disregarded fiscal policy as another

important policy tool. Models, in turn, that featured a richly

specified fiscal sector did not take into account financial

frictions. This research addresses the aforementioned

problems by combining the insights of both research areas.

Moreover, by estimating the extended model for the Euro

Zone with data ranging from 1980 to 2011, it does not only

evaluate the effectiveness of unconventional monetary

policy, but also of anti-cyclical fiscal policy.

The first landmark in the field of models which

abandon the assumption of frictionless financial markets

was published by Bernanke, Gertler and Gilchrist (1999).

Their model indigenizes credit markets by introducing an

agency problem between borrowers and lenders. They show

that this financial accelerator propagation mechanism has

significant influence on business cycle dynamics. Based

Monetary and Fiscal Policy in a Financial Accelerator Model

Marko Ringmann*
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JEL classification: C11, E52, E58, E62

on New Keynesian models of Christiano, Eichenbaum and

Evans (2005), Smets and Wouters (2007), Gertler and Karadi

(2011) extend these models by incorporating banks as

financial intermediaries. By doing so, they show that

financial frictions in terms of banks have a significant impact

on overall economic activity in times of a crisis. Further, the

monetary authority can conduct unconventional monetary

policy, i.e. it can provide funds to banks in a crisis. We

extend this framework by expanding investment

opportunities for banks.

A paper which analyses the role of fiscal policy in an

extended DSGE model was published by Coenen, Straub

and Trabandt (2013). The basic framework for their analysis

is the New Area Wide Model (NAWM) which is used by the

European Central Bank (ECB). They extend the NAWM by

a richly specified fiscal sector i.e. they introduce several

channels through which the government can influence

economic activity. This is done by assuming feedback rules

for fiscal variables. However, this model lacks inmodeling

the financial sector. We, now, combine both insights.

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows.

In Section 2, we present a summary of the main features of

the model, while the data and empirical strategy is presented

in Section 3. Section 4 presents the main results and Section

5 closes with a conclusion and future research ideas.

2. The Model

In this section we give a brief overview of the model.

As the model features elements that are standard as well as

elements which are based on contributions from Gertler,

Karadi (2011), Kirchner (2012) and Coenen, Straub,Trabandt

(2013), we will highlight the specific features of this model

and only sketch the basics non-technically.

2.1 Baseline Model

The baseline version of the model, which is presented

subsequently,is a New Keynesian Financial Accelerator
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Model first of all presented by Gertler, Karadi (2011). As

standard DSGE models it does not only consist of four types

of agents, namely households, non-financial firms, a fiscal

authority and a monetary authority, but also of banks, which

act as financial intermediaries between all agents.

Households face a trade-off between consuming goods

and supplying labor. Non-financial firms can be

distinguished in capital-producing, intermediate goods

producing and retail firms. Capital producers determine the

capital stock of the economy. Intermediate goods producing

firms use labor and capital as inputs for the production of

the final output. They act in monopolistically competitive

markets, i.e. prices are set as mark-ups over the marginal

rate of substitution between consumption and leisure.

Finally, retailers simply repackage the intermediate goods

and sell it.

Agents face nominal and real rigidities. Real rigidities

are habit formation in consumption and investment

adjustment costs. Nominal rigidities are modeled via

staggered price setting in a Calvo-fashion in combination

with indexation of prices to lagged inflation. Furthermore,

the inclusion of financial intermediaries yields financial

frictions, which arise because of interest rate spreads

between the risk free interest rate and the capital market

interest rate.

The fiscal authority finances its expenditures by

issuing bonds and raising distortionary taxes on

consumption and labor income. Fiscal instruments are

assumed to follow feedback rules, which are dependent on

output and debt changes. Eventually, the monetary authority

conducts monetary policy via a simple Taylor rule. The

features that are specific to my model are presented in more

detail subsequently.

Financial Intermediaries

Gertler, Karadi (2011) introduced banks as financial

intermediaries between households and firms. These banks

lend funds obtained from households to non-financial firms.

In distinction from Gertler and Karadi, banks cannot only

invest in non-financial firms, but also in government bonds

(see e.g. Kirchner (2012)). Hence, the balance sheet of a

bank is given by

With  being claims on intermediate goods firms with

a price ,  being investments in government bonds, 

being deposits obtained from households and  the

intermediaries’ net worth.

As mentioned, banks face a portfolio choice. Capital

market investments yield a return  and government bonds

a return . Households demand a return  on their

funds.Therefore, bankers’ net worth in  evolves as the

difference between his/her earnings on assets and his/her

costs of liabilities:

As it is obvious, the banker has an incentive to increase

the amount assets as long as the return on assets is greater

than the cost of borrowing. To limit this, we introduce a

moral hazard problem which, after some rearranging, yields

the following condition:

With  being the overall leverage

ratio consisting of model parameters and the parameter ?_t,

which represents the unconventional credit policy

parameter. If it is greater than zero, then the leverage ratio

increases.We see, the bankers' amount of assets positively

depends on the net wealth the banker has. In other words,

financial intermediaries are endogenously capital

constrained. This, in turn, leads to the fact that in times of a

crisis, the bankers' assets may deteriorate severely and the

central bank may jump in and provides funds. This is what

we call unconventional monetary policy.

Government budget constraint and fiscal rules

A significant drawback of Gertler, Karadi's financial

accelerator framework is the little importance of the

government. By introducing distortionary taxes and

expanding the fiscal sector, we ascribe more importance to it

as it is seen in reality.

The government finances its expenditures by raising

taxes on consumption and labor with different tax rates. It

consumes the public good , issues Bonds , makes lump-

sum transfers to households  and in times of a crisis, can

provide funds  to financial intermediaries. Hence, the

budget constraint is given by

Government's tax income is as follows

With  being the consumption tax rate,  being the

labor tax rate and  and  the social security

contributions by households and firms respectively.
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The fiscal instruments are assumed to follow simple

feedback rules like proposed in Coenen, Straub,Trabandt

(2013). Hence, taking consumption tax rate as an example,

the fiscal rule is given by

Tax rates react to their own lagged values as well as to

output and government debt.

3.  Data

The model is calibrated and estimated for the Euro

Zone. For this purpose, we use quarterly time series for

selected macroeconomic variables in the Euro zone. These

observables are real GDP, real private consumption, real

government consumption, total employment, inflation, and

real wages per head. Data is taken from an updated version

of the Area Wide Model (AWM) database, which covers

the years 1980 until 2011. Further, in line with Coenen,

Straub, and Trabandt (2013), we exploit a new fiscal database

by Paredes, Pedregal and Perez (2009). This dataset provides

data on consumption and labor tax rates, social security

contributions from firms and households, lump-sum

transfers to households and aggregated government debt.

Since all macroeconomic aggregates except the tax

rates are non-stationary, we use the first log-difference

minus the average growth rate in order to match the data to

the model. From social security contributions, tax rates and

transfers we substract HP-trends.

As we use twelve observables, we need at least twelve

shocks to have enough degrees of freedom. The shocks

affect households’ preferences regarding consumption and

labor supply, productivity, the interest rate, the net wealth

of banks, capital quality, government spending, credit policy

and the fiscal policy variables. All shocks except the fiscal

policy variables shocks.

4. CALIBRATION AND ESTIMATION

The model is estimated with Bayesian techniques. In

order to estimate posterior distributions of selected

parameters, we assume prior distributions for parameters

and use observables to update these distributions.

Formally, let  be the prior distribution of a

parameter vector  for some model  and let 

be the likelihood function for the observed data conditional

on parameter vector  and model , then the posterior

distribution is obtained by the product of the prior

distribution and the likelihood function:
1

This relation holds with proportionality. We eventually

obtain a mean, mode and standard deviation for the

posterior distribution and confidence intervals for the

estimated parameters.

4.1 Calibration

In Table 1 we calibrate key parameters. Since some model

parameters as for instance the subjective discount factor

are fairly standard in the DSGE literature, we calibrate them

as in Gertler and Karadi (2011). For the time being, we also

calibrate the three financial parameters, namely the fraction

of capital that can be diverted , the proportional transfer

to entering bankers  and the survival probability , as in

Gertler and Karadi (2011). There are two reasons. Firstly,

these parameters are hard to identify empirically and

secondly, by choosing the same parameter values we are

able to compare the results of both models. Specific to our

model are the fiscal policy parameters. Here, we calibrate

the steady state tax rates on consumption, labor and social

security contributions as the average between 1980 and

2011.

1

See Christoffel, Coenen, Warne (2008) for a short and  An, Schorfheide (2007) for a detailed description

Table 1

Calibration of key steady-state ratios and selected parameters
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4.2 Highlights

We estimate the fiscal policy parameters as well as the Taylor Rule parameters. We assume the same prior distributions

for the fiscal parameters as Coenen, Straub, Trabandt (2013). That means all feedback parameters for output and debt are

assumed to follow a normal distribution with mean zero and standard deviation two. The autoregressive parameters follow

beta distributions with mean 0.5 and standard deviation two. The Taylor rule parameters’ prior distributions are set as in

Smets and Wouters (2007). We then estimate all parameters with Bayesian techniques and obtain the posterior distributions.

Results are presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Estimated Parameters - Priors and Posteriors
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5.  Results

Figure 1 presents the main result of the paper. It

combines moderate credit policy with fiscal policy

adjustments (dashed line) due to a 5% capital quality shock.

This result is compared to the baseline case, where there is

neither credit policy nor fiscal policy and to the case with

just moderate credit policy by the central bank.

The combination of both tools, that is providing funds

to financial intermediaries and the adjustment of fiscal

parameters in times of a crisis, has the most recession easing

effect.If both tools are combined, output drops by 3.8%

which is about 3.5% lower than without any intervention

and another 1.6% less than with just feedback parameter

adjustment.

This is because the capital quality shock reduces the

effective amount of capital, which directly yields an output

drop because of less capital to produce and because of the

deterioration of assets. Banks deleverage and the interest

rate spread increases severely. As a result, investment and

output decrease. We see a sharp recession. By providing

4.5% of overall funds to banks, the central bank is able to

successfully reduce the interest rate spread increase, which

is about 8% in the case without any intervention, whereas

the spread is only 6% in the case with fiscal policy

intervention and 1.8% in the case where both policies are

combined respectively.
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Figure 1:Impulse Response Analysis after a Capital Quality Shock

6.  Conclusion

In this paper, we develop and estimate a model to

identify the impact of credit policy as well as fiscal policy.

To do so, we use a DSGE model with financial frictions and

an extended fiscal sector. With data from the Euro Zone we

estimate monetary and fiscal parameters.

We find that our extended financial accelerator model

well replicates the output deterioration of about7.3% due to

a capital quality shock during the financial crisis. However,

the incorporation of distortionary taxes and portfolio choice

for banks leads to a more severe recession than in Gertler

and Karadi. In order to combat the recession, the

government adjust its fiscal parameters, whereas the

monetary authority does not jump in. Therefore, we estimate

feedback rules parameters. This policy leads toaless

significant drop in output of about 5.3%. Finally, we show

that the combination of both instruments reduces the output

drop to 3.8%. Both instruments have the most recession

easing effect.
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Section III

Open and Diversified Financial System



32 “Money, Finance and Economic Growth: Emerging Issues” - 10
th

 & 11
th

 Jan. 2014



33ISBN : 978-81-922741-2-6                                 Organised by Joshi-Bedekar College

1. Background

Claims have been made in the past by opposition

parties in the Indian polity, that by bringing back the black

money of the country from the tax havens across the globe,

the standard of living would dramatically increase. It also

has been asserted that the current financial disorder is a

result of the diversion of black money, also referred to as

the underworld economy.

2. Introduction

Black money, or ‘unaccounted income’, ‘black income’,

‘dirty money’, black wealth’, ‘underground wealth’, ‘black

economy’, ‘parallel economy’, ‘shadow economy’,

‘underground / unofficial economy’, is defined as “proceeds,

usually received in cash, from underground economic

activity”
1

. Such a term is usually not used in economic

theory, but is informally referred so. The extent of black

money deposited in tax havens is estimated to be `9,295

crore for the year 2010 by the Swiss National Bank, that is

0.13 percent of the total deposits of all the nationals held in

Swiss Banks. The myth that India has a substantial amount

of currency in Swiss Banks is falsified by the White Paper

on Black Money published by the Ministry of Finance,

Government of India in May 2012. This document further

goes on to claim that the black money by Indian deposits in

Swiss Bank accounts were to the tune of ̀ 23,373 crore in the

year 2006, that is 0.29 percent, which is still unsubstantial in

the contexts Indian black money held in Swiss Banks.

However, according to a study shown by Dev Kar

and Cartwright-Smith, India has lost around US $23.7 to US

$27.3 billion annually in illicit financial flows in the period of

2002-06. The same study also showed that in the period of

The Issue of Black Money in India: A study on its movement and implications

on the Indian economy

Conrad Pinto

Abstract : Various claims have been made in the past about the effect of Indian black money on the Indian economy, as well

as its effect on the standard of life if it were to be routed back to the country by the government. It also has been asserted that

the current financial disorder is a result of the diversion of black money from the country. Politicization of the issues has meant

that the public has been wronged about the implications of black money on the economy. FDI has also received a lot of

criticism for its implementation by the government. This study tries to show the movement of Indian black money in foreign

markets. While it shows its movements, it also intends to draw out its implications on the Indian economy. It also outlines the

role of FDI in routing black money back into the economy.

1948-2008, US $213.2 billion has been shifted out of India.

This same amount, if halved and compound interest would

be calculated, would amount to a staggering US$462 billion

as of end-December 2008. This would’ve been sufficient to

liquidate India’s external debts that amounted to US$230.6

billion at that same juncture.

An estimate
2

 has further gone on to project that the

total amount of India’s underground economy should be

US $640 billion dollars in 2008, which is around 50 percent

of the total GDP.

In 2009, before the General Elections in India, Sharad

Yadav of the JD(U), the then member of the opposition NDA

alliance, claimed that the black money held in Swiss Banks

by Indian nationals were to the tune of US$1.46 trillion,

which is more than the actual size of GDP. This report was

published following circulations being forwarded on various

portals of the same data. This data was later scrapped in the

Go I’s White Paper on Black Money, published in May 2012.

Furthermore, overhyped claims after the politicization of the

issue has asserted in unrecognized news portals that the

black money which has been estimated at around 40 percent

of the total GDP can be distributed, by which every citizen

can get a monthly income of  Rs 2000 for a span of 60 years.

Also the money can create much needed jobs to the extent

of 60 million fresh openings. While the calculations on these

facts might be certified as feasible, it is uneconomic

altogether.

In an article by the Indian Express
3

, it was reported

that the Swiss National Bank figures showed Indian black

money at US$3 billion in 2008, US$2.7 billion in 2009 and

US$2.5 billion in 2010. Sources, according to the report,

stated that the steady decline in the Swiss deposits over

the years might be due to growing pressure on Swiss banks

from the Indian polity and the funds have been transferred

to safer tax havens such as Dubai, Mauritius, Singapore

and other regions in the Middle-East. But due to vigilant

regulators such as RBI and SEBI, the deposits in the Middle-

East are seeing a spurt, while they are being routed back in

the recent times, through either FIIs or FDIs.
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In another article by the Economic Times
4

, the Foreign

Tax and Tax Research (FT and TR) in 2013, made approaches

to the lesser known tax havens, to which most of the black

money which had speculatively been moved to from Swiss

and Dubai Banks. The reported places that were approached

were Singapore, British Virgin Islands, Cayman Islands,

Cooks Islands and Samoa; this after the International

Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ) expose of

secret offshore accounts held by individuals from the cities

of Delhi, Bangalore, Kolkata, Chennai, Hyderabad, Pune,

Ahmedabad, Baroda, Surat, Chandigarh and a few other

cities.

3. Means of redirecting Black Money back into India

Redirecting black money back into India can be done

in three ways, which is by legislation, judiciary or by

economic policy. The methods by legislation can be by way

of declaring the black money as a national asset either by

passing a law in the parliament or by the Supreme Court

ruling. The methods by judiciary is as already mentioned

above, that is by government intervention and approaching

respected countries to persuade and make co-operate those

countries to make-know of the details of amount of assets

hoarded, etc. While both these methods can be rigid and

ineffective, they can also be virtually impractical given their

indirect touch. A more effective means of redirecting black

money back is by economic policy and is most effective off-

late in the form of Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs).

4. Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs)

It is “an investment made by a company or entity based

in one country into a company or entity based in another

country.” FDI has been a major economic policy in the

Indian economy. It was first introduced in India among the

1991 economic reforms penned as the Foreign Exchange

Management Act (FEMA). In 1997, FDI in cash and carry

(wholesale) was permitted through the Government route.

In 2006 it brought under Automatic route and FDI in single

brand retail with 51 percent investment was permitted. In

September 2012, a bill on FDI in multi-brand retail was passed,

that enabled 51 percent ownership on retail chains in India.

5. Returning trend of Black Money via FDI

The growth in FDI in India has been noteworthy in

the past few years, not particularly due to the passing of

these various laws in the realm of Foreign Investments, but

for the investments made into the economy by the tax havens

that have been held in the radar of the Indian government.

Data maintained by the Department of Industrial Policy and

Promotion (DIPP) of the Ministry of Finance shows a telling

trend in the same. It is important to note that Mauritius,

Singapore, British Virgin Island, U.A.E. have all been well-

known tax havens, the case of Cyprus is an uncertain one,

however, it shall be presented here for the sake of justice of

argument.

a. Mauritius

Mauritius is a tiny country on the Indian Ocean, whose

economy accounts to less than a hundredth of the Indian

economy and yet it is one of the largest investors in FDI in

India. According to the Department of Industrial Policy and

Promotion (DIPP), as of April 2013, Mauritius has an

investment total amounting to Rs 3.4 lakh crores or US $74

billion, which is 38 percent of the total investments made

among all foreign entities, while the second-highest holds

only 11 percent of that stake.

Mauritius has toughened its role in helping the Indian

government to trace down erring financial agents in the

nation in the recent past
5

, it has also shown positive

responses in cases of government correspondences et al
6

.

On August 6, 2012, Firstpost.com reported
7

 that

Mauritius-based financial entities off-loaded shares to the

tune of Rs 3,000 crore in the period of April-1-2012 to August-

6-2012. This was found to be highly contrasting of the share

purchases in the same period that amounted to a total of Rs

600 crore, translating to a net outflow of over Rs 2,200 crore.

These developments have all been in the wake of a

toughened stand on black money by the two countries.



35ISBN : 978-81-922741-2-6                                 Organised by Joshi-Bedekar College

b. Singapore

Singapore is a small island nation on the southern tip

of the Malay Peninsula. With a geographical area of

720sq.kms, and a measly population of 5,312,400, it is pegged

as the fastest growing tax havens in the world and assumed

to topple Switzerland as a major tax haven by 2020
8

.

According to the DIPP FDI data, Singaporean financial

entities have a total investment of Rs 97,214 crore or US

$20.7 billion, standing second to Mauritius in the total

nation-wise total investments in India. However, the trend

seems to see a lesser growth than Mauritius with an average

‘1,365.35 million increase in the total investment, in the period

of the surveyed 40 months, when compared to Mauritius’

average of Rs 3,407.4 million increase.

However, President Lee Hsien Loong of Singapore,

asserted
99 “ 

It’s wrong to cite Singapore in white paper on

black money: Hsien Lo ong, Prime Minister, Singapore”  that

Singapore wasn’t a destination for tax-laundering activities

of erring individuals in India. In justification to his argument,

it is also noteworthy that the Governments of India and

Singapore had entered into an agreement for avoidance of

double taxation and prevention of fiscal evasion with

Singapore (DTAA) on 27
th

 May, 1994 that has been amended

at various occasions, including one off-late in 2005.

c. U.A.E.

This includes the investments from all the emirates of

the U.A.E., inclusive of the seven emirates, Abu Dhabi, Dubai,

Sharjah, Umm al-Quwain, Ajman, Ras al-Khaimah and

Fujairah. Although it is largely publicized that Dubai is a tax

haven, Abu Dhabi is also a potential target as a tax haven
10

,

and as Dubai and Abu Dhabi constitute for a majority GDP

in the U.A.E, it is safe to assume that the U.A.E. has a

proportion of Indian black money.

According to the study obtained by the data from

DIPP on FDI, U.A.E. has shown the least amount of total

foreign investments, among the countries studied, ranking

a lowly 10 on the April 2013 survey of the DIPP at a meager

Rs 11,363 crore or US $2.4 billion, with an average monthly

growth of Rs 284.08 and a mere 1 percent of the total

investments.

For the sake of clarity of the graph, Chart 5 below demonstrates the singular trend of U.A.E.’s FDI growth.
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6. Implications on the Economy

With the extent of exported Indian black money being

to the tune of US$462 billion, it is evident that this has

created serious faults in the monetary system.

� Currency deflation is caused by unequal balance of

payments. When the monetary authority produces

more currency units and pumps it into the system, the

unaccounted money is not taken into consideration.

Under such a situation, the currency value depreciates

in the global market and hence causes currency

deflation.

� Inflation is a major and an evident implication on the

economy. Huge inflows of unaccounted money

converts desires into demands and postpones the dip

in the demand curve, while the supply stays the same

or barely rises (at its peak) in response creating disorder

and ultimately a hike in the prices to meet the demand.

The amount of proportion of unaccounted money to

the accounted money can lead to reciprocating effects

on price levels.

� The calculations of the policy-makers with respect to

the fiscal measures undertaken periodically can be

significantly affected with misappropriated monetary

assets accounted during that period. This can severely

affect the economic system of that economy in the

future years, by forces outside of that economy;

especially the monetary denomination.

� Investment of black money into another country can

mean a rise in growth and productivity of that country.

Employment increases, wages are upgraded, output

swells and exports flourish. Also, growth rates escalate

quickly for that period.

7. Conclusion

With Black Money being routed out of India through

a passage left unchecked by the judiciary system, there

exist major flaws in the economic policy of the country. The

issue of Black Money in tax havens is a serious issue to the

economy, as it empowers economic freedom to the various

tax havens in which a huge chunk of the Indian currency

deposits lie. With Swiss Bank’s estimates of Rs 9,295 crore

worth of Indian black money held with its banks in 2010, the

next bid goes to Mauritius as being the highest holder of

Indian black money in today’s age, with a total of Rs 3.4 lakh

crore worth of investment entering India till April 2013, which

is 37 times larger than the total amount of Indian deposits

held in Swiss Banks. Dubai, on the other hand, has shown

an unclear trajectory with regards to FDIs. While it was

claimed that Dubai has a significant proportion of black

money, if true, it has not been routed back through FDI. It

has either been transferred to another tax haven, or has

been invested in a foreign land. Singapore shows an

interesting graph at Rs 97,214 crore investments to-date.

While Singapore can be ascertained to be a far advanced

economy in comparison to Mauritius, is should also be noted

that the investments are more substantial to the ones made
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by U.S.A. and the U.K. (both who stand at 3
rd

, 4th and 5
th

positions in the period, ahead of Singapore’s 2
nd

 on the FDI

stats), both of whom have more economic interests in India

than Singapore. Hence, it can be assumed that a proportion

of the black money is returning back through the Singapore

route as well.
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Introduction

The global economic environment continues to be

weak and challenging. The world economy which was

passing through unprecedented financial turmoil since

August 2007 experienced a jolt in September 2008 when the

failure of Lehman Brothers led to widespread panic across

global financial markets. Many systemically important

commercial banks, investment banks, insurance companies

and other financial institution in the US and Europe suffered

large losses that undermined their capital bases. The US

Federal Reserve and other central banks/governments;

rescued financial institutions through large bailout packages,

but financial markets continue to suffer from a crisis of

confidence. The consumer price inflation touched at highest

level in several advanced countries. The unemployment rate

in the US increased to 8.5 percent, the highest since 1983.

Unemployment rate in the Euro, UK and Japan too increased

significantly.

Challenges faced by global economy:

The sovereign debt crisis in the EU intensified during

2011-12, with more countries of the region coming in the

grip of it. This pulled down the output growth significantly

in the Euro-zone and jolted global growth prospect. Another

development was slowdown in growth momentum in the

 “The Indian Economy : An Overview of Challenges and Measures”

Dr. Dilip B. Bhanagade

Associate Professor, Dept. of Commerce Dnyana Sadhana College,  Thane.

Abstract :  The global economic environment continues to be weak and challenging. The world economy which was passing

through unprecedented financial turmoil since August 2007 experienced a jolt in September 2008 when the failure of Lehman

Brothers led to widespread panic financial markets. Challenges faced by global economy:

� Challenges facing global economy

� Weak growth prospects

� Inflation

� European sovereign debt crisis

� Fiscal cliff in US and Chinese slowdown

Challenges faced by Indian economy:

� Growth projections are bleak

� GDP down trends

� Inflation

� Stagnation in Industrial Production

� Currency Depreciation

India’s Preparedness:

Indian economy and financial system have a unique set of strengths and weaknesses but like any other emerging economy it

cannot protect itself from the global headwinds. Its resilience to overseas developments would be severely tested as domestic

growth and inflation dynamics are affected both by global and local factors. Let us throw light on India’s preparedness

� Exchange rate measures

� Measures towards Export Promotion

� Measures towards Capital Flow

Conclusion: The global environment is characterised by slow down and uncertainty. However structural adjustments,

appropriate macro and micro economic policy initiatives, credible action for fiscal consolidation, tax reforms and control

inflation is the need of Indian economy. There is also a need to tone up our political administrative regulatory framework.

emerging market economies which had led to recessionary

pressure.

Structural reforms:

   The recent slowdown of advanced economies is both

cause and effect of the sovereign debt crisis. The fiscal

austerities taken in response are further weakening the

prospect of growth and employment in the affected

European countries. The US continues face high level of

unemployment, the consumer and business confidence

remains shaken. The action by policy makers across the

advanced economies to save global economy from falling

in to downward spiral, rejuvenate employment led recovery

and pave the way for structural reforms required for

sustainable and balanced growth is not only in these

countries but also in India.

Weak growth prospects:

The economic growth around the world weakened

significantly. The overall global growth slipped to 3.9% in

2011 from 5.3% in 2010, with growth in both advanced and

emerging economies slipping to 1.6% and 6.2% in 2011 from

3.2% and 7.5%, respectively in 2010. The growth in US has

fallen in Q2 2012, while GDP growth in UK, Japan and Euro

area has been negative. Even the growth in BRIC nations,
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which serves as an engine of growth in the developing world,

has considerably slowed down.

Inflation:

The US is facing the worst drought in over half a

century. There are fears that corn and soya bin crops could

fail leading to an increase in the price of these crops. Since

these crops also serve as animal feed and bio-fuel, there

could be an eventual increase in price of animal products

like meat, milk and milk products and bio-fuels due to fall in

supply. The drought could have a bearing on the production

of other crops and consequently potential increase in global

food inflation.

European sovereign debt crisis:

European debt crisis which originated in Greece spread

initially to other near periphery and has now moved to the

bigger core European countries like Spain, Italy and so on.

A large number of banks in Euro zone stand to suffer

significant losses due to escalation of sovereign debt crisis.

European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) is likely to be

over-stretched if bigger economies like Italy and Spain

require bail-out fund.

Fiscal cliff in US and Chinese slowdown:

   Another potential crisis on the horizon is the ‘fiscal

cliff’ in the US. There is a risk that government spending

could fall abruptly in the US by as much as 4 per cent of

GDP in 2013. It would potentially harm the economic growth.

The rate of unemployment is unlikely to fall. It is, therefore,

suggested that policy makers in US must take steps to avoid

the fiscal cliff and also raise the debt limit while devising

plan to return to long term fiscal prudence.

   China, according to the IMF, is the most ‘central’

trading power (with trading partner for 78 countries) based

on extensive trade link with other economies. The recent fall

in investment and export demand has dampened the hopes

that China could make up for weak demand from the debt-

crippled Europe and United States.

Challenges faced by Indian economy:

   India has benefited from greater integration with the

world economy and global financial markets. It also entails

huge cost. Over the years, India’s globalisation indicators

have been going up; e.g. current and capital account receipts

and payments as a percentage of GDP has been around 110

per cent in the last two years. The European debt crisis and

global slowdown are creating serious headwinds for Indian

recovery and posting major challenges to the economy.

Indian economy and global turmoil:

Growth decelerations, lower private consumption, food

inflation coupled with sharp currency depreciation are major

concerns for Indian economy.

 Growth projections are bleak: The growth

assumptions have gone wrong with more downward

revisions. The projections given by rating agencies for FY

13 are:

Table. 1 Growth projection FY 2013
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(Source: Business standard 15
th

 Sept-12)

The capital flows are often determined by the

sovereign ratings. The outlook for India has been

downgraded by few credit rating agencies. India’s sovereign

rating was put under ‘watch-list’ due to weak fiscal

performance, uncertain investment environment, declining

growth and governance related issues.

 GDP down trends:

The growth deceleration is one of the major concerns

for India. The latest GDP growth number of 6.5per cent is

the lowest in the last nine years. Growth figures for last few

years’ shows downward trends.

            Table. 2 GDP Growth (at 2004-05 prices)

Year

% cent

Growth

2009-10 8.0

2010-11 8.6

2011-12 6.5

*2012-13

(RBI projection)

6.5

(Source: RBI Bulletin Sep-12) Fiscal Deficit:

Government of India’s expenditure growth at 17% y-

o-y outpaced the budget aim of 14.8% for entire FY-13. The

large twin deficit viz., current account deficit and fiscal deficit

pose significant risk to micro economic stability and growth

sustainability. Financing the huge fiscal deficit from internal

domestic saving would potentially crowd out the private

investment, thus lowering growth prospects.
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                        Table.3 Fiscal Deficit

Years

As % cent to

GDP

2007-08 2.5

2008-09 6.0

2009-10 6.4

2010-11 4.7

2011-12 5.0

*2012-13(proj) 6.1

       (Source: Economic Times)

Import Export Gap: There is a record high gap between

exports and imports which will push up current account

deficit. Exports are lower. There is a decline in merchandise

exports by 1.7% as June12. Indian export is in for turbulent

times. IMF estimated only 3.8 % growth as against 5.9% in

world trade.

                               Table.4 Import Export Gap

Years Import Export Balance of Trade

2006-07 185737 126414 -59321

2007-08 251439 162904 -88535

2008-09 303696 185295 -118401

2009-10 288373 178751 -109622

* 2010-11 161051 105064 -55987

Table .5 Current Account Deficits:

Years

As % cent to

GDP

2007-08 1.3

2008-09 2.3

2009-10 2.8

2010-11 2.6

2011-12 4.2

(source: Economic Times)

The high current account deficits (CAD) in 2011-12

are much above the country’s comfort levels. India’s CAD

is also relatively higher than its peers. Fiscal deficit and

inflation in India limits the policy manoeuvrability.

The consequences of acute twin deficits:

� Cost of funds rise for borrower as government compete

with private sector for the funds.

� Emergence of inflationary pressure.

� Slow down in the foreign inflow.

� Sharp depreciation of local currencies.

Inflation:

India is now ranked at 151 out of 180 countries in

respect of inflation level as against a rank below 100 few

years back. The stubborn inflation has hindered support

and stimulus by the government and RBI.

Table. 6 Inflation (WPI %)
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Credit rating:

 According to Standard and Poor’s India’s rating

currently is BBB. Any downgrade from current rating will

lead to a ‘non- investment grade status and could have

implications on capital flows. Cross currency studies have

revealed that downgrades cause depreciation of currencies

and increases currency volatility.

 Stagnation in Industrial Production:

 The capital goods is the main driver for growth which

have remained in the negative zone.

               Table.7 Index of Industrial Production

Periods % cent IIP

Sep.11 -5.00

Dec.11 1.00

Mar.12 -2.90

Aprl.12 -1.26

May 12 2.50

June 12 -1.80

     (Source: Bus. Standard 15
th

 Sep 12.)
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Currency Depreciation:

 The year 2011-12 witnessed sharp depreciation of more than 12 per cent, which is much higher.

Table.8 Performance of Currencies against US dollars

India Indonesia Thailand S.Korea Malaysia Taiwan Singapore Japan

Hong

Kong

China

-10.19 -10.39 -5.36 -4.35 -3.44 -3.29 -2.16 -1.54 0.64 1.16

 (Source: RBI Bulletin Sep 2012)

  Overall negative sentiments can quell investment

plans of portfolio investors, deter long term direct investor

to commit funds and can have negative effect on financial

markets. Recognising this issue, the RBI had mandated that

participation in the call /money market be limited to only

domestic entities like primary dealers and banks without

any role for non-resident entities. Even the debt market has

been insulated due to limited exposure to the non-residents.

The overall Indian approach has been to focus on

active capital account management so that the domestic

currency is not unduly affected by global factors unrelated

to the local fundamentals.

India’s Preparedness

Indian economy and financial system have a unique

set of strength and weaknesses but like any other emerging

economy it cannot protect itself from the global headwinds.

Its resilience to overseas developments would be severely

tested as domestic growth and inflation dynamics are

affected both by global and local factors. Let us throw light

on India’s Preparedness.

 Exchange rate measures:

The number of policy measures have been undertaken

to mitigate the effects of unfavourable movement in the

exchange rate. The RBI intervened in the forex market to

contain excessive volatility. The measures taken are like:

� Attract the capital flows to reduce supply demand

mismatch for US dollars.

� Permission to trade invoicing in Indian rupees.

� Hedging of rupees exposures by non- residents.

� Measures towards Export Promotion

� Rationalisation  of Export procedures

� Inclusion of more coverage under the Focus Market

and Focus Product Schemes

� Enhancing  export credit refinance limit from 15% to 20

% of the banks outstanding Rupee Export Credit

� Increasing in respect of FCNR (B) which would provide

source for foreign currency denominated export credit

to Indian exporters.

� Deregulating interest rate on export credit in foreign

currency for incentivising banks to extend more foreign

currency export credit.

Measures towards Capital Flow:

The capital flows are determined by global investor’s

sentiment, investment climate in destination country and

its credit rating. India is structurally a current account deficit

country; therefore, financing the CAD has become a major

challenge. The capital flow plays an important role. A number

of policy measures have been undertaken to augment the

capital into India are like:

� Deregulating interest rate on NRE deposits scheme.

� Increase in the spread for FCNR (B) deposits.

� Streamlining the remittances facilities for Indian

expatriate.

� Calibrated enhancement in the investment limits for FII

in sovereign and corporate bonds.

� Enhancement in the investment limits in G-Secs from

US $ 15 billion to 20 billion.

� Permission to investment in Government securities for

long term investors like; Sovereign Wealth Funds

(SWF), endowment funds, pension funds, foreign

Central Banks.

� Introduction of new scheme viz; Qualified Foreign

Investors (QFI), for investment in corporate bonds up

to US $ 1billion.

� Increasing limits for refinancing rupee loans out of

ECB’s.

� Increasing limits for unavailing of ECB under automatic

route.

� New scheme of ECB for export earner of US $ 10 billion.

India has remained to be the largest remittance

receiving country. This policy initiative has resulted in NRI

deposits flows, which has witnessed a sharp rise of more

than 200 per cent stood at US $ 11.9 billion in 2011-12 against

an inflow of US $ 3.2 billion in 2010-11.
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Recent Major Reforms:

The Cabinet Ministry of Manmohan Singh has taken

many decisions to bolster economic growth and make India

a more attractive destination for foreign investment. The

step to liberalise FDI in multi-brand retail, aviation,

broadcasting and power was the need of the hour.

Table.9 Liberalisation in FDI

Sector New FDI norms

Civil avia tion

Foreign airlines can pick up to 49% in Indian carriers.

FIPB clearance is mandatory

Multi brand reta il

Foreign reta ile rs like Wall Mart, others can pick up to

51% stake in loca l reta il networks.

Single brand reta il

Conditions of foreign ownersh ip of brands change;

30% sourcing clause tweaked.

Broadcast carriage

services

FDI cap hike to 74% from 49% for DTH, HITS,

Mobile, T.V.; up to 49% on automatic route; 49-74%

via FIPB.

Power exchanges

49% foreign investment allowed with rider of 26%

cap on FDI and 23% cap on FII overa ll cap.

(Source: Economic Times 15
th

 sep. 12)

  Disinvestment:

Disinvestment in the listed public sector companies

can be:

� Follow on public offer (FPO).

� Offer for sale through stock exchange

� Auction  method

� Financial restructuring of PSU like Prasar Bharati.

Disinvestment in public sector was a major step,

through which government expected to get Rs.10,000 crores

by selling  shares of the  4 PSU companies like Hindustan

Coppers, MMTC, Nalco and Oil India.

Conclusion:

The global environment is characterised by slow down

and uncertainty.  However, structural adjustments,

appropriate macro and micro economic policy initiatives,

credible action for fiscal consolidation, tax reforms and

control inflation is the need of Indian economy. There is

also need to tone up our political-administrative –regulatory

framework.
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Section IV

India as Emerging Market
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Intorduction

Emerging economies are playing a key role by keeping

global economy at a positive growth rate. The US and

European nations are struggling to keep up their growth

rates and tackle the problem of rising unemployment. The

emerging economies are experiencing higher growth rates,

improvements in development indicator-HDI along with

lower employment rates. After the subprime crisis in US and

the major economic crisis in European Union, the growth

centre is surely shifting away from the West.

At this juncture, it is indeed necessary to keep the

growth engine of the emerging economies moving at a faster

speed to meet the global aspirations. The advanced countries

need to restore their economic power and underdeveloped

economies also need to grow at a higher pace. The Micro,

Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) can help to achieve

higher growth rates along with better employment

opportunities for the foster rate of innovation and

technological changes. Currently, every nation is trying to

encourage MSMEs through innovative policy measures.

An emerging economy like India, with a high percentage of

young population, can hope to achieve a high and sustained

economic growth by creating more jobs through MSMEs.

Since 2003 India has been one of the fastest-growing

major economies in the world, leading to rapid increases in

per capita income, increasing demand and integration with

the world economy. India has made structural reforms that

have led to its growing prowess in certain sectors of the

service economy as well. India’s GDP in dollar terms could

surpass that of the United States by 2050, making it the

world’s second-largest economy. The increase in service

The Role Of Micro, Small And Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) In An Emerging

Economy Like India

Dr. Vijay Shanker Srivastava

Assistant Professor, Dept. of Economics, A.E. Kalsekar Degree College, Mumbra, University of Mumbai, Mumbai, India,

E-mail: srivastav_v@rediffmail.com

Abstract : The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) have been accepted as an engine of economic growth for

promoting equitable development. The MSME sector has emerged as a highly vibrant and dynamic sector of the Indian

economy over the past few decades.

The MSMEs are the backbone of Indian industrial structure. Promotion and growth of MSME has been principal feature of

new Indian Industrial Policy. The MSME sector today occupies a position of strategic importance in the Indian economy in

terms of its contribution to Gross Domestic Product (GDP), industrial output, exports, income generation and specially

employment generation.

In the post reform era, the MSME sector has undergone drastic changes. Indian economy which is trying to assimilate itself

with the world economy is facing new challenging environment. In such situation, MSMEs have to become competitive by

accepting challenges of new world order.

The MSMEs are considered a harbinger of economic progress. This sector is believed to be an elixir for all the ills of a

developing economy like India. There is an urgent need of rapid expansion of MSME sector and to make possible a significant

shift of workforce from agriculture to SSI sector.

 Keywords: Challenges, Importance, Measures, Performance, Policy Initiatives and Role,

and manufacturing productivity has been a large component

of India’s surging GDP. The gradual opening up of the

economy introduced competition that forced the private

sector to restructure, emerging learner and more competitive.

Leading this change have been international trade, financial

sector growth, and the spread and adoption of information

technology.

————————————————————————

One of the striking features of planned economic

development in India has been the development of The

Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs). The

country accorded high priority to this sector on account of

its employment generation potential, comparatively low

requirement of capital, promotion of regional development,

utilization of local resources, production of exportable

products etc.

The small scale sector has played a very important

role in the socio-economic development of the country

during the past five decades.  It has significantly contributed

to the overall growth in terms of   the Gross Domestic Product

(GDP), employment generation, and exports earnings. The

performance of the small scale sector, therefore, has a direct

impact on the growth of the overall economy.   MSMEs

contribute 8 per cent of the country’s GDP, 45 per cent of

the manufactured output and 40 per cent of our exports.

The labour and capital ratio in MSMEs and the overall growth

in the MSMEs is much higher than in the larger industries.

MSMEs are better dispersed. In view of these factors,

MSMEs are important for achieving national objectives of

growth with equity and inclusion. As per the quick estimates

of 4
th 

All-India Census of MSMEs, (2006-07), the number of

enterprises is estimated to be about 26 million and these

provide employment to an estimated 60 million persons. Of
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the 26 million MSMEs, only 1.5 million are in the registered

segment while the remaining 24.5 million (94%) are in the

unregistered segment. The state-wise distribution of MSMEs

shows that more than 55% of these enterprises are in 6

states, namely, Uttar Pradesh, Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu,

West Bengal, Andhra Pradesh and Karnataka.

In a labour abundant and capital scarce country like

India, MSMEs have come to occupy a significant position

in the planned industrial of the economy. The MSMEs have

stimulated economic activity of a far reaching magnitude.

Elimination of economic backwardness of rural and under

developed regions in the country. The present study is an

attempt to identify the state of growth of small sectors in

India and their performance over the years. The research

paper also highlights the specific problems affecting the

performance of MSMEs.

Objectives  of  the  Study

• To examine the performance and challenges of

MSME in changing scenario

• To evaluate the policies provided by the

government to MSME sector

Methodology

This research paper based on secondary data. The

data have been collected through reports of Ministry of

MSME, All India Census of MSMEs, books, journals,

various websites, publications, magazines, seminars and

other reports.

Significance  and  Performance

Worldwide, the micro small and medium enterprises

(MSMEs) have been accepted as an engine of economic

growth and for promoting equitable development. The major

advantage of the sector is its employment potential at low

capital cost. The labour intensity of the MSME sector is

much higher than that of the large enterprises. The MSMEs

constitute over 90% of total enterprises in most of the

economies and are credited with generating the highest rates

of employment growth and account for a major share of

industrial production and exports. In India too, the MSMEs

play a pivotal role in the overall industrial economy of the

country.

A vibrant SMEs sector can play a key role in creating

jobs and high economic growth. It has the most potential to

provide employment for the 70 percent labour force still

working in agriculture. Achieving and sustaining such

growth and higher employment will require a boost in

industrial and services growth, spurred by SMEs.

The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise (MSME)

sector is one of the most vibrant sector of the Indian

economy. India has recently attracted global attention for

its rapid growth. There is a broad consensus that India must

continue to grow rapidly and faster to eradicate poverty

than in the past. There is also an emerging consensus that

this growth must be more inclusive. The factors that can

contribute to high and inclusive growth are more jobs,

increased productivity, better skills and education. In recent

years the MSME sector has consistently registered higher

growth rate compared to the overall industrial sector. With

its agility and dynamism, the sector has shown admirable

innovativeness and adaptability to survive the recent

economic downturn and recession.

Overall Performance of Micro, Small and Medium

Enterprises

MSMEs  at  a  glance

Year

Number of

MSMEs

(in lakh)

Fixed Investment

(Rs. Crore)

Production

(Rs. Crore)

At Current

Prices

Employment

(number in Lakh)

Export          (Rs. 

Crore)

1 2 3 4 5

2000-01 101.01 1,46,845 2,61,297 238.73 69,797

2001-02 105.21 1,54,349 2,82,270 249.33 71,244

2002-03 109.49 1,62,317 3,14,850 260.21 86,013

2003-04 114.00 1,70,219 3,64,547 271.42 97,644

2004-05 118.59 1,78,699 4,29,796 282.57 1,24,417

2005-06 123.42 1,88,113 4,97,842 294.91 1,50,242

2006-07 261.01 5,00758 7,09,398 594.61 1,82,538

2007-08 272.79 5,58,190 7,90,768 626.34 2,02,017

2008-09 285.16 6,21,753 8,80,805 659.35 N.A.

2009-10 298.08 6,93,835 9,82,919 695.38 N.A.

2010-11 311.51 N.A. 10,95,758 732.20 N.A.

Note : 1. N.A.  Not available, 2. Since 2001-02, production figures are at 2001-02 prices, 3. Data upto 2005-06 refer to only

Small Scale Industries, Data from 2006-07 refer to micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMEs)

Source:    (i) EPW Research Foundation, India: A pocket Book of Data Series 2012  (New Delhi, 2012), Table 37, p.54; and

(ii) Reserve Bank of India, Handbook of Statistics on Indian Economy 2011-12 (Mumbai, 2012), Table 35.
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Number of MSMEs

As per the quick results of 4
th

 All India Census 2006-

07 there were 261.01 lakh enterprises (registered and

unregistered) in the country, out of which 15.33 lakh were

registered working enterprises and 245.48 lakh unregistered

enterprises.

The data reveals that the total number of MSMEs was

101 lakh in the year 2000-01, 121 lakh in 2005-06 and 311 lakh

2010-11 respectively. During eleven years (i.e. 2000-01 to

2010-11), MSMEs increased by three times but growth of

MSMEs was not much impressive during the period.

Investment

It is visible that in 2000-01 the investment was 1, 46,8,45

crore , increased 1,88,1,13 crore in 2005-6. There is a slight

increase in investment level in six years. Investment has

increased more than double if we compare 2005-06 to 2006-

07.  But in the ahead years such momentum could not be

maintained. It is visible from the following graph.

Production

As far as output is concerned, the output of MSME

units in 2000-01 was Rs. 2, 61,297 crore and this rose to Rs.

4, 97,842 crore in 2005-06.  Output of MSME units in 2006-07

was Rs. 7, 09,398 crore and this rose to Rs. 10, 95,758 crore in

2010-11. It is estimated that the MSME contributes about 8

percent of GDP and about 45 percent of manufactured output.

High Employment Potential

MSMEs have substantial higher employment potential

than large scale industries. For a labour abundant and capital

scarce country like India, the employment argument is

perhaps the strongest that can be put forward in favour of

the small scale industries. MSMEs provide maximum

employment next to the agricultural sector. Within the

manufacturing sector itself, small and decentralized sector

contributes about fourth-fifths of manufacturing

employment in India. Given the acute unemployment problem

in India, creation of employment opportunities will depend

crucially on the development of small scale enterprises.

The SME sector employed 240.9 lakh people in 2000.01

and this number rose to 294.9 lakh people in 2005-06.

Employment in MSME sector stood at 594.7 lakh in 2006-07

and this increased to 732.3 lakh in 2010-11.

Export  Potential

 The rapid growth of the MSMEs has a great relevance

in exports of sports goods, readymade garments, woollen

garments and knitwear, tiles, plastic products, processed

food, leather products, Chemical and Allied products and a

large number of engineering goods. In the recent years

handicrafts have emerged as a leading revenue-earning item

in India’s exports. There is a tremendous potential to expand

the quantum of exports from traditional MSMEs because

handicrafts are unable to take advantage of economies of

scale. In other words, we can say that small industries

constitute an import segment of the Indian economy.

The value of exports of small sector industry products

increased from Rs. 155 crore in 1971-72, Rs. 1,643 crore in

1980-81 and to a record high figure of Rs. 1, 50,242 crore in
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2005-06 and 2, 02,017 crore in 2007-08. This meant an increase

in the share of the small-scale industries in the total exports

of the country from 9.6 percent in 1971-72 to around 31

percent in 2007-08. MSME sector, as a whole, contribute

about 40 percent of exports earnings presently.

Challenges to SME Sector

The largest source of employment after agriculture,

small sector in India enables lakhs of men, women, and

children living in urban slums, upcoming towns, remote

villages and isolated hamlets to use indigenous knowledge,

cultural wisdom, and entrepreneurial skills for the

sustenance of their lives and livelihoods.  Apart from the

contribution to national income, small enterprises are

instruments of inclusive growth, touching the lives of the

most vulnerable, the most marginalized, viz. Women,

Muslims, Scheduled Castes, Scheduled Tribes and Other

Backward Class. Thus, instead of taking a welfare approach,

this sector seeks to empower people to break the cycle of

poverty and deprivation.

Despite its commendable contribution to the economy,

SME sector does not get the required support from the

concerned government departments, Banks, Financial

Institutions and Corporate, which is handicap in becoming

more competitive in the national and international markets.

The problems faced by MSMEs are multidimensional.

The major problems are — infrastructure, sickness, location

problem, problem of delay in payment, problem in price

variation, poor pricing of the product, problem of packaging

and product display, raw material storage, involvement of

many middlemen, acute competition, poor advertisement and

sales promotion, lack of marketing assistance, lack of

appropriate support from government, impact of

liberalization, entry of multinational corporations, impact of

global market, lack of financial resources, delay in getting

assistance, lack of technical development, lack of training

programmes by the government, frequent power cuts, non-

availability of skilled labour, underutilization of capacity,

inadequate water supply, high rate of interest and delay in

implementation of the project are some of the problems that

weigh them down.

Globalisation  and  MSMEs

Globalization implies widening and deepening

integration with the globe, i.e. with people and processes

abroad. Moreover, at the end of the integrative effort there

must lay some concrete benefits for the country, because

otherwise the globalization attempted would not be worth

the effort. The trends towards the evolution of a global

society are generally thought of in economic terms and in

terms of the consequences of the revolution in

communication technologies. There is undoubtedly much

greater economic integration among the nations of the world

today. Globalization is widely seen as the most important

factor that could influence economies of nations the world

over in the new millennium.

Today, India is one of the fastest growing economies

in the world and poised to become an economic super power.

This has been fuelled by the excellent growth rate of Indian

economy during the past decade and also the stagnation

suffered by the developed world during the recent period.

The deceleration of the developed economies, sovereign

debt issues in the European Countries and USA etc. have

stymied exports from developed countries

 With the enhancement of the productivity and quality,

a significant section of Indian MSMEs has acquired global

competitiveness. Exploring newer markets and opportunities,

particularly in developing world like Africa could be multi

folded through enabling services like information on new

markets /products, offshore warehousing, offshore

manufacturing, product promotion etc.

Policy  Initiatives  for  MSMEs

In the wake of globalization wave sweeping across

the countries, new opportunities and challenges have

emerged for the small industries. Appropriate policies are

needed to meet these challenges to sustain the growth of

small industries.

In view of the importance of the Micro, Small and

Medium Enterprises, government continues to lay emphasis

on their growth and various measures have been taken to

enable them to stand in competition with large industries.

Cluster based intervention has been acknowledged as one

of the key strategies for comprehensive development of

Indian industries, particularly the Micro and Small

Enterprises. The Ministry of MSME has adopted the cluster

approach as a key strategy for enhancing the technical and

physical infrastructure as well as capacity building of micro

and small enterprises and their collectives in the country. It

launched a special scheme known as ‘Integrated Technology

Upgradation and Management Programme’ (UPTECH) in

1998. In August 2003, the Scheme was renamed as ‘Small

Industry Clusters Development Programme’ (SICDP) and

was made broad-based by adopting holistic development

encompassing soft interventions (viz. technology, marketing,
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exports and skill development) and hard interventions (viz.

setting up of Common Facility Centre (CFC), etc.), Working

Group on Credit to Small Industries, 2004 (to look into various

aspects of credits flow to the SMEs sector), National

Manufacturing Competitiveness Programme (NMCP)

Schemes Under XI Plan 2005 (to support the Small and

Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in their endeavor to become

competitive), Guidelines on Credit flow to Small Sector, 2005

(to review all circulars and guidelines issued by the RBI in

the past regarding financing of SMEs, suggest appropriate

terms for restructuring of guidelines), Micro, Small and

Medium Enterprises Development (MSMED) Act, 2006 (to

expand focus to the entire gamut of MSMEs both in

manufacturing and service enterprises), Working Group on

Credit Delivery to Small Enterprises, 2008, (to address

problems being faced by the sector in getting adequate &

timely credit). The Ministry of MSME launched a special

programme, namely, ‘Outreach Programme for Skill

Development in Less Developed Areas’ in September, 2006.

Apart from the above measures some are other

initiatives such as Financial Concessions, Reservation,

Infrastructure Support, Training, Technology Support,

Export promotion, Credit Guarantee Scheme.

Conclusion

To conclude, the SMEs have emerged over three

decades as a highly vibrant and dynamic sector of Indian

economy. Undoubtedly, the Government of India has helped

the MSMEs through supportive policy measures since

adaptation of planned economy model.

The emerging regime of liberalization of international

trade, deregulation and privatization of internal economy,

MSMEs the highly volatile and vulnerable. Despite the fact

that SMEs responded well but they face a variety of problems

due to the unorganized nature of this sector.

In the post reform era, the position for MSME sector

has undergone a drastic change. Indian economy which is

trying to assimilate itself with world economy faces new

challenges environment. In such situation MSMEs have to

become competitive by accepting challenges in new world

order.

The role of micro, small and medium enterprises

(MSMEs) in the economic and social development of the

country is well established. The MSME sector is a nursery

of entrepreneurship, often driven by individual creativity

and innovation. This sector contributes 8 percent of the

country’s GDP, 45  percent of the manufactured output and

40 percent of total exports of the country. This sector

estimated to employ about 69 million persons through 26

million enterprises. The labour to capital ratio in MSMEs

and the overall growth in the MSME sector is higher than in

the large industries. Thus, MSMEs are important for the

national objectives of growth with equity and inclusion.

The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs)

have been accorded a pivotal role in the industrial

resurgence of India. Since the early 1950s, India has adopted

a conscious policy for the promotion and development of

MSMEs. During the first 4 years of XI Plan, MSME Sector

exhibited a growth rate of 13% on an average, an impressive

performance compared to most of the other sectors.

However, the sector is suffering from quite a few

impediments, which need to be addressed immediately to

make Indian MSMEs a global hub of entrepreneurship and

global supplier of competitive and innovative products of

highest quality.

Another aspect that is critical for their growth is

technology. The Government has launched the National

Manufacturing Competitiveness Programme with the

objective of enhancing the competitiveness of MSMEs. The

programme includes several new and innovative schemes

(viz., Lean Manufacturing, Design Clinics, Quality

Management Standards and Quality Technology Tools,

Incubators, etc.) for assisting the MSMEs in adoption of

best international practices to enhance their

competitiveness. Simultaneously, there is a need to make

massive efforts for dissemination of information on the

latest/modern technologies among the MSMEs and

supporting them for undertaking technology upgradation,

acquisition, adaptation and innovation. In addition, the

Government also needs to encourage R&D in the

engineering/technical institutions through suitable tax

incentives and setting up of Business Incubators.

The economic reconstruction of India depends on the

balanced growth of economy in the fields of agriculture and

industry.   As capital and finance have been scarce in India,

the Government of India has encouraged alternatives to

agriculture and heavy industries like small-scale industries,

which can operate on limited resources. A small-scale

industry can be operated by an entrepreneur without needing

sophisticated machinery and modem technology. These

small-scale industrial units can be established in semi-urban

and rural areas where the infrastructure is underdeveloped.

Under this environment, there is an urgent need to

look afresh at the policy framework to make the SMEs more

growth oriented and enable it to withstand the stress and

strains of global competition. The need of the hour is to

provide sustenance through suitable measures to strengthen

MSMEs for converting the challenges into golden

opportunities for reaching new heights.
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Introduction

In 2008-09, the world faced an economic slow-down

and witnessed one of the most severe global recessions in

the post-war period that affected countries across the globe

in varying degrees. All major economic activities like

industrial production, trade capital flows, unemployment,

investment and consumption took a hit India has not been

affected to the same extent as other economies of the world

(USA, UK, JAPAN, EUROPEAN COUNTRIES) during this

phase. As table 1 shows the growth of world output has

declined from 2011 to 2013

Table No. 1 Growth of world output,  2011 – 2014,

annual percentage change

Developed

economies

Change 

from

forecast

January

2013

2011 2012
a

2013
b

2014
b

2013 2014

United 

States of 

America 

1.8 2.2 1.9 2.6 0.2 -0.1 

Japan -0.6 2.0 1.3 1.6 0.7 0.8 

European 

Union 

1.5 -0.3 -0.1 1.3 -0.7 -0.4 

EU15 1.4 -0.4 -0.2 1.3 -0.7 -0.3 

New EU 

Members 

3.2 0.8 1.1 2.2 -0.9 -0.7 

Euro area 1.4 -0.6 -0.4 1.1 -0.7 -0.3 
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rapidly rising middle class should grow from more than 160 million people in 2011 to 267 million people in 2016 and the

availability of low labour cost and inexpensive manufacturing capabilities as a key attraction for the India as new market.

India’s attractive labour cost is also one of the reasons for phenomenal growth of India’s BPO industries and its rapidly

growing manufacturing sector. Manufacturing is one of the key drivers for India’s economic growth, which contributes 16% to

the country’s GDP, 50% to exports and employs 12% of the total workforce. As per Global ranking India is third in terms of

FDI value, fourth for number of projects India occupying a strong position. The Indian automotive sector has become

significantly more attractive in the past three to four years, as evidenced by the number of investment announcements from

global automotive companies. The four-wheel passenger vehicle market has grown impressively in recent years at the hands

of the new middle class. By 2020, the overall passenger vehicle market is expected to grow to 9 million units from 3.2 million

units at present. By 2020, India is also forecast to become the world’s third-largest auto market. The technology sector in India

has a major impact on the Indian economy. The industry has grown from US$4 billion in 1998 to more than US$80 billion in

2011, employing directly and indirectly more than 10 million people. The Indian pharmaceutical market growing around 15%

per annum is very attractive for investment. India is emerging as a new market because of strong, well-capitalized banking

structure, low-cost and highly educated English-speaking labour force, global leader in IT and business-process outsourcing

India has the potential to take its right full place as a major economic power along with the US and China by 2020.
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Source: United Nation /Department of Economic and Social

Affairs

a

Partly estimated.

b

Forecast, based in part on Project Link.

As per the World Economic Situation and Prospects

2013(United Nations publication) stated that  among

developed coun-tries, unemployment is the most severe in

parts of the Euro area, which continues to see sharp

contractions of economic activity in critical fiscal programs

. In early 2013, the unemployment rate increased to 26.7 per

cent in Spain and 27.2 per cent in Greece, with youth

unemployment rates exceeding 59 per cent. As per the World

Bank Report 2011, GDP of India is 10
th

 largest in the World

and secured the 3
rd

 position for purchasing power parity.

India is considered ‘Youngster’, a country with highest

number of youth in the age group of 15-35. As such the

quality of the educated population would play an important

role in the development of country. India today is the world’s

third most powerful country in economic terms. On 18
th

 May

2011, Business Standard has stated, the World Bank predicts

that India along with five other emerging economies will

account for more than half of all global growth by 2025. The

bank also showered praise on Tata’s Nano car, as it’s a

tremendous research on automotive sector for middle class

people in India and global market.

The bank said in its ‘Global Development Horizons

2011—Multipolarity: The New Global Economy’ report that
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Brazil, China, India, Indonesia, South Korea and Russia will

help drive growth in lower income countries through cross-

border commercial and financial transactions.

Significance  of  study

The purpose of this paper is to ascertain the vital role

of India as a new emerging market in the world. Indian

economy is one of the fastest growing major economy and

the second highest populated country in the world, which

has tempted all business organisations specially foreign

companies towards India for expansion and diversification

of their business as well as to grab the opportunity Indian

market provides in upcoming periods in various sectors like

investment, infrastructure, employment, education and

health sector, etc. and various opportunities for domestic

skilled and unskilled labour, optimum utilisation of resource

( Population of India)

Research  Methodology

The study was based on secondary data. The

information has been collected from various reports of

government source World Bank Report, World Outlook

Report, India’s foreign trade policy 2009-2014, magazines,

books, journals, research papers and various articles in

leading newspapers and related websites.

Objectives

The objective of study is:

• To understand the concept of emerging market.

• To know the role of India as emerging market for the

world.

• To know the India’s present economic status and future

prospect in FDI , manufacturing, automotive  and

infrastructure, pharmaceutical

• To study the challenges and opportunities in front of

India as emerging market.

 Concept of  emerging  markets

The term “Emerging markets” traces back to the early

1980s. Mr. Agtmael, then an economist at the international

financial corporation (the world bank’s private sector arm)

wanted to make a fund that was investing in what was at the

time commonly and fairly referred to as “third world equities”

appeared more attractive to western. Emerging markets, he

thought, sounded much more uplifting and enticing. Since

then, from a marketing perspective, the term has become a

smashing success. Today milliner search emerging market

in globe for huge investment

Definition  of emerging market  given  by  Dr. Kvint

Dr. Vladimir Kvint is an economist and strategist, the

President of the International Academy of Emerging Markets

and an Adjunct Professor (since 2005) at La Salle University’s

School of Business (Pennsylvania, USA). In 1999, Dr. Kvint

published this definition in his book Strategic Management

and Economics in the Global Emerging Market, Bujet

Publishing House, Moscow, 2012.

: “Emerging market country is a society transitioning from

a dictatorship to a free-market-oriented-economy, with

increasing economic freedom, gradual integration with the

Global Market place and with other members of the GEM (Global

Emerging Market), an expanding middle class, improving

standards of living, social stability and tolerance, as well as an

increase in cooperation with multilateral institutions.

India   and  FDI

According to Ernst and Young’s 2012 India attractive

survey stated that India is the fourth destination country

for FDI in terms of projects. India is one of the emerging

markets for FDI. In 2011 FDI projects increased by 20%,

attracting 932 projects, which created an estimated 255,416

jobs in various fields.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development

(UNCTAD) survey projection on FDI:  Starting from a

baseline of less than $1 billion in 1990, a recent UNCTAD

survey projected India as the second most important FDI

destination (after China) for transnational

corporations during 2010–2012. Services,

telecommunication, construction activities, computer

software and hardware attracted higher inflows. Mauritius,

Singapore, the US and the UK were among the leading

sources of FDI. According to Ernst and Young, foreign direct

investment in India in 2010 was $44.8 billion and in 2011

experienced an increase of 25% to $50.8 billion. The world’s

largest retailer Wall Mart has termed India’s decision to allow

51% FDI in multi-brand retail as a “first important step” and

said it will study the finer details of the new policy to

determine the impact on its ability to do business in India.

Table No. 2  Top five recipient countries by number of projects

Rank Top five countries

No. Of project

2010

No. of project

2011

Change

2011vs 2010

Value US$ 

Million 2011

1 United states 1,522 1,707 12 57,275

2 China 1,344 1,409 5 1,00,688

3 United kingdom 941 1,014 8 36,039

4 India 774 932 20 58,261

5 Brazil 366 507 39 63,018

                                     Sources: FDI intelligence
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Table No. 3  Investment in India in 2011:

Breakdown by functions

FDI value Job Creation

No. of FDI 

projects

FDI in manufacturing 71% 57% 35%

FDI in services 22% 31% 51%

FDI in strategic functions 3% 3% 5%

FDI in other functions 4% 9% 9%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Source: FDI intelligence

Manufacturing includes: manufacturing, logistics,

distribution and transportation, electricity

Services include: sales, marketing , business services,

design, development and testing , customer contact center,

technical support center, maintenance and servicing, ICT.

Strategic functions includes: headquarters, R&D,

education and training.

Other function includes: retail, construction,

recycling, extraction.

India  and  manufacturing

During 2011, investors committed US$58,261 million

in India, 71% of which went into the manufacturing sector,

creating 320 projects and 144,449 jobs (57% of the total

jobs) and producing an average of 451 jobs per project.

Since 2007 the attractiveness profile of India has evolved.

Although industry was always important, it has grown from

supplying 47% of every FDI job in India in 2007 to 57% of

every FDI job in 2011. At the same time, in India service jobs

have fallen by creating 36% of every FDI job in 2007 to

creating 31% in 2011. Investors increasingly see India as

the destination for their new manufacturing projects (50%)

drawn by the high potential of its domestic market and (45%)

by its attractive cost base. When investing in manufacturing

projects in India, investors tend to target the industrial

machinery, equipment and tools (126 projects) and the

automotive (78 projects) sectors. In 2011, the automotive

sector also topped the manufacturing projects in job

creation, attracting 40,518 jobs.

Table  No. 4 Investment  break down by  functions (2011)

FDI type 2011 No.of FDI projects Job creation FDI value (US$ million)

FDI in manufacturing 320 1,44,449 41,092

FDI in services 479 79,578 12,601

FDI in strategic function 50 8,725 1,639

FDI in other function 83 22,664 2,929

Total 932 2,55,416 58,261

Source: fDi intelligence

Manufacturing sector is again witnessing renewed

interest after years of neglect by policy makers and the recent

efforts of Indian government bode well for the economy

and consequently investors. The government unveiled the

National Manufacturing Policy (NMP) in October 2011.

Through this policy, the government has walked the first

steps to resolve the key challenges facing the manufacturing

sector in India. More are likely to come soon. NMP offers

some novel solutions to resolve problems related to labour,

ease of exit, skill availability, environmental law and

infrastructure. One of the key features of NMP is the

establishment of National Manufacturing and Investment

Zones (NMIZ). NMIZ is proposed as a green field/ brown

field industrial cluster having state-of-the-art infrastructure

and offering business friendly policies or services. The

infrastructure would range from logistics, power, skill

development, public utilities, environment protection, which

are all the essential requirements of a competitive

manufacturing base. They will be supported by business-

friendly approval mechanisms and operating policies. Thus,

NIMZ shall provide the conducive environment for industries

to set up and be competitive in global economy.

Manufacturing in China has thrived in similar designated

clusters or SEZs. India also aims to achieve the same success

through NIMZ. In this regard, the government has already

identified key clusters under Delhi-Mumbai Industrial

Corridor (DMIC) project as an NMIZ. DMIC is another

initiative of the government which is generating huge

investor interest. DMIC envisages development of industrial

clusters along the high speed freight rail network. The

Government of Japan has already evinced interest in picking

up 26% equity in the company implementing DMIC. Many

international manufacturers particularly Japanese are keen

to invest in DMIC manufacturing base in DMIC as an

alternative to China.
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India   and  Automotive  Sector

Automotive Industry, globally, as well in India, is one

of the key sectors of the economy. Due to its deep forward

and backward linkages with several key segments of the

economy, automotive industry has a strong multiplier effect

and acts as one of the drivers of economic growth. The

well-developed Indian automotive industry produces a wide

variety of vehicles: passenger cars, light, medium and heavy

commercial vehicles, multi-utility vehicles such as jeeps,

scooters, motor-cycles, mopeds, three wheelers, tractors and

other agricultural equipments etc.

The Indian automotive sector has become significantly

more attractive in the past three to four years, as evidenced

by the number of investment announcements from global

automotive companies. This attractiveness is partly driven

by the economic imperative of what is going

on globally — growth has slowed down in the US and

European markets while Asia Pacific is gaining increasingly

more attention. In contrast, automobile penetration in India

is very low compared with mature markets. The four-wheel

passenger vehicle market has grown impressively in recent

years at the hands of the new middle class. By 2020, the

overall passenger vehicle market is expected to grow to 9

million units from 3.2 million units at present. By 2020, India

is forecasted to become the world’s third-largest auto

market. India is one of emerging market in automotive sector

as we can get the conclusion that a German automotive

company Volkswagen AG has been present in India since

2001 with established brands such as Volkswagen, Audi

and Skoda etc. Company also states that India has become

a key component of Volkswagen strategy aiming to become

the number one automaker in the world by 2018. In 2012

Volkswagen company announced its plan to invest minimum

Rs 20 million (approximately US$380 million). Today, India

has become the export hub for several global automobile

manufactures.

India is emerging as a strong automotive R&D hub

with foreign players like Ford, Volkswagen, Hyundai, Suzuki

and General Motors setting up base in India. This move is

further enhanced by Government’s support towards setting

up centres for development and innovation. Tata Nano’s

successful entry in the Indian market has steamed up the

opportunities of growth available in alternative segments

like electric cars, vehicles run on natural gas etc. “By 2016,

India will emerge as the destination of choice in Asia for the

design and manufacturing of automobiles and automotive

components. The output of the India’s automotive sector

will be $145bn by 2016 (from $34bn in 2006) contributing to

10% of India’s Gross Domestic Product and providing

employment to 25mm people additionally.” - According to

Draft Automotive Mission Plan 2006-2016 by the Ministry

of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises.

India   and   Medical  Tourism

As per the report published by McKenzie Consultants

and Confederation of Indian Industries (CII), the response

of medical tourism is quite positive and it could be

generating revenue approximately Rs.100billion by the year

2012. Our medical tourism provides low cost treatment. India

is promoting the high-tech healing provided by its private

health care sector as a tourist attraction. This budding trade

in medical tourism, selling foreigners the idea of travelling

to India for world-class medical treatment at the lowest cost

has really got attention in the overseas market. The Indian

system of medicine which incorporates ayurveda, yoga,

sidha, unani, naturopathy and other traditional healing

treatments, is very unique and exotic. This medical expertise

coupled with allopathic and other modern methods become

our new focus segment to project India as a Global Healing

Destination. Perhaps we would wonder that the cost of same

treatment in the US is ten times more than that in India.

Many state governments like Kerala, Andhra Pradesh,

Uttaranchal, and Karnataka have been showcasing their

medical tourism segment in certain focused market like the

Gulf and African regions.

Conclusion

India has been facing many challenges as inflation,

high population, food security in global market yet India

will become emerging market by 2020 in FDI, automotive

sector, manufacturing, medical tourism etc. Mr. Chandrajit

Banerjee, Director General, Confederation of Indian Industry

(CII) said in Ernst and Young’s 2012 India attractiveness

survey that India has the potential to take its rightful place

as a major economic power, along with USA and China by

2020. According to FDI intelligence India is third in terms of

FDI value and fourth for number of projects. The US remains

the leading investor in India both in terms of projects and

jobs generated followed by Japan , UK, Germany, Sweden

etc. As per the report published by McKenzie Consultants

and Confederation of Indian Industries (CII), the response

is quite positive and it could be generating revenue

approximately Rs.100 billion by the year 2012. “By 2016,

India will emerge as the destination of choice in Asia for the

design and manufacturing of automobiles and automotive

components. According to Draft Automotive Mission Plan

2006-2016 by the Ministry of Heavy Industries and Public

Enterprises. India ranks among the well known emerging

markets in the global economic scenario. Since the economic

liberalization policies were undertaken in the 1990s, as an

emerging market, India has really prospered which has

helped to boost the Indian economy to a great extent. In

simple terms, emerging market is used to evaluate the socio

economic scenario of the country in terms of the growth of

the market and industrial development. According to the

recent survey, there are around 28 emerging markets in the

world out of which India ranks in the second place. The
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main factors behind this booming emerging market are the

economic liberalization and the perfect competition market,

the high standard of living and per capita income, the

development of medical facilities and infrastructure, the

increase in foreign investments and so on.
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Introduction:

Tourism, as an instrument of economic development

and employment generation, particularly in remote and

backward areas, has been well recognized the world over. It

is a large service industry globally in terms of gross revenue

as well as foreign exchange earnings. Tourism can play an

important and effective role in achieving the growth with

equity – an objective which we have set for ourselves.

Tourism has the potential to grow at a high rate and ensure

consequential development of the infrastructure of the

destinations. It has the capacity to capitalize on the country’s

success in the services sector and provide sustainable

models of growth. It is primarily a service industry as it does

not produce goods but renders services to various classes

of people. It is a combination of various interrelated

industries and trade like food industry, transport industry

etc. It is a complicated business because it involves multiple

socio-economic activities like attracting people to a

destination, transporting them, housing, feeding and

entertaining etc. In the process, it brings about tremendous

infrastructural improvements and helps in the development

of the region. Perhaps tourism is one such rare industry,

which earns foreign exchange without exporting national

wealth. Tourism is the main stay of economics of many

countries and in India it has emerged as a single largest net

earner of foreign exchange. Tourism, like other economic

activities flourishes best when it fits into the context of

general economic policies and programmes designed to lead
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Abstract : Tourism, as an instrument of economic development and employment generation, particularly in remote and

backward areas, has been well recognized the world over. It is a large service industry globally in terms of gross revenue as well

as foreign exchange earnings. Tourism can play an important and effective role in achieving the growth with equity – an

objective which we have set for ourselves. Now India is one of the fastest growing outbound travel markets in the world and

has geared up to emerge as the second fastest growing tourism economy in the world. The growth in tourism sector is expected

to rise further in the coming years. Present paper highlights the role of tourism industry in social and economic development

of country. To analyse all these fact the following research questions have been prepared:

a) What has been the trend in Tourist arrivals in India?

b) What is the economic contribution of tourism sector in India?

c) What are the the challenges before tourism industry in India?

d) Are the initiatives taken by the Government of India sufficient to increase the tourist inflow?

After analyzing all the facts it can be concluded that tourism industry in India can be called as the “industry of big paradoxes.”

It is expanding day by day and contributing a lot towards the economic development of society by providing employment

opportunities and huge increase in foreign exchange earnings, however, it is a way behind even from its small neighbours in

South-East Asia. This industry needs the cooperation of public and private sector players, tourism organizations, media, and

of course local communities.

to the optimum growth of the economy of a country as a

whole. (Gupta and Bansal 2001).

Tourism is driven by the natural urge of every human

being for new experiences and the desire to be both educated

and entertained. The motivations for tourism also include

religious, business interests and the spread of education which

has fostered a desire to know more about different parts of

the globe. The basic human thirst for new experience and

knowledge has become stronger, as communication barriers

are getting overcome by technological advances. Progresses

in air transport and development of tourist facilities have

encouraged people to venture beyond the boundaries. A

person who indulges in tourism is known as a tourist. Tourism

is a multi- faceted phenomenon which involves movement

and stay at a destination outside the normal place of residence.

The latest annual research from WTTC and their research

partner Oxford Economics, shows that Travel and Tourism’s

contribution to GDP grew for the third consecutive year in

2012  and created more than 4 million new jobs. The strongest

growth in 2012 was evident in international demand as

appetite for travel beyond national borders, from leisure and

business visitors, remains strong. Travel and Tourism’s

importance to the wider economy continued to grow in 2012.

Its total contribution comprised 9% of global GDP (US $6.6

trillion) and generated over 260 million jobs – 1 in 11 of the

world’s total jobs. The industry outperformed the entire wider

economy in 2012, growing faster than other notable industries

such as manufacturing, financial services and retail.
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With such resilience in demand and an ability to

generate high employment, the importance of Travel and

Tourism as a tool for economic development and job creation

is clear. In total, the industry contributed to over 10% of all

new jobs created in 2012. According to WTTC, less

restrictive visa regimes and a reduction in punitive taxation

levels would help the industry to contribute even more to

broader economic development. Tourism 2020 vision of

WTO calls the motivating factors for tourism - the three Es

- Entertainment, Excitement and Education.

Scope and Methodology of the Study: The scope of

this study is limited to the Indian Tourism Industry, its various

facts and figures and the challenges before this industry.

The methodology is primarily secondary data analysis

of various reports of GOI – Ministry of Tourism, WTTC,

STDC, FICCI and research papers.

Indian Scenario: Banking on Robust Growth

India is a country, which is known for its lavish

treatment to all visitors, no matter where they come from. It

entertains its visitors with its varied attractions which include

beautiful beaches, forests, wild life, landscapes, snow, river,

mountain peaks, technological parks, science museums,

centres of pilgrimage, heritage trains, hotels, yoga, ayurveda

and natural health resorts. The Indian handicrafts

particularly, jewellery, carpets, leather goods, ivory and brass

work are the main shopping items of foreign tourists. The

launch of Incredible India campaign in the last decade

resulted in a visible spurt in the flow of foreign tourists into

India and earnings therefrom, which grew in double digit

until the onset of the financial crisis of slowdown in 2008.

The growth trend resumed after a couple of years of

slowdown after 2008, notwithstanding the FTA (Foreign

Tourist Arrival) growth rate see-saw in recent times, foreign

tourist inflows in India is predicted to grow at an average

annual rate of 8.8% in the coming decades. A 2011 forecast

of the World Travel and Tourism Council (WTTC) predicted

that FTAs will cross 11million by 2021, which is approximately

one percent of the global tourist population. This is also

supported by the steady rise in T-VoAs (Visas on Arrival

Tourists). During February 2013, the number of Visa on

Arrival Tourist registered a growth of 54.6% as compared to

the T-VoAs issued in the February 2012. The India’s share

in International Tourist Arrivals is 0.64% with ranking at 41

and its share in the in International Tourist Receipts is 1.65%

with 16
th

 ranking. India is expected to receive nearly half a

million medical tourist by 2015, implying an annual growth

of 30%. India has received 43.06 lakh foreign tourists during

January – August 2013. Foreign Direct Investment inflows

in hotel and tourism sector during April 2000 to July 2012

stood at US$ 6754.49 million , as per the data released by

Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion(DIPP).

  Following tables, charts, graphs and statements

highlight the composition and trend in tourism

Ø Foreign Tourist Arrivals in India for a period 1997

– 2012.

Table1:

Year

FTA in India  

in millions  

% change  

form last  year

1997 2.37 3.8

1998 2.36 -0.7

1999 2.48 5.2

2000 2.65 6.7

2001 2.54 -4.2

2002 3.38 -6

2003 2.73 14.3

2004 3.46 26.8

2005 3.92 13.3

2006 4.45 13.5

2007 5.08 14.3

2008 5.28 4

2009 5.17 -2.2

2010 5.78 11.8

2011 6.31 9.2

2012 6.58 4.3

       Source: 1.Bureau of Immigration Govt. Of India, for 1997-

2012

 2.  Ministry of tourism, Govt. of India

• The Percentage share of top 10 countries for FTA in

India in 2012 has been reflected in the following diagram.
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Source: Bureau of Immigration Govt. Of India

 Foreign Tourist Visits to States/ UTs

• During 2012, the number of foreign tourist visits (FTVs)

to the States/ UTs was 20.7 million as compared to 19.5

million in 2011 and 17.9 million in 2010.
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• During 2012, the number of FTVs to States/ UTs

registered a growth of 6.33% over 2011 as compared to

a growth of 8.9% in 2011 over 2010.

• The top ten States in terms of number of FTVs (in

millions) during 2012 were Maharashtra (5.1), Tamil

Nadu (3.6), Delhi (2.3), Uttar Pradesh (2.0), Rajasthan

(1.5), West Bengal (1.2), Bihar (1.1), Kerala (0.8),

Karnataka (0.6) and Himachal Pradesh (0.5).

• The contribution of top 10 States was about 90.1% to

the total number of FTVs in the country during 2012.

• The top ten States in terms of FTVs in 2012 remained

the same as those in 2011. Data shows that DTVs

continue to grow at a double digit rate in 2012 also.

The growth in FTVs declined to 6.3% after an impressive

growth of 8.9% in FTVs in 2011. The rate of growth of

Foreign Tourist Arrivals (FTAs) also reduced to 4.3%

in 2012 as compared to 9.2% in 2011. The share of top

10 state / UTs in number of foreign tourist visits in

India can be reflected through following pie chart.

Chart 3
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Source: 1.Bureau of Immigration Govt. Of India, for 1997-

2012

 2.  Ministry of tourism, Govt. of India

Foreign Exchange Earnings (FEE) from tourism grew

by 19.8 % in rupee terms in February 2013 as compared to

February 2012, although the FTA growth was much lower.

This indicates an impressive growth in the exchange earnings

per tourist despite, slowdown in developed country market,

an increasing cost of travelling and fluctuating exchange

rate. Foreign Exchange Earnings from tourism in US $ millions

and the percentage change from last year is shown below.

Table 2.

Year

FEE from tourism (in 

US $

million)

% change over 

previous year

1997 2889 2

1998 2948 2

1999 3009 2.1

2000 3460 15

2001 3198 -7.6

2002 3103 -3

2003 4463 43.8

2004 6170 38.2

2005 7493 21.4

2006 8634 15.2

2007 10729 24.3

2008 11832 10.3

2009 11136 -5.9

2010# 14193 27.5

2011# 16564 16.7

2012# 17737 7.1

# Advance Estimates, @Growth rate over Jan – June 2012

Source: 1.Reserve Bank Of India, for 1997-2012

2.  Ministry of tourism, Govt. of India, for 2010, 2011, 2012

 Domestic Tourist Visits to States/ UTs :

• During 2012, the number of domestic tourist visits to

the States/ UTs was 1036 million as compared to 865

million in 2011 and 748 million in 2010.

• During 2012, the number of domestic tourist visits to

States/ UTs registered an increase of 19.87% over 2011

as compared to increase of 15.6% in 2011 over 2010.

• The top ten States in terms of number of domestic

tourist visits (in millions), during 2012, were Andhra

Pradesh (206.8), Tamil Nadu (184.1), Uttar Pradesh

(168.4),Karnataka (94.1), Maharashtra (66.3), Madhya

Pradesh (53.2), Rajasthan (28.6), Uttarakhand (26.8),

Gujarat (24.4) and West Bengal (22.7).

• The contribution of top 10 States was about 84.5% to

the total number of domestic tourist visits during 2012.
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States 

% Share

Andhra 

Pradesh

Tamil Nadu 17.8

Uttar Pradesh 16.2

Karnataka 9.1

Maharashtra 6.4

Madhya 

Pradesh 5.1

Rajasthan 2.8

Uttarakhand 2.6

Gujrat 2.4

West Bengal 2.2

Others 15.5

• Andhra Pradesh has occupied the first rank in terms of

DTVs in 2012, whereas Tamil Nadu, which was at the

third rank in 2011, has moved to the second rank. Uttar

Pradesh which was at the first rank in 2011 has moved

down to the third place.

• Though the top ten States in terms of DTVs in 2012,

remained the same as those in 2011, the rank of some to

the States, changed slightly (by one place).

According to World Travel and Tourism Council

Forecasts, India will be a tourism hotspot from 2009 to 2018,

having the highest 10  year growth potential. The onset of

financial crises in 2008 delayed the realization of this

potential, which resumed in 2010. In recognition of the

potential and domestic efforts, India was conferred three

awards by the World Travel Awards organization at the

WTM 2012.

Contribution to Indian Economy:

Travel and Tourism’s contribution to GDP

The direct contribution of Travel and Tourism to GDP

in 2012 was INR 1,919.7bn (2.0% of GDP). This primarily

reflects the economic activity generated by industries such

as hotels, travel agents, airlines and other passenger

transportation services (excluding commuter services). But

it also includes, for example, the activities of the restaurant

and leisure industries directly supported by tourists. The

direct contribution of Travel and Tourism to GDP is expected

to grow by 7.8% pa to INR 4,360.6bn (2.1% of GDP) by 2023.

Travel and Tourism’s contribution to employment

Travel and Tourism generated 25,041,000 jobs directly

in 2012 (4.9% of total employment).

This includes employment by hotels, travel agents,

airlines and other passenger transportation services

(excluding commuter services). It also includes, for example,

the activities of the restaurant and leisure industries directly

supported by tourists. By 2023, Travel and Tourism will

account for 30,631,000 jobs directly, an increase of 2.1% pa

over the next ten years. Chain and induced income impact

was 39,512,000 jobs in 2012 (7.7% of total employment).

The total contribution of Travel and Tourism to

employment (including wider effects from investment, the

supply by 2023, Travel and Tourism is forecast to support

48,592,000 jobs (8.0% of total employment), an increase of

2.1% pa over the period.

Visitor Exports and Investment

Visitor exports are a key component of the direct

contribution of Travel and Tourism. In 2012,

India generated INR1,004.6bn in visitor exports. In

2013, this is expected to grow by 8.7%, and the country is

expected to attract 7,518,000 international tourist arrivals.

By 2023, international tourist arrivals are forecast to total

13,699,000 generating expenditure of INR 1,892.0bn an

increase of 5.7% pa. Travel and Tourism is expected to have

attracted capital investment of INR 1,761.4bn in 2012. This

is expected to rise by 5.5% in 2013 and rise by 6.5% pa over

the next ten years to INR 3,491.2bn in 2023. Travel and

Tourism’s share of total national investment will fall from

6.2% in 2013 to 5.1% in 2023.
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The total contribution of Travel and Tourism to GDP

is three times greater than its direct contribution.

From all the above description it is clear that tourism

industry is growing day by day in the world and India is

sharing a major part of world tourism receipts and world

tourism traffic and has proved successful in maintaining its

place on world tourism map. The major constraint in the

expansion of international tourist traffic to India is non-

availability of adequate infrastructure including adequate

air seat capacity, accessibility to tourist destinations,

accommodation and trained manpower in sufficient number.

Poor visitor experience, particularly, due to inadequate

infrastructural facilities, poor hygienic conditions and

incidents of touting and harassment of tourists in some

places are the factors that contribute to poor visitor

experience.
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Different Schemes and Programmes initiated by

Government to Promote Tourist Infrastructure and to

Increase Tourist Inflow:

Different components of infrastructure like airport,

railways, waterways, roads and other amenities like

electricity, supply of water, sewage drainage and other

facilities like accommodation, recreational facilities,

restaurants and shopping facilities etc. play an important

role in tourism infrastructure. As all these components create

the foundation of tourism industry the Government of India

and Ministry of Tourism with the help of state and U.T.

Governments are launching and developing various

development schemes to improve the present situation of

infrastructure in India.

Product Infrastructure Development for Destination and

Circuits Scheme:

To develop high standard infrastructure facilities, a

large number of mega projects have been sanctioned by

government in different states of India. In the financial year

of 2010-11  total number of 136 projects have been sanctioned

by the government in different parts of India and a huge

amount of Rs. 72,879.90 lakhs have been sanctioned for the

same. In the financial year 2011- 12, under the scheme of

Product Infrastructure Development for Destination and

ircuit, total number of 58 projects have been sanctioned in

19 states of India.

Central Financial Assistance for IT Scheme:

Keeping in view the advantage of computer

technology or IT sector, Ministry of Tourism, Government

of India has launched a scheme named “Central Financial

Assistance for IT”  for developing various tourism

information facilities with interactive touch screen kiosks

and audit guides, setting up of mobile multimedia tours,

setting up of information kiosks at 10 selected major cities

of India and for providing facilities for internet online

reservation and information to tourists. In the year 2010-11,

total number of 8 mega projects has been sanctioned under

the CFA scheme and an amount of Rs.189.710 lakhs have

been sanctioned for the same. Further in the year 2011-12,

four projects have been sanctioned to provide instant

information services to the tourists and an amount of Rs.

77.050 lakhs have been sanctioned by the Ministry of

Tourism, Govt. of India, out of which Rs. 69.350 lakhs have

been released for the effective implementation of the

programme.

Capacity Building for Service Providers Scheme:

In order to facilitate high standard infrastructure and

superstructure in India, Ministry of Tourism has launched

another Scheme “Capacity Building for Service Providers”

to develop various software work plan and Rural Tourism

Project in different states of India. In the year 2010-11 a total

no. of 7 mega projects have been sanctioned under the CBSP

scheme, and an amount of Rs.174.910 lakhs has been

sanctioned for the same. Further in the year 2011-12, six

projects have been sanctioned to develop software work

plan and rural tourism projects in different states of India

and an amount of Rs. 179.850 lakhs has been sanctioned by

the Ministry of Tourism, Govt. of India, out of which Rs.

143.890 lakhs have been released for the effective

implementation of the programme.

Scheme for Assistance for Large Revenue Generating

Projects

In order to remove all shortcomings and to bring in

private sector, corporate and institutional resources as well

as techno- managerial efficiencies, it is proposed to promote

large revenue generating projects for development of

Tourism infrastructure. In the financial year 2008-09, two

large revenue generating projects, one in Rajasthan and

one in Tamil Nadu has been sanctioned and an amount of

Rs. 750.000 lakhs and Rs. 802.700 lakhs respectively, have

been released for the same. In order to bring out the private,

corporate and institutional support for infrastructure

development, one large revenue generating project in Delhi

has been sanctioned in the year 2009-10 and for which an

amount of Rs.1,237.000 lakhs has been sanctioned and

released by the Government of India.

Foreign Investment:

Government of India has allowed 100% Foreign

Investment under the automatic route in the Hotel and

Tourism Related Industry. The term hotel includes

restaurants, beach resort and other tourism complexes and

the term tourism related industry includes travel agencies,

tour operating agencies, transport organizations and other

event organizing agencies.

Marketing:

To promote Golf- Tourism in India the Ministry of

Tourism has organized a Workshop on “Promotion of Golf-

Tourism” in New Delhi in January 2011. Cruise Tourism is

emerging as one of the most dynamic segment of the tourism

industry. With an objective of making India attractive as

cruise tourism destination, to develop infrastructure facilities

and to attract right segment of the foreign tourists to cruise

shipping in India a policy “Cruise Shipping Policy of the

Ministry Of Shipping” was approved by the Government of

India on June 28, 2008. The Ministry of Tourism has included

the promotion of wellness Tourism as new initiatives. The

Marketing Development Assistance Scheme (MDA)

administered by the Ministry of Tourism provides financial

support to Wellness Tourism Service Providers accredited

by State Governments till the guidelines of AYUSH-NABH

for accreditation are finalized. As per the report ‘Domestic

Tourism in India’, 2008-09’ released by the National Sample

Survey Office on October 20, 2010, trips for health and
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medical purposes formed 7% of overnight trips in the rural

population and about 3.5% in the urban population. Recently,

the Ministry of Tourism has sanctioned INR 1.2 million under

the Marketing Development Assistance (MDA) Scheme to

10 Medical Tourism Service Providers during 2010.

Visa on Arrival:

To make Tourism sector in India more attractive the

Government has launched a scheme of ‘Visa on Arrival’ from

January 2010 for citizens of five countries, viz. Finland, Japan,

Luxembourg, New Zealand and Singapore visiting India for

tourism purposes. The Government has now extended this

scheme to the citizens of six more countries, namely

Combodia, Indonesia, Vietnam, Philippines, Laos and

Myanmar from January 2011. In this order, 5774 VoAs were

issued during the period January to June 2011.

Scheme for the Development of Emerging Tourism

Products:

Now the main concern of Ministry of Tourism and

Government of India is to develop infrastructure for Rural

Tourism, Golf Tourism, Cruise Tourism, Adventure Tourism,

Sustainable Tourism, Well-ness Tourism and Medical

Tourism etc.

By developing rural tourism, the Ministry of Tourism

intends to help the local community economically and

socially. On 28th February 2011, 169 rural tourism sites in 28

states/ UT have been sanctioned by the Ministry of Tourism.

Tourism in India has vast potential for increasing

foreign investments, foreign exchange earning, for

generating employment; besides contributing towards the

economic and social development of the society. Central

and State governments with the help of private sector and

voluntary organisations are working towards improving the

status of infrastructure including increasing air seat capacity,

increasing trains and railway connectivity to important

tourist destinations, four- laning of roads and availability of

accommodation by adding heritage hotels and 7 star hotels.

This industry can be called as the “industry of big

paradoxes”. Firstly, on one hand it has almost unbeatable

competitive advantages, huge potential and high growth

rates (in terms of - generating foreign exchange, growth

rates, and employment generation) and on the other hand,

inspite of above mentioned positives, Indian Tourism and

Hospitality Industry is still way behind even from its small

neighbours in South-East Asia, not to mention the large

counterparts like China. Second paradox is that, on one hand,

in order to be competitive, this industry needs the

cooperation of both public and private sector players as

both play a vital role in it and on the other hand, cut throat

competition also exists between the two in this industry

itself. Finally, the ‘offering’ of this industry is also

paradoxical. For India, where ‘history’ is an important

attraction for tourists, this industry has to offer ‘history’,

but it cannot loose sight of modernization either. In other

words, Indian Tourism and Hospitality Industry has to be a

‘historian’ and a ‘futurist’ simultaneously.

Challenges for Indian Tourism Industry :–

On basis of current performance, Indian Tourism

Industry can be termed as ‘successful’, but being

‘successful’ is very different from being ‘competitive’ and

there are critical challenges which are negatively dictating

and adversely affecting its competitiveness. These

challenges can be classified into 3 broad categories

i.Sector Specific Challenges:  Being a part of the

service sector, Tourism Industry faces the below mentioned

challenges posed by the sector itself –

• High Exit Barrier and Difficulty in trial – One

characteristic of services is that it is hard to escape from the

consequences of a poor choice (of service and service

provider). Tourists know this and they also understand that

once they are at a destination, a U-turn is not easy.

Hence, they are over-cautious while deciding on the

tourism services (choice of destination, transporter and

hotels etc.).

Another service characteristic that affects tourism

industry is ‘reduced trialability’. Since the trialability is also

almost nil in services, in case of tourism industry, it is a

prerequisite to have a good ‘product’ and a sound reputation

in place, only then sustainable sales can be expected.

• Word-Of-Mouth (WOM) – WOM is crucial in selling

of (tourism) services because usually the choice of

destination is affected by WOM publicity. Here, it is

important to realize that tourists tend to believe more on

information from independent sources and less on

promotions, thus, a destination may be ‘pushed’ through a

heavy promotion, but the length of its PLC is finally dictated

by the WOM.

ii.Industry Specific Challenges: Certain challenges

are related to the very nature of this particular industry and

exist along with the industry around the globe, like:

• Highly infectious industry – Tourism Industry is very

sensitive to environmental changes and it gets affected by

them and reacts very fast to them.

• High Social Cost – Tourism takes a toll on the

resources (especially natural resources), and a large part of

the revenues brought in by tourism is required for sustaining

the resources, so the profitability of tourism industry is

suspicious, especially in countries where proper

‘sustainability’ mechanisms are not in place.

• Intermediary Conflicts - Components of the tourism

industry have different commercial objectives, strategic
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interests and operational procedures, so as channel partners

protect and advance their own interests, often at the expense

of their partner’s gains, several intra-channel conflicts

emerge inevitably. Major reasons behind such conflicts are

1. Price and Profit Margin Distribution

2. Exceeding Vertical Integration generates Oligopolistic

behaviour

3. Operational issues - partners failing to fulfil their

obligations or providing the service they promised

• Tourists rating the overall experience – Visitors tend

to rate their overall experience at the destination and in the

process they credit tourism industry for the performance of

industries and sectors, which are not directly related to

tourism. If ‘anything’ is not according to tourists’

expectations, it might go against the tourism industry,

because the negative WOM will be generated for the

destination.

iii. India Specific Challenges: - Some challenges facing

Indian Tourism Industry are uniquely India specific, like –

Sensitizing the diverse Human Resources – It is an

industry where even the behaviour of general public affects

the overall experience of tourists and people associated with

this industry vary significantly in their background,

education, occupation and experience etc (an hotelier is

totally different from a taxi driver) so having a ‘common

program’ addressing everyone in this industry is inviting

failure and neither it is easy to have so many different /

customized programs. Finally, it is a big challenge to sensitize

such a large number of diverse people simultaneously.

Although efforts (like – “Atithi Devo Bhava”

campaign) have been made to train and groom the HR

associated with this industry, but they have not been as

successful in achieving significant and measurable results

as they were expected to and neither much research has

been done to measure and evaluate the impact of such efforts.

 Hotel Infrastructure –High Operating Costs – Indian

hotels suffer from high operating costs and this ultimately

reflects in their higher prices. The biggest sufferer is the

‘budget tourists’ and even for those who can pay, when the

facilities are not according to the prices it leads to

dissatisfaction and also makes the destination unattractive

for tourists.

Adding to all this, an unprecedented rise in real estate

prices is working as an “entry barrier” for hotel industry,

negating the government’s effort (incentives) to attract new

players, thereby slowing down the pace of growth of hotel

rooms.

Transportation Chaos – Increasing number of airlines

has rapidly increased the number of passengers, resulting

in a virtual collapse of facilities at Indian airports.

Moreover, there is no supervising authority,

maintaining and monitoring the quality and standards of

services delivered by airlines making an unpleasant

experience a rule, rather than an exception. Indian Railways,

another popular mode of transportation suffers from

conditions worse than the airlines (in terms of reservations,

punctuality, cleanliness, facilities etc). Since India welcomes

tourists mostly from developed countries these problems

convert their trip into a ‘mission’ and few return with good

memories.

Manpower woes - Population was formerly considered

an evil for India, but now, be it industries in manufacturing

or service sector, all are capitalizing on the ‘manpower’ which

has been a blessing in disguise. Ideally, tourism industry

should not be an exception, more so because it has earning

and paying capacities and it is rapidly growing, so an

obvious strategy to enhance its competitiveness is to equip

it with the talent it requires, but unfortunately almost all

components of Indian Tourism Industry are suffering from

an acute shortage of skilled manpower. As Hindustan Times

Horizons reports (April 2007), India prepares approximately

18000 hotel management graduates annually which is very

less then what is required and more importantly only 5000

of these actually join the core industry and rest leave for

more attractive avenues. India not only lacks in training and

development infrastructure, but there are other problems

also which are related to HR as indicated by the Director

General of Archaeological Survey of India, answering about

the reasons for poor condition of historical monuments in

India and he pointed towards the ‘financial and

infrastructural limitations of ASI’. This clearly implies that

one of the highest earning industries of India is not able to

manage recruitment for protection and site management for

its ‘heritage buildings’ which are the most popular tourist

attractions of India.

Conclusion

After analyzing all the facts it can be concluded that

tourism industry is expanding day by day and contributing

a lot towards the economic development of society by

providing employment opportunities and huge increase in

foreign exchange earning. Tourism Industry is a very

dynamic industry and so are its challenges and strategies,

therefore a learning approach towards ‘best-practices’ would

yield better results in enhancing competitiveness of this

industry. Also, the need for sound perspective in planning

and “private-public-community” participation is imperative

for this purpose. This paper was an attempt to illuminate the

areas of current scenario of  Indian Tourism Industry , its

impact, initiatives of the Govt.of India and various challenges

of the industry. It leaves a background for further research,
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on strategies to combat the challenges in Indian Tourism

Industry . To sum up, the problems of Indian tourism industry

can be eliminated to a great extent by the joint efforts of

government, tourism organizations, media and of course

local communities.
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Introduction

The Indian Pharmaceutical industry came into

existence in 1901, when Bengal Chemical and Pharmaceutical

Company started its maiden operation in Calcutta. The next

few decades saw the P

harmaceutical industry moving through several

phases, largely in accordance with government policies.

Commencing with repackaging and preparation of

formulations from imported bulk drugs, the Indian industry

has moved on to become a net foreign exchange earner, and

has been able to underline its presence in the global

pharmaceutical arena as one of the top 35 drug producers

worldwide. Currently, there are more than 2,400 registered

pharmaceutical producers in India. There are 24,000 licensed

pharmaceutical companies. Of the 465 bulk drugs used in

India, approximately 425 are manufactured here.

60,000 distributors and 700,000 to 800,000 retailers

competing for the pharmaceutical market share. The top 10

companies control about 30% of the market and 250

companies control 70% of the market.

The Growth Drivers

The main drivers include the growth of India’s middle

and upper classes, who can afford high-quality health care

and the widespread adoption of health insurance products,

which will enable a larger proportion of the population to

access allopathic treatments. India’s Parliament deliberately

drafted the patent law to set a high standard for

inventiveness and to ensure sufficient flexibility for generic

companies to provide low-cost medicines if the original

patented drugs were too expensive for local consumers.

Unlike most countries, where only governments can seek a

Indian Pharma : The trusted and sustain driver of emerging Indian economy

Lalitkumar Bhole (B. Pharm, MMS)
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compulsory license authorizing production of low-cost

copies of patented drugs, India permits generics companies

and patient groups to apply directly to patent authorities

for such licenses. Clinical research also forms a significant

portion of drug development costs and time, off-shoring or

outsourcing of phase I to IV trials is one of the most

appealing options in pharma R&D. According to survey

results, average costs for clinical trials in India are 50 to 60

percent as compared to sites in the United States or other

developed countries. Additionally, because of faster and

easier patient enrolment, timeframes for conducting clinical

trials in India can be reduced by up to 40 percent. The Indian

Pharmaceutical market is unique where branded low-cost

generics dominated. Currently, multinationals jointly only

achieve a market share of 22 percent. The market is also

dominated by generics. Protected products currently are

estimated to have a market share below 5 percent, and are

expected to grow to 10 percent in 2015. The opportunity in

the Indian Pharmaceutical market does not lie in sales only;

it is the combination of three factors: (1.) R&D, (2.) sourcing

and manufacturing, and (3.) domestic market opportunities.

This combination makes India unique: It offers “front-end”

capabilities in the domestic market as well as “backend”

capabilities, including strong off shoring benefits in R&D,

sourcing, manufacturing and assisting processes. In India,

it is very much evident from this projection that lot of

opportunities lies with chronic therapy segment; however,

growth is initially slow but it may generate good revenue in

the long run. Referring to India’s reverse-engineering

heritage, skills like synthesis, analytical and medicinal

chemistry, have already reached a high level of

sophistication. Because of the long history of process

patents, India’s domestic industry managed to become well

versed in designing, synthesizing and developing new

chemical entities (NCE) as well as optimizing processes. A
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Growing middle class with higher purchasing power

India’s population is currently just over 1.1 billion and

is projected to rise to 1.6 billion by 2050 – a 45.5% increase

that will see it outstrip China as the world’s most populous

state. Besides, India has a huge middle class population,

which has grown rapidly, from 25 million people in 1996 to

153 million people in 2010. If the economy continues to grow

fast and literacy rates keep rising, around a third of the

population (34%) is expected to join the middle class in the

near future. The middle class population is rapidly acquiring

the purchasing power necessary to afford quality western

medicine due to an increase in disposable income. The Indian

population spent 7% of its disposable income on healthcare

in 2005; this number is expected to nearly double, to 13%,

by 2025.

Rise of disease

The Indian population is experiencing a shift in disease

profiles. Traditionally, the acute disease segment held a

significant share of the Indian pharmaceutical market. This

segment will continue to grow at a steady rate, due to issues

relating to public hygiene and sanitation. But, with increase

in affluence, rise in life expectancy and the onset of lifestyle

related conditions, the disease profile is gradually shifting

towards a growth in the chronic diseases segment. India

has the largest pool of diabetic patients in the world, with

more than 41 million people suffering from the disease; this

is projected to reach 73.5 million in 2025.IMS Health indicates

that some of the fastest growing therapeutic segments in

the Indian Pharma space today are chronic disease-related

therapeutic segments. The anti-diabetic segment grew 29%.

Cardio-vascular medication and nervous system disorder

medication grew at 22% for the same period of time, indicating

rapid growth. The growing size of the Indian geriatric

population will be a key factor in influencing the growth of

the chronic segment. By 2028, an estimated 199 million

Indians will be age 60 or older, up from about 91 million in

2008.Along with chronic, in the last year there has been a

rebound in sales in the acute diseases segment. This trend

is likely to continue over the next few years, as we see

companies widening their reach into newer markets, which

have a relatively higher number of treatments to naïve

patients requiring basic treatment, thus, creating new demand

for drugs of the acute therapies segment.

Another factor driving the growth of India’s healthcare

sector is a rise in both infectious and chronic degenerative

diseases. While ailments such as poliomyelitis, leprosy, and

neonatal tetanus will soon be eliminated, some

communicable diseases once thought to be under control,

such as dengue fever, swine flu, viral hepatitis, tuberculosis,

malaria, and pneumonia, have returned in force or have

developed a stubborn resistance to drugs.

In addition to battling infectious diseases, India is

grappling with the emergence of diseases such as AIDS as

well as food- and water-borne illnesses. And as Indians live

more affluent lives and adopt unhealthy western diets that

are high in fat and sugar, the country is experiencing a rise

in lifestyle diseases such as hypertension, cancer, and

diabetes, which is reaching epidemic proportions. Over the

next 5-10 years, lifestyle diseases are expected to grow at a

faster rate than infectious diseases in India, and to result in

an increase in cost per treatment.

The Indian as CHD and Diabetes Epidemic

Diabetes is a life-long, incurable disease marked by

high blood sugar levels. It is estimated that almost 41 million

Indians are diabetic, and that figure is expected to reach

73.5 million by 2025. The total annual cost to treat India’s

diabetic patients including direct and indirect expenses) is

estimated at $420 per capita. If that per capita expenditure

were to remain constant, the total estimated cost of treating

the disease would reach $30 billion by 2025. However, it’s

likely that treatment costs will be even greater by then, due

to growing affluence in India and improvements in standards

of care.

Intellectual Property

India has accepted and made a commitment to the

Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights

(TRIPS) in 1995, and keeping with this commitment,

implemented the Patent (Amendment) Act in 2005. Although

this act does not apply for drugs patented before 1995, it is

a major step forward on the earlier patent scenario. Since

then, recommendations have been made to the government

regarding improvement and expansion of the Patent

(Amendment) Act, by the Satwant Reddy Committee and

the Mashelkar report. These reports highlighted the need

for data exclusivity and the prevention of ‘ever greening’.

Domestic and global Pharma companies are showing an

increased confidence in the patent laws, and we expect an



67ISBN : 978-81-922741-2-6                                 Organised by Joshi-Bedekar College

increase in the number of launches of patented products in

the Indian market in the future. Resolution of data exclusivity

laws and capacity building at patent offices will help in

increasing confidence among foreign companies.

Potential for infrastructure

India’s healthcare infrastructure has not kept pace with

the economy’s growth. The physical infrastructure is

woefully inadequate to meet today’s healthcare demands,

much less tomorrows. While India has several centers of

excellence in healthcare delivery, these facilities are limited

in their ability to drive healthcare standards because of the

poor condition of the infrastructure in the vast majority of

the country. After years of under-funding, most public health

facilities provide only basic care. With a few exceptions,

such as the All India Institute of Medical Studies (AIIMS),

public health facilities are inefficient, inadequately managed

and staffed, and have poorly maintained medical equipment.

The number of public health facilities also is

inadequate. For instance, India needs 74,150 community

health centers per million population but has less than half

that number. In addition, at least 11 Indian states do not

have laboratories for testing drugs, and more than half of

existing laboratories are not properly equipped or staffed.

The principal responsibility for public health funding lies

with the state governments, which provide about 80% of

public funding. The federal government contributes another

15%, mostly through national health programs.

Medical tourism on the rise

Medical tourism is one of the major external drivers of

growth of the Indian healthcare sector. A Google search of

“India medical tourism” turns up more than two million

results. The emergence of India as a destination for medical

tourism leverages the country’s well educated, English-

speaking medical staff, state-of-the art private hospitals and

diagnostic facilities, and relatively low cost to address the

spiraling healthcare costs of the western world. India

provides best-in-class treatment, in some cases at less than

one-tenth the cost incurred in the US. India’s private

hospitals excel in fields such as cardiology, joint replacement,

orthopedic surgery, gastroenterology, ophthalmology,

transplants and urology.

According to a joint study by the Confederation of

Indian Industry and McKinsey, Indian medical tourism was

estimated at $350 million in 2006 and has the potential to

fast growth. An estimated 180,000 medical tourists were

treated at Indian facilities in 2004 (up from10,000 just five

years earlier), and the number has been growing at 25-30%

annually. According to the Confederation of Indian

Industries, India has the potential to attract one million

medical tourists each year, which could contribute $5 billion

to the economy. In addition to receiving traditional medical

treatments, a growing number of western tourists are

traveling to India to pursue alternate medicines such as

Ayurveda, which has blossomed in the state of Kerala, in

southwestern India.

The number of medical tourists visiting Kerala was

close to 15,000 in 2006 and is expected to reach more than

400,000 by 2014. To capitalize on medical tourism and build

a sustained public-private partnership in the hospital

industry, the Indian government is supporting an initiative

by well known heart surgeon Dr. Naresh Trehan to build a

“Medi City” in Gurgaon, on the outskirts of Delhi. The

compound will include a 900-bed hospital that supports 17

super specialties, a medical college and paramedical college.

The project, on 43 acres of land, The Medi City will integrate

allopathic care with alternative treatments, including unani,

ayurvedic and homeopathic medicine, and it will provide

telemedicine services as well. To encourage the growth of

medical tourism, the government also is providing a variety

of incentives, including lower import duties and higher

depreciation rates on medical equipment, as well as

expedited visas for overseas patients seeking medical care

in India.

India as generic giant

Prescription drugs worth $40 billion in the U.S. and

$25 billion in Europe are due to lose patent protection in

2007-08. Indian firms will likely take around 30 percent of the

increasing global generics market, the Associated Chambers

of Commerce and Industry of India (Assocham) forecast.

Currently, the Indian industry is estimated to account for 22

percent of the generics world market. Low production costs

give India an edge over other generics-producing nations,

especially China and Israel. It will be easier for Indian firms

to win larger generics market shares overseas than at home,

particularly in the U.S. and Europe.

Indian drug manufacturers currently export their

products to more than 65 countries worldwide. Their largest

customer is the U.S., the world’s biggest pharmaceutical

market. The use of generic drugs is growing quickly in the

U.S. due to cost pressure by payers. India has the largest

number of U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-

approved drug manufacturing facilities outside the U.S.

Indian firms now account for 35 percent of Drug Master File

applications and one in four of all U.S. Abbreviated New

Drug Application (ANDA) filings submitted to the FDA.
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Any non patented molecule with brand name, which

is other than innovators name is termed as branded generics.

Indian players are majorly in branded generics. It is difficult

to track and estimate the exact composition of India’s

domestic Pharma market; but industry experts believe that

this market is largely dominated by branded generics. This

segment contributes around 90% of total sales, and

represents one of the key strengths of the market,

encompassing the OTC segment as well. Only about 10% of

the market constitutes commodity generics sold through

institutional sales and innovator products. The branded

generics segment is expected to grow at a CAGR of 15% -

20% for the next decade.

Over-the-Counter Medicines

The OTC segment is going to grow faster. We are

looking at a growth rate of around 25%, more than that of

the overall market growth of around 15% or double the rate

for prescription medicines.

OTC   segment growth  drivers

The Indian market for over-the-counter medicines

(OTCs) is worth about $940 the government is keen to widen

the availability of OTCs to outlets other than pharmacies.

Developing an innovative new drug, from discovery to

worldwide marketing, now involves investments of around

$1 billion and the global industry’s profitability is under

constant attack as costs continue to rise and prices come

under pressure. One of the potential growth drivers for the

Indian Pharma industry, as the sale of OTC drugs in India

has been increasing over the years. The OTC market was

worth about US$1.8 billion in 2009, and PwC estimates that

by 2020, it will grow to US$11 billion - a CAGR of 18%, with

the potential to reach US$13 billion – at an aggressive CAGR

of 20%. ‘OTC Drugs’ means drugs legally allowed to be

sold ‘Over the Counter’ by pharmacists, i.e. without the

prescription of a Registered Medical Practitioner. Although

the phrase ‘OTC’ has no legal recognition in India, all the

drugs not included in the list of ‘prescription-only drugs’

are considered to be nonprescription drugs (or OTC drugs).

Patented Products

The market size for patented drugs as of today is very

small. Only about 1-2% of the market is made up of patented

drugs, which are being sold by multinational innovators.

There are multiple Indian companies that have drugs in the

pipeline, with a greater focus on R&D, but estimates suggest

that it would be at least 7 to 10 years before these begin to

have a serious impact on the industry. Industry experts

believe that the current size of the patented drug market is

estimated at US$120-130 million. Due to weak patent laws in

the past, and multiple, cheap generic versions of drugs

present in the market, multinational players were hesitant to

introduce their patented products. In future, with growing

affordability, deepening of health insurance and steady
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growing middle class with increased spending power, there

has been an increase in the number of insurance policies

issued in the country. The Insurance Regulatory and

Development Authority (IRDA) eliminated tariffs on general

insurance, and this move is expected to drive additional

growth of private insurance products. In the wake of

liberalization, health insurance reached to $5.75 billion by

2010, according to a study by the New Delhi-based PHD

Chamber of Commerce and Industry. The IRDA believes

that eliminating tariffs will encourage scientific rating and

adoption of better risk management practices, and lead to

independent pricing for each line of business, so that

Premiums will be based on actual risks and costs. The

implementation of the new policy also will encourage the

development of innovative practices and customer-friendly

options for policyholders, boosting penetration. In the post

liberalization era, some companies have been licensed to

act as third party administrators of health services. The

objective is to strengthen the health insurance industry and

increase its penetration by bringing more professionalism

to claims management, facilitating cashless services to

policyholders, and reducing the claims ratio. Currently there

are 25 licensed third party administrators in the Indian health

insurance industry. In another effort to improve the insurance

prospects for India, the IRDA is focused on standardizing

medical definitions to ensure consistent pricing and

products, and is providing incentives for stand-alone

insurance in emerging market. In addition, government

subsidies and tax incentives for health insurance are

expected to attract key players to the industry. In response

to liberalization, a large number of international private

insurance companies are moving into India and forming joint

ventures. Two prominent examples are Max New York Life, a

joint venture between Max India and New York Life, and

ICICI Prudential Life Insurance, a joint venture between the

ICICI Group and UK-based Prudential plc. Some companies

are experimenting with more targeted forms of insurance

coverage. For example, ICICI Prudential is offering plans

designed specifically for diabetics. We can expect to see

more innovations as the health insurance market.

IRDA has classified health insurance as a separate category

and has permitted the insurers to tie-up with banks. All the

four exclusive health insurance companies will be tying with

the banks across the country and that will help them to

move to the next level. The penetration of health insurance

is now expected to increase with banks pushing for it through

tie-up.

Ninety-four percent of all private health spending is

out of pocket, mostly at the time of the incident, and more

than 40 percent of hospitalized people borrow money or sell

assets in order to cover their expenses. The remaining 6

percent of spending is provided by insurance -3.7 percent

social, 1.6 percent employer-sponsored and 0.7 percent

private insurance. Just 15 percent of the population has

some form of insurance; an estimated 800,000,000 people in

India have none. The health insurance market was opened

up to the private sector in 2000 and, since then, growth has

been fast, with nearly 10.3 million policies sold in 2003-04

compared to 7.5million in 2001-02 and it is expected to be

more than 35 million policies by 2015. A 40 percent compound

annual growth rate (CAGR) is forecast for the health

insurance sector

Clinical trials

India historically lacked the expertise to perform clinical

trials, because most companies only tested different

processes for producing copycat versions of Western

products, and the rules were quite lenient. Several drug

makers have also been caught behaving unethically or even

illegally.

However, in recent years, India has become a more

attractive market for clinical testing. One reason is that in

November 2004, the federal government amended Schedule

Y of the Drugs and Cosmetics Act to make the rules on

clinical trials more consistent with international practice. In

addition, in January 2005 India became compliant with the

Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights

(TRIPS) Agreement and formally recognized product patents.

Currently there is product and process both. This triggered

growth in Indian clinical trial activity by contract research

organizations, such as Quintiles, Omnicare, Pharma-Net and

Pharm-Olam, and by multinational corporations such as

Novo Nordisk, Sanofi-Aventis, Novartis and GSK. Some

multinationals, such as Pfizer and Eli Lilly, have been

conducting tests locally for a while. Government taxation

incentives are further boosting R&D in India. As a market

for clinical testing, India holds other attractions as well.

According to a study by Rabo India Finance, a subsidiary

of the Netherlands-based Rabo Bank, the huge patient

population offers vast genetic diversity, making the country

an ideal site for clinical trials. It has the largest pool of diabetic

patients, the population is relatively easy to access, and

many people are “treatment-naïve”; they have not been

treated with medications being tested, which potentially

could distort test results.

As a result of these favorable factors, the Indian clinical

trials market, currently estimated at $120 million, It  is reached

$1 billion by 2010, according to Info media. To achieve that

level of growth, India will have to address a lack of skilled

workers, high wage inflation, and inadequate infrastructure.

For western companies that can navigate these obstacles,

the rewards will be substantial: Clinical trials account for

over 40% of the costs of developing a new drug, and Rabo

India Finance estimates that a standard drug could be tested

in India for as little as $90 million—60% of the cost of testing

in the US and India to conduct 5% Global Clinical Trials by

2012. In 2007, the country conducted around 220 clinical

trials, making up for less than 2% of the global clinical trials

But according to “Booming Clinical Trials Market in India”,
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a new research report by RNCOS, a number of factors such

as low cost, large patient pool, easy recruitment, strong

government support and strengthening of its intellectual

property environment will enable India to conduct nearly

5% of the global clinical trials by 2015. Glaxo SmithKline,

among the world’s top ten. Global Pharma majors is carrying

out the largest number of Clinical Trials in India Due to the

high population density of urban areas that have few, but

large hospitals, in the limited number of trials conducted,

most of the MNCs have been able to recruit a large number

of patients quickly..Indian companies like Ranbaxy, Sun

Pharma, Cadila, Nicholas Piramal, Lupin have set up

worldclass clinical research facilities to bring the drug from

mind to market.

Advantages in conducting clinical studies in India in

brief are welltrained medical community to global standards,

wide spectrum of diseases, with low per capita drug

expenditure, Huge patient base, Heterogeneous population

base, High enrolment rates, Large and fast growing private

healthcare sector, Stateoftheart hospital facilities, proposed

changes to regulatory policies to facilitate clinical research,

lower costs of clinical researchers, nurses, IT staff, along

with reduction in patientrelated costs, diversity in India’s

gene pool, difficulty in recruiting for trials globally. India

has adequate patients and investigators, Overall lower costs

for conduct of trials, Rapidly increasing awareness of

ICHGCP( The International Conference on Harmonisation

Good Clinical Practice) guidelines for conduct of clinical

research, All investigators speak English and GCP trained

investigators are increasing in number, Education level of

the clinical researchers in India is quite high, Increasingly,

accommodating regulatory environment, Data generated in

India is accepted by all major conferences and journals,

Import duties on clinical material has been eliminated.

Contract Research

Indian Pharma expects to see significant growth in

India’s custom manufacturing business, as a result of high

and rising costs to innovative manufacturers in Europe and

the U.S., and also forecasts that there will be a Indian

Company International Partner Outsourced Products Cadila

Healthcare Altana Two intermediates for Altana’s under-

patent molecule Protonix (pantoprazole) Hikal Limited

Degussa Hikal has signed an agreement with Degussa for

supplying pharmaceutical intermediates and active

pharmaceutical ingredients Nicholas Piramal AMO

Neutralizing tablets and sterile FFS packs (product names

not disclosed) Nicholas Piramal Allergan APIs for

Levobunolol (Betagen) and Brimonidine (Alphagan and

Alphagan - D) Nicholas Piramal Pfizer 7-year agreement

relating to R&D services under which Nicholas Piramal will

provide process development and scale up services to

Pfizer’s animal health division from the latter’s facilities in

India Dishman Pharma Solvay 6 projects; the main one being

for starting material and advanced intermediate for Tevetan

(eprosartan maleate) Dishman Pharma AstraZeneca

Intermediate for Nexium (esomeprazole) Dishman Pharma

Merck Intermediate for Losartan (to be supplied to its

contract manufacturer in Japan) Shasun Chemicals

GlaxoSmithKline Ranitidine API Shasun Chemicals Eli Lilly

Nizatidine, metohexital and cycloserine APIs Key Contract

Manufacturing Agreements. Growing number of

collaborations between Indian and foreign firms in the

domestic market, especially involving the biotechnology

sector, in a wide variety of areas such as collaborative R&D

(including drug discovery and clinical trials), co-marketing

and manufacturing. India and China’s drug outsourcing

discovery markets combined are currently worth around $7.3

billion and, driven by government initiatives to diversify

the drug discovery portfolio and develop infrastructure, are

set to reach $19.8 billion in 2011.

In September 2004, a global innovation survey by the

Economist Intelligence Unit identified

India as an R&D “hotspot,” defined as a place where

(1) companies are able to tap into existing scientific and

technical expertise networks, (2) there are good links to

academic research facilities, (3) the environment supports

innovation and (4) it is easy to commercialize. Costs of

pharmaceutical innovation in India are estimated as low as

one-seventh of their levels in Europe, and the country’s

clinical research industry is currently worth $100 million and

growing around 40 to 50 percent annually.

Some examples of R&D Inward Investments

• AstraZeneca is conducting research into tuberculosis

(TB) at the AstraZeneca Research Foundation India in

Bangalore. India’s estimated 8.5 million TB patients36

mean clinical trials can be conducted easily and

economically. Although the revenue potential for anti-

TB drugs is limited as the disease mainly affects poorer

nations, the reduced research costs of developing the

drug in India and the goodwill associated with helping

to eradicate a major disease in developing countries

still present a good business opportunity for

AstraZeneca.

• GSK and Ranbaxy have set up an early-stage

partnership in drug research, under which GSK will

provide the Indian firm with leads, Ranbaxy will

conduct lead optimization and animal trials, and GSK

will take the drug through human trials. GSK will have

exclusive rights to sell any resulting product in

developed-world markets, and the two firms will co-

promote it in India.

• Pfizer is exploring the establishment of an R&D facility

and setting up an Academy for Clinical Research in

Mumbai. Major drug producers that are already

conducting trials in India include Pfizer, estimated to

have some 20 ongoing clinical trials there; GSK, with
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seven trials; Eli Lilly, with 17 trials; plus AstraZeneca

and Novartis. As well as Chiltern, leading contract

research organizations (CROs) such as Quintiles, SFBC

International and ICON Clinical Research have

extensive operations in India.

Conclusion

There are many factors which show the tremendous

potential for Indian pharmaceutical industry growth. It is

observed that from above research and trends; the growth

pattern and support to Indian economy will be sustain and

continuous as this market is least bothered by the other

economy affecting issues. India’s middle and upper class,

there lifestyle, disease pattern, accessibility of heath related

product and services, health awareness with favorable

industrial aspects like human, production/plant setups,

research and development and quality expertise, ample and

low cost of easily available resources with the support from

government regarding various regulatory laws and litigations

will act as driving fuel for the overall pharmaceutical industry

and economic growth.
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Abstract: As a consequence of the adoption of the New Economic Policy(NEP) of 1991, the growth rate of the Indian

economy which stood at 3.5 per cent per annum during 1951-79, 5.0 percent per annum during 1980-91, in fact accelerated to

6.1 per cent per annum during 1992-2000. The economy has moved on from the ‘Hindu Rate of Growth’ of 3.5% per annum

of yesteryears to ‘unstoppable India’ at 9 % per annum at present. India emerged as one of the fastest growing economies of

the world during the 1990s. The remarkable performance of India’s economy is attributable in significant part to the spectacular

dynamism shown by the services sector. Against this background, it would be appropriate if we try to find out: What are the

constituents of service sector in India? How this sector performed on growth and employment fronts? What happened to

service sector productivity in post 1980 period? What are the policies adopted by the Government of India to promote the

services sector? what are the problems or challenges ahead in this sector? and what are the prospects /potential for growth in

this sector?

While India is distinctive among developing countries for its fast-growing service sector, skeptics have raised doubts about the

quality and sustainability of this service-sector growth and its implications for economic development. We show, consistent

with the views of the sceptics, that while growth of the sector has been unusually rapid, it started 15 years ago from unusually

low levels. That the share of services has now simply converged to the international norm raises questions about whether it

will continue growing rapidly. In particular, whether service-sector output and employment continue to grow in excess of

international norms will depend on the continued expansion of modern services (business services, communication and

banking) but, also, on the application of modern information  technology to more traditional services (retail and wholesale

trade, transport and storage, public administration

and defense). The second aspect obviously has more positive implications for output than for employment. We also show that

the modern services that are growing most rapidly are now large enough where their future performance could have a significant

macroeconomic impact. The expansion of modern service-sector employment is not simply disguised manufacturing activity.

Finally, we show that the mix of skilled and unskilled labor in manufacturing and services is increasingly similar. It is no longer

obvious therefore that manufacturing is the main destination for the vast majority of Indian labor moving into the modern

sector and that modern services are a viable destination only for the highly-skilled few. We conclude that sustaining economic

growth and rising living standards will require shifting labor into primary, secondary and tertiary sectors.

The service sector, also called the tertiary sector, is one of the three parts of the economy in the Three-sector hypothesis.

This hypothesis breaks the economy into three main areas so it can be better understood. The other two are the primary

sector, which covers areas such as farming, mining and fishing; and the secondary sector which covers manufacturing and

making things. The service sector provides a service, not an actual product that could be held in your hand. Activities in the

service sector include retail, banks, hotels, real estate, education, health, social work, transport, computer services, recreation,

media, communications, electricity, gas and water supply.

I firmly believe that, Services are highly important but they cannot by themselves assure rapid and sustained growth

of the Indian economy by neglecting primary and secondary sectors.

Introduction:

 The Service Sector constitutes a large part of the Indian

economy both in terms of employment potential and its

contribution to national income.

The Sector covers a wide range of activities from the

most sophisticated in the field of Information and

Communication Technology to simple services pursued by

the informal sector workers,

The large chunk of labour force engaged for their daily

bread and butter in this sector namely, vegetable sellers,

hawkers, rickshaw pullers, etc.

The following broad grouping of activities can be

considered to form part of the Service Sector:

  (a) Trade

  (b) Hotels and restaurants

   (c) Transport including tourist assistance activities as well

as activities of travel agencies  and tour operators

  (d) Storage and communication

  (e)  Banking and insurance

  (f) Real estate and ownership of dwellings

  (g) Business services including accounting; software

development; data processing  services; business and

management consultancy; architectural, engineering

and other technical consultancy, advertisement and

other business services
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  (h)  Public administration and defense

   (i) Other services including education, medical and health,

religious and other community  services, legal services,

recreation and entertainment services

  (j ) Personal services and activities of extra-territorial

organizations and bodies

Although the Service Sector has a very pivotal role in

the country’s economic development, the database in this

Sector is highly disorganized. A major limitation of the

existing statistical system in this respect is the absence of a

well-organized mechanism for maintaining a regular and

proper database for this Sector.

The problem of data collection from this Sector through

the Follow-up Enterprise Surveys of Economic Census is

compounded by the fact that the Sector is dominated by a

large number of unorganized units.

Further, the composition of units in the domain

undergoes changes at a rapid pace because new units or

newer service areas come into existence and others disappear

with alarming frequency. Thus, a sound official statistical

system should endeavour to address all these

methodological issues for properly estimating the size and

contribution of the Service Sector marked by a rapid change

in its composition.

The Service Sector of the economy can be broadly

grouped into three broad segments namely,

1. Public sector

2. Private corporate sector

3. Household sector.

 The first two are generally referred to as the organized

part of the economy, as the accounts of all the business

transactions of these sectors are recorded in specified

documents and are made available as public documents at

regular intervals. The remaining part of the economy, that is

the household or unorganized sector, constitutes all

unincorporated enterprises including all kinds of

proprietorship and partnerships run by the individuals.

India’s service sector contributes to about 60 per cent

of the country’s gross domestic product (GDP), 35% of

employment, a quarter of the total trade, and over half of the

foreign investment inflows.

The service industry is one of the largest and fastest-

growing sectors in the global market. Its contribution to the

Indian economy is particularly significant, with regard to

employment potential and impact on national income.

This sector covers a wide range of activities, such as

transportation, communication, trading, finances, real estate

and health, among others.

The service industry provides massive business

prospects to investors. Without the sector’s capacity to

generate revenue, it would be difficult for the Indian

economy to acquire the healthy place it currently enjoys on

the global platform.

Service Sector in India today accounts for more than

half of India’s GDP.

In the post-reform period, the service sector has shown

considerable growth both in terms of contribution to GDP

and in the share of employment in India.

In the financial year 2008-2009, the share of services,

industry, and agriculture in India’s GDP is 53.7%, 29.1 %,

and 17.2 % respectively.

India ranks fifteenth in the services output and it

provides employment to around 23% of the total workforce

in the country.

The entire study is based on the hypothesis that

growth of service sector is one of the most important

indicators of economic growth.

Historical background:

Service industry, an industry in that part of the

economy that creates services rather than tangible objects.

Economists divide all economic activity into two broad

categories, goods and services.

Goods-producing industries are agriculture, mining,

manufacturing, and construction, each of them creates some

kind of tangible objects. A services-dominated economy is

characteristic of developed countries. In less-developed

countries most people are employed in primary activities

such as agriculture and mining.

The service sector consists of the “soft” parts of the

economy, i.e. activities where people offer their knowledge

and time to improve productivity, performance, potential,

and sustainability, what is termed affective labor. The basic

characteristic of this sector is the production of services

instead of end products. Services (also known as “intangible

goods”) include attention, advice, access, experience, and

discussion. The production of information is generally also

regarded as a service, but some economists now attribute it

to a fourth sector, the quaternary sector.

The tertiary sector of industry involves the provision

of services to other businesses as well as final consumers.

Services may involve the transport, distribution and sale of

goods from producer to a consumer, as may happen in

wholesaling and retailing, or may involve the provision of a

service, such as in pest control or entertainment.

 The goods may be transformed in the process of

providing the service, as happens in the restaurant industry.

However, the focus is on people interacting with people
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and serving the customer rather than transforming physical

goods.

For the last 100 years, there has been a substantial

shift from the primary and secondary     sectors to the tertiary

sector in industrialized countries. This shift is called

Tertiarisation. The tertiary sector is now the largest sector

of the economy in the Western world, and is also the fastest-

growing sector.

Service Sector around the World:

Service sector is the lifeline for the social economic

growth of a country. It is today the largest and fastest

growing sector globally contributing more to the global

output and employing more people than any other sector.

 For most countries around the world services are the

largest part of their economy. The real reason for the growth

of the service sector is due to the increase in urbanization,

privatization and more demand for intermediate and final

consumer services.

Availability of quality services is vital for the well being

of the economy. In advanced economies the growth in the

primary and secondary sectors are directly dependent on

the growth of services like banking, insurance, trade,

commerce, entertainment, social and personal, etc.

The U.S. and other developed economies are now

dominated by the services sector, accounting for more than

two-thirds of their Gross Domestic Product (GDP).

Significance of Service Sector:

Service economy can refer to one or both of two recent

economic developments:

a) The increased importance of the service sector in

industrialized economies. The current list of Fortune

500 companies contains more service companies and

fewer manufacturers than in previous decades.

b) The relative importance of service in a product offering.

The service economy in developing countries is mostly

concentrated in financial services, hospitality, retail,

health, human services, information technology and

education. Products today have a higher service

component than in previous decades. In the

management literature this is referred to as the

servitization of products. Virtually every product today

has a service component to it.

  The old dichotomy between product and service has

been replaced by a service-product continuum. Many

products are being transformed into services.

For example:  IBM treats its business as a service

business. Although it still manufactures computers, it sees

the physical goods as a small part of the “business

solutions” industry. They have found that the price elasticity

of demand for “business solutions” is much less than for

hardware. There has been a corresponding shift to a

subscription pricing model.

Rather than receiving a single payment for a piece of

manufactured equipment, many manufacturers are now

receiving a steady stream of revenue for ongoing contracts.

Full cost accounting and most accounting reform and

monetary reform measures are usually thought to be

impossible to achieve without a good model of the service

economy

i. Many productive systems, such as hospitals, beauty

salons, consulting companies, banks and airlines do

not produce a tangible product that can be stored for

later consumption. Instead, the output of such systems

is a service – for example, health care, good looks,

advice, loans, and transportation – that is consumed

in the process of its production.

ii. From our day-to-day experience, we know that the cost

and quality of services provided even within the same

industry can vary a great deal.  We have preferences

and are willing to pay for different components of

service, such as speed, quality, degree of variety, and

so on. Better management of the system that provides

the service, consistent with customer preferences and

requirements, will lead to greater profitability for the

firm.

iii. We must therefore understand the nature of the various

types of service systems and the associated

management tasks that are required to improve a service

firm’s competitiveness.

iv. In 1980, the service sector employed more than two

thirds of the working population and accounted for

more than 60 % of the gross national product. For the

first time in history, investment per office worker now

exceeds investment per factory worker. With the

continuing trend towards a service economy, a greater

proportion of future operations managers will be

employed by this sector.

v. In addition to the continuing growth of the service

sector, the role of services in the manufacturing sector

has been increasing. With increasing automation and

the use of computers in the design of a product and its

manufacturing process, technical and professional

staffs will have a greater role in the actual production

of the product than will unskilled workers. Thus, in the

factory of the future the productive process may be

guided by design engineers, computer operators, and

production planners.

The order will be relayed to the factory, where a car

meeting the customer’s specific requirements will be
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manufactured and readied for delivery in a short time. It is

clear that corporate profitability demands that the design

and implementation of the service component of a product

be strategically evaluated. The integration of product and

service is vital for a firm’s success, as it influences how a

customer perceives the product.

The inputs to a service productive system are the

consumers themselves. The productive process that

transforms the inputs into outputs consists of labour,

technology, information and the like. The output of such a

system is the altered state of the consumer.

The key distinction between service and

manufacturing systems is that services are intangible

outputs that are consumed in the process of their

production. The technology and process for supplying the

service can differ significantly from one industry in the

service sector to another.

Several distinctions between systems that produce

products and systems that produce services were noticed.

Reasons for flourishing of Service Sector: -

There are immense future prospects in service sector

in India.

1. Now days this sector is booming like anything.

Because now business firms are taking customer as

king.

2. There is n-number of varieties available in market for

the same goods or services, that’s why the rate of

switching over from one product to another is very

high.

3. Now companies are giving their best because they want

to retain their customers for a long time.

4. Companies want to make their better services their USP.

5. Service sector is directly concern with customers. So it

is important to give the best quality to the customers

to differentiate the company from others.

Key Points to the growth of Service Sector:

· The growth of the service sector has long been

considered as an indicator of a country’s economic

progress.

· Services are continually being launched to satisfy our

existing needs and to meet needs that we did not even

know we had.

· Service organizations can vary in size from large

corporations to small, locally owned businesses.

Terms:

· Service

Action or work that is produced, and then traded,

bought or sold, and then finally consumed.

Secondary

The secondary sector of the economy or industrial

sector includes those economic sectors that create a finished,

tangible product, such as production and construction.

Primary

The primary sector of the economy is the sector of an

economy making direct use of natural resources.

Key Statistics:

1. The services sector received foreign direct investment

(FDI) equity inflows worth Rs 179,150.49 crore (US$

28.78 billion) in the period April 2000–August 2013,

according to Department of Industrial Policy and

Promotion (DIPP).

2. About 80 % of India’s total exports are dominated by

high-skilled services, such as software business

services, financial services and communication

services.

3. The expenditure of Indian banking and securities

companies on IT products and services is expected to

be around US$ 422 billion in 2013, a 13%increase from

2012.

Government Initiatives:

The government will set up a joint task force together

with the services industry to prepare an action plan for the

development of the services sector and increase services

exports. The majority of services sector exports are from

verticals such as IT, ITES and BPO sectors.

However, there is a wide scope for segments such as

animation, legal servicing, architecture, media and

entertainment, healthcare, and tourism, among others.

The portal, which is now the largest online bus

ticketing system in the world, will give commuters the

opportunity to comfortably plan their bus travel, including

stopovers, changing routes, multi- and round-trips, etc. The

ratio of bus users to train users in India is 6:1, highlighting

the potential of connectivity bus services in India.

Enterprise solutions provider SAP has launched three

new applications in an effort to help government bodies

improve their delivery mechanism.

Road Map Ahead to realize the task:

The ministry of Commerce and Industry, has

highlighted services trade as an important element to

economic growth, sustainable development and employment

generation.
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Also, the government is planning an annual survey

for the service sector, which will give data on the industry’s

detailed performance.

The Indian food service industry is expected to grow

to Rs 408,040 (US$ 65.56 billion) crore by 2018 at a compound

annual growth rate (CAGR) of 11%, as per a survey

commissioned by National Restaurant Association of India

(NRAI), Which is expected to be (US$ 1.12 billion)

Finally, service is part of the product. When we buy a

consumer durable, such as an automobile, a washing

machine, or a solar heating system, a guarantee to service

the product accompanies the product itself. Often our

decision to buy a product is influenced by the services

provided with the product.

In the future, with greater customization and product

variety, the service component of the product will increase.

It is anticipated that, by the turn of the century a customer

will be able to walk into an automobile dealership, order a

car based on his or her preferences for colour, style, optional

equipment, and the like and arrange all necessary financing

using a computer terminal.

In developed countries like USA, UK, Japan, etc…

the service sector contributes over 70% GDP, and the share

of employment is about 70%. Since India is developing at a

faster pace of around 9% economic in the past couple of

years, mainly due to the growth in the manufacturing sector

and agricultural sector.

 Given the experience of developed countries, India’s

services led growth can be sustainable over a period of

time, and in the coming years, the service sector would

dominate the economic scene in India. The service’s sectors

contribution to GDP and to the employment would definitely

increase in the coming years. Therefore, it can be concluded

that services led growth in India will be sustainable.

Challenges before the Tertiary Sector:

Since the world economy is challenged, India’s

economy also faces challenges.

• The major challenges of our economy are decreasing

economic growth which decreased to 5 % in 2012-13

from 8.5 % in 2010-11

• Rising consumer price inflation and a widening trade

deficit which was 4.8 % of GDP for 2012 13.

• These problems have the combined affect of lowering

investor confidence as well as value of our rupee.

• Growth is expected to pick only slowly as by year

progress. While headline inflation has moderated, high

consumer price inflation remains a concern. While

recent measures to address exchange rate volatility

have provided a temporary relief, structural reforms

are needed to support growth revival and reduce the

trade deficit.

Conclusion:

The process of economic growth has led to the

emergence and expansion of new services such as

advertising, publicity, marketing etc.  These sub-sectors

provide essential inputs thereby developing strong linkages

with rest of the economy. The service sector is a catalyst,

inducing growth in other sectors.

In conclusion, I would like to say that Service sector

has a very good future in India. It is coming with new types

of employment. We can easily find out this sector around

us, because it is everywhere in so many forms.

Now, India can be considered as the prototype model

of service driven growth where the service sector have high

forward linkage and potential productivity gain because

service is the input of other sectors too. Recent accelerated

growth in the service sector is a big push towards a

sustainable development path which is highly a debatable

concern.

Again, this development model does not explicitly

promote merchandise exports and it is hardly called export

led growth model. In this big push in service industry must

immediately catch up with the fast growing service sector in

which industry must have strong base through associated

efficiency and productivity gain. Also, as the forward linkage

of modern services stimulate the development of industry

which in turn has high backward linkage, virtuous self

sustaining cycle of broad based rapid economic expansion

may ensure, ultimately resulting in higher incomes and a

substantial reduction in poverty

Inspite of the facts and figures stated above, I would

like to point out that the service sector will sustain high

rates of growth of GDP in future is a misconception.

According to Shankar Acharya, well known economic

thinker,: “Services are highly important but they cannot

by themselves assure rapid and sustained growth of the

Indian economy”.

India’s history does not support the view that the

service sector is the leading sector. During 1950-2000, the

growth rate of service sector has averaged around 5.5%

which is less than the industrial average of 5.7%. Only in

the 1990’s the services growth has been 7.6%, much higher

than industrial growth of 5.9%. It is only in 1997-2000, the

service sector has grown by 8.1% far exceeding industrial

growth of 4.8% The high growth registered by the services

sector in these four years was due to the massive wage hike

by the government and rapid growth of the IT sector from a

low base. This may not occur again.
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The reliability in the estimation of output from the

heterogeneous services sector is questionable unlike the

manufacturing sector.

According to Shankar Acharya, well known economic

thinker,: “the long term development of seven fastest

growing countries of the world reveal that the growth of

service sector in absence of buyout industrial sector is

hard to achieve”.

Inspite of high growth rate of service sector in the

recent five year plans, the overall economic growth was not

high due to the slow expansion of agricultural and industrial

sector.

Hence the economic growth has to be sustained in

the long run, the commodity producing sectors (agricultural

and industry) must grow at a fast rate. The fast growth of

service sector alone cannot assure high economic growth.

There has to be a strong growth of all sectors to maintain

the growth of the whole economy. Many economists opine

that service – led growth is not sustainable in the long run.

We may be happy to see our service sector is booming

but it is in alarming situation in the light of dwindling primary

and secondary sectors. It is an indicative of our yet harder

days ahead in the coming years. Let us not confuse the

service sector is primarily to support of primary and

secondary sectors. It does not generate resources by itself.

Unless primary and secondary sectors grow, the gains

through service sector are disguise.

 The decline in the manufacturing activities will negate

the gains through services. The country shall loose more

than it will gain. Services are welcome, but not at the cost of

industries and agriculture. The growth of services without

commensurate growths on agriculture and industrial front

cannot sustain a large country of our size and its mammoth

population.

For support services also call for strong primary and

secondary sectors. IT may not be dark horse of long race

and may stay but then there is a limit to grow and sustain IT

for long global markets alone unless we develop our own

market.

Today we may be complacent because of good IT

performance and how much and for how long will it be wise

for us to depend on it?. This calls for a prudent analysis. A

little shake in US economy and it crumbled like a pack of

cards and sent a shiver down our spines. Therefore we

must not forget the growth of primary and secondary sectors

at the cost of tertiary sector.
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Agricultural Credit : A Study Based on Chattisgarh’

concluded that co-operative banks are providing rural

Chattisgarh all round assistance and proved to be an

institution where ‘Groth with Social Justice’ exists. Co-

operative banks play a major role in rural credit delivery

of the state.

· Rajesh Bhardwaj, Priyanka and Rekha Raheja made a

study entitled ‘Role of Co-operative Banks in

Agricultural Credit : Organization, Growth and

Challenges’ and reached at the conclusion that the level

of NPAs in co-operative banking system is very high

as compared with other financial institutions. Therefore,

co-operative banks should control their NPAs level for

surviving in credit market of India in future.

· Dr. S. Lakshmanan in his study on ‘Farm Credit and

Non-Farm Credit Recovery Performance of

Karatadipulayam Primary Agricultural Co-operative

Bank Ltd., Erode District (Tamil Nadu) found that the

average percentage of non-farm credit has been higher

than the farm credit recovery. Therefore, the society is

benefitted out of non-farm credit.

· A.M.S. Ramaswamy and S. Thirumaran carried out a

study entitled as ‘Growth and Performance of South

Arcot District Central Co-operative Banks’. The study

came to the conclusion that the bank has performed

excellently well in the aspects of share capital, working

capital, net profit earned and reserve fund. However, it

has to take some more efforts for the mobilization of

resources and recovery of the outstanding loans.

· In the study entitled ‘Co-operative Agricultural Finance

: Utilization and Over Dues’ by Pratap Singh, it was

concluded that the heavy incidence of over dues is the

most depressing feature of the short term agricultural

credit in the district of Patiala.

· Dutta Uttam and Basak Amit gave suggestion that co-

operative banks have to improve recovery performance

and also use new system of computerized monitoring

of loans, adopt proper prudential norms and conduct

workshops to face the competitive banking

environment.

Various committees such as Narsimham, Kapoor,

Tarapore, etc. were appointed by the government to present

their recommendations in order to strengthen the operations

of the banks.

Objectives of the Study

The following are the objectives of the study :

· To study the progress of the District Central Co-

Operative Banks (DCCBs) in Maharashtra with the help

of select indicators at two points of time, i.e., 2001-02

and 2010-11.

· To analyze short term and medium term agricultural

and non-agricultural loans demanded and recovered

during the period of ten years from 2001-02 to 2010-11.

· To make comparison between agricultural and non-

agricultural loan recovery in case of both short term

and medium term loans and find out in which case

recovery performance is better.

· To suggest corrective measures for effectiveness in

loan recovery performance of DCCBs.

Methodology

The Study is based on secondary data drown from

the web site of National Federation of State Co-Operative

Banks Ltd. named as www.nafscob.org, reports, papers,

books, journals and other web sites relating to co-operative

banking. Numerical data were collected for the period of ten

years from 2001-02 to 2010-11. Analysis of the data has been

made by using growth rate, percentage / index numbers.

Limitations of the Study

The following are the limitations of the study:

· The requisite data for the year 2003-04 in terms of both

short term and medium term agricultural and non-

agricultural loans could not be had from the sources

tried for.

· The present study covers the performance of average

recovery of all DCCBs in Maharashtra. The results of

the study may not agree with the study of individual

DCCB.

District Central Co-Operative Banks (DCCBs)

The co-operative banks provide short term, medium

term and long term loans to both agriculture and non-

agriculture sector. Agricultural co-operatives are classified

as (1) Short Term and Medium Term Institutions and (2)

Long Term Credit Institutions. State co-operative banks,

DCCBs, and PACS are for short term and medium term loans

and primary land development banks for long term credit.

There are also co-operatives exclusively for non-agricultural

loans such as industrial co-operatives, marketing co-

operatives, urban co-operatives, etc.

The Primary Agricultural Credit Societies (PACS) in

the area of each district when federated, the federation is

turned as District Central Co-operative Bank (DCCB). The

DCCB may be having persons as members or societies as

members or both societies and persons as members. The

DCCB is a link between Primary Agricultural Credit Societies

and State Co-operative Bank (Apex Bank). The DCCBs in a

state when federated, the federation is known as State Co-

operative Bank. The DCCBs are formed as per the provisions

of The Co-operative Societies Act, 1912. The management

of DCCB consists of a board of directors comprising 12 to
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15 members. The members of the board are elected in general

body meeting by PACS and individual members.

Functions of DCCBs

The functions of DCCBs are as follows:

1. To provide guidance and technical assistance to PACS.

2. To provide finance to PACS when demanded by them.

3. To provide banking facilities to the members in the

area of working.

4. To encourage thrift and collect savings of members

and others.

5. To provide facilities for safe investments of the funds

of PACS.

6. To attract deposits from public by creating confidence

in the mind of people for co-operatives.

7. To act as an intermediary between the primary societies

and money market.

Progress of DCCBs in Maharashtra

Maharashtra plays a dominant role in the economic

development of the country. It is the most industrially

developed state. The state’s consistent contribution of more

than 20% in the net value added in the organized

manufacturing sector in the country reflects its high level of

industrialization. It lags behind the other states in agricultural

performance. Still, it has the largest share of 13% in the

national income. It is the birth place of co-operative credit

movement in the country. It has been a pioneer in the

development of co-operative banking. It also ranks top in

this field as on today. Shri Vaikunthbhai Mehata and Prof.

D.R. Gadgil from Maharashtra were outstanding co-

operators in the country. They developed and introduced

various co-operative innovations strengthening co-

operative movement in the state as well as in the country.

At present, there are 31 DCCBs in the state with

the primary object to provide credit requirements to PACS.

The first such secondary level co-operative was registered

in Mumbai in 1911 under the Government of India Act, 1904.

Table 1 : Progress of the District Central Co-operative Banks in Maharashtra

Item 2001-02 2010-11

Number of Banks 30 31                (3.33)

Number of branches including Head Office 3813 3715           (-2.57)

Number of Members 111.21 125.24        (12.62)

Share Capital 77583 164600       (112.16)

Reserve Funds 237689 619860       (160.79)

Deposits 1944947 4687366     (141.00)

Working Capital 2728563 6108458     (123.87)

Investments 819278 2359719     (188.02)

Loans & Advances 1764427 2664923      (51.04)

Outstanding Loans 1602808 2816617      (75.73)

Loans Over Dues 372813 645960        (73.27)

Percentage of Over Dues to Outstanding Loans 23.26 22.93

Note: Figures in the brackets indicate growth rate.

Source :- www.nafscob.org

An attempt has been made to examine the progress of

DCCBs in Maharashtra with the help of some select financial

indicators at the two points of time, i.e., 2001-02 and 2010-

11as shown in table 1. There were 30 DCCBs in 2001-02. The

number went up to 31 DCCBs in 2010-11 which showed

3.33% growth. Number of branches including Head Office

in the year 2001-02 was 3813 and in 2010-11, the number

came down to 3715, i.e., a decrease of 2.57% over the period.

The number of members of DCCBs increased to 125.24

thousand in 2010-11 from 111.21 thousand in 2001-02. Share

capital of all DCCBs showed a growth of 112.16%, reserve

fund 160.79%, deposits 141.00%, working capital 123.87%,

investments 188.02%, loans and advances 51.04%. Over the

period, outstanding loans of the banks indicated increase

of 75.73%, and loans over dues of 73.27%. But percentage

of over dues to outstanding loans came down from 23.26%

in 2001-02 to 22.93% in 2010-11.

Though, the DCCBs in the state showed progress in

almost all indicators but outstanding loans and over dues

are serious concerns for them.
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DCCBs Facing Desperate Straits

In the month of April 2012, it was reported under

co-operative news that a number of district central co-

operative banks in Maharashtra were reported to be in

desperate straits and efforts to help them return to a healthy

and viable conditions had failed. The crisis of these banks

is mainly attributable to a tight stranglehold the

unscrupulous politicos have long exercised over them. In

addition to this, the banks have seriously been damaged by

a series of financial scandals. Because of desperate position,

these banks will not get finance from NABARD which, in

turn, is passed on to the members of the banks for satisfying

the need of agricultural credit. It is speculated that the RBI

may soon ask these banks to stop their banking operations.

If this happens they will cease to be the banks and become

mere co-operative societies. It is suggested that proper steps

should be taken to overcome the desperate straits.

Agricultural and Non-Agricultural Loan recovery of

DCCBs in Maharashtra

Co-operative credit system has been developed

for satisfying the need of loans for agricultural and non-

agricultural purpose particularly in rural areas. DCCBs issue

loans for short term and medium term periods. An attempt

has been made to analyze agricultural and non-agricultural

loans recovery performance of DCCBs in Maharashtra for

the period from 2001-02 to 2010-11 as follows.

Short Term Agricultural Loan Recovery Position

Such loan is issued for 3 to 15 months to meet out

expenses of seasonal agricultural operations like purchasing

of seeds, fertilizers, pesticides, agricultural implements,

payment of

Table 2 : Short Term Agricultural Loan Recovery

Year Demand of Loan Recovered Index No.

2001-02 442148 182752 41.33

2002-03 470883 161139 34.22

2003-04 NA NA NA

2004-05 519038 239225 46.09

2005-06 539288 221026 40.98

2006-07 607416 250237 41.20

2007-08 765817 172648 22.54

2008-09 854577 324505 37.97

2009-10 965091 580867 60.19

2010-11 1100090 632912 57.53

Source :- www.nafscob.org

wages, rents and domestic expenses. It is also

provided for marketing of crops and others including supply

and distribution.

An analysis of the short term agricultural loan recovery

as a percentage of demand for loans during the period from

2001-02 to 2010-11 has been shown in the table 2. From the

analysis, it is seen that the highest short term agricultural

loan recovery was 60.19% in 2009-10 and the lowest recovery

was 22.54% in 2007-08. The average recovery in this regard

was 42.45% which is less than short term non-agricultural

loan recovery of 82.70%.

Short Term Non- Agricultural Loan Recovery Position:

This type of loan is also provided for the period of 3 to

15 months but the purpose of it is not agricultural. DCCBs’

short term non-agricultural loan includes loan to industrial

purpose, consumption purpose etc.

Table 3 gives an analysis of the short term non-

agricultural loan recovery in terms of percentage of loan

recovered to loan demanded. The recovery of the loan was

the highest of 92.14% in 2001-02 and the lowest of 73.16% in

2006-07. The average recovery of the loan was 82.70%, being

more than short term agricultural loan recovery.
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Table 3 : Short Term Non-agricultural Loan Recovery

(Rs. In lakh)

Year Demand of Loan Recovered Index No.

2001-02 423278 390027 92.14

2002-03 330308 291262 88.18

2003-04 NA NA NA

2004-05 204645 153032 74.78

2005-06 177241 132573 74.80

2006-07 200723 146852 73.16

2007-08 288161 223473 77.55

2008-09 170040 153836 90.47

2009-10 245334 208393 84.94

2010-11 360566 318341 88.29

Source :- www.nafscob.org

Medium Term Agricultural Loan Recovery Position:

This kind of loan is granted for the period from 15

months to 5 years. It is provided for development of land,

minor irrigation, animal husbandry, etc.

Medium term agricultural loan recovery analysis

indicated in the table 4 provides that the highest percentage

of the loan recovery was in the year 2009-10 of 67%. The

lowest recovery rate was in the year of 2007-08 of 39.17%.

The average recovery of the loan stood at 50.80%. The

average recovery of the medium term agricultural loan at

50.80% was less than the average recovery of the medium

term non-agricultural loan at 54.38%.

                                       Table 4 : Medium Term Agricultural Loan Recovery

(Rs. In lakh)

Year Demand of Loan Recovered Index No.

2001-02 64709 29958 46.30

2002-03 75727 29986 39.60

2003-04 NA NA NA

2004-05 101598 49823 49.04

2005-06 110153 53954 48.98

2006-07 119150 58183 48.83

2007-08 167072 65442 39.17

2008-09 195955 116751 59.58

2009-10 146226 97978 67.00

2010-11 140400 82458 58.73

Source :- www.nafscob.org

Medium Term Non-agricultural Loan Recovery Position:

It is provided for purchase of shares & debentures

and other purposes. Table 5 indicates data analysis

regarding medium term non-agricultural loan recovery

position for the period from 2001-02 to 2010-11. From the

table, it is observed that the highest percentage of the

recovery of the loan was for the year 2010-11 at 62.48% and

lowest in the year 2005-06 at 45.60% and average percentage

of the recovery was 54.38%.
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Table 5 : Medium Term Non-Agricultural Loan Recovery

(Rs. In lakh)

Year Demand of Loan Recovered Index No.

2001-02 53437 26028 48.71

2002-03 66191 38403 58.02

2003-04 NA NA NA

2004-05 90656 48688 53.71

2005-06 90152 41113 45.60

2006-07 83809 41815 49.89

2007-08 114214 59192 51.83

2008-09 130732 75355 57.64

2009-10 111923 68901 61.56

2010-11 106994 66852 62.48

 Source :- www.nafscob.org

Non-agricultural loan recovery was higher than the

agricultural loan recovery. Non- agricultural loans are

generally issued to the persons having a guaranteed source

of income. Agricultural loan borrowers don’t have

guaranteed income from farm due to uncertain natural

conditions. For low recovery of agricultural loans, other

factors such as willful default, use of loan for unproductive

purpose, etc. are also responsible.

Conclusion:

From the study, it is found that DCCBs in

Maharashtra accomplished progress in each of the indicators

chosen for the study except number of branches during the

period from 2001-02 to 2010-11. Share capital, reserve funds,

deposits, working capital, investments indicated increase

above 100% over the period. Number of banks, number of

members, loan and advances attained meager growth. There

is a matter concern that outstanding loans and over dues

went up, being an indication of poor performance.

In case of recovery of loan, average recovery

percent of non- agricultural loan is higher than the

agricultural loan recovery in terms of both short term and

medium term loans. So, DCCBs are more benefitted from

non- agricultural loans.

On the basis of the conclusion of the study, it is

suggested that emphasis should be laid on the recovery of

agricultural loans. For effective regular recovery, the DCCBs

should distribute loans to those persons who can repay

loans, adopt efficient supervision system for utilization and

recovery of loans and also identify willful and non-willful

defaulters for proper measures to be taken for recovery.
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Abstract : Non Performing Asset indicates the credit risk of the banks. Operational efficiency of the bank is affected by the

quality of advances which in turn has an impact on the profitability, liquidity and solvency position of the banks. This is not

only due to “Directed Credit Programme” followed by the government, under which Indian banks have to lend 40% of their

total credit to priority sector but also lending to the non priority sectors. According to the various reports, the priority sector

NPAs has registered higher growth in terms of percentage as compared to non priority sectors. Critical analyses of NPAs in

various bank reveals that in addition to priority sectors, advances to large industries also forms part of NPAs. The share of

small advances of rural sector is very small compared to the large scale industries. Hence, the present study has its focus on

the analysis of priority sectors and non priority sectors NPAs of Indian scheduled commercial banks.

Keywords : Non Performing Asset, Priority Sector Lending, Non Priority Sector Lending

1. Introduction

It has been argued by a number of economists that a

well-developed financial system enables smooth flow of

savings and investments and hence, supports economic

growth (King and Levine, 1993, Goldsmith, 1969). A healthy

financial system can help to achieve efficient allocation of

resources across the time and space by reducing

inefficiencies arising out of market frictions and other socio-

economic factors. Amongst the various desirable

characteristics of a well-functioning financial system, the

maintenance of non-performing assets (NPA) is an important

one. NPAs beyond a certain level are definitely a cause of

concern for everyone those who involved in banking sector

because bank credit is essential for economic growth and

NPAs affect the smooth flow of bank credit. Banks raise

resources not just on fresh deposit, but also by recycling

the funds received from the borrowers. Thus, when a loan

becomes non-performing, it affects recycling of bank credit

and credit creation. Apart from this, NPAs affects profitability

as well, since higher NPAs require higher provisioning,

which means a large part of the profits needs to be kept

aside as provision against bad loans. Therefore, the problem

of NPAs is not the concern of the lenders alone but it is a

concern for policy makers as well as those who are involved

in putting economic growth on the fast track.

2.  Research  Problem

According to the various reports, the priority sector

NPAs has registered higher growth in terms of percentage

as compared to non priority sectors. A critical analysis of

NPAs in various banks reveals that in addition to priority

sector, advances to large industries also form part of NPAs.

The share of advances of rural sector is very small as

compared to the large advances in corporate sector. Priority

sector advances, as a percentage of NPAs may be higher,

but quantity-wise are not a high in figure. Large advances,

as a percentage of NPAs are lower but quantity-wise it is a

higher in figure. Against this backdrop, the present study

has focused on the analysis of priority sector and non

priority sector NPAs of Indian scheduled commercial banks.

3. Objectives of  Research

The research is based on following objectives :

1. To study the NPAs in priority sector and non priority

sector lending in scheduled commercial banks.

2. To study the factor determinants of NPAs under priority

sector and non priority sector lending by scheduled

commercial banks.

3. To find out the Comparative analysis of NPA between

priority sector and non priority sector lending by

scheduled commercial banks.

4. To suggest policy measures to reduce non performing

assets in scheduled commercial banks

4. Hypothesis of Research

The research is based on following hypothesis. NPAs

in percentage term in priority sector advances may be higher

but quantity wise, its contribution to total NPAs is not very

significant. Whereas percentage of NPAs in case of non

priority sector advances may be lower but it forms the major

chunk of the total NPAs.

5. Scope of the Study

  The study is based on NPA problem in priority and
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non priority sector lending by Indian scheduled commercial

banks.  The study could gives clue to understand the

sectoral composition of NPAs in banks.  It could also

suggest measures for the banks to avoid sectoral NPAs and

to reduce existing NPAs. The study may help the

government in creating and implementing new strategies

for priority sector and non priority sector lending to control

NPAs. The study will help to select appropriate techniques

suited to manage the NPAs and develop a time bound action

plan to arrest the growth of NPAs.

6. Methodology Of Research :

For the study, secondary data has been collected using

annual reports of Reserve Bank of India publication including

Trend & Progress of banking in India, statistical tables

related to banks and report on currency and finance. Articles

and research papers related to NPAs of scheduled

commercial banks published in different business journals,

magazines, newspapers, and periodicals were also studied.

Major guidelines issued by RBI to recover NPAs from time

to time also studied in depth. The study covers a period of

12 years commencing from 2001-02 to 2011-12.

7. Overview Of Non Performing Assets :

Nonperforming assets indicate the credit risk of the

banks. Operational efficiency of the banks is affected by

the quality of advances which in turn has an impact on the

profitability, liquidity and solvency position of the banks.

According to the RBI notification with effect from March

31, 2004 a Non Performing Asset (NPA) shall be a loan or an

advance where; a) Interest and/or installment of principal

remains overdue for a period of more than 90 days in respect

of a term loan, b) The account remains ‘out of order’ for a

period of more than 90 days, in respect of an Over Draft /

Cash Credit, c) The bill remains overdue for a period of more

than 90 days in case of bills purchased and discounted, d)

Interest and/or installment of principal remains overdue for

two harvest seasons but for a period not exceeding two half

years in the case of an advance granted for agricultural

purpose, and e) Any amount to be received remains overdue

for a period of more than 90 days in respect of other accounts

(RBI).

8. Overview Of Priority Sector Lending :

Priority sector was first properly announced in 1972;

after the National Credit Council emphasized that there

should be a larger involvement of the commercial banks in

the priority sector. In 1974, the banks were given a target of

33.33 % as share of the priority sector in the total bank

credit. This was later revised on the recommendation of the

Dr. K S Krishnaswamy committee and raised upto 40%.

Categories of Priority Sector:

The scope and extent of priority sector advances have

undergone a significant change in the post-reform period

with several new areas and sector being brought under its

preview. RBI has decided to include only those sectors as

part of the priority sector, which has its impact on large

segments of population & the weaker sections, and which

are employment intensive. Accordingly the broad categories

of priority sector for all scheduled commercial banks as per

Draft Guidelines of RBI (January 2007) on lending to Priority

Sector are as under:

a) Agriculture and Allied Activities; Finance to

agriculture shall include short, medium and long term

loans given for agriculture and allied activities.

b) Micro & Small Enterprises; The micro and small

enterprises shall include small road and water transport

operators, small business, professional & self-

employed persons.

c) Micro Credit; Credit and other financial services and

products of amounts not exceeding Rs.50,000 per

borrower.

d) Education Loans; Loans and advances granted to only

individuals up to Rs.10 lakh for studies in India and

Rs.20 lakh for studies abroad.

e) Housing Loans; Loans up to Rs.25 lakh to individuals

for purchase/ construction of dwelling unit and loans

given for repairs to the damaged dwelling units of

families up to Rs.1 lakh in rural and semi-urban areas

and up to Rs.2 lakh in urban and metropolitan areas.

f) Loans to Self Help Groups (SHG) / Joint Liability

Groups (JLGs); Loans to SHGs / JLGs up to Rs. 50,000

would be considered as Micro Credit and hence treated

as priority Sector Advances.

9. Npa’s Of  Schedulled Commercial Banks In India:

Due to the social banking motto, the problem of bad

loans did not receive priority from policy makers initially in

India. However, with the reform of the financial sector and

the adoption of international banking practices the issue of

NPAs received due focus. Since then the trends of overall

gross and net NPAs of scheduled commercial banks has

started decline. Gross NPAs are the sum total of all loan

assets that are classified as NPAs as per RBI guidelines as

on Balance Sheet date. Gross NPA reflects the quality of the

loans made by banks. It consists of all the nonstandard

assets like as sub-standard, doubtful, and loss assets. Net

NPAs are those type of NPAs in which the bank has

deducted the provision regarding NPAs. Net NPA shows

the actual burden of banks. Since in India, bank balance

sheets contain a huge amount of NPAs and the process of

recovery and write off of loans is very time consuming, the

provisions the banks have to make against the NPAs

according to the central bank guidelines, are quite

significant. Table 1 shows the gross and net NPAs of

scheduled commercial banks during study period.
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Table No: 1:  Overall Npa’s Of Schedulled Commercial Banks In India

 

Years Gross NPA’s Net NPA’s

Amount As A Percentage of 

Gross Amount

Amount As A Percentage 

of Net  Amount
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Source: Report on Trend and Progress of Banking in India 2002-11, Reserve Bank of India, India.

As per the above table, it has been absorbed that the

gross and net NPAs of scheduled commercial banks declined

during study period. In the year of 2000-2001, the gross

NPAs of scheduled commercial bank were 11.4 percent which

has declined sharply up to 2.4 percent in 2011. In the year of

2000-2001, the gross NPAs of scheduled commercial bank

were 6.2 percent which has decline sharply up to 1.0 percent

in 2011. This decreasing trend is due to the steps taken by

government of India, Reserve Bank of India and various

banking associations since reforms period.

10. NPA in Priority  and Non Priority Sector lending by

Scheduled Commercial Banks

One of the important issues raised in the case of the

NPAs of SCBs is that the directed lending policy followed

by the Government under social banking motto led to

increase in the level of NPAs. To confirm the above issue

the researcher has compared priority and non-priority sector

NPAs of scheduled commercial banks. The table no. 2 shows

that the priority and non priority sector NPAs of scheduled

commercial banks from 2003 to 2012.

Table No. 2: Priority Sector and Non Priority Sector NPA by Commercial Banks (%)
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Source : Trends and Progress of Commercial Banks in India, Verious Issues

As per the above table, it has been observed that the

first two year of study period, the priority sector NPAs was

less as compared with non priority sector lending. During

2003-04 the share of NPAs in the priority sector to total

NPAs of commercial banks was 43.5 percent and share of

NPAs in the non priority sector to total NPAs of commercial

banks was 56.5 percent. In the year of 2004-05, the share of

priority sector NPAs to total NPAs of commercial banks

increased up to 45.5 percent and decreased in non priority

sector up to 54.5 percent.

It has also been observed that during 2005-2006 to

2007-2008, the proportion of NPAs in priority sector lending

has increased as compared to non priority sector lending.

This was mainly due to increase in NPAs in the agriculture

sector, while NPAs in the SSI sector declined.
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After 2007-2008, the table shows that the NPAs of

priority sector lending declined and which of non-priority

sector lending rose. The decline trends of NPAs in priority

sector lending was contributed by the agricultural sector,

partly reflecting the effect of the debt waiver scheme for

farmers announced by the Central Government in 2007. The

sharp rise in NPAs of non-priority sector was reflective of

the slowdown in the economy and stressed financial

conditions of corporate.

During 2011-12, total priority sector NPAs increased

at a significantly higher rate than the growth rate of credit to

the priority sector. However, the share of the priority sector

in total NPAs declined compared with the previous year.

Among bank groups, proportion of priority sector in total

NPAs was higher for public sector banks.

11. Total Priority Sector Npa’s Of Scheduled Commercial

Banks In India

The sector-wise analysis in priority sector NPAs of

scheduled commercial banks includes agriculture sector,

micro and small sector and other sectors. Table no 3 shows

the total priority sector NPAs of scheduled commercial

banks in India from 2004-2005 to 2011-12.

Table 3: Total Priority Sector NPAs by Scheduled Commercial Banks (%)

Years Agriculture Micro and Small sector Others Total

2004-2005 13.7 15.6 16.0 45.3

2005-2006 13.6 15.7 20.8 50.1

2006-2007 15.5 13.5 25.0 54.0

2007-2008 18.5 12.2 23.7 54.4

2008-2009 11.7 12.6 21.6 45.9

2009-2010 13.9 17.0 16.9 47.8

2010-2011 18.7 17.6 15.5 51.8

2011-2012 19.0 14.9 13.0 46.9

Source: Report on Trend and Progress of Banking in India 2002-11, Reserve Bank of India, India

As per the above table, in 2004-2005, the NPAs in

priority sector added up a large proportion 45.3 percent in

which agriculture sector NPAs are 13.7 percent, micro and

small sector NPAs are 15.6 and other sector NPAs are 16

percent. The sectoral distribution of NPAs showed a

growing proportion of priority sector NPAs between 2006

and 2008. Priority sector NPAs, which constituted little over

half of the total NPAs of domestic banks up to 2006, had

shown a rise in 2007 and 2008.

The sectoral distribution of NPAs showed a growing

proportion of priority sector NPAs between 2009 and 2010

but it was less as compared to the previous year. Priority

sector NPAs, which constituted little over half of the total

NPAs of domestic banks up to 2008, had shown a steep

decline in 2009 attributable primarily to the Agricultural Debt

Waiver and Debt Relief Scheme of 2008. Between 2009 and

2010, however, the share of priority sector NPAs in general,

and small scale industries in particular, went up for domestic

banks, partly a reflection of the impact of the financial crisis

and the economic slowdown that had set in thereafter.

The sectoral classification of NPAs revealed that,

during 2011-12, the share of agriculture in total NPAs

increased marginally. However, despite the subdued

industrial performance, the share of micro and small

enterprises in total NPAs of the banking sector came down

as compared with the previous year

12. Priority Sector and Non Priority Sector NPA’s in

Public Sector Banks

Priority sector was regarded as a “People Sector” by

policymakers, regulators and banks till 1990. It was one of

the prime objectives of nationalization of commercial banks

in India. The Public Sector Banks has played a prominent

role in Priority Sector Lending. The NPAs of Priority Sector

Lending by the Public Sector Banks is increasing year by

year. Table no. 4 shows the priority and non priority sector

NPAs of public sector banks since 2002-2003.
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Table 4: Composition of NPAS of  Public Sector Banks  2003 to 2012

                                                                                                           (Amount in Billions)

Years Priority sector Non priority sector

Amount NPA Percentage Share Amount NPA Percentage Share

2002-2003 249.39 47.23 267.81 50.77

2003-2004 238.41 47.54 256.98 52.46

2004-2005 233.97 49.05 238.49 50.95

2005-2006 223.74 54.07 180.72 45.93

2006-2007 229.54 59.46 148.61 40.54

2007-2008 252.87 63.86 140.15 36.14

2008-2009 241.68 55.20 193.94 44.80

2009-2010 308.46 53.80 259.23 46.20

2020-2011 412.88 58.10 295.14 41.90

2011-2012 562.01 49.96 552.46 49.04

Source: Report on Trend and Progress of Banking in India 2002-11, Reserve Bank of India, India.

Table 4, reveals the NPAs in priority and non-priority

sector by public sector bank groups. It clearly indicates

that NPAs in priority sector were more in public sector banks

when compared to private and foreign banks. This is because

advances by public sector banks to the priority sector were

high. In the case of public sector banks, first four years of

the study period NPAs in non-priority sector were more

than priority sector. From the year 2005-06 onwards NPAs

in priority sector were more than non-priority sector. This is

due to poor recovery of agricultural advances, which

constitutes the major portion of priority sector advances.

13. Causes of NPAs in Scheduled Commercial Banking in

India

The banking sector has been facing the serious

problems of the rising NPAs. In fact PSBs are facing more

problems than the private sector banks and foreign banks.

The problem of NPAs is related to several internal and

external factors confronting the borrowers (Muniappan,

2002). The internal factors are diversion of funds for

expansion/diversification/modernisation, taking up new

projects, helping/promoting associate concerns, time/cost

overruns during the project implementation stage, business

(product, marketing, etc.) failure, inefficient management,

strained labour relations, inappropriate technology/technical

problems, product obsolescence, etc., while external factors

are recession, non-payment in other countries, inputs/power

shortage, price escalation, accidents and natural calamities.

14. Policy measures to reduce NPA

In order to bring the problem of NPAs under control,

the government of India constituted many committees such

as Shri Tiwari Committee (1981), Narasimham Committee

(1991), and Andhyarujina Committee (1999) to examine the

way and means of recovery of NPAs. Based on Tiwari and

Narasimham committee recommendation, the government

of India and RBI had taken various measures which include

the formation of Debt Recovery Tribunals (DRTs), Lok

Adalats (People Forum), Asset Reconstruction Companies

(ARCs), Corporate Debt Restructuring (CDR). Settlement

Advisory Committees have also been formed at Regional

and Head office levels of commercial banks. The

Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and

Enforcement of Security Interest Act, 2002 was passed by

Parliament, which is an important step towards elimination

or reduction of NPAs.

15. Suggestive Measures

To speed up the process of recovery of NPAs of

scheduled commercial banks, some suggestive measures

have given which are as follows;

1. The bank should provide proper training to the bank

officials in the art of lending to the different categories

of priority sector and non priority sector lending.
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2. Bank should possess specialized credit rating agency

to finalize the borrowing capacity of the potential

borrowers before offering credit facility.

3. Steps need to be taken to recover the loans in time by

adopting new recovery mechanism. Creation of a

separate NPAs recovery department for each category

of priority sector to recover the loans in time.

4. Banks may enter into compromise proposals with the

chronic defaulters especially when adequate security

is not available and accounts have been bad due to

extend factors.

5. By enlarging the role of NABARD and SIDBI in

monitoring credit offered by SCBs in the area of

agriculture and micro and small industry respectively

may reduce the growth of NPAs to certain extent.

6. NABARD and SIDBI may jointly set up specialized

institutions exclusively to monitor the lending and

recovery of priority sector advances SCB.

16. Concluding Observation

The problem of NPAs is a live danger to the Indian

Scheduled Commercial Banks, because it destroys the

healthy financial conditions of them. The people would not

keep trust on the banks any more if the banks have higher

NPAs. So, the problem of NPAs must be handled in such a

manner that would not ruin the financial conditions and

affect the image of the SCBs. The RBI and the Government

of India have taken number steps to reduce NPAs of the

SCBs. The remedial measures taken by Government of India,

Reserve Bank of India and Bank management in recent years,

helped to reduce NPAs below 3% of total advances (average

2.5%) as recommended by Shri M. Narasimham.

It has been observed that the overall NPAs of

scheduled commercial bank declined since post reforms

period. As per analysis, researcher found that in percentage

wise there is no significant difference between NPAs of

priority sector and non priority sector lending by scheduled

commercial banks but quantity wise non priority sector

NPAs may higher. It is a matter of future study on this issue.
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Abstract : Indian economy adopted the New Economic Policy in early 1990s. It started allowing foreign investment in huge

proportions. Indian economy became a favored destination of foreign capital flows. The financial sector also underwent

sweeping changes in early 1990s following the financial sector reforms undertaken as suggested by the Narasimhan Committee

report. Indian banking sector got transformed from a restrictive business model to a very dynamic sector. Although Indian

banking sector had presence of foreign banks even before 1990s, the new policy gave more freedom for the foreign banks to

perform in Indian economy. They bought with them better technology and human resource management skills. This improved

the overall efficiency of Indian banking sector. This study is an attempt to estimate the efficiency gain of Indian banking sector

from the entry of foreign banks. The efficiency scores are calculated using DEA model. Further a Tobit model is used to find

the causes for inefficiency among Indian banks.
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Introduction

In many developing countries inefficient domestic

banks and a lack of competition among lenders result in

high borrowing costs and limited financial access for many

firms. More developed countries, such as the US, Japan,

and those in the European community, argue that

developing countries should allow foreign banks to enter

into their economies. The entry of foreign banks would

increase the competition and would lead to a banking system

showing high level of efficiency.

During the 1990s, long-standing barriers to foreign

participation in banking fell dramatically in many developing

economies, particularly in the middle-income countries of

Latin America, East Asia, and Central and Eastern Europe.

These countries now allow foreign entry not only through

new branches and subsidiaries (also known as de novo

entry), but also through the acquisition of existing domestic

banks. As a result, foreign capital has rushed into these

countries, usually through the acquisition of existing

domestic banks by foreign investors. The value of financial

sector FDI in developing countries ballooned from $2.5 billion

in 1991–95 to $51.5 billion in 1996–2000 and to $67.5 billion

in 2001–5.

To be sure, the extent of opening and the volumes of

banking sector FDI inflows have varied from region to region,

as the graph below shows. Foreign participation, measured

as the percentage of total banking assets owned by foreign-

controlled banks, grew the most in Eastern Europe, with the

notable exception of Russia. In Latin America, foreign

participation increased from an average of 7 percent in 1990

to 47 percent a decade later. Opening was slower in

developing Asia, where foreign participation levels stood at

12 percent in 2002. However, this number understates levels

of foreign participation in the region because it shows only

the asset shares held by foreign banks but not foreign

nonbank firms, such as hedge funds and private equity firms.

These nonbank firms have been particularly active in East

Asia, acquiring troubled banks in the hope of restoring them

to profitability.

There were varied reasons for the opening of banking

sector to foreign players in these countries. Some

governments opened their banking markets in the hope that

foreign buyers would participate in the privatization of state-

owned banks and help push up prices. Others did so in

exchange for trade concessions at multilateral trade

negotiations or to comply with accession requirements of

the WTO. However, the single most important factor behind

the opening in East Asia and Latin America was banking

shocks. In a wide range of major emerging economies—

from South Korea and Indonesia to Mexico and Brazil the

need to recapitalize crisis-afflicted banking sectors and

sometimes to comply with IMF conditionality led to

extensive banking sector opening in key emerging

economies. In Central and Eastern Europe, pressure to satisfy

European Union accession requirements appears to have

been the decisive factor.
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Until the beginning of 1990s Indian financial sector

could be considered as a classic example of financial

repression in the definition of MacKinnon and Shaw. Indian

financial sector was characterized by administered interest

rates, large pre-emption of resources by the authorities and

extensive micro-regulations directing the major portion of

the flow of funds to and from financial intermediaries.

Compartmentalisation of activities of different types of

financial intermediaries eliminated the scope for competition

among existing financial intermediaries. In addition, strong

entry barriers thwarted competition from new entrants. The

end result was low levels of competition, efficiency and

productivity in the financial sector, on the one hand, and

severe credit constraints for the productive entities, on the

other, especially for those in the private sector. The other

major drawback of this regime was the scant attention that

was placed on the financial health of the intermediaries.

Their capitalization levels were low. The lack of commercial

considerations in credit planning and weak recovery culture

resulted in large accumulation of non-performing loans. This

had no impact on the confidence of depositors, however,

because of government ownership of banks and financial

intermediaries.

Starting from such a position, it is widely recognized

that the Indian financial sector over the last two decades

has been transformed into a reasonably sophisticated,

diverse and resilient system. However, this transformation

has been the culmination of extensive, well-sequenced and

coordinated policy measures aimed at making the Indian

financial sector efficient, competitive and stable.

At the end of June 1991, there were 24 Foreign Banks

operating in India with a branch network of 140. At the end

of March 2009 it stood at 295 branches. It is learned that

under W.T.O (World Trade Organisation) agreement,

minimum of 12 licenses every year has to be issued to Foreign

Banks or their branches (Batcha, 2002). This will lead to fast

spread of Foreign Banks operations in the country. Gradually

these banks are spreading their branches to suburbs of

metros and to the commercially important semi – urban

centres. This policy may have number of long – term

implications on the Indian Banking scenario. At the end of

June 1991, there were 24 Foreign Banks operating in India

with a branch network of 140. At the end of March 2009 it

stood with 295 branches. It is learned that under W.T.O

(World Trade Organisation) agreement, minimum of 12

licenses every year has to be issued to foreign banks or

their branches (Batcha, 2002). This will lead to fast spread

of Foreign Banks operations in the country. Gradually these

banks are spreading their branches to suburbs of metros

and to the commercially important semi – urban centres.

This policy may have number of long – term implications on

the Indian Banking scenario.

When deciding on the FDI policy in the banking sector

the home country policy makers have to deal with four policy

questions.

1. Impact on bank performance and governance

2. Impact on lending patterns

3. Impact on financial stability

4. Impact on capitalization

Indian banking sector allowed foreign entry through

the establishment of new branches or subsidiary and not

through the mergers and acquisition channel. Former studies

have shown that the impact of foreign entry on the

competitive nature of banking sector is more through de

novo than when they are acquiring control of domestic

banks. Indian banking sector have shown remarkable

progress in the post reform period.

Subsequently with reforms there is a growing talk of

profitability in place of equity. There appears to be a shift in

emphasis from equity in banking services to profitability. It

is important to mention here that strong and efficient banking

is no doubt identified with the profits and prima-facie it

sounds logical too, but it should not in any case become

the be – all and end all. It is possible for banks to make,

profits through policy diktat in single activity lending, and

show good results (Narasimham, 1994). There cannot be

two opinions that banks should be efficient enough to earn

profits that enable them to sustain themselves. But at the

same time in developing economies role of banks in

achievement of socio – economic objectives, i.e., generation

of employment and eradication of poverty should also not

be undermined.

The present study is aimed at analysing the impact of

financial sector liberalization on the efficiency of Indian

banking sector
1

. The literature on the efficiency studies of

banking sector have increased tremendously in recent times.

Berger and Humphrey (1997) give a detailed account of the

efficiency studies undertaken and the various techniques

used. In the efficiency study the institutions that perform

better are separated from the ones that perform poorly. These

could be done using a parametric or a non-parametric

technique. Parametric approach includes techniques such

as Stochastic Frontier Analysis, the Free Disposal Hull,

Thick Frontier and the Distribution Free Approaches. The

non-parametric approach is the Data Envelopment Analysis

(DEA). Recent literature suggests that this technique is

1

 Analysis is conducted on scheduled commercial banks. Regional Rural Banks are not considered in the analysis as their business model

is different from the main stream banks. So, the analysis is on the banking groups of public sector banks (State bank and its associate

banks + Nationalised banks), Indian private banks (Old private banks + New private banks) and Foreign banks.
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robust and widely used for the efficiency studies. The

parametric approach usually involves econometric

estimation of a pre-determined stochastic production

function. But in the case of Data Envelopment Analysis a

pre-determined functional form is not required for the frontier.

In this case the frontier is constructed through a piecewise

linear combination of the actual input-output observation

set that envelopes the data of all the firms in the sample.

Due to this advantage, DEA efficiency measure is not

bothered of the misspecification of the functional form
2

.

Further, a Tobit regression model is used to evaluate

to give an explanation of the efficiency score. A Tobit model

is used due to the censored nature of the dependent variable

(efficiency score ranges between 0 and 1).

Banking Sector Reforms

Commercial banking constitutes the largest segment

of the Indian financial system. Despite the general approach

of the financial sector reform process to establish regulatory

convergence among institutions involved in broadly similar

activities, given the large systemic implications of the

commercial banks, many of the regulatory and supervisory

norms were initiated first for commercial banks and were

later extended to other types of financial intermediaries

After the nationalization of major banks in two waves,

starting in 1969, the Indian banking system became

predominantly government owned by the early 1990s.

Banking sector reform essentially consisted of a two-

pronged approach. While nudging the Indian banking

system to better health through the introduction of

international best practices in prudential regulation and

supervision early in the reform cycle, the idea was to increase

competition in the system gradually. The implementation

periods for such norms were, however,  chosen to suit the

Indian situation. Special emphasis was placed on building

up the risk management capabilities of the Indian banks.

Measures were also initiated to ensure flexibility, operational

autonomy and competition in the banking sector. Active

steps have been taken to improve the institutional

arrangements including the legal framework and

technological system within which the financial institutions

and markets operate. Keeping in view the crucial role of

effective supervision in the creation of an efficient and stable

banking system, the supervisory system has been revamped.

Unlike in other emerging market countries, many of

which had the presence of government owned banks and

financial institutions, banking reform has not involved large

scale privatization of such banks. The approach, instead,

first involved recapitalization of banks from government

resources to bring them up to appropriate capitalization

standards. In the second phase, instead of privatization,

increase in capitalization has been done through

diversification of ownership to private investors up to a

limit of 49 per cent, thereby keeping majority ownership and

control with the government. With such widening of

ownership most of these banks have been publicly listed;

this was designed to introduce greater market discipline in

bank management, and greater transparency through

enhanced disclosure norms. The phased introduction of

new private sector banks and expansion in the number of

foreign bank branches provided for new competition in the

Indian banking industry.

Data Envelopment Analysis

The theoretical development of DEA was initiated by

Farrell (1957), but the model was proposed by Charnes,

Cooper and Rhodes (1978), henceforth the CCR model. DEA

is a non-parametric technique used to construct empirical

production frontiers and it provides a comprehensive

evaluation of the homogenous organizations, processes or

decision-making units (DMUs)
3

. DMUs or in this case,

banks, typically perform the same function by using multiple

inputs to produce multiple outputs. One of the most

important features of DEA is its ability to manage the multiple

characteristics of a bank, which use several inputs and

outputs.

The DEA or CCR model allows each bank to adopt its

own set of weights, thus maximizes its own best possible

efficiency in comparison to the other banks. Under these

circumstances, the efficiency for a bank is determined as a

maximum of a ratio of outputs to weighted inputs. The

algebraic model for the CCR (input based) ratio form is as

follows:

The CCR Model

   

r = 1,......,s; i = 1,.....,m and j = 1,......,n  ————— (1)

where,

c = a specific bank to be evaluated

yrj = the amount of output r from bank j

xij = the amount of input i to bank j

ur = weight chosen for output r

vi = weight chosen for input i

n = number of banks

s = the number of outputs

2

 The main drawback for the DEA is that the measurement error and statistical noise are assumed to be non-existent. 
2

 A more detailed

reviews of the methodology is presented by Seiford and Thrall (1990)
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m = the number of inputs

The objective function defined by h
c

 aims to maximize

the ratio of weighted outputs to weighted inputs of the

bank under scrutiny. This is subject to the constraint that

any other bank in the sample cannot exceed unit efficiency

by using the same weights. It is important to note that these

weights are assumed to be unknown, but obtained through

optimization. Such optimization is performed separately for

each unit in order to compute the weights and the efficiency

measure h
c

.

The problem setting in (1) is a fractional program. This

can be converted into linear program (LP) form by restricting

the denominator of the objective function h
c

 to unity, and

adding this as a constraint to the problem. The LP version

of the fractional setting is shown here:

Primal

R = 1,…..,s; i = 1,…..,m and j = 1,…..,n ————— (2)

The maximizing LP setting assumes constant returns

to scale technologies. When the formulation constrains the

weighted sum of the inputs to unity as in (2), and maximizes

the outputs, this becomes an input-based efficiency

measurement.
4

 That means, given outputs, banks minimise

the use of inputs.

 One possible solution to the LP (the primal) in (2) is to

formulate a dual companion. By denoting the input weights

of bank c by è
c

 and the input and output weights of other

banks in the sample by ë
j

 the dual form of the maximizing

problem is formalized as follows:

Dual

j = 1,.....,n  ———————————————— (3)

The bank c is regarded as efficient if the è
c

is equal to

one and the slacks ( ) are zero. That is, if and

only if,

where the asterisk denotes optimal values of the

variables in the dual. It is important to note that these

conditions are also the conditions for Pareto efficiency.

When the bank is fully efficient, it is impossible to improve

its observed values of input or output without worsening

other input or output values. The bank is regarded as

inefficient if the è
c

 is less than one and/or positive slack

variables. For these inefficient banks, the optimal values of

ë
j

 construct a hypothetical bank, which is formed by the

subset of the efficient banks.

DEA efficiency scores are used as performance

indicators to determine whether the banks are operating in a

technically efficient way.

Banker, Charnes and Cooper (1984), suggested an

extension to the CCR model to account for variable returns

to scale. The constant return to scale efficiency score

estimated by the CCR model have the scale efficiency

measure and hence might be biased. The VRS assumption

allows us to calculate technical efficiency score devoid of

scale efficiency.

To allow for variable returns to scale, we need to add

the convexity condition to the weights  from CCR model.

i.e. to add the constraint

 ; to eqn (3)

Data and specification of variables

The focus of this exercise is on the scheduled

commercial banks in India. The sample is an unbalanced

panel of all scheduled commercial banks for the study period

1991-2009. There were additions and subtractions all along

4

 An alternative formulation constrains the sum of the weighted output to unity, and minimizes the inputs. This is an output-based

efficiency measurement.
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the study period as many new banks entered the industry

or many left during this period. The choice of variables is

very crucial in the study as they influence the outcome of

the study. In the case of banking sector the choice of inputs

and outputs has been a matter of debate all along. The

inclusion of deposits as an input or as bank generated output

is a debate still continuing.

Two approaches are widely used to define the bank

inputs and outputs. They are: - (i) production approach and

(ii) intermediation approaches. In the production approach,

banks are viewed as producers of loans and deposits

account services using available inputs. Under this

approach the outputs are measured by the number of

accounts services as opposed to the rupee value and interest

expenses are excluded from the total cost. Under the

intermediation approach banks are considered as

intermediaries between liability holders and those who

receive bank funds and output is measured by the rupee

value of earning assets of the bank with inputs being labour,

capital and deposits (De, 2004).

For the current study I chose the Intermediation

Approach to banks inputs and outputs. Most of the studies

undertaken in the Indian context have used intermediation

approach. (Das and Gosh, 2006, 2009; Debasish, 2006; Ray

2007)

Bank-wise data for all SCBs was collected from the

Statistical Tables Relating to Banks in India publication by

the Reserve Bank of India (RBI). The financial year

corresponds to first day of April of a particular year to the

last day of March the subsequent year. Year 1991

corresponds to 1990-91.

Table 1: List of inputs and outputs

Empirical Results

The Indian banking performance is examined in terms

of their ability to provide maximum outputs given the inputs.

The computations were using the DEAP 2.1 Program. The

technical efficiency score Indian banks are given in table 2.

Here constant returns to scare assumptions are used. From

the table one can see that the efficiency estimate for Indian

banks were always on a high until 2003, although reducing

a little bit. One significant exception is 2002 where the

efficiency score came down to 0.700. Incidentally this was

the same year when Indian banks were suffering from worst

effects of non-performing assets (NPAs) problem. Reserve

Bank of India introduced the Securitisation and

Reconstruction of Financial Assets and Enforcement of

Security Interest Act, 2002 (SARFAESI) to tackle the issue

of NPAs. This was a successful effort in bringing down the

NPA levels to international best practices standard, but many

banks which were having huge NPA overhangs were merged

with some other banks to make them competitive and

efficient.

Table 2: Average Technical Efficiency Scores 1991-2009

Year

No. of 

banks

No. of 

efficient 

banks

Average 

efficiency

Standard 

Deviation

(σ)

Minimum

1991 72 18 0.869 0.127 0.272

1992 73 19 0.916 0.076 0.702

1993 73 21 0.936 0.063 0.745

1994 73 10 0.766 0.14 0.41

1995 76 16 0.801 0.14 0.49

5

 Capital related operating expense include rent, taxes, lighting, printing and stationary, depreciation on bank property

repairs and maintenance, and insurance.
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1996 88 18 0.779 0.164 0.339

1997 89 16 0.762 0.175 0.27

1998 89 19 0.799 0.178 0.272

1999 88 22 0.829 0.154 0.473

2000 90 21 0.797 0.176 0.235

2001 89 15 0.799 0.154 0.383

2002 84 16 0.700 0.202 0.296

2003 82 15 0.776 0.191 0.155

2004 81 12 0.738 0.184 0.148

2005 78 11 0.567 0.216 0.121

2006 83 09 0.642 0.191 0.155

2007 82 10 0.621 0.204 0.08

2008 78 07 0.587 0.179 0.115

2009 77 09 0.558 0.215 0.085

Another important observation is that the efficiency score have decreased continuously. It is also seen that the

standard deviation have also increased over this period. This shows the difference in performance between the big banks

and smaller players in the industry. Indian banking sector is characterised by very huge players like State Bank of India, Bank

of Baroda, ICICI Bank etc. along with many foreign banks who operate with a single branch. In this calculation as constant

returns to scale assumptions were considered, the difference in size would be crucial in their efficiency score.

Table 3: Average Pure Technical Efficiency score of banks 1991-2009

Year No. of banks

No. of efficient 

banks

Average efficiency

Standard Deviation

(σ)

Minimum

1991 72 30 0.919 0.098 0.643

1992 73 34 0.959 0.057 0.708

1993 73 32 0.957 0.058 0.747

1994 73 38 0.913 0.119 0.598

1995 76 43 0.942 0.089 0.682

1996 88 49 0.927 0.111 0.584

1997 89 48 0.919 0.123 0.502

1998 89 41 0.903 0.133 0.410

1999 88 49 0.933 0.111 0.529

2000 90 50 0.933 0.110 0.479

2001 89 48 0.914 0.135 0.402

2002 84 25 0.745 0.209 0.319

2003 82 40 0.899 0.147 0.422

2004 81 44 0.914 0.132 0.455

2005 78 20 0.737 0.228 0.318

2006 83 31 0.796 0.196 0.367

2007 82 30 0.822 0.189 0.399

2008 78 31 0.849 0.166 0.387

2009 77 35 0.874 0.171 0.382
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Here, variable returns to scale assumptions are

assumed and average efficiency scores are calculated for

the full sample of scheduled commercial banks in India. One

can clearly see the difference here between this table and

the one above. There is a marked improvement in the

efficiency score as was expected. One can see a very high

decrease in efficiency for the year 2002. This is due to the

very high overhang of NPA that the banks were holding. By

the immediate reaction and efforts taken by the central bank

in this regard, the banks were able to restructure its balance

sheet and back to its efficient performance. It can be clearly

seen that the banks gained on efficiency in the post reform

period, although there was a slight decrease in start of 2000s,

it has started to show improving trend of efficiency. This

confirms the argument assuming, the entry of foreign banks

improves the efficiency of banking sector by incorporating

more competition and introducing better banking practices.

One can also see the increase in the number of efficient

banks when variable returns to scale was assumed. For the

year 2009, table 4 shows that 35 banks are efficient under

the variable returns to scale assumption, whereas only 9

banks were efficient under the constant returns to scale

assumption. This meant that the remaining 26 banks failed

to reach the CRS frontier due to the scale inefficiencies.

This reinforces the argument that scale inefficiency is a

serious issue for Indian banking industry.

Table 4: Average Scale Efficiency score of banks 1991-2009

Year No. of banks

No. of efficient 

banks

Average efficiency Standard deviation (σ) Minimum

1991 72 19 0.840 0.143 0.339

1992 73 22 0.946 0.096 0.272

1993 73 23 0.954 0.060 0.726

1994 73 09 0.976 0.032 0.850

1995 76 16 0.841 0.124 0.562

1996 88 19 0.850 0.125 0.537

1997 89 16 0.830 0.155 0.270

1998 89 19 0.885 0.144 0.272

1999 88 22 0.886 0.115 0.505

2000 90 21 0.853 0.152 0.235

2001 89 16 0.878 0.123 0.481

2002 84 18 0.945 0.102 0.431

2003 82 15 0.863 0.149 0.155

2004 81 12 0.806 0.157 0.148

2005 78 11 0.779 0.180 0.121

2006 83 09 0.816 0.153 0.155

2007 82 10 0.768 0.189 0.080

2008 78 07 0.704 0.184 0.115

2009 77 09 0.648 0.212 0.085

Scale efficiency = Technical Efficiency (CRS)/Pure

Technical Efficiency (VRS). It is clearly seen that here again

its validated that the scale inefficiency is a very important

area of concern for Indian banking industry.

From this analysis, it is evident that Indian banking

sector is still having inefficiency issues in its banking system

even after 20 years of its reform measures and have to find

ways to improve the numbers as inefficiency would increase

the banks’ costs and would make it difficult for them to be

competitive.

As was evident in the analysis above that scale

inefficiency is one of the major determinant of the overall

inefficiency score, the next table gives the inefficiency score

across different banking groups. This is important in the

Indian banking industry, as there is a huge size difference in

each banking group. The state bank group banks enjoy a

huge size advantage. The same is true about many of the

nationalised banks. Apart from few exceptions, most banks

in the private and foreign banking segment are very small in

terms of size and presence in the Indian banking industry.

So, an analysis of banks in its respective bank group is



109ISBN : 978-81-922741-2-6                                 Organised by Joshi-Bedekar College

crucial. Table 6 gives the efficiency score of banks in five

different banking groups. It can be clearly seen here that

the public sector banks comprising of both state banks group

and nationalised banks are performing on a higher efficiency

level when compared to the Indian private banks and foreign

banks. It is very clear that the foreign banks are the worst

performing group. After the liberalisation of banking system

in the 1990s, many foreign banks entered Indian banking

industry. Most of these banks were single branch banks

and are not yet successful in establishing a stable deposit

base, which is one of the reason for which they are having

a lower efficiency score. The business model of most of the

foreign banks in Indian banking industry is not of an

intermediation model. This could also be a reason for the

smaller efficiency score for foreign banks.

Table 5: Technical Efficiency score on bank groups 1991-2009

Year/Bank 

Group

State bank 

group

Nationalised 

banks

Old Indian 

private banks

New Indian 

private banks

Foreign banks

1991 1.000 0.979 0.976 - 0.870

1992 0.991 0.974 0.970 - 0.914

1993 0.993 0.967 0.971 - 0.850

1994 1.000 0.983 0.967 - 0.839

1995 1.000 0.985 0.971 - 0.864

1996 1.000 0.994 0.981 - 0.817

1997 0.998 0.982 0.981 0.996 0.817

1998 0.998 0.992 0..974 0.959 0.788

1999 0.994 0.978 0.975 0.999 0.864

2000 0.993 0.981 0.981 0.991 0.812

2001 0.991 0.982 0.974 1.000 0.834

2002 0.995 0.985 0.967 0.670 0.815

2003 0.997 0.995 0.987 0.895 0.782

2004 0.998 0.985 0.976 0.907 0.726

2005 1.000 0.746 0.977 0.957 0.694

2006 0.999 0.823 0.969 0.970 0.660

2007 0.993 0.873 0.987 0.964 0.608

2008 0.990 0.897 0.982 0.948 0.630

2009 1.000 0.948 0.985 0.966 0.628

One other explanation for a lower efficiency score of

foreign banks, especially in the 2000s could be because of

the growth of new Indian private banks. These are

technologically advanced banks, who can provides

customers with state of the art service, which is one of the

main business area for foreign banks in India. So, it could be

due this increased competition from the new Indian private

banks, that the foreign banks lost its competitive edge. The

inefficiency of foreign banks show that there is huge

potential for foreign banks in Indian banking sector.

Tobit Model

Having derived the measures of efficiency, we

concentrate on investigating the determinants of efficiency

for the Indian banks. Here we use a Tobit model. A commonly

held view in previous studies is that the use of Tobit model

can handle the characteristics of the distribution of efficiency

measures and thus provide results that can guide policies

to improve performance. DEA efficiency measures obtained

in the first stage are the dependent variable in the Tobit

model.
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Tobil model was first suggested in econometrics

literature by Tobin (1958). These models are also known as

truncated or censored regression models where expected

errors are not equal to zero. Therefore, estimation with an

Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression would lead to a

biased parameter estimate since OLS assumes a normal and

homoscedastic distribution of the disturbance and the

dependent variable (Maddala, 1983)

Many studies using DEA applications employ a two-

stage procedure involving both DEA and Tobit.

The standard Tobit model can be defined as follows

for observation (bank) i:

where,  x
i 

and � are vectors of

explanatory variables and unknown parameters, respectively.

The y
i

*

 is a latent variable and y
i

 is the DEA score.

Here, the variables considered to explain the technical

efficiency are bank size, profitability and capital adequacy

ratio. Size is measured in two ways, total assets measured in

Rs. Crore and the number of branches a bank operates. Bank

profitability is net operating income to total assets. The

capital adequacy ratio indicates the coverage of banks’

assets by owners’ funds. This variable is computed as the

ratio of shareholders’ equity and net income to total deposits

and non-deposits funds.

Table 6: Estimation result – Tobit Model

PSBs@ IPSBs# FBs

Constant -1.95* 0.368 0.733**

Number of 

Branches

-4.30E -

05**

7.47E-05* 0.0013*

Total Assets

4.39E -

08**

9.00E-08** 8.81E-08*

Profitability 10.942** 5.3376** 0.03

Capital 

Adequacy 

Ratio

-0.0998* 0.01 0.005

@includes both State Bank group banks and Nationalised

banks

#includes both old and new private sector banks

PSBs – Public sector banks; IPSBs – Indian-owned

private sector banks;FBs – Foreign-owned banks

Table 6 shows the result of Tobit estimation. It is

important to note that the dependent variable in the model

is the DEA efficiency score. A positive coefficient implies

an efficiency increase whereas a negative coefficient means

an association with an efficiency decline. The computations

were conducted in EViews7.

In the case of Public Sector Banks both bank size and

bank profitability have significant positive effects on

efficiency, indicating that the larger and more profitable

banks have higher technical efficiency. This supports the

previous explanation of efficiency score, where it was found

that the big banks are enjoying a higher efficiency estimate

when compared to the smaller ones. On the other hand, the

capital adequacy variable is significantly negatively related

to technical efficiency. This adverse effect on performance

may reflect a risk-return trade-off in the sector. Banks with

low-risk portfolios as measured by a higher capital adequacy

ratio are likely to be less efficient. This could be because

they rather prefer safer and low-earning portfolios over riskier

but high-earning portfolios. The negative coefficient value

for number of branches shows that expansion of branch

networks to direct services to rural areas may have increased

costs and thus have affected efficiency negatively.

In the case of Indian Private Sector Banks, an

interesting observation is the positive sign for branches.

This shows that these improved its efficiency score with

more number of branches showing a good and efficient

branching policy for them. This could also be for the fact

that they open most of their branches in the urban areas

and not much in the rural areas as done by the public sector

banks. This shows that the banking policy of most of the

new private sector banks who doesn’t want to improve on

the branch banking system as they feel those are increasing

on their expenditure might not be true. They still have a

positive incentive on opening more branches. Private Banks

also show a positive association with its size. So, there is

definitely more to gain and contribute by private banks to

Indian banking industry by expanding itself both in terms

of its size in terms of assets and its branch network.

In the case of foreign banks again we could see a

positive coefficient for branches showing that they improve

their efficiency with increase in branch network. This is also

a good sign in terms of the banking policies for the foreign

banks in India, as it gives a positive addition to its efficiency

by increasing the branch network. One could take the example

of bigger foreign banks in India like the Citibank or Standard

Chartered bank to prove this point that, the banks could

improve on its efficiency by having a bigger branch network

and reaching out to more customers with a wider range of

products.
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Conclusion

This study shows that liberalization of banking sector

in India resulted in an improvement in the efficiency of banks.

The presence of foreign banks was a positive influence on

the other banks operating in the industry. Although it

resulted in higher efficiency for public sector banks, the

efficiency of foreign banks failed to show a good profile.

The analysis reveals that the size of operation of foreign

banks is not appropriate. This confirms that branch banking

system serves well in the Indian context. This is proved by

the fact that the bigger and wide spread public sector banks

were showing greater efficiency when compared to the

technologically advanced foreign and private banks

operating in the Indian banking sector. The entry of foreign

banks into Indian banking sector resulted in transforming

the Indian banking sector from a sleepy business entity to a

dynamic system. Tobit analysis for the Indian-owned private

banks and Foreign-owned private banks shows that

branches are having a positive effect on efficiency. This is

an indication that the private banks could increase their

efficiency by increasing their share in the Indian banking

industry by opening more branches.
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    ABSTRACT : Business profile of banks in India has been undergoing a drastic change. Forces of globalization, liberalization

of interest rate regime, autonomy to banks and partial privatization of Public Sector Banks have changed the traditional

benchmarks of banking. Profitability and transparent banking are hallmarks of today’s banking. Technology in banks is playing

an increasingly critical role to improve operational efficiency and managerial effectiveness. The changes in international

economic scenario have given birth to a new banking milieu in the country. Consequent, new challenges have surfaced for the

Indian banking as well as new opportunities have opened up for it. To compete in an economy which is opening up, it is

imperative for the Indian Banks to observe the latest technology and modify it to suit their environment. Indian banks should

increase their global footprint opportunistically even if they do not get to the top of the league table. But overseas operations

is one thing and competing against the global players in the international market is quite another. And Indian banks have a lot

of catching up to do before they can emerge as truly global players. The Indian banking sector has taken several steps in the

right direction, but much more needs to be done to ascend to commanding heights. The emerging economic environment

provides a number of opportunities for the Indian banking sector. Factors like expected positive economic performance, strong

savings growth, emphasis on expansion of physical infrastructure and the extent of financial exclusion to be bridged will ensure

growth of the banking sector in medium term. To exploit emerging opportunities and to benefit from their strengths, Indian

banks need to be globally competitive. From a strategic perspective, competitiveness can be achieved by balancing factors

such as scale, scope, prudence and knowledge.

1. Introduction

 Across the globe, the banking system is changing

very fast. In India too, onset of the financial sector reforms

has resulted in enormous developments in the banking

industry. It is exactly in this context that the relevant issue

has been addressed in the present paper. The past year

witnessed a lot of turmoil in the Indian banking industry

owing to the global financial crisis. The changes in

international economic scenario have forced the Indian

policy makers to undertake financial sector reforms which

have given birth to a new banking milieu in the country.

Consequent upon this, new challenges have surfaced for

the Indian banking as well as new opportunities have opened

up for it. It is up to the banks to leverage the opportunities

to meet the challenges to the best of their abilities.

In this paper an attempt has been made to make a

prognosis of these challenges and opportunities in the

coming years and suggest some strategies which will help

these institutions to survive and thrive in the new economic

environment.

With the adoption of new economic policies at the

global and the national level, the banking has undergone a

sea of change not only in its basic philosophy, structure

and working but also in its long and short term objectives

committed to the planned economic development of the

country and welfare of people . Changes have been fast and

swift and the Indian banking industry, has adopted itself

appreciably to the fast changing environment. Banks today

operate in a buyers’ market and not in sellers’ market as was

the case a decade ago.

2. Information Technology in Banking

The Banking sector has been immensely benefited from

the implementation of superior technology during the recent

past, almost in every nation in the world. Productivity

enhancement, innovative products, speedy transactions,

seamless transfer of funds, real time information system,

and efficient risk management are some of the advantages

derived through the technology. Information technology

(IT) has also improved the efficiency and robustness of

business processes across banking sector.

India’s banking sector has made rapid strides in

reforming and aligning itself to the new competitive

business environment. Indian banking industry is the midst

of an IT revolution. Technological infrastructure has become

an indispensable part of the reforms process in the banking

system, with the gradual development of sophisticated

instruments and innovations in market practices.

A combination of regulatory and competitive reasons

has led to increasing importance of total banking automation

in the Indian Banking Industry. Information Technology has

basically been used under two different avenues in Banking.

One is Communication and Connectivity and other is

Business Process Reengineering. Information technology

enables sophisticated product development, better market

infrastructure, implementation of reliable techniques for

control of risks and helps the financial intermediaries to

reach geographically distant and diversified markets.

The bank, which used the right technology to supply

timely information will see productivity increase and thereby

gain a competitive edge. To compete in an economy which
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is opening up, it is imperative for the Indian Banks to observe

the latest technology and modify it to suit their environment.

Information technology offers a chance for banks to build

new systems that address a wide range of customer needs

including many that may not be imaginable today. Following

are the innovative services offered by the banking industry:

Electronic Payment Services – E Cheques: Nowadays

we are hearing about e-governance, e-mail, e-commerce etc.

In the same manner, a new technology is being developed

in US (United States) for introduction of e-cheque

(Electronic- cheque), which will eventually replace the

conventional paper cheque. India, as harbinger to the

introduction of e-cheque, the Negotiable Instruments Act

has already been amended to include; Truncated cheque

and E-cheque instruments.

Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS): Real Time Gross

Settlement system, introduced in India since March 2004, is

a system through which electronics instructions can be

given by banks to transfer funds from their account to the

account of another bank. The RTGS system is maintained

and operated by the RBI and provides a means of efficient

and faster funds transfer among banks facilitating their

financial operations. As the name suggests, funds transfer

between banks takes place on a ‘Real Time’ basis. Therefore,

money can reach the beneficiary instantaneously and the

beneficiary’s bank has the responsibility to credit the

beneficiary’s account within two hours.

Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT): Electronic Funds

Transfer (EFT) is a system whereby anyone who wants to

make payment to another person/company etc. can

approach his bank and make cash payment or give

instructions/authorization to transfer funds directly from

his own account to the bank account of the receiver/

beneficiary. Complete details such as the receiver’s name,

bank account number, account type (savings or current

account), bank name, city, branch name etc. should be

furnished to the bank at the time of requesting for such

transfers so that the amount reaches the beneficiaries’

account correctly and faster. RBI is the service provider of

EFT.

Electronic Clearing Service (ECS): Electronic Clearing

Service is a retail payment system that can be used to make

bulk payments/receipts of a similar nature especially where

each individual payment is of a repetitive nature and of

relatively smaller amount. This facility is meant for

companies and government departments to make/receive

large volumes of payments rather than for funds transfers

by individuals.

Automated Teller Machine (ATM): Automated Teller

Machine is the most popular device in India, which enables

the customers to withdraw their money 24 hours a day 7

days a week. It is a device that allows customer who has an

ATM card to perform routine banking transactions without

interacting with a human teller. In addition to cash withdrawal,

ATMs can be used for payment of utility bills, funds transfer

between accounts, deposit of cheques and cash into

accounts, balance enquiry etc.

Point of Sale Terminal: Point of Sale Terminal is a

computer terminal that is linked online to the computerized

customer information files in a bank and magnetically

encoded plastic transaction card that identifies the customer

to the computer. During a transaction, the customer’s

account is debited and the retailer’s account is credited by

the computer for the amount of purchase.

Tele Banking: Tele Banking facilitates the customer

to do entire non-cash related banking on telephone. Under

this device Automatic Voice Recorder is used for simpler

queries and transactions. For complicated queries and

transactions, manned phone terminals are used.

Electronic Data Interchange (EDI): Electronic Data

Interchange is the electronic exchange of business

documents like purchase order, invoices, shipping notices,

receiving advices etc. in a standard, computer processed,

universally accepted format between trading partners. EDI

can also be used to transmit financial information and

payments in electronic form.

The banks have quickly responded to the changes in

the industry; especially the new generation banks. The

continuance of the trend has re-defined and re-engineered

the banking operations as whole with more customization

through leveraging technology. As technology makes

banking convenient, customers can access banking services

and do banking transactions any time and from anywhere.

The importance of physical branches is going down.

3. Challenges and Opportunities: It is becoming

increasingly imperative for banks to assess and ascertain

the benefits of technology implementation. The fruits of

technology will certainly taste a lot sweeter when the returns

can be measured in absolute terms but it needs precautions

and the safety nets.

It has not been a smooth sailing for banks keen to

jump onto the IT bandwagon. There have been impediments

in the path like the obduracy once shown by trade unions

who felt that IT could turn out to be a threat to secure

employment. Further, the expansion of banks into remote

nooks and corners of the country, where logistics continues

to be a handicap, proved to be another stumbling stock.

Another challenge the banks have had to face concerns the

inability of banks to retain the trained and talented personnel,

especially those with a good knowledge of IT.

The increasing use of technology in banks has also

brought up ‘security’ concerns. To avoid any pitfalls or

mishaps on this account, banks ought to have in place a
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well-documented security policy including network security

and internal security. The passing of the Information

Technology Act has come as a boon to the banking sector,

and banks should now ensure to abide strictly by its

covenants.

Technology has made tremendous impact in banking.

‘Anywhere banking’ and ‘Anytime banking’ have become a

reality. Technology has also thrown new challenges in the

banking sector and new issues have started cropping up

which is going to pose certain problems in the near future.

The new entrants in the banking are with computer

background. However, over a period of time they would

acquire banking experience. Whereas the middle and senior

level people have rich banking experience but their computer

literacy is at a low level. Therefore, they feel the handicap in

this regard since technology has become an indispensable

tool in banking. Foreign banks and the new private sector

banks have embraced technology right from the inception

of their operations and therefore, they have adapted

themselves to the changes in the technology easily. Whereas

the Public Sector Banks (PSBs) and the old private sector

banks (barring a very few of them) have not been able to

keep pace with these developments.

Growing integration of economies and the markets

around the world is making global banking a reality. The

surge in globalization of finance has also gained momentum

with the technological advancements, which have effectively

overcome the national borders in the financial services

business. Widespread use of Internet banking has widened

frontiers of global banking, and it is now possible to market

financial products and services on a global basis. In the

coming years globalization would spread further on account

of the likely opening up of financial services under WTO

(World Trade Organization).

The financial sector now operates in a more

competitive environment than before and intermediates

relatively large volume of international financial flows. In

the wake of greater financial deregulation and global

financial integration, the biggest challenge before the

regulators is of avoiding instability in the financial system.

Many big banks operating in the market have made use of

the changed regulations (viz., change in Cash Reserve Ratio

and interest rate) to provide better options to potential and

new customers. Adoption of new practices to cater to the

demanding economy situation has enabled the banks to

meet the changing customer requirements. Compared to

other regional banks, over the last few years, Indian banks

have performed favorably on growth, asset quality and

profitability.

Should Indian Banks increase their Global Footprint  for

Economic  Development?

On this current issue, most people who put forward

their view have not thought through the costs and benefits

analytically; they only see this as an aspiration consistent

with India’s growing international profile.

The Narasimham (II) Committee envisaged a three tier

structure for the Indian banking sector: 3 or 4 large banks

having an international presence on the top, 8-10 mid-sized

banks, with a network of branches throughout the country

and engaged in universal banking, in the middle, and local

banks and regional rural banks operating in smaller regions

forming the bottom layer. However, the Indian banking

system has not consolidated in the manner envisioned by

the Narasimham Committee. The current structure is that

India has 81scheduled commercial banks of which 26 are

public sector banks, 21 are private sector banks and 34 are

foreign banks. Even a quick review would reveal that there

is no segmentation in the banking structure along the lines

of  Narasimham II.

A natural sequel to this issue of the envisaged structure

of the Indian banking system is the Reserve Bank’s position

on bank consolidation. Our view on bank consolidation is

that the process should be market-driven, based on

profitability considerations and brought about through a

process of mergers & amalgamations (M&As). The initiative

for this has to come from the boards of the banks concerned

which have to make a decision based on a judgement of the

synergies involved in the business models and the

compatibility of the business cultures. The Reserve Bank’s

role in the reorganization of the banking system will normally

be only that of a facilitator.

It should be noted though that bank consolidation

through mergers is not always a totally benign option. On

the positive side are a higher exposure threshold,

international acceptance and recognition, improved risk

management and improvement in financials due to economies

of scale and scope. This can be achieved both through

organic and inorganic growth. On the negative side,

experience shows that consolidation would fail if there are

no synergies in the business models and there is no

compatibility in the business cultures and technology

platforms of the merging banks.

 Having given that broad brush position on bank

consolidation, let me define two specific questions: (i) can

Indian banks aspire to global size?; and (ii) should Indian

banks aspire to global size?

On the first question, as per the current global league

tables based on the size of assets, our largest bank, the

State Bank of India (SBI), together with its subsidiaries,

comes in at No.74 followed by ICICI (Industrial Credit

Investment Corporation of India) Bank at No.145 and Bank

of Baroda at No. 188. It is, therefore, unlikely that any of our

banks will jump into the top ten of the global league even

after reasonable consolidation.
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Then arrives the next question of whether Indian banks

should become global. Opinion on this is divided. Those

who argue that we must go global contend that the issue is

not so much the size of our banks in global rankings but of

Indian banks having a strong enough global presence. The

main argument is that the increasing global size and

influence of Indian corporates warrant a corresponding

increase in the global footprint of Indian banks. The

opposing view is that Indian banks should look inwards

rather than outwards, focus their efforts on financial

deepening at home rather than aspiring to global size.

It is possible to take a middle path and argue that

looking outwards towards increased global presence and

looking inwards towards deeper financial penetration are

not mutually exclusive; it should be possible to aim for both.

With the onset of the global financial crisis, there has

definitely been a pause to the rapid expansion overseas of

our banks. Nevertheless, notwithstanding the risks involved,

it will be opportune for some of our larger banks to be looking

out for opportunities for consolidation both organically and

inorganically. They should look out more actively in regions

which hold out a promise of attractive acquisitions.

The banking sector is a key driver of inclusive growth.

There are supply side and demand side factors driving

inclusive growth. Banks and other financial services players

largely are expected to mitigate the supply side processes

that prevent poor and disadvantaged social groups from

gaining access to the financial system. Banks were advised

to ensure close and continuous monitoring of Business

Correspondents (BCs). They were also advised to focus, in

future, on opening of some form of low cost brick and mortar

branches between the base branch and BC locations.

Further, banks were required to make efforts to increase the

number of transactions in no-frill accounts.

In services the long term, however, the most significant

task of the Indian banking sector is to ensure that banking

products and are made available to every individual in the

country efficiently to achieve total financial inclusion. Going

forward, filling the void called ‘financial exclusion’ is the

critical responsibility of banks. Despite all the challenges

and issues to be addressed, the banking sector in India can

look forward to enormous opportunities in their quest for

long term growth. The banking sector needs to focus on

growth through inclusion, innovation and diversification

while complying with domestic regulations and internalizing

international best practices.

Banks play a crucial role in economic development.

For the local community, banks provide access to funding

and financial services to both local business and citizens,

as well as the money banks invest back into the community

through employee payroll, business investments, and taxes.

On a larger scale, national banks offer similar access to credit

and financial services to larger businesses, local

governments, and in some cases international customers.

Investments made by national banks are spread widely

across the nation, therefore influencing economical

development across an entire country or geographic region.

The specific role of banks in economic development

varies, depending on scope. Primarily, the participation of

banks in economic development focus around providing

credit and services to generate revenues, which are then

invested back into a local, national, or international

community. The specific roles banks play in the economic

development of a small community differ from the role banks

play in national or international economic development.

Although the role can vary, factors such as access to credit

and bank investment policies or practices remain constant,

no matter the scope of economic development.

International banking influences economic

development on a grand scale. A bank that does business

internationally plays a much different role than local or

national banks in economic development. Providing loans

and other financial services to entire countries and national

governments gives such banks sweeping influence over

the economic growth of a particular country or region. Both

positive and negative effects are realized, depending on the

actions of international banks toward governments.

To summarize, therefore, is that Indian banks should

increase their global footprint opportunistically even if they

do not get to the top of the league table.

4. Future Outlook : Everyone today is convinced

that the technology is going to hold the key to future of

banking. The achievements in the banking today would not

have make possible without IT revolution. Therefore, the

key point is while changing to the current environment the

banks has to understand properly the trigger for change

and accordingly find out the suitable departure point for

the change. Although, the adoption of technology in banks

continues at a rapid pace, the concentration is perceptibly

more in the metros and urban areas. The benefit of

Information Technology is yet to percolate sufficiently to

the common man living in his rural hamlet. More and more

programs and software in regional languages could be

introduced to attract more and more people from the rural

segments also.

As per Indian Banks’ Association report, there would

be greater presence of international players in Indian financial

system and some of the Indian banks would become global

players in the coming years.

Now against these lofty objectives of Indian banks

going global, let us see where we stand. Although, Indian

banks have also made their presence overseas, yet it is

limited. Only twenty Indian banks including private sector

banks appear in the list of “Top 1000 World Banks” as listed
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by the London based magazine “The Banker”. Size is

increasingly becoming important for the global banks, as it

is crucial to improved efficiency. However, India’s largest

bank, SBI is not even a 10th in size of the 9th largest bank,

Sumitomo Mitsui, which has assets of $950 billion as against

SBI’s assets of $91 billion.

Therefore, the notion that SBI or ICICI Bank can

compete in the international arena seems far-fetched at the

moment. The problem is not just one of lacking the necessary

size; few Indian banks have the necessary products or

human resource capabilities. If anything, the norms of Basel

III have raised the bar for Indian banks seeking an

international presence. The top international banks can

lower their capital requirements through the use of

sophisticated risk management techniques and thus

compete more aggressively than before. Indian banking

sector has already implemented internationally followed

prudential accounting norms for classification of assets,

income recognition and loan loss provisioning. The scope

of disclosure and transparency has also been raised in

accordance with international practices. India has complied

with almost all the Core Principles of Effective Banking

Supervision of the Basel Committee. Some of the Indian

banks are also presenting their accounts as per the U.S.

GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles).

All these factors give Indian banks much needed

confidence for overseas operations. But overseas operations

is one thing and competing against the global players in the

international market is quite another. And Indian banks have

a lot of catching up to do before they can emerge as truly

global players. So, the new mantra for Indian banks is to go

global in search of new markets, customers and profits. Let

us not forget that the competition is not only on foreign turf

but also in the domestic field as well from foreign banks

operating in India.

5. Conclusion

The banking today is re-defined and re-engineered

with the use of Information Technology and it is sure that

the future of banking will offer more sophisticated services

to the customers with the continuous product and process

innovations. I have touched upon certain issues which are

critical for Indian banks to become globally competitive.

The Indian banking sector has taken several steps in the

right direction, but much more needs to be done to ascend

to commanding heights. A cautious approach towards

increasing efficiency within the framework of overall financial

stability can significantly contribute towards Indian banking

sector becoming a leading financial force in the world.

We are slowly but surely moving from a regime of

“large number of small banks” to “small number of large

banks.”
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Introduction

In modern economy, banks play an important role in

providing various financial services required for the

development of an economy. The strength of an economy

of any country basically depends on a sound and solvent

banking system.

Bank is a financial institution which deals with deposits

and advances and other related services. According to

Indian Banking Act, 1949-banking is ‘accepting, for the

purpose of lending or investment, of deposits from the

public, repayable on demand or otherwise, and withdrawable

by cheque, draft, order, or otherwise’. Thus, deposit

mobilization and loan disbursement are primary functions

of banks. The banks act as an intermediary that mobilize

savings from surplus sector i.e. households and channelize

the same to be used by deficit sector i.e. firms. Thus, as per

the circular flow of National Income concept, the part of

income that act as a leakage from the circulation in the form

savings is injected back in the circulation by the financial

system (including Banks) in the form of investment. In this

way, mobilization of resources and channelizing the same

for productive use is an important function of financial

system in general and banks in particular. In this regard, the

development of particular region depends on development

of banking services available therein. The performance of

banks located in particular region determines mobilization

and utilization of resources for productive purpose which is

necessary for the development of that region. Hence,

understanding the role of Urban Cooperative banks on the

basis of its primary functions viz; deposit mobilization and

loan disbursement is important.

Recent Trends in Deposit Mobilisation and Loan Disbursement by Urban

Co-operative Banks In India.
1

Sagar Thakkar

Assistant Professor, Department of Economics, Joshi-Bedekar College, Thane-400601 (India).

Abstract ; A well-developed and sound financial system is a pre-requisite for rapid and balanced development of an economy.

In this regard, the role of banking sector is considered vital as the banking service is a backbone of the financial system. Urban

Cooperative Banks provide banking and credit facilities to urban and semi urban population. In the wake of rapid urbanization

in India, understanding the role and performance of Urban Cooperative banks is important. Hence, the present study tries to

analyse performance of Urban Cooperative banks in India by analyzing recent trends in deposit mobilization and loan

disbursement.

Key Words: Urban Cooperative Banks, Deposit Mobilization, Loan Disbursement, Credit-Deposit Ratio.

Objective of study

The present study tries to analyse recent trends in

Deposit Mobilisation and Loan Disbursement by Urban

Cooperative Banks functioning in India by considering two

categories of Urban Cooperatives viz; Scheduled and Non-

scheduled. The study also tries to find the differences in

performance of both the above categories of Urban

Cooperative banks.

Research Methodology and Data Collection

Keeping in mind above objective, present study

analyses recent trends in deposit mobilisation and loan

disbursement by Urban Cooperative Banks functioning in

India.  For the analysis, data pertaining to the recent year

2011-12 (i.e. as on 31
st

 March 2012)  has been collected from

various RBI Publications like Report on Trend and Progress

of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on Deposits and

Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks, Branch Banking

Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic Statistical Returns

(BSR) of Commercial Banks etc..  The parameters included

for the study are:

1. Number of Urban Cooperative banks functioning

in India and its categorisation

2. Deposits and Credit (Loan Disbursement)

3. Credit-Deposit Ratio

4. Deposit mobilised per office

5. Loan Disbursed per office.

Scenario at all India level

For the analysis of performance of Urban Cooperative

banks, an all India level scenario of number of Urban

Cooperative present and functioning in India will be of

immense help. Following table (Table: 1) will be helpful in

this regard.

1

 This paper is related to on-going PhD research work titled “Comparative Study of Performance of UCBs and Public Sector Banks

in Thane District” by the author under the guidance of Dr.S.R.Dastane
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Table 1 Bank Group-Wise Distribution of Banks

(All India)

Sr. 

No.

Bank Group No. of 

Banks

1 SBI and Associates 7

2 Nationalised Banks 20

3 Old Private Sector Banks 15

4 New Private Sector Banks 7

5 Foreign Banks 32

6 Urban Cooperative Banks 1618

7 Regional Rural Banks 82

Total 1781

Sources: (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).

From the above table it is obvious that at all India

level, Urban Cooperative Banks are leading with the highest

number of banks (1618) followed by Regional Rural Banks

(82). Thus, it becomes clear that as a bank group Urban

Cooperative banks have good presence in India.

However, for performance analysis it will be important

to know the Distribution of Urban Cooperative Banks

functioning in India.

A. Categorisation of Urban Cooperative

The Urban Cooperative banks in India are divided into

two categories:

1. Scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks and 2. Non-

scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks
2

Following table shows category-wise distribution of

Urban Cooperative Banks functioning in India.

Table 2 Categorisation of Urban Cooperative Banks

Sr.

No.

Category

No. of 

banks

% share

1 Scheduled 52 3

2 Non-scheduled 1566 97

Tot

al

All 1618 100

Sources: (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).

From above table it becomes clear that though there is

a large number of Urban Cooperative Banks functioning in

India, the scheduled categories are only 52 and its share to

total remains just at 3% as compared to that of Non-

scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks.

B. Deposits

Deposit mobilisation is an important primary function

of any bank. Deposits play the most important role in any

banking system, whether-co-operative or commercial.

Deposits provide limits to the working capital of the bank

concerned. The higher the deposits, the higher will be the

funds at the disposal of a bank to lend and earn profits
3

.

Following table shows deposit mobilisation by the

Scheduled and Non-scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks

in India.

Table 3 Deposits of Urban Cooperative banks in India

Sr.No. Category

Deposits (in 

Rs.Cr.)

% 

share

1 Scheduled 11040 46

2 Non-scheduled 12810 54

Total All 23850 100

Source: : (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).

From the above table it becomes clear that though the

Scheduled Urban Cooperative banks are having only 3%

share (as per table no.2) in total number of Urban Cooperative

Banks, in deposit mobilisation its share is almost half and

remaining share is that of Non-scheduled Urban Cooperative

Banks which comprises of 97% share (as per table no.2) in

total Urban Cooperative Bank group. Thus, in deposits

Scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks have impressive share

compared to Non-scheduled Cooperative Banks.

2

 Scheduled Banks in India are those banks which have been included in the Second Schedule of Reserve Bank of India (RBI) Act,

1934. RBI in turn includes only those banks in this schedule which satisfy the criteria laid down vide section 42 (6) (a) of the Act.

3

 N. Desinga Rao ,‘Deposit Mobilisation by Co-operative Banks: A Comparison with Scheduled Commercial Banks’, Economic and

Political Weekly, Vol. 10, No. 29 (Jul. 19, 1975), pp. 1098-1100.
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C. Deposits Per Bank

As seen above, in deposits the Scheduled Urban

Cooperative banks are having upper hand but, it would be

interesting to understand deposits per bank. Following table

shows deposits per bank of Urban Cooperative Banks

category-wise.

Table 4  Deposits Per Bank of Urban Cooperative Banks

Sr.No. Category Deposits 

(in Rs.Cr.)

Deposit per Bank 

(in Rs.Cr.)

1 Scheduled 11040 (212)

2 Non-scheduled 12810 (8)

Total All 23850 (15)

Source: : (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).   [Figures in the parentheses show average

value of respective total]

By analysing the bank level performance of Urban

Cooperative Banks category-wise, it becomes clear that on

an average each bank of each category of Urban Cooperative

Banks viz; Scheduled and Non-scheduled has mobilised

Rs. 15 cr. of deposits. However, category-wise, the

Scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks have outperformed,

as each bank in this category on an average has mobilised

deposits worth Rs. 212 Cr. while those of Non-scheduled

banks stood at only Rs. 8 cr. (around 25 times less of

Scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks)

Thus, in deposit mobilisation per bank, Scheduled

Urban Cooperative Banks are found more efficient than Non-

scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks.

D. Loan Disbursement

Loans and advances provided by the banks are

considered as one of the most important sources of funds

for industries. The idle fund mobilised in the form of deposits

by the banks are put into use in the form of loan

disbursement. The loans and advances provided by the

bank are also one of the important sources of earning profits

for the banks.

In this regard, thus, the loan disbursement by the both

the categories of Urban Cooperative Banks viz; Scheduled

and Non-scheduled remains important as discussed below.

Table 5 Loan Disbursement by Urban Cooperative Banks

in India

Sr.N

o.

Category

Credit (in 

Rs.Cr.)

% 

share

1 Scheduled 7440 47

2 Non-scheduled 8360 53

Total All 15800 100

Source: : (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).

Like deposit mobilisation, on Loan disbursement front

also the performance of Scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks

has remained outstanding as only 3% or 52 Scheduled Urban

Cooperative Banks (as per table no.2) have almost half of

the share in loan disbursement as compared to 97% or 1566

Non-scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks (as per table no.2).

Thus, in loan disbursement also the Scheduled Urban

Cooperative Banks has remained leaders to its counterpart.

E. Loan disbursement Per Bank

For proper understanding of efficiency in loan

disbursement, it is important to understand loan

disbursement at micro-level i.e. at per bank level. Hence, the

table given below shows loan disbursement performance

by each category of Urban Cooperative banks viz;

Scheduled and Non-scheduled.

Table 6 Loan disbursement Per Bank of Urban

Cooperative Bank

Sr.N

o.

Category

Credit (in 

Rs.Cr.)

Credit per 

Bank (in 

Rs.Cr.)

1 Scheduled 7440 (143)

2 Non-scheduled 8360 (5)

Total All 15800 (10)

Source: : (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).   [Figures in the parentheses show average

value of respective total]

From the above table it again becomes obvious that

the scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks are better than Non-

scheduled Urban Cooperative banks as each bank in former
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category disbursed credit worth Rs. 143 cr. while the latter

disbursed credit worth Rs. 5 cr. only.

Thus, there is an excellent performance in this regard

by the Scheduled Urban Cooperative banks as compared to

that of Non-scheduled Urban Cooperative banks.

F. Credit-Deposit ratio

This ratio depicts the use of deposits for the productive

purpose. The excess of deposits above the required limit

shows underutilisation of funds and the over utilisation

beyond the limit also may prove harmful for bank’s

performance. Hence, maintaining the balance between the

two is important. It is calculated as- Credit – Deposit Ratio

(%) = Total Advances/Total Deposits

The table below shows Credit-Deposit ratio of both

the categories of Urban Cooperative Banks viz; Scheduled

and Non-scheduled.

Table 7 Credit-Deposit ratio of Urban Coopeartive Banks

Sr.No. Category

Credit (in 

Rs.Cr.)

Deposits (in 

Rs.Cr.)

C-D 

ratio (%)

1 Scheduled 7440 11040 67

2 Non-scheduled 8360 12810 65

Total All 15800 23850 66

Source: : (Compiled from) Report on Trend and

Progress of Banking in India, Quarterly Statistics on

Deposits and Credit of Scheduled Commercial Banks,

Branch Banking Statistics of Commercial banks, Basic

Statistical Returns (BSR) of Commercial Banks (for the

period 2011-12).

From the above table it is obvious that Scheduled

Urban Cooperative Banks have higher Credit-Deposit ratio

than Non-scheduled Urban Cooperative Banks. This

indicates that as far as utilisation of funds is concerned,

investments are preferred to loans and advancements.

Conclusion

There is a large number of Urban Cooperatives Banks

in Non-scheduled category.

In Deposit mobilisation and loan disbursement, the

performance of scheduled Urban Cooperatives Banks is very

impressive as compared to that of Non-scheduled Urban

Cooperative Banks.

Performance of Non-scheduled Urban Cooperatives

Banks in deposit mobilisation and Loan disbursement per

bank is also very low as compared to that of scheduled

Urban Cooperative Banks.

In use of funds, loan and advances are not preferred

by both the banks as Credit-Deposit ratio of both the

categories of Urban Cooperatives Banks is very low.
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Section V

Financial Innovation and Financial

Engineering
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Technological Innovations in Public Sector Banks in India

Dr.  Naresh Ramdas Madhavi

Associate Professor, Mahatma Phule Arts, Science and Commerce College, Panvel Dist-Raigad, Maharashtra

Abstract: The Indian financial system comprising the commercial banks, the financial institutions and the capital market, has

undergone a very rapid transformation in the past three decades.   The financial sector reforms of the 1990s, as outlined by the

Narasimham Committee (1991), liberalized the Indian banking industry and opened it to competition from within and outside.

The various innovations in banking and financial sector are ECS, RTGS, EFT, NEFT, ATMs, Retail Banking, Internet Banking,

Card based payment system etc. and many more value added services. The major impetus for financial innovation has been

globalization of financial system, deregulation, and great advances in technologies.In increasingly integrated financial system

facing higher volatilities more competition and wide varieties of risk, financial innovations have become an essence to provide

new products and strategies to meet different requirements of participants in financial system. To strengthen the payment

system in public sector banks, RTGS, Internet Banking, National Electronic Fund Transfer, Retail Payment System, Card

Based Payment System, etc. technologies were introduced by the  public sector banks in India.

An attempt has been made in this paper to provide a brief overview of the Technological Innovations in Public sector banks

in India.

Keywords: Financial Sector Reforms, Technological Innovations, Public Sector Banks in India

1. Introduction

The Indian banking functions under the regulatory

and supervisory guidelines issued by the Central bank. The

Banks in India can be broadly classified into the following

three categories: a) public sector banks (State Bank of India

and its associates and nationalized banks), b)Private sector

banks (old and new), c)foreign banks. The Indian financial

system comprising the commercial banks, the financial

institutions and the capital market, has undergone a very

rapid transformation in the past three decades. The financial

sector reforms of the 1990s, as outlined by the Narasimham

Committee (1991), liberalized the Indian banking industry

and opened it to competition from within and outside. Given

the weight of PSBs in the banking sector, it is worthwhile

examining the PSB union response to competition and the

push toward mechanization as a cost saving device. At the

core of this drive is the development of a sound and efficient

payment and settlement system. To strengthen the payment

system in public sector banks following technologies were

introduced.

i) Real Time Gross Settlement System

RTGS system leads to optimization of the use of

available resources in the banking sector in addition to faster

movement of funds and information among the various

constituents of financial sector. It is a secured electronic

fund transfer system providing real time on-line settlement

for inter-bank transactions and costumer-based interbank

transactions of any amount across the country.

Table -1

Growth of RTGS in India

Item Volume (000’) Value (Rs. In Crore)

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

RTGS 5840 13366 33210 27318330 3,22,79,881 3,94,53,359

ii) National Electronic Fund Transfer System:

It has been in existence since 1997 covering 15 centers

where the RBI manages the clearing houses. In order to

increase the coverage of the scheme and to provide for

funds transfers in a quicker manner, a variant of EFT called

the Special EFT was introduced with effect from APRIL, 1

2002. SEFT is available across the branches of banks that

are computerized and connected through a network so that

electronic messages can travel to the receiving branch in a

straight through manner. In order to broad base the facilities

of EFT and to provide for integration with the Structured

Financial Massaging Solutions ( SFMS) of the Indian

Financial Network (INFINET), it was decided to implement a

new variant of the EFT called
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Table -2

Volume and Value of Electronic transactions* by Scheduled Commercial Banks

  ( At the end of March 2011)

Volume % Variation Value % Variation

Year 2009-10 2010-11 2009-10 2010-11 2009-10 2010-11 2009-10 2010-11

ECS Credit 98.1 117.3 11.0 19.5 1,17613 1,81,686 20.0 54.5

ECS Debit 149.3 156.7 -6.7 5.0 69,524 73,646 3.8 5.9

NEFT 66.3 132.3 106.3 99.5 4,09,507 9,39,149 62.5 129.3

RTGS 33.2 49.3 148.5 48.2 394,53,359 484,87,234 22.2 22.9

Source: Report on Trends and Progress of Banking 2010-11

Note:* Excluding Transactions carried out through cards

iii) Card Based Payment System

The popularity of card based transactions, especially

debit and credit has increased significantly in recent years.

The increased use of cards and their growing share in the

payment system turnover highlights in the need for

introduction of suitable regulatory measures. Such measures

would have to ensure that rules, regulations, standard and

practice of card issue are in alignment with the best customer

practice.

Table-3

Card Based Payment (2004-05)

Type No of Transactions Growth in Transactions Value Rs. crore

Credit cards 129,975 29.7 25,682

Debit cards 230,480 166.8 51,226

Smart cards 1585 7.7 212

iv) Internet Banking

With technology advancements in computers and

communications, banks launched “Internet Banking Product,

which is an alternative banking delivery channel. It aims to

provide anywhere any time banking. The services such as

obtaining account statement, request for issuing cheque book,

demand draft, stop payment of a cheque and transfer of funds

from one account to another account of the account holder.

v) Single Window System

Single window concept is a system of delivery of all

services offered by the bank, at a single window counter.

The single window concept envisages that all the needs of

the customer are taken care of at a single point of delivery

i.e. at a single window, as compared to the existing system

where a customer has to approach different product specific

counters completion of his work. The single window system

will provide quicker and more efficient customer service.

vi) Point of Sale

Point of sale terminal is a computer terminal that is

linked online to the computerized customer information files

in a bank and magnetically encoded plastic transactions

card that identified the customer to the computer. During

transactions, the customer’s account is debited and the

retailer’s account is credited by the computer for the amount

purchase.

2. Conclusion

In the early 21
st

 century, the Indian banking system is

in the midst of technological revolution. Yet, PSBs have still

to cover a lot of ground with respect to implementation of

technology in all their branches. PSBs possess some unique

advantage over their competition. But it is their use of

technology that will enable PSBs to build up their strengths.

PSBs also have a vast network of branches within rural and

semi-urban India and can effectively employ technology to

tap into under served markets with significant social returns.
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Renewable Energy Market - A New Financial Market for Global Investment:

With Special Reference to Developed and Developing Countries

Karbhari Bhalchandra Kashinath

Assistant Professor, VPM’s Joshi-Bedekar College, Chendani Bunder Road, Thane.

ABSTRACT: Renewable energy now-a-day has become a sophisticated word due to its obligations to reduction in green

house gases and investment from developed and developing countries. After the implementation of Kyoto Protocol investment

in renewable energy showing wide fluctuations and same is the basic theme of this paper. These fluctuations arise because of

high cost of technology, low returns, lack of financial support from government and financial institutions. Developed countries

played a pivotal role in renewable energy investment due to technological advancement with them. Renewable energy via

Carbon Credit market generates new avenues of investment and new form of financial market.

KEYWORDS: Clean Development Mechanism (CDM), Carbon Credits, Renewable Energy, Kyoto Protocol, Annex I and

Non-Annex I Parties, Green House Gases (GHG).

1. Introduction

Renewable energy markets, industries and policy

frameworks have evolved rapidly in recent years. In 2011,

renewable power (excluding large hydro) accounted for 44%

of new generation capacity added worldwide, up from 34%

in 2010 and just 10.3% back in 2004. Thus, Renewable Energy

market emerges as a new market for financial investment. A

renewable energy market is a part of Carbon Credit Market.

Thus, let’s take a short review of carbon credits or Clean

Development Mechanism.

1.1About Carbon Credits :  Carbon Credits are a key

component of national and international emission trading

schemes that have been implemented to mitigate global

warming. Carbon Credits can be exchanged between

businesses or bought and sold in international markets at

the prevailing markets price. There are also many companies

that sell carbon credits to commercial and individual

customers who are interested in lowering their carbon

footprint on a voluntary basis under Kyoto Protocol.

1.2 About Kyoto Protocol: The Protocol in force, as of

16
th

 Feb. 2005, provides the means to monetize the

environmental benefits of reducing GHG. Kyoto Protocol is

a voluntary treaty signed by the Annex I Party (42 Developed

countries) Non-Annex I Parties (153 Developing Countries)

for reducing GHG emission by 5.2 % below 1990 levels by

2012. The protocol rules have created a market in which

companies and governments that reduce GHG levels can

sell the ensuing emissions credits.

1.3 Projects eligible for carbon credits: Following

projects can get Carbon Credits for the reduction of GHG’s

- Solar Energy, Wind Energy, Hydro Electricity, Geo-thermal

Energy, Bio-mass, Waste Management, Efficient supply of

potable drinking water, Zero or less pollutant public

transport etc.

 2. Objectives of the Research

1. To find out the recent investment trends in renewable

energy.

2. To find out the factors on which renewable investment

is associated.

3.  Hypothesis

1. Investment in renewable energy has decline in recent

period.

2. Investment of developing country in renewable energy

is low.

4. Data and Research Methodology

4.1 Data Collection:  The research study has been

carried out with the help of secondary data like Reports of

UNFCC, Accords of various conferences of UNFCCC from

1997,  Reports of  REN21, Official Reports of United Nations

Environment Programme (UNEP), Annual Reports of

Bloomberg New Energy Finance, Report of  Multi

Commodity Exchange (MCX) Market (Mumbai), etc.

4.2. Sample Selection:  Researcher considers the

Developed Countries (Annex I Party) and Developing

Countries (Non-Annex I Parties) as an area of study. The

selection of sample is based on Non-probability – Purposive

sampling method. Only renewable energy projects are

selected for indepth study.

4.3  Limitation of study: This research is focused on

investment in renewable energy from 2004 to 2011. Only

financial part of renewable energy is being observed.

Researcher concentrates on renewable power and fuels and

does not cover energy-smart technologies such as smart

grid, electric vehicles and power storage. These figures are

based on annual installation data, provided by industry

associations and Renewable Energy for 21
st

 Century (

REN21).
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5. Data Interpretation

5.1 Total Greenhouse Gas Emission by Region: Before

we start analysis of investment trends in renewable energy,

we first take a look on global green house gas emission and

emitters.

1Gt = 10* metric tons = 1 billion metric tons = 1

petagram (Pg)

Figure. 1

Greenhouse Gas Emission Trend

 Source : EPA.gov/climatechange/emissions/global.html

It is observed from above figure 1 till 2015 developed

countries will lead in green house gas emission (GHG)  but

further future trend shows that developing countreis will

overtake them in GHG emission. Thus, we can predict that

the future market of carbon credit will be located in

developing country and investment in CDM project can be

seen in this country. Through  Renewable Energy investment

both  - Annex I and Non-Annex I parties will try to mitigate

their GHG emission. Therfore,  this research focuses on

renewable energy which  is eligible for CDM projects.

5.2 Global investment in renewable energy (2004-

2011):   Table 1 shows the tough growth of investment in

renewable energy since 2004, with expansion continuing

through the recession of 2008-09. That growth has been

accompanied by a significant rise in the job creation and

overall economic contribution, of the renewable energy

sector  and that looks likely to continue to 2020 as the world

seeks to curb emissions from its energy system.

Table 1.

Global Investment in Renewable Energy

Year 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total

Investment

($ bn)

39 61 96 132 167 161 220 257 1133

Growth (%) - 56 59 37 26 -4 37 17 -

Source: Bloomberg New Energy Finance

Source: Bloomberg New Energy Finance

The annual growth rate of investment in renewable

energy from 2004 to 2011 shows a very gloomy picture. The

basic cause of this declining growth rate is that, both Annex

I and Non-Annex I parties are not so much confident to

invest in renewable energy because of fluctuating prices of

carbon credits.  Although the renewable energy sector has

continued to grow, wider economic problems have had an

impact since 2008 and they remain a threat. In late 2011, the

Euro area sovereign debt crisis started to have impact on

the supply of debt for renewable energy projects in Europe,

as banks responded to sharp increases in their cost of

funding and upgraded their assessments of the risks

involved in lending to borrowers in Italy, Spain and other

affected countries.

5.3 Global investment in renewable energy by

Developed and Developing countries (2004-2011):

Investment increased in both developed and developing

countries. It rose in developed economies by 21% to $168

billion and in developing economies by 11% to $ 89 billion

in 2011. Compared to developing economies developed

economies invest high amount in renewable energy. But it

is observed that developed countires specially in Europe

governments struggled to adjust feeds in tariff subsidies

for solar power. Inevitably, governments in Europe and

elsewhere have responded by cutting subsidies sharply and

in the case of Spain, barring subsidies for any new renewable

power project not so far approved.
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Table . 2

Investment in Renewable Energy By Region

Year

Developing 

Countries

($ bn)

Developed  

Countries

($ bn)

Total 

Investment

($ bn)

2004

8

(21)

31

(79)

39

(100)

2005

16

(26)

45

(74)

61

(100)

2006

25

(26)

71

(74)

96

(100)

2007

39

(30)

93

(70)

132

(100)

2008

58

(35)

109

(65)

167

(100)

2009

65

(40)

96

(60)

161

(100)

2010

81

(37)

139

(63)

220

(100)

2011

89

(35)

168

(65)

257

(100)

Total

381

(34)

752

(66)

1133

(100)

Source: Bloomberg New Energy Finance

Note : Figures in bracket indicates percentage

Source: Bloomberg New Energy FinanceNote : Figures in

bracket indicates percentage

More generally, the fact that consumers have found

their finances under pressure have made governments more

unenthusiastic to wave through measures that would put

up energy prices. In the US, support in Congress for clean

energy and putting a price on carbon has ebb, in the face of

low natural gas prices that have made gas-fired generation

look a cost-effective alternative and new concerns about

the cost of renewable energy support.

5.3.1 Trend in share of Developing and Developed

Country In Renewable Energy Investment: If we observe

the trends in share in total investment, share of developed

economies in renwable energy has declined from 2004 to

2010, the 2008 Subprime  crisis  and 2010 European  Debt

Crisis are the major causes of it. But after 2010 share of

developed economies started to increase and it is because

of recovery of  European economies.

Figure 2

Trends in Investment in Renewable  Energy Investment
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Source : Table No. 2

Whereas the share of developing economies has

increased marginally throughout the same period but from

2010 it is showing declining trends. It clearly  reveals that

developing economies have failed to maintain their greater

share in investment in renewable energy.

5.3.3 Share of Developing and Developed Countries

in Renewable Energy Investment:

Figure 3

Share of Developing and Developed Countries
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Source : Table no.2

It is also noted that from 2004 to 2011 total

investment in renewable energy is $1133 billion out of which

share of  developed economies is $752 billion which is 66

percent whereas share of  developing economies is only

$381 billion that is 34% of total investment. From the above

data it can be concluded that as per the Kyoto Protocol,

developed countries contributed more in clean energy

mechanism through renewable energy, but developing

economies are lagging behind.

5.4 Global investment in renewable energy: developed

v/s developing countries by Sector 2011:    Developed

countries led the way in solar, while developing economies

had the upper hand in wind, as table 3 reveals.

Table  – 3

Global investment in renewable energy

CDM Project

Country Total 

Growth-

2010

(%)

Developed

($ bn)

Developin

g

($ bn)

Solar 117.4 30 52

Wind 37.1 46.7 -12

Biomass &  

w.t.e
6.3 4.3 -12

Biofuels 5.0 1.8 -20

Small Hydro 0.3 5.5 59

Geothermal 1.8 1.1 -5

Marine 0.2 0.05 -5

Source: Bloomberg New Energy Finance, UNEP

Source: Bloomberg New Energy Finance, UNEP

Developed countries having comparatively advanced

solar technology invest more in solar energy.  The second
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most important factor is that developed economies provide

subsidies to solar projects, thus investors try to reap out

the advantages of subsidy by investing in solar energy. On

the other hand developing economies showing their

preference in wind energy due to their geographical location,

they are having potential for wind energy. Other forms of

renewable energy are quite neglected due to their high cost

of application and low returns from investment.

5.5 Global new investment in renewable energy by region,

2011: Europe is clearly the biggest area for dollars deployed,

at $101 billion in 2011.

Table. 4

Investment in renewable energy by region

Country

Investment

($ bn)

Europe 101

China 52

USA 51

ASOC

(Excl. China and India)

21

India 12

Brazil 7

AMER

(Excl. US and Brazil)

7

Middle East and Africa 5

Source: UNEP, Global trends in renewable 

energy investment 2012 pp.22

Source: UNEP, Global trends in renewable energy investment

2012 pp.22

As in 2010, the US was the biggest investor in

renewable energy among individual developed countries. It

almost supplanted China for the overall number one spot

for investing in renewable energy and indeed it did on the

slightly wider measure of clean energy investment including

energy-smart technologies.

China was once again by far the heaviest investor of

the three developing economy giants. One continuing

problem for onshore wind in China is grid connection, with

about a quarter of  the 2011 projects still not connected by

the end of the year. India saw a more spectacular rate of

increase in clean energy investment in 2011. Biomass and

waste-to-power asset finance in India rose 45% to $857

million last year, while that for small hydro trebled to $510

million. The jump in solar asset investment in India was

partly driven by the Jawaharlal Nehru National Solar

Mission, a programme that aims to aid the development of

20GW of solar power by 2022.

Brazil has seen a major shift in sector momentum over

recent years, with biofuels dominant in the 2006-08 periods

but then running out of steam as the market struggled to

absorb the new capacity built and then wind expanding

rapidly in more recent times.

5.6  Investment in renewable energy by Sector ( $ bn ) : The

sector wise breakup of new investment is shown in table 5.

Table – 5

Investment in renewable energy by Sector

CDM Project 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

2004-2011 

(CAGR)

Solar 13.8 16.4 19.5 37.7 57.4 58 96.6 147.4 40

Wind 13.3 22.9 32 51.1 67.7 74.6 95.5 83.8 30

Biofuels 3.5 8.2 26.6 24.5 19.2 9.1 8.5 6.8 10

Biomass &  

w.t.e

6.1 7.8 10.8 11.8 13.6 12.2 12 10.6 8

Small Hydro 1.4 4.4 5.4 5.5 6.6 4.7 3.6 5.8 22

Geothermal 1.4 1 1.4 1.4 1.9 2 3.1 2.9 12

Marine 0 0 0.9 0.7 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 30

Total 39.5 60.7 96.6 132.7 166.6 160.9 219.6 257.5 -

Source :UNEP, Global trends in renewable energy investment 2012, pp. 15
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   Solar is the leading sector in renewable energy.

Biomass and waste-to-power was the third largest sector

for total renewable energy investment in 2010, even though

its share fell to $10.6 billion. Biofuel, which was the second

largest sector for investment after wind in 2006, came fourth

in 2011 with a total of $6.8 billion. Other renewable energy

sectors showed more modest investment.

6. Observations

In this paper we studied the trends of investment in

renewable energy. The following are the observations of

this paper.

1. Investment in renewable energy from 2004 to 2011

shows a steady growth rate. In quantitative terms

investment increases but in percentage terms it shows

a very gloomy picture. Especially in 2009 growth rate

was minus 4 percent.

2. The other key finding is that a weakening in policy

support for renewable energy in many developed

countries. This reflected serious pressures, particularly

in Europe.

3. The sovereign debt crisis in U.S in 2008 and in Europe

in late 2011 hit the ability of banks to provide their

usual flow of project finance. It affected the growth

rate of investment in renewable energy.

4. China leads among the developing countries in

renewable energy investment, whereas Europe leads

among the developed countries.

5. Developed countries having upper hand in investment

in renewable energy compared to developing

economies.  Developing economies made up to $382

billion (31%) of the total investment compared to $752

billion  (69%) of developed economies.

6. Developed countries are always maintained their

greater share in renewable energy compared to

developing economies.

7. The US crossed China in the race to be the lead investor

in renewable energy.

8. Total investment in solar power jumped  to $147 billion

in 2011, reaching a figure almost twice as high as that

in wind energy. Developed countries prefer to invest

in solar and wind energy compared to other form of

renewable energy. While developing countries show

their interests in wind energy.

9. Renewable energy not very practical in developing

countries because of lack of regulatory system and

stable market.

10. Solar is the prime sector for renewable investment and

it is seen from its CAGR for 2004 to 2011. Second

dominant sector for investment is wind energy. Other

forms are not so practical for renewable investment.
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ABSTRACT : Urban Local Bodies are autonomous bodies and are governed by their respective Acts. Presently, they maintain

their accounts on cash based single entry system, where Balance sheet is not prepared. In absence of a balance sheet, true

and fair position of assets and liabilities of ULB’s cannot be ascertained. Keeping in view the increased and diversified

responsibilities of ULBs and also the present status of accounts, Government of India took a policy decision to improve the

accounting system adopted by the ULBs. This would serve as an effective MIS concerning their financial activities and

financial position for more active and timely decision making and greater accountability and transparency.

This paper focuses on the financial engineering that is taking place in Urban Local Bodies in Maharashtra and its usefulness for

local government to enter into the capital market by raising their own funds by floating Municipal Bonds. Municipal Bonds

have been a grand success in western countries, particularly in United States of America. Municipal Bonds are not a so widely

used instrument in India. This paper also discusses the need and benefits of municipal bonds in the growing and maturing

Indian economy and the need of support from markets and regulatory authorities for municipal bonds.

(Key Words : Urban Local Body, Municipal Bonds, Local Government, Cash Based Single Entry System, Accrual Based

Double Entry System)

Introduction

The 73rd and 74th Constitutional Amendment Acts

envisage a key role for the Panchayati Raj Institutions (PRIs)

and the Urban Local Bodies (ULBs) in respect of various

functions such as education, health, rural housing and

drinking water. The State Governments are required to

develop powers and responsibilities upon the ULBs with

respect to preparation of plans for economic development

and social justice and for the implementation of development

schemes as may be required to enable them to function as

institutions of self-government. Due to such devolution of

powers and responsibilities, the role of the ULBs varies

across various States. Under the Urban Reforms Incentive

Fund (URIF) which was launched a few years back, 28 States

Union Territories agreed to adopt the double entry system

of accounting. Further, through the National Urban Renewal

Mission, the Government requires Local Self Governments

to adopt modern, accrual-based double entry system of

accounting. This will enable local governments to publicize

their financial statements, which will facilitate inter-

corporation comparisons. The local government, thereby

attracts public finance through Municipal Bonds.

Municipal Bonds hold good potential in urban

infrastructural  development and financing. Considering the

large involvement of the municipal corporations in the

infrastructure development of the country and increasing

urbanisation,  municipal corporations have  failed to raise

their own funds from the public.

Objectives of the study

1. The primary goal of this study is to evaluate the

financial reforms implemented in Urban Local Bodies

in Maharashtra and its usefulness for local government

to enter into the Capital market by raising their own

funds by floating Municipal Bonds.

2. The secondary objectives are

a. To study the need for Double Entry Accounting in

Local Bodies.

b. To study need and benefits of municipal bonds in the

growing and making Indian economy and the need of

support from markets and regulatory authorities for

municipal bonds.

c. To study as to why Municipal Bonds are not common

or a success in India

d. To create awareness amongst various stakeholders

such as end users and citizens about the benefits of

the Municipal Bonds in the Infrastructural development

in India through   Local Bodies.

Limitation

    This is a conceptual study. It is supported more by

facts than by numerical data. The study is further limited to

the discussion of the possibilities of raising the own funds

from the public by the Local Authorities for the Infrastructural

development in India.

Hypothesis

Considering the large involvement of the municipal

corporations in the infrastructure development of the

country  and increasing urbanisation,  municipal

corporations can raise their own funds from the public for

speedy infrastructural development.

Methodology

This study is based on secondary data. The

information has been collected from authorities of Local

Municipal Corporations, books, journals, magazines,

newspaper and websites.
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Statement and Significance

LOCAL BODY:

The term ‘Local Body’ may be defined as a local self-

government at the third tier of governance in an

administrative and geographical vicinity, e.g., a municipal

corporation, a municipality or a panchayat. In many cases,

the Local Bodies delegate their functions such as building

of schools, city roads, parks, running transport services,

providing water supply etc., to some other bodies that may

or may not be controlled by the Local Bodies, e.g.

development authorities, boards, parastatals. Such bodies

may be constituted, in partnership with private sector or

otherwise, directly or indirectly by or on behalf of a Local

Body to promote or carry out some specific objective(s) or

function(s) of the Local Bodies. Such bodies may be

constituted under a statute. The term ‘Local Body’ would

also encompass such bodies.

ACCOUNTING REFORM

Presently the Municipal Councils maintain their

accounts as per registers and forms prescribed in the

Maharashtra Municipal Account Code, 1971 which is based

on cash basis of accounting. As per this system any sums

actually received and payments actually made, are accounted

for, by way of a statement of Income and Expenditure.

Keeping in view the increased and diversified

responsibilities of Municipal Councils a policy decision has

been taken to introduce double entry accrual based

accounting system in the Municipal Councils. In view of

the above a revised Municipal Account Code was to be

prepared with the objective of implementing Accrual Based

Double Entry Accounting System in Municipal Councils.

Every Municipal Council shall follow the accrual

based double entry system of accounting with effect from

1st April 2007 or such other commencement date as may be

notified by Government of Maharashtra. Municipal Councils

shall maintain the books of accounts and records as

prescribed in these rules in such a manner that will provide

information with respect to the state of affairs and daily

transactions relating to Income, Expenditure, Assets and

Liabilities of the Municipal Council.

Of late, many Local Bodies in the country are shifting

to accrual basis of accounting, particularly, after the issuance

of the Maharashtra Municipal Accounts Code (MMAC) by

the Ministry of Urban Development, Government of

Maharashtra, supported by the Comptroller and Auditor

General of India, National Institute of Urban Affairs and

Indo- US AID FIRE-D  Project and the inputs provided by

the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The MMAC

provides guidance to ULBs in preparation of their accounts

on accrual basis. Another reason for ULBs adopting accrual

basis is that these bodies are also approaching capital

markets for raising funds. However, these bodies are

following diverse accounting policies and practices in

preparation of their financial statements. Hence, a need is

felt for formulation

of a single set of high quality financial reporting

standards for Local Bodies which will set out recognition,

measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements

dealing with transactions and events in general purpose

financial statements of Local Bodies.

Context of accounting reforms

India is at the crossroads of development and

substantial initiatives are required to enhance economic

growth rates and improve the living standards of its citizens.

For ensuring rapid and planned urban growth, urban

infrastructure would necessarily require an element of market

financing. The market-based financing will bring in fiscal

discipline and create appropriate incentives and

disincentives for performance. However, integration of the

efficient urban sector financing mechanism with the capital

markets demands that urban governance is done on the

principle of creditworthiness and would have to be preceded

by efforts to ensure that information on the financial health

of ULBs is available as per capital market requirements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial statements prepared by the Municipal

Council as per the guidelines of Maharashtra Municipal

Accounting Code will now provide information about the

financial position, performance and cash flows of the

Municipal Council. The financial statements shall comprise

of the followings:-

(1) Balance Sheet;

(2) Income and Expenditure Statement;

(3) Statement of Cash Flows

(4) Receipts and Payments Account

(5) Notes to Accounts; and

(6) Disclosure of significant accounting policies and

(7) Such other statements as may be prescribed under any

Law enacted to regulate disclosure of Financial and

other information by a Municipal Council.

Municipal Bonds

A municipal bond is a bond issued by a city or other

local government,  or their agencies. Potential issuers  of

municipal   bonds   include  cities,   countries,   redevelopment

agencies, special-purpose districts,  school   districts,   public

utility  districts,  publicly  owned  airports and  seaports,

and  any  other  governmental entity (or  group of

governments).  Municipal bonds  may be general obligations

of the issuer  or  secured  by  specified revenues. Interest

income received  by  holders  of  municipal  bonds is  often



132 “Money, Finance and Economic Growth: Emerging Issues” - 10
th

 & 11
th

 Jan. 2014

exempt from the federal  income tax and from the income  tax

of the state in which they are issued, although municipal

bonds issued for  certain  purposes  may not be tax exempt.

Municipal   bonds   are   debt obligations issued by states,

cities, countries and other governmental entities,   which

use the   money for    infrastructural   development.

Municipal Bonds, also known as “munis”, (in United States)

are attractive to many investors because the interest income

is exempt from income tax. In addition, munis often represent

investments  in  state and  local  government  projects  that

have an impact on the daily  lives, including schools,

highways,  hospitals, housing, sewer systems  and   other

important   public  projects.

Success in Western Countries

The municipal bond market is a specialised segment

of the debt market. In US, most urban infrastructural projects

like water supply  and sewerage are funded through issue

of municipal  bonds. Also, the secondary market for

municipal bonds is active, with sufficient liquidity. Some

municipal  bonds  are  tax  exempt,  thereby lowering  the

cost  of   borrowing  of  the  issuer.  The credit rating

mechanism of the municipal bonds is very robust, creating

a sense of surety and confidence among the investors.

Municipal Bond Market and India

Municipal Bonds hold good potential in urban

infrastructural development and   financing.  The scenario

seems likely to change, given more than 1 lakh crore of

urban   infrastructure   investment estimated over the next

five years. In  India,  a  beginning  in  this  direction  was

made  in  the  late  1990s,  but  the  momentum  was  not

maintained.  The Bangalore Municipal Corporation  was

the first municipal body to raise funds by issuing bonds,

backed by state government guarantee in 1997. On the  other

hand,  the  Ahmedabad Municipal  Corporation  came  out

with bonds in 1998 that were not  backed  by  a  similar

guarantee. 125  crore  issue  of  eight-year  bonds by the

Bangalore Municipal Corporation  in  September, 1997,

followed by an 100 crore issue of   seven-year   bonds   by

the Ahmedabad Municipal Corporation  in January, 1998

were the two Bond  issues by municipal corporations. Pune

Municipal Corporation (PMC) approached CARE for a credit

rating of its proposed  2000 million  General Obligation Bond

issue and was rated CARE AA.

The  Indian  federation  has  a  three-tier   structure:

Government of  India  comprises  the    first  tier, the state

governments and union  territories  comprise  the  second,

while  the  urban  and  rural  local self-governments (local

bodies) make up the third tier.  Of the 3,682 urban local

bodies in India, 96 are municipal corporations while the

rest are municipalities.  Of these 96, seven are in ‘mega cities’

with populations in excess of 4 million, and 28 in cities with

populations between 1 million and 4 million.  The 35 cities

with populations in excess of 1 million are likely to experience

urbanisation growth and infrastructure spending that is

significantly in excess of the national average, whereas the

others are also likely to see robust growth. Overall economic

growth will be the key driver for urbanisation, which must

be powered by strong infrastructure.   Municipal   bonds

will be the key enabler in building this infrastructure. With

increasing  urbanisation, pushing demand for infrastructure

and the Government of  India’s  thrust  for  infrastructure

development,   a   bonds-backed  urban revolution  seems  a

viable  route.

By   encouraging   municipal  bodies  to  approach  the

capital market to raise funds, the efficiency of  these  bodies

could  also  be enhanced considerably.  Revenue bonds,

which naturally are the most popular, will increase awareness

about service delivery and its efficiency.

The  concept   of   municipal  bonds as an additional

mechanism for  raising  resources  for  urban infrastructure

projects  was    first discussed   in   December 1995 at  a

national  seminar.  Later, the Rakesh Mohan Committee on

the Commercialisation of Infrastructure Projects in India also

discussed the possibility of using municipal bonds as a

tool for raising finances from markets. Internationally,

Municipal Bonds have played a key role in the creation of

urban infrastructure assets in United States and Canada.

Therefore, it was envisaged that adapting this model to the

Indian context would open new vistas for attracting private

capital to the  urban infrastructure sector.

Why Municipal Bonds Are Not Common or Successful

in India?

Considering the large involvement of the municipal

corporations in the infrastructure development of the country

and increasing urbanisation,  municipal corporations have

failed to raise their own funds from the public.

The   first reason why Municipal Bonds  are  not

common  or a  success  in  India,  since  the  very   word

‘Municipal / Municipal Corporation’   creates  a  sense  of

distrust among the people / investors  due to reasons like

subtle, slothful, inefficient, bureaucracy, corruption- ridden,

political  interference, lack  of  accountability,  improper

management practices  and  lack  of  capable  human

resources on  the  boards  of  local  bodies,  low productivity,

long gestation period, erratic revenue  owes etc. Another

major reason for lack of trust is lack of reliable  credit rating

and the difficult methodology involved in the rating. Further

is the lack of information of the end use of the funds raised

through the issue of municipal bonds. Also there is a fear

among investors about not getting the investment back on

maturity.

The municipal bond market in India is a minuscule

0.1% of the total corporate bond market. In the last six years,

municipalities in India have tapped the bond market only 13

times.
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Development  of  a  municipal bond  market  in  India

depends on  significant   improvement  in the  credit  quality

of  Municipal Corporations.

Conclusions

Keeping in view the increased and diversified

responsibilities of ULBs and also the present status of

accounts, Government of India took a policy decision to

improve the accounting system adopted by the ULBs. This

would serve as an effective MIS concerning their financial

activities and financial position for more active and timely

decision making and greater accountability and

transparency.

There’s   scope  to  develop  a municipal  bond  or

muni  bond market  in India because municipalities   and

corporations that   govern  urban  local areas  in  the  country

do  not  generate enough money from taxes and utility

payments to fund their expenditure. Considering the large

involvement of the municipal corporations in the

infrastructure development of the country and increasing

urbanisation, municipal corporations can raise their own

funds from the public. In view of the various preconceived

reasons it could not be successful in India. The   first reason

why Municipal Bonds are not common or a success in India,

since the very word ‘Municipal/ Municipal  Corporation’

creates a sense  of distrust among the people/  investors

due to reasons like subtle, slothful, inefficient, bureaucracy,

corruption-ridden, political  interference, lack  of

accountability,  improper  management practices  and  lack

of  capable  human resources on  the  boards  of  local

bodies,  low productivity, long gestation period, erratic

revenue   flows, etc. Another major reason for lack of trust

is  lack  of  reliable  credit rating and the difficult methodology

involved in the rating

Several others general conclusions can be drawn from the

study –

� There is no source of reliable data on   finances of all

local bodies in India to estimate their resource gaps.

There  is  also  a  lack  of uniformity   in   classification

and  reporting  of    financial  data,  which  do not allow

precise comparison on  various parameters.

� Ensuring compliance with the Accounting Standards

for Local Bodies is the responsibility of the appropriate

authority which approves the financial statements of

the Local Body.

� Adoption of better budgeting practices, cost sheet and

management information system and providing model

accounting, budgeting and cost formats recommended

by Task Force will make ULB’s financially presentable

in the market.

� Recognising the need to harmonise and improve

accounting and financial reporting among Local Bodies,

the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI)

and other stakeholders shall strive hard.

� Development  of  a  municipal bond  market  in  India

depends on  significant   improvement  in the  credit

quality  of  Municipal Corporations.

� That municipal bodies shall work towards improving

their  budgeting  and accounting systems and the

quality  of disclosure of information to the public.

� Credit Rating agencies also need to step up to rate the

municipal Bond issues.

� Municipal Bonds will also create another good

investment avenue for people, if they are given security

of repayment through sovereign guarantee or likewise.

In conclusions, though Municipal Bonds have been a

grand success in western countries, they are not so widely

used instrument in India.  If the accounting reforms are

implemented properly the Municipal   Bonds   hold   good

potential in urban infrastructural development and

financing. Municipal Bonds in Indian market can be

considered as a viable investment option and an instrument

for raising public funds for infrastructural development of

the country. With   growing   infrastructural needs of the

country, municipal bonds will prove to be a good fund-

raising instrument.
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Section VII

Saving-Investment flows and Effective

Securities Market
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1. Introduction

There are two main schools of thought in the stock

markets i.e. fundamental analysis and technical analysis.

Fundamental analysis attempts to determine a stock’s value

by focusing on underlying factors that affect a company’s

actual business and its future prospects. Fundamental

analysis can be performed on company or industries or the

economy as a whole. Technical analysis, on the other hand,

looks at the stock price movement and uses historical data

to predict its future price movements. Stock Market

prediction has always had a certain appeal for researchers.

While numerous scientific attempts have been made, no

model has been discovered to accurately predict stock price

movement. In this paper, an attempt has been made to predict

future price movements of sample companies by adopting

modern method of technical analysis i.e. EMAP model. This

paper is arranged as follows. Section 2 provides an overview

of literature concerning Stock price prediction and EMAP

model. Section 3 describes our research objectives. Section

4 outlines research methodology. Section 5 provides an

overview of our experimental design. Section 6 presents our

experimental findings and their implications. Finally, Section

7 throws a light on how to take a wise investment decision

in a volatile market.

2. Review of  Literature

 According to Arifur Rehman Shaikh and Anil B.

Kalkundarikar (2011), most of the retail investors’ primary

objective of investment is to earn regular income and

expected rate of return differs from individual to individual

based on their level of market knowledge and risk taking

Predicting Stock Price Movements : The Role of Emap Model

*Dr. N. Maruti Rao **Vithal Hugar

* Associate Professor, PG Dept of Business Administration, Rani Channamma University, Belagavi.

 **Research Scholar, PG Dept of Business Administration, Rani Channamma University, Belagavi

Abstract : The recent global financial meltdown had affected the world economy in general and Indian economy in particular.

The financial market is no exception to this world stock market including Indian stock market Stock had been badly affected

by the global financial meltdown. It is a known fact that stock market reacts to economic or financial news, even if that news

is likely to have no real effect on the fundamental value of securities itself. But it will have impact on stock price. The recent

development in India i.e. fall in rupee value and rising inflation rate has created fear in the mind of retail investors. The retail

Investors are hesitating to enter into stock market due to huge fluctuation in stock prices. There are number of traditional stock

price prediction models which proved wrong to forecast movement in stock prices during the period of global financial

meltdown. The equity research firms, investment consultant, brokers, traders and investors are interested to know and use

advanced and modern stock price prediction models for constructing less risky portfolios or obtaining higher return on

investment. Hence, there is always a need for good analysis and prediction model. The researchers have developed and tested

series of stock price prediction models. The most popular and successful models among these are ARCH, GARCH, stochastic

model, EMAP model, candlestick analysis, etc. Limited literature is available in India about application of advanced stock

price prediction models.  Not much research has been done in India on application of EMAP model to predict movement in

stock price. This motivated the researchers to take up the present study. The study revealed that EMAP model failed to prove

the movement in the stock price. It is suggested that fundamental as well as technical analysis should be carried simultaneously

to assess the movement in stock price.

Key Words: Bombay Stock Exchange, Closing Price, Exponential Moving Average Price, Retail Investors, State Bank of India

and Infosys Ltd.

ability. The present paper assesses the behavior of retail

investors in Belgaum district of Karnataka state and it

reveals that knowledge level significantly leverages the

returns on the investments. Gupta L.C. and Jain (2008)

pointed out that ‘too much volatility’, ‘too much price

manipulation’, ‘unfair practices of brokers’ and ‘corporate

mismanagement and frauds’ as the main worries of investors.

Jan Ivar Larsen(2010) in his paper “Predicting Stock Prices

Using Technical Analysis and Machine Learning” used a

novel two-layer reasoning approach that employs domain

knowledge from technical analysis in the first layer of

reasoning to guide a second layer of reasoning based on

machine learning. The model is supplemented by a money

management strategy that uses the historical success of

predictions made by the model to determine the amount of

capital to invest on future predictions. Based on a number

of portfolio simulations with trade signals generated by the

model, the author concluded that the prediction model

successfully outperforms the Oslo Benchmark Index

(OSEBX). Mittal M. and R. K. Vyas (2008) in their research

article “Personality Type and Investment Choice: An

Empirical Study” observed that investors have certain

cognitive and emotional weaknesses which come in the way

of their investment decisions. According to them factors

such as age, income, education and marital status affect an

individual’s investment decision. Robert P. Schumaker and

Hsinchun Chen conducted a study on “Textual Analysis of

Stock Market Prediction Using Financial News”. The paper

examines the role of financial news articles on three different

textual representations: Bag of Words, Noun Phrases and

Named Entities and their ability to predict discrete number

stock prices twenty minutes after an article release. Using a
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Support Vector Machine (SVM) derivative, the researchers
proved that the model used by them had a statistically
significant impact on predicting future stock prices compared
to linear regression. Saptarshi Purkayastha (2008) in his
article “Investor Profiling and Investment Planning: An
Empirical Study” concluded that people do not take much
risk when the question of investment of their hard-earned
money comes. Shanmugham R and Muthusamy P (1998)
found that education and occupation of the investors had
an impact on the use of technical analysis and fundamental
analysis respectively. Sara Alatiqi and Shokoofeh Fazel1
(2008) in their research entitled “Can Money Supply Predict
Stock Prices?” argued against a stable causal relation from
money supply to stock prices. They used Co-integration
and Granger Causality tests to support their argument.
However, an explicit model that would be preferred by
investors and easy to understand did not yet appear in the
literature. This has encouraged the researcher to take up
the present study.

3. Objectives of study

The objectives of the study include:

1)  To enumerate how Exponential Moving Average
Model can be used in selection of stock.

2) To assess the relevance of Exponential Moving
Average Model.

3) To offer suggestion to retail investors.

4. Research Methodology

The data required for the study has been collected
from secondary sources i.e. business-line newspaper, SEBI
reports and from websites of Bombay Stock exchange and
sample companies. The service sector was selected for the
purpose of study. Market leaders in information technology
and banking sectors were selected,as these two sectors were
affected by inflation and fall in rupee value. Exponential
Moving Average Model and chart analysis tool were used
to analyze data.

5.  Experimental Design

A) Infosys Ltd

Infosys Ltd is a market leader in Indian IT sector. It is
a multinational provider of business consulting, information
technology, software engineering and outsourcing services.
The stock is available for trading both in NSE (National
Stock Exchange) and BSE (Bombay Stock Exchange).
Exponential Moving average price of the stock has been
calculated based on 10 days moving period and using
historical monthly stock prices.

Table 1: Exponential Moving Average Price of Infosys Ltd

Month Closing Price PEMAP EMAP

11-Apr 2,905.95

11-May 2,791.85

11-Jun 2,907.40

11-Jul 2,766.80

11-Aug 2,342.80

11-Sep 2,533.80

11-Oct 2,875.20

11-Nov 2,607.55

11-Dec 2,765.05

12-Jan 2,743.35 2,723.98

12-Feb 2,875.40 2,723.98 2751.504

12-Mar 2,864.95 2751.504 2772.129

12-Apr 2,462.60 2772.129 2715.856

12-May 2,439.85 2715.856 2665.678

12-Jun 2,502.55 2665.678 2636.022

12-Jul 2,227.40 2636.022 2561.734

12-Aug 2,373.25 2561.734 2527.468

12-Sep 2,534.00 2527.468 2528.655

12-Oct 2,363.50 2528.655 2498.63

12-Nov 2,436.60 2498.63 2487.353

12-Dec 2,318.50 2487.353 2456.656

13-Jan 2,788.75 2456.656 2517.03

13-Feb 2,906.00 2517.03 2587.745

13-Mar 2,889.90 2587.745 2642.677

  Source: Bombay Stock Exchange

Figure No: 1

It is evident from the figure 1 that the EMAP
(Exponential Moving Average Price curve of Infosys Ltd
has intersected with closing price curve in January 2013
and started moving in upward direction signaling that the
stock price of Infosys Ltd will move in upward direction in
the future. The fact is that after intersection the price of
Infosys Ltd on BSE has fallen down. The observation of
stock price movement in the market revealed that the stock
price had actually moved in upward direction and is also
expected to move in upward direction in future period i.e. till
both curves intersect with each other.
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Investment Strategy

As stock price of Infosys Ltd  is expected to move in
upward direction therefore, it is recommended that the holder
of investors should wait till the stock reaches  resistance
level and movement it reached resistance  level he can
dispose of his holding. This strategy will help him to book
maximum profit from investment. Whereas, it not a right
time for buyers to buy Infosys Ltd.

Real time movement in Stock Price

Table 2: Real time movement in Stock Price

Month Closing Price 
Direction of 
Movement 

in Stock Price 
13 April 2,234.45 Downward 
13-May 2,407.60 Downward 
13-Jun 2,493.25 Downward 
13-Jul 2,495.70 Downward 

It is clear from the table 2 that stock price had fallen
down instead of moving in upward direction. The reasons
for the same include rumor about fall in profitability for the
financial year 2012-13. The EMAP model failed to prove the
movement in the stock price. Therefore, fundamental as well
as technical analysis should be carried simultaneously to
assess the movement in stock price.

B) State Bank of India

 State Bank of India is market leader in Indian banking
sector. SBI is a government-owned bank  with its
headquarters in Mumbai, Maharashtra. As of December
2012, it had assets of US$501 billion and 15,003 branches,
including 157 foreign offices, making it the largest banking
and financial services company in India by assets. The stock
is available for trading both in NSE and BSE. Exponential
Moving average price of the stock has been calculated based
on 10 days moving period and using historical monthly stock
prices.

Table 3: Exponential Moving Average Price of State Bank
of  India

Month Closing Price PEMAP EMAP

11-Apr 2,805.60
11-May 2,297.80
11-Jun 2,405.95
11-Jul 2,342.00
11-Aug 1,974.50
11-Sep 1,911.10

11-Oct 1,906.70

11-Nov 1,762.85

11-Dec 1,619.50
12-Jan 2,061.05 2,108.71
12-Feb 2,243.40 2,108.71 2133.193
12-Mar 2,095.00 2133.193 2126.249

12-Apr 2,137.95 2126.249 2128.376
12-May 2,055.60 2128.376 2115.146
12-Jun 2,159.15 2115.146 2123.146
12-Jul 2,005.20 2123.146 2101.703

12-Aug 1,845.00 2101.703 2055.034
12-Sep 2,237.90 2055.034 2088.279
12-Oct 2,109.60 2088.279 2092.156
12-Nov 2,170.05 2092.156 2106.317

12-Dec 2,383.75 2106.317 2156.754
13-Jan 2,436.60 2156.754 2207.63
13-Feb 2,085.40 2207.63 2185.409
13-Mar 2,072.75 2185.409 2164.927

Source: Bombay Stock Exchange

Figure 2

The figure 2 depicts that the EMA price curve of SBI
has intersected with closing price curve in March 2012 and
started moving upward. Again the curve intersected with
closing price curve in April 2012 and started falling down.
The EMAP curve interested with closing price curve in the
June 2013 and continued to fall down. The EMAP curve
intersected with closing price curve in September 2012 was
moving in upward direction. Again both the curves
interested each other in February 2013 and EMAP curve
started moving in downward direction indicating that the
stock price will fall down in the future period.  The fact is
that after intersection, the prices of SBI stock on BSE in
March 2013 has fallen down. In other words, the observation
of stock price movement revealed that the stock price had
actually moved in downward direction and is also expected
to move in downward direction in future period i.e. till both
curves intersect with each other.
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Investment Strategy

As the stock price of SBI Ltd is expected to move in

downward direction, therefore, it is recommended that

investors who want to liquidate their holding in SBI should

wait till EMAP curve intersects with closing price and

thereafter moves in upward direction. It is a right time to buy

SBI stock. However, it is recommended that the investors

should monitor support level before buying the stock.

Real time movement in Stock Price

TABLE 4: Real time movement in Stock Price

Month 

Closing 

Price 

Direction of 

Movement 

in Stock Price 

13 April 2,264.20 Upward  

13-May 2,047.70 Downward   

13-Jun 1,953.60 Downward 

13-Jul 1,896.35 Downward 

It is clear from the table 4 that stock price had fallen

down as per the prediction made by the model except in the

Month of April 2013.

6. Findings

EMAP model failed to prove the movement in the stock

price of Infosys Ltd. EMAP model had predicted that stock

price of Infosys Ltd is expected to move in upward direction.

But, the fact is that the stock price had fallen down. However,

the model was proved correct in predicting the movement in

stock price of State Bank of India.

7. Suggestions

As the stock price of Infosys Ltd is expected to move

in upward direction, it is suggested that investor should

liquidate his holding. It is better, if he look for resistance

level before liquidating his holding which will maximize the

profit from liquidation.  It is not a right time to buy stock of

Infosys Ltd. The stock price of SBI Ltd is expected to move

in downward direction. It is not a right time to sell it. However,

it is a right time to buy stock of SBI. It is recommended that

investors should monitor support level before buying the

stock. The real time stock price movement of SBI was as per

the prediction made by the EMAP model except Infosys

Ltd. Therefore, it is suggested that the investor should carry

out fundamental analysis followed by technical analysis.

The combination of fundamental as well as EMAP analysis

proved to be a scientific forecasting mechanism for

predicting future movement in stock price. This approach is

expected to help in maximizing profit but also managing risk.

The researchers are of the view that the traditional approach

to investor education has failed to yield results and that

radical reform is needed in investor education approach. In

this regard, it is suggested that SEBI should develop a new

approach for educating retail investors. The SEBI in

collaboration with Commerce and Management Education

Institutes should conduct training programme in fundamental

and technical analysis for retail investors. Research work done

in the area of financial literacy proved that a big-bang

programme on financial literacy had failed to achieve its pre-

determined goals. Therefore, it is suggested that such

programme should be revamped and new shape should be

given to the programme. The programme should be conducted

jointly by broking firms, educational institutions and investor

association. It also suggested that retail investors should set

up investor’s organization in the line of similar organization

functioning in USA. Such organizations are expected to play

a vital role in Indian stock market in protecting retail investor

interest as well as educating them.
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Law is one of the social sciences. The French

economists Gide speaks, law, ethics and political economy

are the sister sciences. To do one’s duty expresses an ethical

conception, to exercise one’s right is a legal conception, to

provide for one’s wants is an economic conception.
 

‘To

whom does it belong’ is a legal question. ‘To whom it ought

to belong’ is a question of border line between economics

and law. Therefore any classification of the social sciences

is always for convenience and therefore artificial. It is the

same object studied from different point of view.
1

‘No carpenter would have attempted to build a wooden

house without a hammer.’ Yet more than half a century since

right to be free from hunger was established in the Universal

Declaration of Human Rights in1948, the world has struggled

to end hunger without the similarly crucial tool of strong

law.
2

 With this background this paper intends to study,

‘The National Food security Act, 2013,’ a step towards

development and welfare of the people, a step forward to

fulfill the duty conferred upon the government by the

Directive Principles of the Indian Constitution. In this

endeavor the researcher will analytically try to investigate

the issues and doubts raised, as implementation cost,  its

impact on agriculture economy, subsidies and many more.

At the outset the amendments suggested, accepted and

rejected will also be overviewed.  The researcher will also

take resort to the judicial approach.

Impact of law on economic growth:

With reference to  National Food Security Act, 2013

Prof. Pradnya Rajebahadur

              Asst. Prof. Business Law, Joshi Bedekar College

Abstract : Law is one of the social sciences. The French economists Gide speaks, law, ethics and political economy the sister

sciences. To do one’s duty expresses an ethical conception, to exercise one’s right is a legal conception, to provide for one’s

wants, is an economic conception. To whom does it belong? Is a legal question. To whom ought to belong? Is a question of

border land between economics and law. Therefore any classification of the social sciences is always for convenience and

therefore artificial. It is the same object studied from different point of view.

With this background this paper intends to study, The Food security Act, 2013, recently passed by our legislation. Right to

food is one of the human rights, a right guaranteed under Art.21 of the Indian Constitution, and nevertheless one step ahead

towards development and welfare of the people. This is the duty conferred upon the government by the Constitution.

It is a bold initiative taken by the government the Act covers 67% of India’s population- 75% in rural areas and 50% in urban

areas. Each beneficiary will get 5 kg of rice or wheat or millet a month at a discounted rate of Rs. 3, Rs. 5, and Rs. 1,

respectively. The Act also provides for maternity benefits of Rs. 6000/ a month. Children in the age group of 6 months to 14

years will get home ration or hot cooked food. It has many such provisions which will boost the right to food.

This paper will analytically try to investigate the issues and doubts raised, such as cost of implementation, financial relation

between centre and states, its impact on agriculture economy, subsidies and many more. At the outset the amendments

suggested, accepted and rejected will also be overviewed. In this endeavor the researcher will also take resort to the judicial

approach.

This will surely throw more light upon the strong relationship between economics and law, as both personal and property

interests which the law recognizes and protects constitute an integral part of development of any sound economy.

Rome Declaration and Plan of Action came in 1996

stated that the right to adequate food is realized when every

man, woman and child alone or in community with others

has physical and economic access all the times to adequate

food or means for its procurement. FAO of UN stated, State

should not distribute free food but provide environment to

enable the food.  Food security is the precondition to achieve

right to food. Article 25 of Universal Declaration of Human

Right says that, everyone has the right to a standard of

living adequate for the health and wellbeing of himself and

of his family including food. Thus, right to food is one of

the Human Right.
3

Under Article 21 of Indian constitution Supreme Court

of India has interpreted and secured right to food as one of

the fundamental right in the year 1996 when the same was

defined in Rome Action Plan.
4

 In 2001 People’s Union for

Civil Liberties (PUCL), a NGO has filed a public interest

litigation and exposed the excessive amount of food grains

rotting in government granaries, while people continue to

die of hunger and starvation. It has asked  for legal

enforcement of right to food. The Court steeped  in and

ordered the implementation of eight centrally sponsored

scheme as legal entitlement .These include the public

Distribution System(PDS),Antyodaya Anna Yojana (AAY),

the Mid-May Meal scheme and Integrated Child

Development Service(ICDS), among others. In 2008, it is the

Supreme Court who has took the initiative and ordered that

Below Poverty Line families are entitled to 35 KgS of food

grains per month at subsided prices.
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 Thus it is the Indian judiciary and not the UPA

government who has actually initiated the process of food

security.  Supreme Court heavily came down on the

government and said that the poor storage condition in FCI

have caused deterioration of the food grains The amounts

of food being wasted for outweighs the amount needed to

assure food security the government continues to pay the

expenses of storage instead of distributing it to those in

dire need . The case has demonstrated that states cannot

escape the responsibility of ensuring the right to food and

the case continues –seeking to further strengthen the

formulation of food and related social security schemes.
5

In 2010, ‘National Advisory Council’ drafted the Bill

and it was introduced in Parliament in 2011. Before that,

Expert Committee under the Chairmanship of Dr. Rangarajan

has been set up to examine the implications of the Bill. The

expert committee recommended on four primary issues i.e.

food grain entitlement, subsidy, PDS reforms and agency

for identification of beneficiaries. Suggestions of the

Committee are broadly accepted.   The largest scheme

anywhere in the world gives right to subsided grains to

two-thirds of India’s 1.2 billion populations numbering

around 800 million. The Loksabha passed the Bill on August

26, while Rajya Sabha cleared it on 2
nd

September,2013.

The Food security is a bold initiative taken by the

government.  The Act covers 67% of India’s population-

75% in rural areas and 50% in urban areas. Each beneficiary

will get 5 kg of rice or wheat or millet a month at a discounted

rate of Rs. 3, Rs. 5, and Rs. 1 respectively. The Act also

provides for maternity benefits of Rs. 6000/ a month. Children

in the age group of 6 months to 14 years will get home ration

or hot cooked food 
6

 it has many such provisions which will

boost the right to food. But if in the true sense food security

is to be achieved the alienated rights, such as right to

education, right to information, right to work and other

obligations under Directive Principles of the Indian

Constitution are to be strictly implemented.
7

  Right to give

food to lactating mothers under the new law is in tune with

Article12 of Convention on Elimination Against Women

under International Human Rights Law.
.8

 The Act also talks

about woman empowerment by giving her the status of head

of household, representation of SC and ST.
9

 etc. Though

with these measures the government wants to satisfy all the

sections of society but  at the cost of what?  This issue is to

be addressed carefully.

 Hunger is not an individual problem but has its roots

in the country’s macroeconomics: the nature of employment

generation and the terms of trade between agriculture and

other sectors. The government through its policies

determines these macroeconomic variables.
10

 This will surely throw more light on the strong

relationship between economics and law, as both personal

and property interests, that law recognizes and protects,

constitute an integral part of development of any sound

economy.

 Farmers are at the bottom of food security, therefore,

if the farmers are secured in all aspects of the life food

security will be easy to achieve; but recent suicide cases of

farmers show that they are unsecured. Projection says that

by 2050 we would have forty percent more population than

it is now. With the Food security Act in place, can India

produce the required amount of food grain in the backdrop

of large number of farmers leaving farming? The answer is

‘NO’.  Therefore without farmer’s security being an inbuilt

mechanism in any Food Security programme we can’t

achieve our target. Thus, to secure farmer, we have to invest

in agriculture.  To boost the production, farmer should be

motivated for diversification,  educated about new

technology and growth and so on. Agriculture insurance

can also be provided to the farmers. 
11

The government would like the world especially Indian

voters to believe that the food security bill is the best piece

of legislation that the country has ever given. In reality,

there is every possibility that it would prove to be a disaster

within one year of its functioning especially for small farmers.

With this Act the poor farmer would prefer to purchase his

food requirement from PDS at Rs.3 or less per kg. This would

allow him to sell his own grains at the support price (Rs. 12-

13kg) and get his food at Rs.3. Unfortunately this will not

happen because procurement agencies will ignore him as in

the past. Worse, distress prices will be more heartbreaking

than before. With rice and wheat under the bill being sold at

Rs.3perkg, open market prices will be at around .Rs.7-8

compelling the farmers to sell at whopping 50% discount on

procurement prices. This will leave small farmers poorer than

before.

In fact it will also hurt agriculture because more farmers

will focus on growing the standard grade of rice that will be

procured by government. They will not focus on better

grades or even other grain types, which may affect export

and damage the food diversity of country. Similarly, with

increase demand for staples like wheat and rice, farmers

may choose to invest more in these crops rather than in

other (potentially higher value) crops, leading to a decrease

in agricultural diversification towards high value agriculture

and also to environmental effects. To solve this, procuring

the entire produce at support price, ensure proper storage

capacities is the solution.
12

According to Ashok Gulati, the Chairman of the

Commission on Agricultural Costs and Prices, to protect

the interest of the farmers, risk management strategy like,

‘US farm Bill’ will be useful, where more than 60% of premium

is going to be paid by the state. If the productivity goes

down that, or the prices go below that, his net income goes

below, what is insured and then the farmer is compensated

for the same. These are new tools which are less distorting

the production structure.
13
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  For the effective implementation of Law, programs

like Mahatma Gandhi Rural Employment Guarantee scheme

should be linked so that only poor get the employment and

food subsidy. Initially the process has to be piloted in certain

locations to know the realities. It has to be worked with

more investment in storage and distribution capacities. The

income level of farmers will also suffer because they will not

have more options, therefore the scheme may be brought in

a different way by extending support through food vouchers

and giving choice to beneficiaries to have their own choice.

The law which is  the revision of previous proposals

also includes an additional allocation of 6.5 million tonnes

of food grains for the welfare schemes such as school

feeding programs and additional subsidies for pregnant

woman. Overall the law provides 61.2 million tonnes of food

grains per year throughout India. Looking into the

Chattisgarh meal incident and recent cake incident in

Mumbai,to achieve  the goal of food security concern should

not only on providing food but nutritious food and for that

corruption is to be strictly punished. At the same time one

should see that students are coming to school to learn and

not just to have food.

The cost estimated 0.72 % of India’s GDP will not just

come from the grain themselves, setting up and maintaining

distribution centers and government agencies to monitor

the subsidies also creates a big expense. Critics say the

money could be better spent on generating employment,

improving rural and urban infrastructure, investing in

agriculture and number of other competing uses. Household

identification system is also not that simple it has changed

percentage of people getting benefits as well as price in

which they are getting benefit. Analysis shows that of the

household covered under the TDPS, 46% will be better off

under the current law, 14% will remain in their condition and

40% will actually be worse off. Implementation of this is

also a crucial issue both at the central and state level.  The

law is not clear about how cash transfers and food subsidies

could impact each other and India’s economy in the future.

In all, Food Security Act is a complicated programme that

could impact many aspects of India’s economy and food

security.
14

The paper authored by Ashok Gulati the Chairman,

Commission for Agricultural Costs and Prices (CACP) and

six other drawn from various fields including CACP said,

given the current trends and volatility in rates of growth in

food grain production and yields, the growing pressure on

land and water in the wake of climate change, dependence

on monsoon, there  is a possibility that food grain availability

on sustainable and stable basis would require a lot of

government efforts in all the concern aspects to meet the

commitments of food distribution  and this may have several

undesirable side effects.
15

Global rating agency Moody’s has given a thumb

down to the food security Bill.(the same has become a law

now)It opined the measure is credit negative as it will weaken

government finances and deteriorate macroeconomic

situation. Its impact on government finance will be less in

2013-2014, but much more in the years to come. It will raise

future subsidy expenditure commitments, hindering the

government’s ability to consolidate its finance. The agency

further said, India’s fiscal deficits are already higher than

those of its emerging market peers.
16

 Counter argument is

that, if law implemented strictly, the requirement of the storage

would decline since food grains would be distributed rather

than kept in the open where they rot and that would reduce

the subsidy.
17

T. Nanda kumar , former Agricultural  Secretary

expressed  his worry, that a totally cereal- based kind of

intervention could distort the long term objective of giving

proteins and nutrition through other means. He further said

the Bill (now law) is an expanded   PDS as it operates today.

Looking into the areas concentrated with the production of

food grains and the current logistics situation, distribution

of food grains and reaching it out to the places where the

people need it the most will be a major challenge. The Bill

will also have certain inflationary pressure on the open

market as government will procure most of the surpluses

and private market will face the scarcity. Therefore the major

change he suggested was that the Bill has to give adequate

freedom to state governments to procure and to distribute

locally produced grains, which will probably take care of a

large number of problems and will also boost agriculture.
18

Government will provide 63mn tonnes of food under

the law with the subsidy of $23bn.The food subsidy will go

up from 0.8% of GDP ( Gross Domestic Product) to about

1.1% of GDP with limited government resources. The key

concern today is the impact of growing food subsidies at a

time when the fiscal deficit has already exceeded target.

According  to Prof. Bhattacharya, more than that India’s

trade  deficit which will be hit hard as the programme will

require  70-80 million tonnes of more food every year. India

obviously does not produce that much and shortfall will

have to be met from import.  It will restrict investment in the

agricultural sector. The widening gap between the subsidized

and open market prices of rice and wheat may also lead to

more leakages from the PDS as well as pressure on prices of

food for those outside the scheme, which will lead to food

inflation. The policy makers say that the government can

find resources provided it cuts down or ends the oil subsidy

to offset the additional burden arising out of food security.

But the government is unlikely to do so as it will not go

down among the voters in an election year.
19

 It has been

countered that there will not be any inflationary pressure as

most of the inflation in food sector is from high value

commodities.
20

 It has been reported that India failed to convince WTO

and agreed under the ‘peace clause’ that developing
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countries will have four years respite from the harsh

provisions of the WTO law that limits market distorting farm

subsidies at 10%of the aggregate product, which is against

the provisions of food law.
21

 The G-33 Nations group of

emerging countries including India are demanding

amendment in WTO, Agreement of Agriculture(AoA) in

order to implement Food Security plan without attracting

any penalty even after reaching minimum subsidy cap. AOA

has entered into in 1995 and to calculate current subsidies

WTO uses the prices of 25 years ago. This is ridiculous

since food prices have shot up since then. Therefore recent

prices should be the reference. But developed countries

refuse to agree on it.  Most developed countries have shifted

towards green box subsidies where there are no limitations

or conditions and that are not thought to distort trade at all

for agriculture so they continue to provide enormous

support to farmers without breaching WTO commitments.

22

 With this background U.S. and Canada are raising doubts

that India’s food security law may distort international trade.

Is it not the double standard? This issue needs separate

discussion.

 The food security has caused much handwringing

amongst political pundits, economists, and media, asking if

India is already suffering from a budget deficit and struggling

with a deprecating currency can afford this extra burden.

Perhaps it can. The extra burden starts next year in April

that means it will not have an on impact deficit target for this

year. The country will have to buy 62mn tonnes of this food

every year. It bought 72Mn. tonnes of food grain in 2012-13

and 63.5mn tonne the year before. But the real concern is

how much will be siphoned off by greedy hands along the

way. Data shows that we have improved on that part too.

The amount of rice and wheat lost went down from 55% in

2005 to 35% in 2012. During the period the number of

households buying cereal went up from 23 to 50% in the

rural India and 31% in urban India.
23

  At the outset, if targeted effectively, the law will surely

improve consumption and economic growth, for that

government has to take effective measures to keep the

supply-chain intact, create an environment which leads to

entrepreneurs, business investment, consumption and

growth.  Amendments also have been suggested such as

community kitchen, an expanded and reformed PDS which

includes pulses, oil, and decentralized procurement which

will contribute to revitalizing agriculture, supportive services

such as breastfeeding counseling and supplementary

nutrition for mothers .Cost sharing between the centre and

states is also to be worked out so that states should not

overburdened
.24

 An analysis of provisions such as reforms in Targeted

Public Distribution System through delivery to the outlets,

computerization, grievance redressal mechanism through

call centers and help lines, constitution of State Food

Commission to review and monitor implementation,

obligation of Central and State Government, disclosure of

records to public, conducting social audit, setting up

Vigilance Committees and adhering to the strict penalty
25

with the help of strong consumer movement, makes it clear,

if implemented effectively law will reach to its success.

If the legislatures in years to come worked on the law

in its true sense, the political leaders do the politics in its

real sense, the citizens of India, the world and the history

will remember India to ignite ‘economic engine’ nothing else

but the health.
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Finance and Inclusive Development
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ABSTRACT : By financial inclusion, we mean the delivery of financial services, including banking services and credit, at an

affordable cost to the vast sections of disadvantaged and low-income groups who tend to be excluded. The various financial

services include access to savings, loans, insurance, payments and remittance facilities offered by the formal financial system.

India is one of the largest and fastest growing economies of the world, but what has been the most disturbing fact about its

growth is that its growth has not only been uneven but also discrete. It has been uneven in the sense that there has been no

uniformity in its growth performance and it has been discrete and disconnected with regard to growth and distribution of

growth benefits to certain sectors of economy.

India needs inclusive growth in order to attain sustainable development and equitable distribution of wealth and prosperity.

Achieving inclusive growth is important and one of the biggest challenges for India. The challenge is to take the levels of growth

to all sections of the society and to all parts of the country.

Thus the need for inclusive growth comes in the picture of Indian economic development. It plays a very crucial role in the

process of economic growth. Therefore, the present study focuses on need for inclusive growth. The main theme of the paper

is to evaluate the role and performance of financial inclusion in India.

1. Introduction

India is one of the largest and fastest growing

economies of the world, but what has been the most

disturbing fact about its growth is that its growth has not

only been uneven but also discrete. It has been uneven in

the sense that there has been no uniformity in its growth

performance and it has been discrete and disconnected with

regard to growth and distribution of growth benefits to

certain sections of society. As poverty, deprivation and

exclusion from the development process are substantially

overlapped and correlated with financial exclusion; driving

financial inclusion for inclusive growth is extremely

meaningful. Therefore, there may be an intricate two-way

relationship between financial inclusion and inclusive

growth. Since wellbeing of population depends mainly on

income, health, education and housing etc; access to

financial services can as well be considered as a basic

ingredient of human well-being. Without broad and easy

access to finance, the adverse consequences can be more

intense for the rural farmers, small business sector, urban

poor and other poorer sections of the society.

Capital Formation is essential for inclusive and

sustainable growth. It can be achieved through credit and

financial services. Therefore, well-functioning financial

system should create equal opportunities, which enable the

socially and economically excluded people to participate in

the economy and contribute for the growth. Thus the need

for inclusive growth comes in the picture of Indian economic

development.

In most developing economies, financial services are

only available to a minority of the population, frequently to

only a very small minority. Although financial sectors are

expanding as these economies grow, financial assets usually

remain highly concentrated in the hands of a few. The

majorities of the people in developing countries have no

savings accounts, do not receive credit from a formal financial

institution, and have no insurance policies. In this

connection, Kofi Annan, former United Nations (UN)

Secretary General said, “The stark reality is that most poor

people in the world still lack access to sustainable financial

services, whether it is savings, credit or insurance. The

great challenge before us is to address the constraints that

exclude people from full participation in the financial

sector…Together; we can and must build inclusive

financial sectors that help people improve their lives.”

2. Objectives

In this paper, an effort has been made to understand

the financial inclusion as an instrument to attain inclusive

growth. The specific objectives of the research paper are as

follows.

1. To understand the meaning of financial inclusion.

2. To study the need and role of financial inclusion in

inclusive growth.

3. To know the extent of financial inclusion in India.

4. To study the government measures towards financial

inclusion

3. Meaning and Need for Inclusive Growth

Financial inclusion denotes delivery of financial

services at an affordable cost to the vast sections of the

disadvantaged and low-income groups. The various

financial services include credit, savings, insurance and

payments and remittance facilities. The objective of financial

inclusion is to extend the scope of activities of the organized
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financial system and to include it within ambit of people

with low incomes.  By financial inclusion, we mean the

delivery of financial services, including banking services

and credit, at an affordable cost to the vast sections of

disadvantaged and low-income groups who tend to be

excluded. The various financial services include access to

savings, loans, insurance, payments and remittance facilities

offered by the formal financial system.

Rangarajan Committee (2008) viewed financial

inclusion as “The process of ensuring access to financial

services and timely and adequate credit where needed by

vulnerable groups such as weaker sections and low income

groups at an affordable cost”.  In simpler terms, financial

inclusion is about including the excluded in the financial

system of the country, and to ensure that their financial &

social security needs are taken care of through appropriate

financial service providers.

Reserve Bank of India (RBI) has formulated the policy

to provide banking services at an affordable cost to the

large sections of the disadvantaged and low income groups.

Reserve Bank of India (RBI) defines financial inclusion as

“It is the process of ensuring access to appropriate financial

products and services needed by all sections of the society

in general and vulnerable groups such as weaker sections

and low income groups in particular at affordable cost in

a fair and transparent manner by mainstream institutional

players”.

In recent years, India has adopted an approach to

establish the basic right of every people to have access to a

bank account. This approach is based on fundamental

principle of 5A’s i.e. Awareness, Availability, Adequacy,

Affordability and Accessibility. This approach ensures that

adequacy and availability of basic financial services to all

sections of the society, increasing awareness of such

financial services, affordability and accessibility of financial

products by all sections of the society.

4. Need of Financial Inclusion

India needs inclusive growth in order to attain rapid

and disciplined growth. Inclusive growth is necessary for

sustainable development and equitable distribution of wealth

and prosperity. Achieving inclusive growth is important and

is one of the biggest challenges for India. The challenge is

to take the levels of growth to all sections of the society and

to all parts of the country. Rapid growth in the rural economy,

sustainable urban growth, infrastructure development,

reforms in education, health, ensuring future energy needs,

a healthy public-private partnership, intent to secure

inclusivity, making all sections of society equal stakeholders

in growth, and above all good governance will ensure that

India achieves what it deserves. The main thrust areas for

need of inclusive growth can be summarized as below:

i) Removal of poverty and unemployment

ii) Removal of income inequalities

iii) Agricultural Development

iv) Reduction in regional disparity

v) For social sector development

vi) Protecting environment

However, for attaining the objectives of inclusive

growth there is a need for resources, and for resource

generation and mobilization financial inclusion is required.

It plays a very crucial role in the process of economic growth.

Financial inclusion through appropriate financial services

can solve the problem of resource availability, mobilization

and allocation particularly for those who do not have any

access to such resources.

5. Extent of Financial Inclusion in India

Financial inclusion has always been accorded high

importance by the Reserve Bank and Government of India

to aid the inclusive growth process for the economy. The

history of financial inclusion in India is actually much older

than the formal adoption of the objective. The nationalization

of banks, Lead Bank Scheme, incorporation of Regional Rural

Banks, Service Area Approach and formation of Self-Help

Groups  all these were initiatives aimed at taking banking

services to the masses.

a) Expansion of Branches of Scheduled Commercial Banks

Nationalization of commercial banks is a pioneer step

in India, which extends the accessibility of banking services

to the mass people in the country. At the time of

nationalization of commercial banks, in 1969, there were 8,826

bank branches of scheduled commercial banks in India.

In November 2005, banks were advised to make available a

basic banking ‘no-frills’ account with low or nil minimum

stipulated balance as well as charges to expand the outreach

of such accounts to vast sections of the population.

According to the information available with the Reserve

Bank, about five lakh no-frill accounts have been opened

until March 31, 2006, of which about two-third are with the

public sector and one-third with the private sector banks.

Still, majority of the poor people particularly from rural areas

in the country do not have access to the banking services.

Following table shows number of branches of scheduled

commercial banks in rural, semi-urban, urban and

metropolitan areas in India.
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Population Group-Wise Number of Branches of

Scheduled Commercial Banks

(Number)

Year Rural
Semi-

Urban

Urban
Metrop

olitan

Total

1995 33004 13341 8868 7154 62367

1996 32995 13561 9086 7384 63026

1997 32915 13766 9340 7529 63550

1998 32878 13980 9597 7763 64218

1999 32857 14168 9898 8016 64939

2000 32734 14407 10052 8219 65412

2001 32562 14597 10293 8467 65919

2002 32380 14747 10477 8586 66190

2003 32303 14859 10693 8680 66535

2004 32121 15091 11000 8976 67188

2005 32082 15403 11500 9370 68355

2006 30106 15760 12200 11800 69866

2007 30248 16522 13070 12421 72261

2008 30772 17768 14333 13383 76256

2009 31453 19058 15374 14332 80217

2010 32473 20778 16810 15457 85518

2011 33909 23053 17749 16445 91156

2012 36428 25750 18980 17439 98597

Source: http://www.rbi.org.in/scripts/Publications

View.aspx?id=15187

It is observed that number of bank branches in rural

areas have been increased from 33004 in the year 1995 to

36428 in the year 2012 but per cent with total bank branches

is decreased from 52.91 per cent to 36.94 per cent during

same period. As on 31
st

 March 2013, average population per

bank is 12,100.

b) Co operative Credit Institutions

In India, cooperative movement was the first

experiment towards financial inclusion in India. However, at

present, the major concern for the policy makers is about

the health of rural co-operative credit institutions in the

country. At present, there are 96149 credit co-operatives in

India, out of which, 1566 are urban credit co-operatives and

94531 are rural credit co-operatives. Again rural credit co-

operatives divided in to four categories as State Co-

operative Agriculture and Rural Development Banks (20),

Primary Co-operative Agriculture and Rural development

Banks (69), District Central Co-operative Banks (370) and

Primary Agricultural Co-operatives (93413) Regional Rural

Banks (RRBs) are involved in promoting financial inclusion

by opening ‘No Frill Accounts, issuing Kisan Credit Cards

(KCC).

c) Total Number of Kisan Credit Cards (KCC) issued in

India

Kisan Credit Card is one of the important instruments

of financial inclusion. The total number of

Kisan Credit Cards issued by Co operative Banks,

Regional Rural Banks and Commercial Banks are shown in

following table.

(Amount in Rs. Bn.)

Issued 

By

Co 

operative 

Banks

Regiona

l Rural 

Banks

Commerc

ial Banks

Total

No. of 

KCC

2961 1995 6804 11760

Amou

nt 

Sancti

oned

106.4 115.2 695.1 916.8

d) SHG-Bank Linkage Programme

SHG-Bank Linkage is considered as a tool for

alleviating poverty through empowerment of rural poor,

especially women. It provides opportunities for the rural

poor to participate in the development process. Within a

short period of time, it has brought more and more rural

people under sustainable development activities in the

country. Following table shows the performance of Self-

Help Group-Bank Linkage Programme in India.

Self-Help Group-Bank Linkage Programme

(Amount in ‘ Billion)

Year (end -

March)

No. of SHGs 

Linked

Bank 

Loan

Refinance 

Assistance

1995-96 2635 0.04 0.04

1996-97 3841 0.06 0.05

1997-98 5719 0.12 0.11

1998-99 18678 0.33 0.31

1999-00 81780 1.36 0.98

2000-01 149050 2.88 2.51

2001-02 197653 5.45 3.96

2002-03 255882 10.22 6.22

2003-04 361731 18.56 7.05

2004-05 539365 29.94 9.68

2005-06 620109 44.99 10.68

2006-07 1105749 65.70 12.93

2007-08 1227770 88.49 16.16
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2008-09 1609586 122.54 26.20

2009-10 1586822 144.53 31.74

2010-11 1196134 145.48 31.74

2011-12 1147878 165.35 30.73

Source: http://www.rbi.org.in/scripts/Publications

View.aspx?id=15192,

The above table reveals that number of SHGs. under

this programme has been increased rapidly. In the year 1995-

96 the number of SHGs was 2635, bank loan and refinance

assistance was Rs. 0.04 Bn. In the year 2011-12 the number

is increased to 1147878 , bank loans increased to Rs. 165.35

Bn. and refinance assistance to Rs. 30.73 Bn.

6. Government Measures

To extend the reach of banking to those outside the

formal banking system, Government and Reserve Bank of

India (RBI) are taking various initiatives from time to time,

some of which are enumerated below.

1. Government had issued detailed strategy and

guidelines on Financial Inclusion in October 2011,

advising banks to open branches in all habitations of

5,000 or more population in under-banked districts.

2. Banks have been advised to ensure service area bank

in rural areas and banks assigned the responsibility in

specific wards in urban area to ensure that every

household has at least one bank account.

3. With the objective of ensuring greater financial

inclusion and increasing the outreach of the banking

sector, banks were permitted by RBI in 2006 to use the

services of intermediaries in providing financial and

banking services through the use of Business

Facilitators (BFs) and Business Correspondents (BCs).

4. Considering the need for close supervision and

mentoring of the Business Correspondent Agents

(BCAs) by the respective banks and to ensure that a

range of banking services are available to the residents

of such villages, Ultra Small Branches (USBs) are being

set up in all villages covered through BCAs under

Financial Inclusion.

5. All the 129 unbanked blocks (91 in North East States

and 38 in other States) identified in the country in July

2009, had been provided with banking facilities by

March 2012, either through Brick and Mortar Branch

or Business Correspondents or Mobile van. As a next

step, it has been advised to cover all those blocks with

BCA and Ultra Small Branch, which have so far been

covered by mobile van only.

6. The objective of DBT Scheme is to ensure that money

under various developmental schemes reaches

beneficiaries directly and without any delay. The

scheme has been launched in the country from January,

2013 and has been rolled out in a phased manner, starting

with 26 welfare schemes, in 43 districts. The scheme is

now being extended to additional 78 districts and

additional 3 schemes from 1st July, 2013 and would be

extended to the entire country in a phased manner.

7. Conclusion

Universal financial inclusion is both a national

commitment and a policy priority. The Reserve Bank and

the Government of India have taken several initiatives in

this direction. The provision of BCs in several villages has

created a sense of awareness among villagers about banking.

However, major challenges remain as about 40 per cent of

our population lacks access to even the simplest kind of

formal financial services. In order to ensure that the financial

inclusion initiatives fructify, there is a need to enlarge the

number and value of transactions in no-frills accounts.

Financial inclusion is a strategy adopted by Reserve

Bank of India (RBI) to achieve an inclusive growth in the

country. If it is properly implemented and executed in every

part of the country, then this can lift the standard of living

of the majority of the poor people in the country.  In this

connection Dr. Y. V. Reddy, Former Governor, Reserve Bank

of India said “Financial inclusion is not a matter of

philosophy but can lead to a win-win situation for the

banks and the customers… Treat financial inclusion as

investment for business. It’s the mass movies that make

money”
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Abstract:  This article aims to analyze the role of Information Technology enabled Banking services and its impact on Financial

Inclusion in the Indian Banking Sector. The   study will focus on various delivery channels offered by the Indian Banking
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will attempt to find how the future banking can cover large number of unbanked rural population in India so as to fulfill the aim

of Financial Inclusion.
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1. Introduction

 RBI has defined Financial Inclusion as “the process

of ensuring access to appropriate financial products and

services needed by all sections of the society in general and

vulnerable groups such as weaker sections and low income

groups in particular, at an affordable cost in a fair and

transparent manner by regulated mainstream institutional

players.”

RBI ex-Governor Duvvuri Subbarao has stated that

“Financial Inclusion is important because it is a necessary

condition for equitable growth. Just about 40% of the

population across the country has bank accounts. Millions

of households across the country are thereby denied the

opportunity to harness their earning capacity and

entrepreneurial talent and are condemned to marginalization

and poverty”.

Poverty and financial exclusion are the main features

of socio-economic scenario of India in the last six decades

after attaining independence. India’s Five year plans and

development policies have introduced different anti-poverty

plans, employment generation schemes with an aim to bring

the poor into the main stream. But it is sad that one-third of

world’s poor still live in India.

The banks act as a mobiliser of saving and an agent to

allocate credit to manufacturing and service sector for income

generation. The banking sector with its new innovative

technologies can bring about required change; not hitherto

achieved by governmental intervention. The co-operative

movement, Regional Rural Banks and nationalized banks

have not been able to reduce financial exclusion as desired

by RBI.

So this paper intends to study how the banks and

their emerging technologies will help the cause of financial

inclusion.

2. Research Methodology

The researcher has collected information through

various websites of banks, RBI website, magazines, journals,

data bases like EBSCO, JSTOR and newspapers.

3. Literature Review

Minakshi Ramji(2009) defined “Financial inclusion is

the timely delivery of financial services to the disadvantaged

sections of society and financial exclusion would mean the

inability of the disadvantaged to access financial services”.

She had studied the process of financial inclusion in

Gulbarga (Karnataka) after interviewing 999 respondents.

She concluded that combining government programs (eg.

NREGP) with the opening of savings account could

encourage more unbanked population to first access and

then use banking facilities for other purposes.

Eileen Fischer (2012) of York University states that

throughout the world the migrant poor consumers are facing

financial insecurity and deprivation as it is difficult to fulfill

their consumption needs.

Shilpi Khandelwal (2012) stated that “the tremendous

advances in technology and aggressive infusion  of

information technology has brought in a paradigm shift in

banking operations”. The recent trends in e-banking have

added strength to banking sector to do large scale payments

electronically. This has improved the service quality offered

by banks  resulting in increased customer satisfaction,

reduced cost and enhanced productivity. The author has

suggested that the application of new technology has

brought about a rapid change in banking business. The

author has stated that “availability of ATM’s, plastic cards,

Electronic Fund Transfer(EFT), Electronic Clearing Services,

internet banking, mobile banking  and phone banking has

provided a wider range of services to customers”.

Alice Allan, Maud Massu and Christine Svarer in the

Barclays (Banking for change) Report has extensively dealt

on the topics of financial inclusion, financial exclusion and
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the methods adopted by the Barclays Bank in the African

continent to cover the unbanked population. The report

states that “poor people need a range of services not just

credit, given that their incomes are low, unpredictable and

irregular” (Collins et.al, 2010).The report has quoted an

Indian report that has emphasized “the need to accelerate

domestic saving to finance capital accumulation and foster

higher income and growth’’ (Tarlok singh, 2010).It further

stresses that money saved by poor  people can be used to

finance the corporates.

The report has identified the barriers to financial

inclusion. They can be mentioned as follows:-

• Lack of Financial Literacy

• Gender Discrimination

• Age Discrimination

• Low and unpredictable income

• Mistrust and inappropriate products

• Commercial viability

Olga Morawczynski, David Hutchful, Nimmy

Rangaswamy and Edward Cutrell working with Microsoft

Research India have dealt with many facets considered with

financial inclusion and financial education alongwith

contribution to Information Communication Technology

Development (ICTD) literature.

The authors expressed that only access to banking

channels as a major financial inclusion instrument is not so

important. They commented that appropriate usage will have

higher impact on creating wider financial inclusion.

The authors have dealt with the extensive role played

by technology service providers such as Financial

Information Network and Operations Ltd.(FINO) and A Little

World (ALW) in financial inclusion. These companies are

the provider of the platform to process remote branchless

banking. The companies have an authority to handle

Government to Person(G2P) payments in some areas by

providing no frills savings account to large unbanked

population.

The FINO’s Point Of Transaction (POT) is successful

on account of following:-

• Extensive usage of widespread mobile network in

India

• Consumer trust on fingerprint authentication

mechanism.

• Transaction receipts are issued on the spot so as

to avoid future disputes.

• Branchless Banking strategy through FINO

agents increases the reach of banking in remote

areas.

• Transaction costs are low; as operating cost of

brick and mortar branches in remote villages is

saved.

ALW has introduced a major cost reduction technique

by using Near Field Communication (NFC) mobiles having

a fingerprint authenticator, a contactless smartcard and a

printer to process transactions.

Dr. Roshan Lal and Dr. Rajni Saluja (2012) have studied

and analyzed the progress made by Indian banking industry

in the field of technology adoption. The parameters

considered were branch computerization, Automated Teller

Machines, electronic payment methods etc. The authors

have analyzed the problems faced by banks in technology

adoption.

The authors stated that the e-banking products and

services offered by Indian banks are as follows:-

• Automated Teller Machines (ATM)

• Internet banking

• Mobile banking

• Phone banking

• Electronic clearing services (ECS)

• Electronic clearing cards

• Smart cards

• Door step banking

• Electronic Fund Transfer

The authors have recommended that “e-banking

services should be customized on the basis of age, gender,

occupation etc. so that the needs and requirements of people

are met accordingly.”

Thus adoption of new banking technologies can be

helpful in financial inclusion.

4. RBI views on adopting Financial Inclusion through

adoption of new banking Technologies

RBI is the most important organization that is creating

the roadmap to be followed by banks in India to adopt

strategies for financial inclusion. Therefore, it is essential to

study the views of RBI officials and various committees on

this topic.

The RBI Committee on Customer Service (2011) in

banks has stated that “rural customers see banks as vehicles

of socio-economic development and expect a very pro-active

and supportive role in this regard from them”. They further
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suggested that the business should utilize mobile banking

for delivering financial services at a reduced cost.

K.C.Chakraborty (2013) has quoted the World Bank

Findex Survey (2012) report that “only 35% of Indian adults

had access to bank account and 8% borrowed formally in

the last 12 months”. He has specified that financial literacy

makes people aware of new financial products and services

leading to demand and use. Financial Stability and

Development Council   has developed a National Strategy

for Financial Education (NSFE) to increase financial literacy

of unbanked population.

The IT vision of RBI 2011-2017 states that “the role of

IT in Banking needs to focus   on

• Introducing technologies that balance3 C’s Cost,

Control and Customer Service.

• Adoption of technology based strategies for

financial inclusion”.

5. Technological innovations by Banks to assist

Financial Inclusion, using new delivery channels.

Sanjeev Kumar Gupta (RBI IT Department) has

commented that Information Technology facilitates financial

inclusion by reducing transaction cost for customers as

well as making retail banking cheaper, easier and faster.

Technological innovations by Banks to assist financial

inclusion can be discussed as follows:-

• Core Banking  Solutions (CBS) offered by banking

sector has improved effective delivery of services as

customers can avail banking services from any branch

other than where they have an account.

• ATMs are very useful for withdrawing money at any

time.

• National Payment Systems

Electronic Payments

Banks are encouraging customers to utilize electronic

mode for various payments and increase paperless

transactions.

Electronic Clearing Service (ECS)

ECS is used for repetitive and periodic payments like

individual payment of utility bills like electricity, phone, EMI

on housing loan etc.. Institutions can use it for periodic

bulk payments of salary, dividend, interest  etc..

National Electronic Funds  Transfer (NEFT)

NEFT is an interbank electronic fund transfer from

any bank branch to any other individual or company having

account with other participating bank.

Real Time Gross Settlement System (RTGS) is useful

as it is almost instantaneous transfer of funds.

· Point of Sale (POS) Terminals

Over 5 lakh POS terminals in India enable customers

to use credit/debit cards to settle payments for purchase of

goods and services.

· Business Correspondent (BC) IT based model.

Banks have to install offsite Real Time monitoring

system by using Global Positioning system (GPS) and

General Packet Radio services (GPRS) technologies through

use of mobile and communication network.

UID (Adhar) based Micro ATM. Business

Correspondent’s (BC’s) will be banker to Rural customers,

who can use (POS) after authentication for deposit and

withdrawal of funds. This will help in financial inclusion.

6. Application of technology- some corporate cases

Allahabad Bank has 13 Financial literacy and credit

counseling centres (FLCC) in Uttar Pradesh, West Bengal

and Madhya Pradesh. It has four satellite branches, three

mobile branches, covering 22 villages. It has utilized ICT

based business correspondent model to 4169 villages. The

bank has opened 218 ultra small branches (USB), where one

officer visits the village on all working days with laptop

having VPN connectivity to render all types of banking

solutions.

NABARD- The apex body for rural development has

offered smart card based ICT solution to many villages in

association with the Aryavat Gramin Bank, for spreading

financial inclusion. Further NABARD has established the

Financial Inclusion Fund that has sanctioned about Rs 181.64

crores in the current year. The Financial Inculsion

technology fund has also contributed Rs 365.49 crores,

where by the Regional Rural banks and Cooperative banks

are supported  for establishing technology driven banking

operations for spreading financial literacy.

White label ATMs.

These are ATMs that are neither owned or operated

by any bank.RBI has granted permission to non-banking

companies to open white label ATMs in unbanked areas.

Customers can make use of debit card of any bank to

withdraw cash from such ATMs.

Tata Communication Payment Solution has received

RBI permission to install 15000 ATMs in next three years.

The company has installed 400 such ATMs, till now. It is the

first company to operate such ATMs in India.

Other companies like Muthoot Finance, Prism

Payments, AGS Transact, SREI Infrastructure are among 12

companies that have achieved in principle RBI approval for
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installing White label ATM’s to spread financial

inclusion.(Economic Times, 31
st

 October 2013)

HDFC bank’s Milk to Money ATM’s.

HDFC bank has shown a new path leading to financial

inclusion in the state of Gujarat(India).The bank  has brought

an Australian machine, that helps in immediate transfer of

money to milk producers on delivery of milk.

The machine has an ATM machine, which has links

with a ‘Tonto’ box, which is placed in milk society office. On

delivery, farmers’ milk is measured for weight as well as fat

content. This information is transferred electronically to the

society office. The officials authorize the bank for making

payment to farmer. The amount is then immediately credited

to farmer’s account and he can immediately withdraw money

from an attached ATM. HDFC Bank has already installed 37

such ATMs and has future plans to increase upto 250 by

March 2013.(Business India , Oct 14-27, 2013)

Conclusion

The New RBI Governor has agreed that, if foreign

banks change their Indian Units into wholly owned

subsidiaries, they will have to open at least 25 % new

branches in unbanked rural areas (Tier 5 and Tier 6) as per

guidelines given to Indian Banks also. This will enable to

achieve RBI’s aim of financial inclusion by permitting White

label ATM’s.

The Financial Literacy program will play an important

role in integrating financial inclusion through emerging

banking technologies and RBI dream of making available

banking facilities to a village population of around 2000

people also will be fulfilled. If the RBI grants a banking

license to Indian Post, this will help in achieving the aim of

financial inclusion, as the wide spread rural network of postal

services would to be put to use. if new banking technologies

are adopted by them.

RBI has adopted a Bank led model for financial

inclusion, that also includes Non banking Finance

companies to operate White label ATMs.

Nearly 2,68,000 banking outlets have been set up in

villages,  as on March 2013 as against 67694 banking outlets

in villages in March 2010(RBI Bulletin October 2013).

The banks have to develop technology for increasing

reachability to unbanked areas at the same time targeting

cost minimization. The banks have to now adopt new

Business models and tap various delivery channels like

Business Correspondent model, Ultra small Branches,

Biometric ATMs, etc.

Banks have to introduce new banking as well as

insurance products to overcome Financial Exclusion.

As K.C Chakraborty(2013) has rightly said” For Banks,

the focus has to be , on building a sustainable , scalable,

and cost efficient Business delivery model by leveraging

upon technology”.
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Abstract: The ‘inclusive growth’ as a strategy of economic development received attention owing to a rising concern that the

benefits of economic growth have not been equitably shared. Growth is inclusive when it creates economic opportunities along

with ensuring equal access to them. Apart from addressing the issue of inequality, the inclusive growth may also make the

poverty reduction efforts more effective by explicitly creating productive economic opportunities for the poor and vulnerable

sections of the society.  The inclusive growth by encompassing the hitherto excluded population can bring in several other

benefits as well to the economy.   The concept “Inclusion” should be seen as a process of including the excluded as agents

whose participation is essential in the very design of the development process, and not simply as welfare targets of development

programmes. Financial inclusion improved social and economic status of the poor and neglected segment of the society. Micro

finance has emerged as one of the important instruments of poverty alleviation and empowering poor. The regulatory

environment of micro finance sector is complex one which is also affected by the new policy regime.  The private investors see

micro finance as attractive commercial investment opportunities since the recovery of loans in SHG based micro financing has

been highly satisfactory. Government of India is also promoting financial inclusion through its banking policies and encouraging

micro financing through launching of several SHG based micro financing programmes and schemes.
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Inroduction

Inclusive growth refers both to the pace and pattern

of growth, which are considered interlinked and therefore,

in need to be addressed together. The idea that both the

pace and pattern of growth are critical for achieving a high,

sustainable growth record, as well as poverty reduction, is

consistent with the findings in the Growth Report: Strategies

for Sustained Growth and Inclusive Development

(Commission on Growth and Development, 2008). The

commission notes that inclusiveness – a concept that

encompasses equity, equality of opportunity and protection

in market and employment transitions – is an essential

ingredient of any successful growth strategy. Here we

emphasize the idea of equality of opportunity in terms of

access to markets, resources and unbiased regulatory

environment for businesses and individuals. The inclusive

growth approach takes a long term perspective as the focus

is on productive employment rather than on direct income

redistribution, as a means of increasing incomes for excluded

groups. In the short run, governments could use income

distribution schemes to attenuate negative impacts on the

poor of policies intended to jump start growth but transfer

schemes cannot be an answer in the long run and can be

problematic also in the short run.5 In poor countries such

schemes can impose significant burdens on already

stretched budgets and it is theoretically impossible to reduce

poverty through redistribution in countries where average

income falls below US$ 700 per year. According to a recent

OECD study, even in developed countries, redistribution

schemes cannot be the only response to rising poverty rates

in certain segments of the population.

Financial Inclusion for Inclusive Growth

The challenges of achieving more inclusive growth

can be met by policies that encourage easier and affordable

access to financial services. Both theoretical and empirical

researches highlight the role of financial development in

facilitating economic development. At the cross-country

level, evidence indicates that various measures of financial

development are positively related to economic growth. The

cross-country data and evidence from specific policy

experiments suggest that more developed financial systems

are associated with lower inequality and lower financial

exclusion. The impact through the mechanism of financial

markets may be more sustainable than the grants and

subsidies. Hence, if financial market frictions are not

addressed, redistribution approach for equality may have

to be endlessly repeated, which could result in damaging

incentives to work and save. (World Bank, op cit).The

financial development and improved access to banking and

related services not only accelerate economic growth but

also reduce income inequality and poverty.  Without

inclusive financial systems, the financially excluded

individuals and enterprises with promising opportunities

are limited to their own savings and earning. Increased

market imperfections further have adverse impact on

inclusive growth.

Financial inclusion

The definitional emphasis of financial inclusion varies

across the countries and geographies, depending on the

level of social, economic and financial development; the

structure of stake holding in the financial sector; socio-

economic characteristics of the financially excluded
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segments and also the extent of the recognition of the

problem by authorities or governments. Rangarajan

Committee on Financial Inclusion (2008) defined it as a “The

process of ensuring access to financial services and timely

and adequate credit where needed by vulnerable groups

such as weaker sections and low income groups at an

affordable cost”. Another notable definition is “Financial

inclusion is the  process of ensuring access to appropriate

financial products and services needed by vulnerable

groups such as weaker sections and low income groups at

an affordable cost in a fair and transparent manner by

mainstream Institutional players.” (K.C. Chakrabarty, 2009).

Financial inclusion for inclusive growth

Financial inclusion is necessary for inclusive growth.

Growth is inclusive when there is equality of economic

opportunities. The seeds of financial inclusion were sown

over 35 years ago when rural banks were established

throughout the country. The branch network which was

just 8000 in 1969 when banks were nationalized now has

increased to more than 87000 because of the banking

industry coming forward to take up social responsibilities.

Still numerous villages do not have any access to the

banking facilities.

Financial inclusion is integral to the inclusive growth

process and sustainable development of the country.

However, the financial inclusion models that banks come

up with should be replicable and viable across the country.

The Finance Minister said that although the banking

network has rapidly expanded over the years, the key

challenge would be to extend the banking coverage to

include the large population living in 6 lakh villages in the

country. Expressing his immense confidence in the Indian

banking system to deliver on the plan for financial inclusion,

Mr. Mukherjee said that the system which demonstrated its

resilience in the face of the recent global financial crisis,

should adopt strong and urgent measures to reach the

unbanked segment of society and unlock their savings and

investment potentials. To tap the fortune at the bottom of

the pyramid, he recommended robust electronic transfers

between bank branches located in the rural hinterland. This

will facilitate the rural customers to transfer their income

and conduct financial transactions seamlessly.  He urged

the private sector to support the designing of physical

products including devices, software and financial services,

training and capacity building so as to create a large

manpower pool including business correspondents and

develop a business plan to tap the local talent that exists in

the rural areas.

Dr Janmejaya Sinha, Chairman, CII Taskforce on

Financial Inclusion and Chairman (Asia Pacific), The Boston

Consulting Group said that 135 million of the 204 million

households in the country face financial inclusion. Now,

with 570 million people in the country being in the 0-25 age

group, a very large segment would be entering the workforce

in the coming years. Their financial inclusion at this stage

would be of critical importance in the context of inclusive

growth process and sustainable development.  He further

said that financial illiteracy is a key stumbling block in

furthering financial inclusion. This has led to the financial

illiterate segment making negative savings in many cases.

He added that banks need to view the situation as not an

obligation to be met but an opportunity that is to be weaved

into their business strategies. He felt that a pro-active

approach will see the banking network expanding in an all-

inclusive manner like the telecom sector did.   He also set a

five point agenda for financial inclusion, which called for-

(i) Increasing overall consciousness of the need for

financial inclusion;

(ii) Increase in wireless and broadband connectivity in the

rural areas to support rural banking;

(iii) spread of financial literacy programmes;

(iv) Greater experimentation for financial inclusion through

business correspondents, self-help groups, etc.

(v) Greater collaboration between the key stakeholders in

the banking system.

Ms Chanda Kochhar, Chairperson, CII National

Committee on Banking and Managing Director and CEO,

ICICI Bank said that with a low ratio of one bank branch for

16,000 people, financial inclusion is far-fetched today. But,

the idea of financial inclusion should be broad-based, such

that people are able to not only access credit, but also fetch

various financial services and products through the banking

access point.  She also said that at the micro-level, the

financial services providers should aim for a holistic

approach that meets the different financial needs of the

target customers, address not just rural but also large urban

excluded segments, reduce cost of transactions with proper

technology adoption and support the development of

support infrastructure.

In his Budget Speech for the year 2011-12 the Finance

Minister stated that the Government has decided to provide

appropriate banking facilities to the habitants having

population in excess of 2000, as per 2001 census, by March

2012. For this purpose 73000 such habitants all over country

have been identified and allocated to public sector banks,

regional rural banks, private sector banks and co-operative

banks for extending banking services by using the services

of business correspondents and other models, with

appropriate technology back up by March 2012.

The banks have already covered 29,000 villages by

March 2011 and it is hoped that the remaining 44,000 villages

would be covered by March 2012.Self help groups are one

of the few channels through which financial inclusion can

be accelerated. The banks in general can do more bringing
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the banking services to the door steps of the under

privileged through Financial Inclusion Plan.

Inclusive Growth : Role of Financial Sector

 There are supply side and demand side factors driving

Inclusive Growth. Banks and other financial services players

largely are expected to mitigate the supply side processes

that prevent poor and disadvantaged social groups from

gaining access to the financial system.  Access to financial

products is constrained by several factors which include:

lack of awareness about the financial products, unaffordable

products, high transaction costs and products which are

not convenient, inflexible, not customized and of low quality.

Financial Inclusion promotes thrift and develops the

culture of saving and also enables efficient payment

mechanism strengthening the resource base of the financial

institution which benefits the economy as resources become

available for efficient payment mechanism and allocation.

The empirical evidence shows that countries with large

proportion of population excluded from the formal financial

system also show higher poverty ratios and higher

inequality. If we are talking of financial stability, economic

stability and inclusive growth with stability, it is not possible

without achieving Financial Inclusion.

 Thus, financial inclusion is no longer a policy choice

but is a policy compulsion today. And banking is a key

driver for inclusive growth.  However, we must bear in mind

that apart from the supply side factors demand side factors,

such as lower income and /or asset holdings also have a

significant bearing on inclusive growth. Owing to difficulties

in accessing formal sources of credit, poor individuals and

small and macro enterprises usually rely on their personal

savings or internal sources to invest in health, education,

housing and entrepreneurial activities to make use of growth

opportunities.

Conclusion

Financial inclusion has improved social and economic

status of the poor and neglected segment of the society.

Micro finance has emerged as one of the important

instruments of poverty alleviation and empowering poor.

The regulatory environment of micro finance sector is

complex one which is also affected by the new policy regime.

The private investors see micro finance as attractive

commercial investment opportunities since the recovery of

loans in SHG based micro financing has been highly

satisfactory. Government of India is also promoting financial

inclusion through its banking policies and encouraging

micro financing through launching of several SHG based

micro financing programmes and schemes. Some of the

important SHG based micro finance programmes and

schemes are running with the collaboration of NGOs and

other SHG facilitators. The need for capacity building and

training of NGOs, micro financial institutions and other

service providers is imperative besides formation and

strengthening of SHG federations. Therefore, it is imperative

to promote thrift and credit societies on SHG patterns and

they should be bank linked for availing credit and

establishing micro enterprises. The issues and challenges

in the growth and success should deal with participatory

approach. More emphasis is required to develop and

promote micro financing programmes and schemes in

eastern and northern India since the geographical outreach

of micro financing in these regions is found to be very limited.
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Abstract: The paper highlights on the importance of inclusive growth. Growth is inclusive when it creates economic

opportunities along with ensuring equal access to them. The paper brings out the role played by financial sector in the

financial inclusion efforts in India and the bottlenecks and strategies in achieving financial inclusion.
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social exclusion, and enhancing Economic Growth.
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1) Introduction

Inclusive growth is a part of economic development.

It is imperative for achieving the equity objective. It creates

new economic opportunities and ensures equal access to

all segments of the society, particularly the poor. For

increasing welfare and well-being of the society at large;

the growth must be sustainable and inclusive i.e. economic

growth should benefit all citizens, everyone should have

equal access to opportunity. From an annual average growth

rate of 3.5 percent during 1950 to 1980, the growth rate of

Indian economy accelerated to around 6.0 percent in the

1980’s and 1990’s. In 2006-07 the Indian economy grew at a

higher rate of 9.6 percent. Along with growth; the per capita

income of the country also increased substantially in the

recent years. But despite the impressive numbers; growth

has failed to be sufficiently inclusive. Agriculture sector

which provides employment to around 60 percent of the

population lost its growth momentum from that point,

apprehension is that even additional investment in

agriculture may add only 0.24 percentage point to GDP

which is very less. The approach paper to the eleventh plan

indicated that the absolute number of poor is estimated to

be approximately 300 million in 2004-05.

All this suggests that to pursue the objectives of

providing its citizens with the capabilities, opportunities

and also to enable them to exercise their rights, rapid and

inclusive growth is a must.

The challenges of achieving more inclusive growth

can be met by policies that encourage easier access to

financial services. Inclusive growth needs financial

institution to be strong and efficient and access to be

provided to formal financial services to the bottom of the

pyramid and help in improving their standard of living.

Taking banking services to the common man increases their

saving capacity and leads to overall economic growth. The

paper highlights on role of financial sector in promoting

inclusive growth; various strategies, policy initiatives and

efforts of authorities to improve access to affordable

financial services.

Objectives

1) To highlight the importance of inclusive growth.

2) To highlight the role of financial services vis-a-vis

inclusive grow.

3) To identify the main challenges for banks to achieve

inclusive growth.

4)         To analyse various strategies of government towards

financial inclusion.

Research methodology:-

The study is based on secondary data collected

mainly from books, journals, reports and electronic media.

2) Financial Inclusion

Financial inclusion helps the sustainable development

of the country, through the available financial services to

the unreached people with the help of financial institutions.

Financial inclusion can be defined as an easy access to

formal financial services and their usages by all members of

the economy. The committee of financial institution of

government of India has defined financial inclusion as “the

process of ensuring timely access to financial services and

adequate credit where needed by vulnerable groups such

as the weaker sections and low income groups at an

affordable costs. Access to financial services promotes social

inclusion and builds self-confidence and empowerment.

Financial institutions have a vital role to play in

promoting inclusive growth. Efforts are seen at domestic

and global levels to encourage financial institutions to take

up larger responsibilities in including the financially

excluded lot. Financial institutions can promote inclusive

growth through financial inclusion. Financial inclusion is

an inclusive development and poverty reduction strategy.

[Table-1 in Annexure-1]

Financial inclusion is intended to connect people to

banks with consequential benefits. Ensuring that the

financial system plays its due role in promoting inclusive

growth is one of the biggest challenges facing the emerging
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economics. Financial development creates enabling

conditions for growth by providing access to easy and

affordable credit and other financial services to the poor

and vulnerable section of society.

2.1 Initiatives for financial inclusion in India

The broad strategy for financial inclusion in India in

recent years comprises the following:

1) An expanded bank branch network and new

organizational forms like RRB’s.

2) A greater focus on credit.

3) Lending targets directed at a range of priority

sectors such as agriculture, weaker sections of

the population etc.

4) Interest rate ceilings for vulnerable sections.

5) Advising banks to open a basic banking ‘no frills’

account.

6) Using technology for furthering financial

inclusion.

7) Emphasis on financial literacy and credit

counseling.

8) A dominant perspective that finance for rural and

poor people was a social obligation  and not a

potential business opportunity.

3) Financial Inclusion and Inclusive growth in India

While India has witnessed unprecedented economic

growth in the recent past, the benefits of economic growth

have not equitably reached to different parts of our society.

India being a socialist democratic republic, the government

policies should ensure equitable growth of all sections of

the economy. If policies that bring about economic growth

do not benefit the people in a wide and inclusive manner

they will not be sustainable. Inclusive growth is the only

just and equitable way with which any society can grow.

With only 34% of population engaged in formal banking,

India has 135 million financially excluded households, the

second highest number after China. In India, the financially

excluded section comprises largely rural masses, comprising

marginal farmers, landless laborers, self-employed and

unorganized sector enterprises, urban slum dweller, migrants,

ethnic minorities and socially excluded groups, senior

citizens and women. The situation assessment survey of

farmers conducted in the year 2003, indicated that 51.4% of

the farmer households were financially excluded. The world

bank-NCAER RFAS 2003 (RFAS – rural finance access

survey) reveals that rural banks serve primarily the needs of

the richer rural borrowers; 66% of larger farmers have a

deposit account and 44% have access to credit.

Meanwhile the rural poor faces severe difficulties in

accessing savings and credit from the formal sector; 70% of

marginal / landless farmers do not have a bank account and

87% have no access to credit from a formal sector.

In the Draft approach paper to the eleventh five year

plan the planning commission has emphasized the need for

faster and greater inclusive growth during the 11
th

 five year

plan period. It is in this context that financial inclusion should

be aimed at inclusive growth in the Indian context. Select

macro economic and financial indicators of Indian Economy

are presented here below in Table-2 [Annexure-2]

4) Issues and challenges

India currently faces several issues and challenges in

the area of financial inclusion for inclusive growth. Salient

among them are stated as below.

1) Insufficient distribution of banking services

Though after nationalization of major banks in 1969,

there was a greater thrust to branch expansion in the rural

and semi-urban areas, but compared to 70% of population

living in rural areas; only 52% of banks branches are in

these areas.

2) Regional distribution of banking services

The study of distribution of banking services shows

that there are certain under-banked states such as Bihar,

Odissa, Rajasthan, U.P., Chhattisgarh, Jharkhand, West

Bengal and large number of north eastern states, where the

average population per branch office continues to be quite

high compared to national average of 15000 people per bank

branch.

3) Poverty levels

Poverty levels are having direct relationship with the

progress of financial inclusion. It is observed that financial

inclusion increases with the reduction in poverty levels. So

a multifold strategic approach for financial inclusion should

be adopted in poverty dominated areas.

4) Demand side barriers

They include

(i)  Low literacy levels, lack of awareness and / or

knowledge / understanding of financial products.

(ii) Irregular income, frequent micro-transactions.

(iii) Lack of trust in formal banking institutions,

Cultural obstacles.

5) Supply side barriers

(i) Outreach (low density areas attractive and low

income population are not attractive for the

provision of financial services and are not



160 “Money, Finance and Economic Growth: Emerging Issues” - 10
th

 & 11
th

 Jan. 2014

financially sustainable under traditional banking

business models.)

(ii) Regulation (frameworks are not always adopted

to local contexts)

(iii) Age factor (financial service providers usually

target the economically active population, often

overlooking the design of appropriate products

for older or younger potential customers. banks

do not see any business from them).

(iv)     Bank charges also have a disproportionate effect

on people with low income.

Though a lot has been done to bridge the gap between

the formal fi nancial institutions and the rural people

needs, still creation of public awareness is warranted for

making people (particularly poor) realize about the

availability of financial services and products. Banks are

gaining momentum in areas like opening up of new banking

outlets in rural area, deploying new business

correspondents (BC’s), opening of new frill accounts,

granting of more credit through GCC and KCC. This is shown

in Table-3 (Annexure-3).

5) Strategies to achieve the target of complete financial

inclusion

(1) Change in the approach of banks

Only access to credit or banking is not the financial

inclusion. Banks must genuinely strive to provide the

directed services under the category or scheme of financial

inclusion to the rural population. Financial inclusion does

not mean merely opening of saving account but it should

aim at creation of awareness about the financial products,

education and advice on money management, offering debt

– counseling etc. by banks.

Bankers should view financial inclusion as a viable

business proposition and adopt innovative methods to reach

out to the poor.

(2) Relaxation in regulatory framework

The RBI, initially in November 2005, set the population

bench mark for taking its financial inclusion drive to the

next level mandating all banks to reach out the villages, all

habitations, with population in excess of 2000, as per the

2001 census. However, since 2011-12, the population bench

mark is reduced to 1600 and above. On 11
th

 august, 2012 the

RBI asked banks to drop the ‘No-frills’ tag from the basic

savings accounts. The RBI asked banks to provide the

Zero—balance facility in the basic banking accounts along

with ATM-cum-Debit cards without extra charge.

The finance ministry, very recently directed all banks

to ensure that every household has at least one saving

bank account by end of June 2012, a more seen as a precursor

to direct transfer of benefits under the government’s

financial inclusion plan.

(3) Steps taken by RBI

(a) The general purpose credit cards (GCC) are issued

in the rural and semi-urban banks, which provide

to the card holders revolving credit up to Rs. 25000

based on their income. The interest is charged at

a reasonable rate.

(b) Know your customer (KYC) process initiated by

the RBI simplifies the procedure of opening

accounts with balance less than Rs. 50,000.

Similarly, the process to avail credit less than Rs.

1, 00,000 has also been simplified.

(c) The RBI has introduced pilot projects in one

district of each state to attain 100% financial

inclusion.

(d) The RBI is taking steps to improve financial

literacy in the country.

(4) Self- help group – Bank linkage Programme (SBLP)

For expanding financial access and usage for the poor

a major institutional innovation in India has been the SBLP.

It helps in providing financial services to the poor.

The basic tenet of SHGs being savings led credit product,

credit discipline becomes a norm for providing financial

services to the poor.

(5) Liberalization of Business correspondents model

In January 2006 RBI permitted banks to engage as

business facilitator and business correspondent (BC) as

intermediaries for providing financial and banking services.

The (BC) model allows banks to provide door step delivery

of services specially ‘Cash-in –cash – out transaction’ at a

location much closer to the rural population. As on March

31
st

 2011, domestic commercial banks have reported

deploying 58,361 BC’s providing banking services in 76,081

villages .

(6) Use of technology and micro credit

Banks have been advised to make effective use of

information and communication technology (ICT) to provide

door step banking services through the BC model where

the accounts can be operated by illiterate customer by using

bio-metrics, thus ensuring the security of transaction and

enhancing confidence in the banking system.

 (7) Creation of funds for financial inclusion

Financial inclusion fund and financial inclusion

technology development fund were created by central

government for meeting the cost of development and

promotional and technology interventions. A fund of Rs.
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5,000 crores in NABARD was also created to enhance its

refinance operations to short term co-operative credit

institutions.

(8) NGO’s and MFI’s can be roped in

For furthering Financial Inclusion process, help of

select NGO’s and MFI’s can be sought to accelerate the

process of Financial Inclusion especially in rural areas. Some

specific incentives can be given to them in getting their

support.

(9) Involvement of Education Sector for furthering Financial

Inclusion

Efforts must be made to involve educational

institutions, particularly college students through NSS

programmes to take a Financial Inclusion drive and try to

create public awareness about various financial products.

(10) Adequate Publicity of Financial Inclusion Drive

In a country like India where masses are ignorant about

various financial services available to them, it becomes the

duty of all the concerned to publicize the concept of Financial

Inclusion, various benefits associated with it and how this

process will result in accelarating economic growth, which

will be sustainable and inclusive.

Conclusion

Financial inclusion is the road which India needs to

travel towards becoming a global player. An inclusive

growth will act as a source of empowerment and allow people

to participate more effectively in the economic and social

process. Financial access will also attract global market

players to our country that will result in increasing

employment and business opportunities. If the government

is advocating inclusive growth and sustainable

development, it is not possible to attain without delivering

financial inclusion. Empirical evidences have shown that

countries with large proportion of population excluded from

financial system have shown higher poverty ratios. Thus,

financial inclusion is no more a policy choice, but a policy

compulsion to attain inclusive growth.
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Annexure-1

Table-1 Financial Inclusion and Development Indicators

Country

Composite Index of Financia l 

Inclusion (Percentage of 

population with access to 

Financia l services)

Poverty (Percentage of 

population below poverty 

line)

Unemployment during 

2000-2004.

Gini Index

India 48 28.6(1999-00) 4.3 32.5(1999-00)

Bangladesh 32 49.8(2000) 3.3 31.8(2000)

Brazil 43 22.00(1998) 4.7 58.0(2003)

China 42 4.6(1998) 4.0 44.7(2001)

Indonesia 40 27.1(1999) 9.9 34.3(2002)

Korean Republic 63 -- 3.5 31.6(1998)

Malaysia 60 15.5(1989) 3.5 49.2(1997)

Philipines 26 36.8(1997) 9.8 46.1(2000)

Sri Lanka 59 25.00(1995-96) 9.0 33.2(1999-00)

Thailand 59 13.10(1992) 1.5 42.8(2002)

Source : World Bank (2006) and (2008)

Annexure-2

Table-2 : India’s Position Compared With Other Countries.

SI. No. Country

Number of 

Branches

Number of ATMs Bank Credit Bank Deposits

1 India 10.91 5.44 43.62 60.11

2 Austria 11.81 48.16 35.26 32.57

3 Brazil 13.76 120.62 29.04 47.51

4 France 43.11 110.07 56.03 39.15

5 Mexico 15.22 47.28 16.19 20.91

6 U.K. 25.51 64.28 467.97 427.49

7 US 35.74 173.75 46.04 53.14

8 Korea 18.63 250.29 84.17 74.51

9 Philipines 7.69 14.88 27.57 53.02

Source : World Bank, Financial Access survey (2010).
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Annexure-3

Table 3 : Progress of Financial Inclusion Plan As On March 31
st

,2012.

SL. NO. Banking Outlets Amount

1 Rural Branches 24,701

2 BC Outlets 1,20,355

3 Other Modes 2,478

4 Total 1,47,534

5 Total Number of “No Frill Accounts” 103.21 million

6 Operations in NFA(2011-12) (increase of 39.6%)

7 Outstanding Balance Rs.932.89 billion

8 Overdrafts Rs. 3.39 billion

9 Transactions Through ICT based BC outlets (2011-12) 119.77 million

10 KCC Credit Rs.2.15 million

11 GCC Credit Rs.0.22 million
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ABSTRACT : Access to financial services not only supports economic efficiency and distributional equity but also contributes

to financial stability and social cohesion. It is acknowledged that access to financial resources enhances the welfare of both

producers and consumers.

Inclusion through State-driven interventions by way of statutory enactments and RFIs by a voluntary effort through the

design and implementation of various strategies to bring hitherto financially excluded population. It is acknowledged that

access to financial resources enhances the welfare of both producers and consumers. Access to the financial services helps

individuals apply their skills in engaging in small entrepreneurial activities and thereby providing them enhanced opportunities

to improve their income.

“Financial Inclusion” was formally articulated by Dr YV Reddy the then Governor RBI in the annual Policy Statement of

2005-06, Governor while recognizing the concerns in regard to the banking practices that tend to exclude rather than attract

vast sections of population, urged banks to review their existing practices to align them with the objective of financial

inclusion.

Financial inclusion refers to a process that ensures the ease of access, availability and usage of the formal financial system for

all members of an economy. It facilitates efficient allocation of productive resources and thus can potentially reduce the cost

of capital.

The RBI, In order to promote Financial Inclusion in an orderly manner, advised commercial banks including RRBs broad

guidelines and expects formulating action plan so as to significantly accelerate the process of Financial Inclusion.

The Financial Inclusion 2020 Project of the Center for Financial Inclusion posts a global goal of full inclusion by the year

2020 as a challenging project.

This paper throws light on -all the aspects of Financial Inclusion, what Financial Inclusion, what are Financial Inclusion

Plans- Progress Need for focused attention Financial Inclusion etc.

KEY WORDS: Financial Inclusion, Process, MFIs, Initiative and Policy

Full Paper

Developing countries of late have been attaching

greater importance to finance in the pursuit of an effective

means in capitalizing economic opportunities and addressing

poverty. Access to financial services not only supports

economic efficiency and distributional equity but also

contributes to financial stability and social cohesion. It is

acknowledged that access to financial resources enhances

the welfare of both producers and consumers. Access to

the financial services helps individuals apply their skills in

engaging in small entrepreneurial activities and thereby

providing them enhanced opportunities to improve their

income. Easy, reliable and timely access to the finance

reduces poverty through increased income and hence

positively contributes to reduce the income inequality. In

developing countries and transitional economies, experience,

however, suggests that large numbers of households that

are not considered poor or even low income by local

standards, as well as most Small And Medium Size

Enterprises [SMEs] are excluded at least from their access

to credit. Most entrepreneurs working in the SME sector

may have personal access to some financial services, but

are often excluded from availing working and investment

capital from Rural Financial Institutions.( RFIs)

Unrestrained access to public goods and services is

considered to be sine qua non for an open and efficient

society. Since financial services possess basic features of

the public good, it is necessary that Governments can ensure

Financial Inclusion through State-driven interventions by

way of statutory enactments and RFIs by a voluntary effort

through the design and implementation of various strategies

to bring hitherto financially excluded population.

“Financial Inclusion” was formally articulated by Dr

YV Reddy the then Governor RBI in the annual Policy

Statement of 2005-06, Governor while recognizing the

concerns in regard to the banking practices that tend to

exclude rather than attract vast sections of population, urged

banks to review their existing practices to align them with

the objective of financial inclusion. The main features of the

approach involve ‘connecting’ people with the banking

system and not just credit.

Financial inclusion refers to a process that ensures

the ease of access, availability and usage of the formal

financial system for all members of an economy. It facilitates

efficient allocation of productive resources and thus can

potentially reduce the cost of capital.
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An inclusive financial system can help reduce the role

of informal sources of credit (such as money lenders) which

are often found to be exploitative.

The importance of an inclusive financial system is

widely recognized in the policy circle and become a policy

priority in many countries including India.

The Financial Inclusion 2020 Project of the Center for

Financial Inclusion posts a global goal of full inclusion by

the year 2020 as a challenging project.

The Financial Inclusion perspective defines scale

among four core dimensions, viz.

[i] What is provided: A full range of services which

includes a basic product in each of the four main areas,

Savings, Credit, Insurance and Payments

[ii] How it is provided: With quality, i.e. convenience,

affordability, safety and dignity of treatment, and client

protection

[iii] Who receives it: Everyone who can use the services,

including the poor, rural, informal and groups that are

often discriminated against [women, ethnic, minorities,

disabled] and

[iv] Who provides it: A range of providers led by

mainstream financial institutions, but also including

organizations from the private, social and Government

sectors.

These four dimensions together form the vision of a

time when everyone will enjoy the benefits of financial

services to make the most of their economic opportunities,

protect themselves against vulnerability and improve the

quality of their lives.

Thus, Financial inclusion refers to the policy goal of

responsibly delivering a full range of formal financial services

[savings, credit, insurance, remittance etc.] to all financially

excluded households without discrimination, prioritizing

vulnerable groups, such as weaker sections and low income

groups... Affordable price, delivery with dignity,

convenience, reliability, flexibility and continuity determine

the quality of financial access.

Financial Inclusion connects the banked and

unbanked sectors and enables the unbanked to become

vibrant and productive participants in the economic and

inclusive growth process. Financial Inclusion can unlock

the vast hidden potential of savings, consumption and

investment propensities of the poor households. Increasing

Financial Inclusion would reduce the economic vulnerability

of poor, alleviate poverty, improve the quality of life and

promote inclusive growth. Studies show that access to

financial services helps poor and low-income people use

their labor and skill optimally, improve productivity of

resources and income, smooth consumption flows, enlarge

and diversify enterprises and generate employment. Besides,

it has positive spillover effects on their education and health.

Consequences of financial exclusion compel poor to secure

credit from informal sources at exorbitant rates, lead to

general decline in investment, increased unemployment and

according to some researchers financial exclusion lead to

social exclusion and higher incidence of crime.

Financial Inclusion providing access to financial

services for all, has gained prominence in the past few years

as a policy objective in all countries. A cross-country analysis

using Financial Access 2010 data indicates that a 1% change

in GDP per capita is associated with a change of around

0.3% to 0.6% in the number of deposit accounts per 1000

adults. Commercial banks play a pivotal role in Financial

Inclusion initiatives. The World Bank survey carried out in

142 economies reveals that commercial banks held 85% of

total deposit volume and 96% of all deposit accounts. But

in a number of economies, non-banking institutions play an

important role in providing basic deposit services. For

example, in countries like Chile, Spain and France,

cooperatives or specialized State financial institutions hold

more deposit accounts than commercial banks. Similarly, in

a number of West African countries, such as Benin, Burkina-

Faso, Ivory Coast and Niger, deposit-taking MFIs have more

depositors than commercial banks, suggesting that non-

banking institutions can play an important role in providing

basic deposit services. The percentage of total volume of

deposits held by banks and non-banking institutions on a

global scale is individual deposits in commercial banks [62%]

and business deposits in commercial banks [23%] whereas

individual deposits and business deposits in non-banking

institutions was 13% and 2% respectively. This suggests

that MFIs in India can play important role in providing basic

deposit services if appropriate regulatory framework and

enabling environment is established

The ultimate goal of RFIs in promoting the financial

inclusion through different approaches and business models

would be to

[i] progressively expand the coverage to those who have

hitherto remained financially excluded

[ii] deepen the integration of micro-finance with the formal

financial sector through broader participation of

commercial banks and expanded access to capital

markets and

[iii] encourage the use of technology and continued

innovation

According to the survey report of the Center for

Financial Inclusion [2011], micro-finance professionals

across the world have cited Client Financial Education as

the top opportunity and limited financial literacy as the

biggest obstacle in the path of achieving Financial Inclusion.

A key finding of the survey was that MFIs should listen
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and respond to clients with more demand-driven products.

Service providers perceived the cost of establishing

branches as the obstacle whereas investors, donors and

support organizations were concerned about inadequacy

of client protection than are service providers. Investors

also perceived credit bureau as one of the top opportunities.

Many respondents of the survey expected more and better

regulation of MFIs but few wanted Government to be a

provider of micro-finance. Mobile and agent banking were

important and exciting opportunities. Low-income people

needed more than credit and more demand-driven products.

Expanding the product range along with improved demand-

side information was an opportunity. MFI’s single product

approach and limited understanding of client needs were

among the top obstacles. Mono-product approach,

inadequate client protection, poor business practices and

political interference were factors reported to contribute to

crisis.

Literature on FI describes six important policy solutions

to promote Financial Inclusion, such as

[i] Financial identity

[ii] Reforms of public sector banks

[iii] Agent banking

[iv] m-banking

[v] Diverse service providers and

[vi] Consumer protection.

Financial identity, among six policy solutions for

expanding financial access, has implications for both supply

and demand sides of the micro-finance sector whereas other

five are primarily supply-side initiatives, viz, regulatory,

technological or managerial.

Basic Objectives:

i. To study all the aspects of Financial Inclusion

ii. To analyse  what Financial Inclusion is

iii. To look into the India’s Initiative and Policy

iv. To know what are Financial Inclusion Plans-

Progress

v. To  make Recommendations to Need for focused

attention Financial Inclusion

Methodology:

This paper is based on desk research. Hence the

information provided is based on thorough and voracious

reading of various standard books and articles on the

subject, a brief reference of which is provided at end of the

paper.

Micro-Finance and Financial Inclusion

The Microcredit Summit claims that MFIs reach 154

million clients. The Financial Access Initiative estimates that

53% of world’s adults do not use any formal or semi-formal

financial services. The estimated unserved market is more

than two billion people. Sometimes Financial Inclusion is

used almost as a synonym for micro-finance, while FI in a

comprehensive way is defined as, ‘ Full Financial Inclusion

is a state in which all people have access to a full suite of

quality financial services provided at affordable prices, in a

convenient manner, and with dignity for the clients. Financial

services are delivered by a range of providers, most of them

private and reach everyone who can use them, including

disabled, poor, rural and other excluded populations’.

Ultimate goal of FI is universal financial access. MF can

significantly contribute to Financial Inclusion by 2020

assigning priority to following critical aspects.

Full-inclusion MFIs

A full-inclusion financial institution addresses all the

dimensions of Financial Inclusion. It is committed to serve

the poor and offers full product suite along with ever-

improving level of quality. It would strive to expand its

frontiers through new product development and

technologies so as to make services more affordable, more

valuable and become capable of reaching excluded

population. Only a few full-inclusion financial institutions

exist today. Among them are Equity Bank of Kenya,

BancoSol of Bolivia, Mibanco of Peru, Acleda Bank of

Cambodia and Bank Rakyat Indonesia, all licensed

commercial banks. These institutions are especially

important for the future of Financial Inclusion because they

participate in both the micro-finance industry and the

mainstream financial sector. By their dedication to their target

market these institutions continually demonstrate to the

mainstream the viability of financial services for the poor.

Because they pursue social aims in a commercial setting,

they are well placed to be laboratories, not necessarily for

the most extreme untested products, but for the kind of

commercial R&D that develops viable business models

around new products and technologies. Each of these

institutions demonstrates what a truly double-bottom-line

approach can do when commitment to clients is combined

with financial discipline.

India’s Initiative and Policy

India has a population of 1.21 billion but with less

than one-quarter of adults having access to basic formal

financial services. Over the past century, a range of

innovative approaches to expanding access to finance for

poor people has been pursued. Besides cooperatives,

nationalized commercial banks and RRBs, in the 1980s social

entrepreneurs conceptualized the concept of Self-Help-

Groups [SHG] and operationalized the SHG-bank linkage

program, under which commercial banks lend funds to

groups of 10 to 20 women. Commercial banks should

strengthen rural credit delivery system to achieve financial

inclusion is today “no longer an option but a compulsion”.
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Government’s policy has been to include at least 55.7 million

hitherto financially excluded households by 2014. The

remaining households, with such shifts as they may occur

in the rural and urban populations, would be covered by

2015. Government has proposed to extend around Rs.700

crore to banks to put in place the necessary infrastructure.

The IBA has drafted a manual for training the Business

Correspondents [BCs] Indian Institute of Banking and

Finance is engaged in training the BCs to responsibly perform

the task. CRISIL is preparing a Financial Inclusion index,

which would be used to review the performance of banks

implementing the program and is to be used in the statement

of intent by the Government to fix targets.

The RBI, In order to promote Financial Inclusion in an

orderly manner, advised commercial banks including RRBs

broad guidelines and expects formulating action plan so as

to significantly accelerate the process of Financial Inclusion.

The plan should emphasize

 [i] Implementation of the National Mission on Financial

inclusion to facilitate people getting connected with

banking system and avail a range of financial services.

[ii] Credit delivery in rural areas to focus implementation

of Service Area Credit Plans, provision of Kisan/General

Purpose Credit Cards, simplification of KYC norms,

opening ‘ no-frills’ accounts with  small overdrafts,

using services of BCs and financing SHGs and MFIs .

[iii] Banks to ensure continuity in the operation of 75 million

no-frill accounts already opened with hardly any

transactions in them.

[iv] Addition of  at least 250 rural household accounts every

year in each of their rural and semi-urban branches.

[v] RRBs to have separate exclusive targets for micro

finance and financial inclusion.

[vi]  Banks to have a banking correspondent touch points

in each of six lakh villages.

[vii] Adoption of appropriate technology to enable the

branch to go where the customer is present instead of

the other way round.

[viii] To designate at least one branch of the Lead Bank at

block level as a nodal branch to address the issue of

financially excluded. These branches should be

adequately strengthened with technical staff for

providing development service in the farm and non-

farm sectors. All banks could make use of the services

provided by such branches.

[ix] RBI has identified 139 districts in 15 States as

inadequately served by the banking system.

Commercial banks to open branches in districts where

the population of each branch is higher than the

national average.

 [x] Services should move much closer to the customer

either through mobile branches, satellite offices,

extension- counters, SHGs or through Business

Correspondents using technology to increase scale,

access and reduce cost.

[xi] The credit products have to be simple and cover all the

needs of small borrowers.

[xii]  Formulating  the Financial Inclusion Plan [FIP] aimed at

providing appropriate banking services, including a

savings-cum-overdraft account, a pure savings product

[recurring or variable recurring deposits], remittance

and payment services, insurance and entrepreneurial

credit to the underprivileged inhabitations having

population in excess of 2000 by March 2012 by either

opening branches or through BCs and technologies

that facilitate branchless banking at doorstep in the

rural hinterland.

[xiii] Unbanked villages numbering 72,950 across the country

have been allotted to different commercial banks for

coverage under the FIP.

Banks’ Response

Acknowledging the importance of Financial Inclusion

public sector banks in particular have significantly

responded with regard to

[i] opening  50.6 million  ‘no-frills’ accounts [now 75

million] with overdrafts of Rs.27.54 crore as on March

2010.

[ii] appointing and training BCs

[iii] using FIF & FITF to extend benefit to 50,255 villages

as on March 2010

[iv] Identifying 431 districts in 18 States and five UTs for

100% FI coverage of which 204 districts already

covered by March 2009

[v] reaching 29,569 unbanked villages [against allotted

27,425] above 2000 population each and preparing

roadmap to provide banking services under FIP and

Planned to cover additional 43,381in 2012. Banks are

covering adjoining villages with population between

1000 and 2000 to optimally utilize Financial Inclusion

infrastructure created by investing in technology,

manpower, and BCs. Financial Inclusion plans include

strategy adopted for enrolling and training BCs, rural

branch managers, technology plans, awareness

generation plans and suitable monitoring mechanism.

[vi] reaching 160 remote unbanked villages for 100% FI

under RBI’s  ‘outreach program of financial inclusion

& financial literacy’.
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Financial Inclusion Plans- Progress

As seen in the tables below the banks have been able

to perform well and have increased their presence in all the

areas. Total banking outlets in villages has increased by

200,760 in the three year period. The KCC (Kisan Credit

Cards) has also increased by 9.48 million. The GCC (General

Purpose Credit Card) has increased by 2.24 million. The

encouraging trend is that the Basic Savings Bank Deposit

Accounts through BC (Business Correspondents) is more

(68.00 million) than the Basic Savings Bank Deposit

Accounts through branches of banks (40.61 million). This

indicates that the BC concept has caught the imagination of

the public and they are responding positively to this

initiative of financial inclusion.

Table – 1

Financial Inclusion – Progress in Three Years

SR Particulars
Year 

ended 
Mar 10

Year 
ended 
Mar 11

Year 
ended 
Mar 12

Year 
ended 

March 13

Progress 
April 10-
March 13

1 Banking Outlets in Villages - Branches 33,378 34,811 37,471 40,837 7,459

2 Banking Outlets in Villages - BCs 34,174 80,802 141,136 221,341 187,167

3 Banking Outlets in Villages - Other Modes 142 595 3,146 6,276 6,134

4 Banking Outlets in Villages -TOTAL 67,694 116,208 181,753 268,454 200,760

5 Urban Locations covered through BCs 447 3771 5,891 27,143 26,696

6
Basic Savings Bank Deposit A/c through branches (No. In 
millions)

60.19 73.13 81.20 100.80 40.61

7
Basic Savings Bank Deposit A/c through branches (Amt. In 
billions)

44.33 57.89 109.87 164.69 120.36

8 Basic Savings Bank Deposit A/c through BCs (No. in millions) 13.27 31.63 57.30 81.27 68.00

9
Basic Savings Bank Deposit A/c through BCs (Amt. in 
billions)

10.69 18.23 10.54 18.22 7.53

10 BSBDA Total (in millions) 73.45 104.76 138.50 182.06 108.61

11 BSBDA Total Amt. (in billions) 55.02 76.12 120.41 182.92 127.90

12
OD facility availed in Basic Savings Bank Deposit A/c (No. In 
millions)

0.18 0.61 2.71 3.95 3.77

13
OD facility availed in Basic Savings Bank Deposit A/c (Amt. 
in billions)

0.10 0.26 1.08 1.55 1.45

14 KCCs - (No. in millions) 24.31 27.11 30.24 33.79 9.48

15 KCCs - (Amt In billions) 1,240.07 1,600.05
2,068.3

9
2,622.98 1,382.91

16 GCCs - (No. in millions) 1.39 1.70 2.11 3.63 2.24

17 GCCs - (Amt In billions) 35.11 35.07 41.84 76.34 41.23

18 ICT A/Cs-BC- Transaction -No. in millions 26.52 84.16 155.87 250.46 490.49

19 ICT A/Cs-BC- Transactions -Amt in billions 6.92 58.00 97.09 233.88 388.97

*Source: Speech delivered by Dr. (Smt.) Deepali Pant Joshi, Executive Director, Reserve Bank of India at the Mint

Conclave on Financial Inclusion, Mumbai on November 28, 2013.

Need for focused attention

In order to create facilitating environment to

significantly promote FI by 2015 focused attention should

be paid to measures, viz.

 [i] Rural households need to be linked to banking by first

allowing them a taste of technology that allows hassle

free money transfer. Then it can try biometric ATM

cards in rural areas where literacy reigns on a large

scale after roping in rural customers to banks located

in vantage points in rural areas or points bordering on

them. Approach should necessarily be calibrated and

gradual.
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[ii] Banks among them should share the experiences of

pilot projects and those proved successful need to be

replicated.

[iii] Financial Inclusion Plan should be integrated with PLP

of NABARD and DCP/AAP under Lead Bank Scheme

at district level.  FIPs include strategy adopted for

enrolling and training BCs, rural branch managers,

technology plans, publicity awareness generation

plans, and suitable monitoring mechanism [iv] Minimum

infrastructure support, viz. adequate road, rail, power,

digital connectivity etc. are prerequisites for operation

of a banking outlet.

[v] Products that cater to the needs of the masses should

be simple, flexible and affordable for the poor and low-

income population.

[vi] Efforts are needed to identify best delivery models/

business models for Financial Inclusion. Banks have

to adopt and experiment with several delivery models

like satellite branches, mobile branches, business

correspondents/POS, and mobile telephony services.

The BC model coupled with ICT solutions has the

potential to reach out to the hitherto unreached.

[vii] There is need to  effectively implement Government

sponsored programs to substantially increase income

that can improve cash flow of poor and low income

households and motivate them to operate their bank

accounts on  continuing basis.

[viii] Currently the focus of the Financial Inclusion is mostly

confined to ensuring a bare minimum access to a

savings bank account, no-frill account to ensure access

to credit. However, internationally financial exclusion

has been viewed in a much wider perspective. Having

a current/saving account on its own is not considered

an accurate indicator of Financial Inclusion. There could

be multiple levels of financial inclusion and exclusion.

At one extreme, it is possible to identify the ‘super-

included’ i.e. those customers who are actively and

persistently courted by financial services and who have

at their disposal a wide range of financial services and

products. At the other extreme, there are financially

excluded, who are denied access to even the most basic

of financial products. In between these two are those

who use financial services only for deposits and

withdrawals of money and access to credit services.

But these persons have only restricted access to

financial system and may not have enjoyed flexibility

of access as offered to more affluent customers.

[ix] The adoption of comprehensive Financial Inclusion

approach requires a clear national policy framework

and a strategy on Financial Inclusion formulated

through a broad consultative process and a thorough

diagnostic of the status of financial exclusion issues

in the respective geographical regions and districts. In

general, a comprehensive policy and a strategy on

Financial Inclusion should focus on promoting

sustainable services through a range of public and

private sector institutions.

[x] Policy to use public resources to subsidize interest

rate should be reconsidered in order to reduce market

distortions and reallocate the resources to build and

strengthen financial infrastructure for Financial

Inclusion. The experience in most countries suggests

that interest rate subsidies have not worked for the

benefit of the poor as intended. And ‘smart subsidies’

can play a better role in developing inclusive financial

systems.

[xi] Regulations related to branch licensing, use of agents/

intermediaries to deliver financial services to the

excluded people in remote areas, KYC requirements on

opening of new accounts need adaptations to be in

line with the requirements for Financial Inclusion.

[xii] In general, regulatory framework should

[a] open up opportunities for sustainable expansion

through a diverse range of institutions.

[b] allow adequate room for product and service diversity.

[c] create a conducive environment in particular for savings

mobilization by a wider range of institutions.

[d] create sufficient space for integration of existing and

emerging new ICT into the financial services industry

to accelerate the process of Financial Inclusion and

[e] include measures to improve price transparency and

consumer protection.

[xiii]  In order to promote Financial Inclusion, the RFIs need

to appreciate that aggressive competition policy and

social inclusion are mutually exclusive. Basically,

financial services need to be ‘marketed’ to connect

with large population segments and these may justify

promotional costs. Rural India offers plenty of

opportunities that can be exploited through research

and development, setting industry standards, business

expansion, partnership promotion, private sector

participation, using potentials of SHGs, expansion of

remittance services, use of technology and

development of financial infrastructure.

[xiv] For RFIs implementation of programs on Financial

Inclusion is not easy. In order to sustain the growth

and development of RFIs there is need to address the

challenges facing the sector, such as ensuring financial

viability and sustainability, improving governance and

management, enforcing regulation and supervision
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system, reducing cost of fund, increasing capacity of

human resources, promoting the use of technologies,

improving portfolio quality, addressing competition in

accessible areas, reaching the hard core poor, client

protection, geographical remoteness and resolving the

issue of multiple borrowing and creating indebtedness

beyond repair.

 [xv] Financial sector is gradually becoming competitive.

Though, healthy competition is expected to enhance

client-friendly quality and efficiency in services but

cut-throat competition is not at all desirable.

Competition among RFIs can be encouraged to bring

down the interest rate on loans and improve credit

availability with ease. Cut-throat competition among

RFIs including MFIs spoils clients’ attitude and

undermines credit discipline. Experience suggests that

undue competition is increasing chances of overlapping

and duplication of services among the clients. This

results in the concentration of financial services in areas

close to market places that helps staff meeting the

assigned business targets and chances of clients

racketing. Unhealthy competition also promotes over

indebtedness causing misuse of loan funds making it

difficult to understand the clients’ prime objectives.

This helps clever clients to play one RFI against the

other ultimately resulting in rampant default in loan

repayments. Target setting of outreach for the staff is

necessary for sound planning of the business.

However, in absence of realistic survey and determining

business potential, it can result in a situation of

unhealthy competition among RFIs trying to work in

more accessible areas. In the process, the RFIs would

not try for widening and deepening their services

among the downtrodden and poorer households but

concentrate in providing financial services to less needy

or non-target people in the densely populated close by

markets.  While this consumes much of their resources,

the deserving poor in remote corners are left out from

access to finance. Besides, In their enthusiasm of good

performance and attract more clients, the RFIs most

often forget their social values, ethics and regulatory

requirements, which in turn create problems for their

sustainable operations.

[xvi] Implementing programs on Financial Inclusion to

achieve the expected objectives is an arduous task.

Addressing financial exclusion requires a holistic

approach focusing on critical areas, such as creating

awareness, financial education, technical advice on

different dimensions of money management, debt

counseling, saving mobilization, provision of affordable

credit services, research and development effort.

[xvii] For promoting Financial Inclusion, RFIs need to develop

and apply area based specific strategies [rather than

one-fits-all] to expand outreach of their services using

combination of lending methodologies, market led

research to develop new products, fostering linkages

with local communities and promoting the use of

appropriate technologies.

[xviii] For RFIs, when significant progress is achieved, the

challenging task is maintaining the continuity and

sustainability of the achievements. This calls for

evolving policy measures that can continue the

financial sector as vibrant and dynamic as it could be.

[xix] For RFIs the future work in Financial Inclusion should

revolve around conducting access to finance survey,

creating systematic client profile, reaching the

unreached, linking clients with non-financial service

providers, mainstreaming the operation of RFIs,

capacity development of RFIs towards industry needs,

introducing innovation for new product development

and diversification, mainstreaming revolving fund

facility and promoting the adoption of technology by

RFIs.

[xx] RFIs need to redesign their business strategies to

incorporate specific plans for promoting access of their

services to low income group treating it both a business

opportunity as well as a corporate social responsibility.

RFIs need to use available resources including

technology and expertise to promote the cause of

Financial Inclusion.  Apparently, taking financial

services to the sections constituting ‘the bottom of

the pyramid’ may not be profitable but RFIs should

consider capitalizing the fact that even the relatively

low margins on high volumes of low value transactions

can be a profitable proposition in a medium and long

term. Rural India presents enormous opportunities out

of which RI can emerge as commercial and profitable

business proposition for RFIs but this requires that

RFIs should think access to rural finance outside the

conventional thinking and in an innovative way.

While ingenuity and technology has led to the

development of impressive delivery platforms, viz. Financial

Information Network & Operations [ FINO] for users of

financial services through the BC channel or other innovative

methods, there have been issues with technology and

processes that include

[i] Biometric reader devices reject finger prints of the

customer.

[ii] Text messages sent from mobile phones do not reach

the server of the BC/bank, thereby delaying or aborting

the transaction.

[iii] Liquidity problems at the BC agent outlet results

customers not able to withdraw cash when needed and
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[iv] Selection, management and quality of BC agents pose

serious problems. All the participative stakeholders,

viz. banks, State Governments, technology providers,

regulators and other developmental agencies need to

work together in tandem to resolve these issues and

drive the efforts towards achieving total Financial

Inclusion.

Conclusion

An inclusive financial system will be immensely

beneficial in the context of increasing transfer payments

being made by both the Union and State governments such

as pension for aged, freedom fighters, and financial

assistance to widows, destitute, pregnant women, girl

children in poor families to pursue education, dole for

unemployed youth, etc. There are chances for leakages in

these programmes. Financial inclusion will ensure that the

transfer payments reach the identified beneficiaries in full.

Further, this should largely reduce the cost of making transfer

payments. Therefore, inclusive financial system should go

hand in hand with inclusive development.

As the present Governor of RBI, Dr. Raghuram Rajan,

states “We have to reach everyone, however remote or

small, with financial services. Financial inclusion does not

just mean credit for productive purposes; it means credit for

healthcare emergencies or to pay lumpy school or college

fees. It means a safe means of remunerated savings, and an

easy way to make payments and remittances. It means

insurance and pensions. It means financial literacy and

consumer protection”.
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Section IX

Finance and Foreign Trade
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An Empirical Investigation of Relation between Exchange Rate and Export

Smt. Shubhangi B. Patil

K. J. Somaiya College of Arts and Commerce, Vidyavihar, India

Abstract: The current exchange rate fluctuation with a more depreciating trend of rupee is creating concern in the minds of

traders. Theoretical studies suggest a negative impact of exchange rate fluctuation on trade. However, the empirical studies are

showing mixed results with some studies showing positive results, some other negative results and many other no effects.

This paper is an attempt to analyze empirically the impact of exchange rate fluctuation on India’s export for the period 1985-

2012.The empirical analysis on basis of OLS method suggests that there is a positive effect of depreciating rupee on India’s

export. However, there are many other factors such as foreign income, relative prices etc. which have effect on export. Thus,

in order to avoid the problem of spurious regression, Johansen co-integration test is conducted to confirm long run relationship

between exchange rate and export. The unit root test clarified that both exchange rate and export were found to be integrated

of order I(2) using ADF, PP test and KPSS test. The co-integration test confirmed an existence of long run relationship

between exchange rate and export. Thus based on these results, it is clear that India need to focus its policy targeting exchange

rate stability and thereby foster export.

Keywords: co-integration, spurious regression, unit root test.

1. Introduction

 The paper is organized as follows: The following

section reviews the theory and some empirical studies on

central bank intervention. Section III deals with the specific

objectives and database used in this study. Section IV

discusses the empirical findings and finally Section V

contains the conclusions.

1.1 Literature review

Hooper and Kohlhagen (1978) in his article titled

“Impact of Exchange Rate Volatility on Export” studied the

effect of exchange rate volatility on export trade  by framing

an export model based on bilateral trade data  for Germany,

Japan, United Kingdom, United States, Canada, France for

the period 1965–1975. The study observed insignificant

relationship between exchange rate volatility and export in

26 equations, significant negative relationship in 2 equations,

and significant positive relationship in 4 equations.

International Monetary Fund (IMF), (1984)
 

working

paper titled “Exchange Rate Volatility and World Trade”

studied the effect of exchange rate volatility on trade using

bilateral trade data of United States, United Kingdom,

France, Germany, Italy, Canada, and Japan for the period

1965–1982.with the help of export model the study observed

significant negative relationship in 3 equations, significant

positive relationship in 11 equations and insignificant in 28

equations.

Vergil (2002) in his paper titled “Exchange Rate

Volatility in Turkey and Its Effect on TradeFlows”

investigated bilateral trade flows of Turkey with the United

States, France, Italy and Germany. The study indicates that

real exchange rate shows a significant impact (+2.24) on real

exports of Turkey to the United States. However, bilateral

real exchange rate shows very small influence on real exports

to France (+0.31), Italy (+0.65) and Germany (+0.72).

Srinivasan (1998)
 

in his paper titled “India’s Export

Performance: A Comparative Analysis”  using a non-

structural eclectic model for the period 1963-94 have reported

relative prices as a significant export determinant in India.

Veeramani (2008)
 

in his paper titled “Impact of

Exchange Rate Appreciation on India’s Exports”, using a

longer time period from 1960-2007, have found a negative

relation between REER and export. However studies made

by Nayyar (1988), Ghosh (1990), Sarkar (1994), and Sinha

Roy (2001) have shown the opposite result. These studies

analysed significance of relative prices in determination of

export performance and argue that Indian exports are not

necessarily price responsive. Their findings suggest that

turning points in India’s export performance were not often

led by the movements in exchange rate (Bhattacharyya  and

Mukherjee  2011).

 

The article titled “Exchange-Rate Volatility and

Foreign Trade: Evidence from Thirteen LDC’s” by Arize,

Osang and Slottje (Jan., 2000)  investigates empirically the

impact of real exchange-rate volatility on the export flows of

13 less developed countries (LDC’s) over the quarterly period

1973-1996. The study estimated the short run and long run

relation between exchange rate volatility and export with

the help of ECM and Johansan co-integration. The major

results show that increases in the volatility of the real

effective exchange rate, approximating exchange- rate

uncertainty, exert a significant negative effect on export

demand in both the short-run and the long-run in each of

the 13 LDC’s.

Patnaik and Pauly (Feb 2001) in their paper titled “The

Indian Foreign Exchange Market and the Equilibrium Real

Exchange Rate of the Rupee” find a positive correlation

between RBI’s intervention in forex market (measured by

net purchase of foreign currency) and a movement of the

exchange rate.
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2.1 Objective of the Study

1) To study exchange rate movement over the period of

time

2) To study the impact of exchange rate volatility on

India’s export to USA.

3) To study role of RBI in mitigating the issue of exchange

rate volatility.

2.2 Hypothesis

Exchange rate volatility adversely affects India’s export

to USA.

2.3 Research Methodology

Earlier studies on India’s export have used relatively

short time series data and simple econometric methods. We

propose to use longer time series data and advanced

econometric methodology. We believe, therefore, that the

present study may shed some new light on the relation

between exchange rate and export. Simple regression,

Standard deviation, Unit root test, Johansan co-integration

test are used for empirical analysis.

2.3.1 Data Collection

Secondary data is collected from various websites.

Data on exchange rate of Dollar/INR is collected from the

website (http://fxtop.com/en/historical-exchange-rates.).

Data on India’s export to USA is collected from UN comrade

website. Data on RBI sale and purchase of foreign exchange

is collected from RBI website.

2.3.2 Scope of the study

The study is confined to India’s export to USA. The

time span of the study is 1985-2012 (based on data

availability). The time span of the study is covering recent

past i.e. 2012 as annual data on India export to USA for 2013

is not available. The time span of data on RBI sale and

purchase is from 1995- 2008 as data before it, is not published

online.

2.3.3 Limitations of the study

Export of a country is influenced by many factors such

as foreign income, relative prices, exchange rate, foreign

trade policy, taxes etc. The present study cannot focus on

all these factors. Thus the present study limits its focus on

exchange rate volatility.

The Study is based on the Government declared and

published statistics, as well as statistics published by UN

com trade, facts and figures and available resources and do

not contain primary data.

3.1 Exchange Rate Volatility

The exchange rate is a key financial variable that affects

decisions made by foreign exchange investors, exporters,

importers, bankers, businesses, financial institutions,

policymakers and tourists in the developed as well as

developing world. With the breakdown of Bretton wood

system, exchange rate is determined in foreign exchange

market by forces of demand and supply.  India follows a

system of ‘managed float’. The adoption of flexible exchange

rate on one hand and growing international transaction after

1990 on the other hand has resulted in volatility of exchange

rate. In the following table no. 3.1, standard deviation of

exchange rate is calculated to show volatility in exchange

rate for the period 1985-2012.

Table No.3.1: Volatility of Rupee-Dollar Exchange Rate

Year

Real Average 

Exchange Rate

Standard 

Deviation (SD)

1985 3.079988206 0.335084

1986 3.356461903 0.291472

1987 3.622395472 0.120906

1988 4.087193283 0.777665

1989 4.828242655 0.66928

1990 5.388106436 0.428801

1991 7.654262763 3.281515

1992 10.27001715 1.053216

1993 11.78648535 0.835208

1994 12.71358819 0.028551

1995 14.08005501 1.506538

1996 16.31745285 0.648696

1997 17.54321113 1.048081

1998 22.23863075 1.539005

1999 23.75351613 0.439815

2000 24.92054404 1.303011

2001 26.41104453 0.552465

2002 27.86337127 0.313615

2003 27.14838169 1.123603

2004 26.64885897 0.723164

2005 26.09114961 0.814795

2006 27.59584345 0.836927

2007 25.98683429 1.832683

2008 28.6036937 3.609875

2009 35.40601916 1.394193

2010 36.87352852 0.817869

2011 39.7234589 2.751477

2012 48.91732075 2.246971

Source: Calculated by Researcher.
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Exchange rate volatility is represented graphically in

graph no.1 on the basis of the data on standard deviation of

exchange rate in the above table.

Graph No.3.1:Exchange Rate Volatility of Rupee vis-à-

vis US Dollar
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As can be observed from the above graph and table

no. 3.1, except for the year 1987 and 1994, rupee value of

dollar has been showing high deviation from its average

level. Exchange rate was less volatile before 1990. After 1991

exchange rate volatility was too high with a standard

deviation value reaching to between 3 - 3.5 and rather still

higher level of deviation is experienced in the 2008. Between

1991-2008, the volatility do exists but at a level between 0.5-

1.5.

In more recent times rupee has generally shown a rising

tendency against the dollar mainly on account of significant

increase in foreign portfolio investment in the Indian stock

market.

3.2 Impact of Exchange Rate Volatility on Export

According to data reported by the Indian government

to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), in value terms,

U.S. exports to India and India’s exports to the United States

are comparatively low in value and flat until the mid-1980s.

However, since the mid-1980s, U.S. imports from India have

steadily increased in value while India’s exports to the

United States have shot up dramatically. United States was

India’s largest export market in 2006, and it is third largest

source of imports of U.S. and has till today retained its

position.

However, exchange rate changes as well as economic

down turn in USA has its adverse effect on India’s export to

USA. The effect of exchange rate fluctuation on India’s export

to USA is analysed empirically by using simple regression

method. However the result of regression analysis shows

no effect of exchange rate volatility on India’s export to

USA.

It is important to note that in time series analysis,

forecasting is difficult if two variables are having non-

stationary properties. Both Exchange rate and export of India

to USA are non-stationary and hence regression results are

spurious. In order to avoid this, author has conducted

Johansan co-integration test to find long run relation

between exchange rate volatility and export. The necessary

condition for co-integration between two variables is that

they should be integrated of same order. Thus before

conducting co-integration test, it is necessary to conduct

unit root test of exchange rate and export. After conducting

ADF, PP and KPSS test, it is clear that both exchange rate

and export are  non-stationary or unit root process with drift

and both are integrated of same order i.e. I(2). Thus data on

exchange rate and export is 2
nd

 differenced stationary. From

this result, one can expect to have co-integration between

exchange rate volatility and export. The present study

proceeds with the conduct of Johansan co-integration test.

This test conducted by imposing restriction on trend

parameter and with selected lag of one period. There are

two test in Johansan co-integration test viz., LR lamda max

test and LR trace test. LR lamda max test  tests the null

hypothesis that the cointegration rank is equal to r against

the alternative that the co-integration rank is equal to r+1.LR

trace test tests the null hypothesis that the co-integration

rank is equal to r against the alternative that the co-

integration rank is k.

The following table shows the result of Johansan co-

integration test .

Table No.3.2: Johansan Co-integration Test Result.

Test Result

LR lamda max test H0: Reject

H1:Accept

LR trace test H1:Accept

H0: Reject

Conclusion: r =2

Source: Calculated by author

 The above result clearly denotes r = 2 co-integrating

vectors. This means that exchange rate volatility and export

data is (trend) stationary. This implies that exchange rate

volatility does have effect on India’s export to USA. Given

this fact, RBI has an important role to play in mitigating

exchange rate volatility. This will ensure rise in export.

3.3RBI Monetary Management for Exchange Rate

Stability: Studies in the Indian context have observed a

positive response of direct intervention activity by RBI

during exchange rate volatility (Kohli, 2000). To support

this statement, author has studied RBI forex reserve

management from 1995 to 2008. It is clear from the position

of sale and purchase of forex that it is done as response to

control exchange rate volatility.



178 “Money, Finance and Economic Growth: Emerging Issues” - 10
th

 & 11
th

 Jan. 2014

Table  no.: 3.3 Reserve Bank’s Intervention in the

Foregin Exchange Market

Year

Real 

exchange rate

S.D Purchase* Sale*

1995 14.08005501 1.506538 3.6 3.9

1996 16.31745285 0.648696 11.2 3.4

1997 17.54321113 1.048081 15.1 11.2

1998 22.23863075 1.539005 28.7 26.9

1999 23.75351613 0.439815 24.1 20.8

2000 24.92054404 1.303011 28.2 25.8

2001 26.41104453 0.552465 22.8 15.8

2002 27.86337127 0.313615 30.6 14.9

2003 27.14838169 1.123603 55.4 24.9

2004 26.64885897 0.723164 31.4 10.6

2005 26.09114961 0.814795 15.2 7.1

2006 27.59584345 0.836927 26.8 0

2007 25.98683429 1.832683 79.7 1.5

2008 28.6036937 3.609875 26.6 61.5

2009 35.40601916 1.394193 - -

2010 36.87352852 0.817869 - -

2011 39.7234589 2.751477 - -

2012 48.91732075 2.246971 - -

Source: RBI

*Data on purchase and sale of Dollar is in (US$ billion)

Sales in the foreign exchange market are generally

guided by excess demand conditions that may arise due to

several factors. Similarly, the Reserve Bank purchases dollars

from the market when there is an excess supply pressure in

market due to capital in flows. It is clear from above table

that every appreciation of rupee is immediately reacted by

RBI by the purchase of dollar and depreciation is reacted by

sale of dollar. Thus RBI is active in controlling exchange

rate volatility.

4. Suggestions

With the wave of globalisation moving all around the

world, international trade and transactions are increasing.

Thus exchange rate stability is violated every time.

Controlling volatility all time is a tedious job for RBI. It is

better to let participant be able to avoid the risk and losses

from volatility of exchange rate by entering into derivative

market.

5. Conclusion: Exchange rate volatility is unavoidable under

the system of free trade. From findings mention above,

volatility is hampering the export growth and thus India

need active monetary policy along with developed financial

derivative market for trader to participate. This will reduce

the risk of volatility in international trade and thereby foster

India’s foreign trade.
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The flipside of currency depreciation in BRICS: Who won and who lost, and

future implications of the jittery economy on trade
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ABSTRACT : In the past few months, Emerging Market Economies (EMEs) have faced a massive crisis due to the weakening

of their respective currencies. The aim of this research paper is to investigate the sectors in the BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India,

China and South Africa) that potentially benefitted from the crisis in each country. Topics that are to be covered:

A) the sectors that faced a surge in production and export, increased volume of exports and the effect on the Current Account

Deficit (CAD)

B) the effect on the real growth of the country

C) future of the stimulus of demand - economic, political, sociological and ecological factors contributing to the scenario.

JEL Classification: F1- Trade.  Keywords: Foreign exchange, foreign trade.

Introduction

In the June meeting of the Federal Reserve’s Open

Market Committee, Ben Bernanke, the Chairman of Fed,

announced that there would be a ‘tapering’ of the Fed’s

quantitative easing (QE3) policy, which was estimated at

that time to be close to $85 million a month. While this move

was keeping conservatism in light, it was construed to be

self-interested and narrow. And for good measure, since the

ripple effect that it created in the emerging market economies

(EMEs) was a little short of catastrophic. The USD, being

the global transaction currency, has high demand and the

tapering stripped off the “easy” liquidity, thus sending the

EMEs in a downward spiral.

Another cause behind the havoc in the EMEs was the

slowing real growth which adversely affected the commodity

market - imports and exports.

As a result

� The Brazilian Real, which was going at a steadfast

average of 2.15 BRL per USD in May 2013, registered a

record low on 22nd August 2013, of 2.45 BRL to the

USD.

� The Russian Ruble bought 1 USD at an average 31.76

RUB in May 2013, registered a record low of 33.51 RUB

per USD on 6th September.

� The Indian Rupee which was 57.50 INR per USD on an

average in May 2013, registered a record low of 68.83

INR per USD on 29th August 2013.

� Contrarily, the Chinese Yuan which a constant 6.11 CNY

per USD in May 2013, steadily strengthened to 6.08 in

the recent times.

� The South African Rand which was an average of 9.96

ZAR per USD in May 2013, recorded a low at 10.39

ZAR to USD on 28th August 2013.

This freefall of currencies caused crises in the Current

Account Deficit (CAD), Foreign Direct Investment (FDI)

and interests of the Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs).

In India, there was a massive sell-out of bonds valued at $1

billion, leading to further foreign exchange harm.

However, weakening of the currency led to the exports

becoming competitive in the global market. There has been

some correction in the dismal situation due to this fact, and

will be explored in the further sections.

Section A: Exports of the BRICS Countries, Recent

Fluctuations in Volume and Market Prices and Effect on

CAD

Brazil

I. Brazil’s main exports[1]

� Iron ores and concentrates, which constitute

14.71% of the total exports.

� Petroleum and crudes, 8.31% share of the total

exports.

� Raw sugar cane, 6.29% share of total exports.

� Soya beans, 5.45% of the total exports.

� Poultry, 2.89% of the total exports.

II. Fluctuations in volume in the June-October 2013

period[6]

The June volume of exports from Brazil fell by 3.16%

to $21.13 billion, due to the weakening of the currency and

deficit in supply. It fell further by 1.56% in August, gained

2.88% in September, fell again by 2% in October 2013. This

fluctuation can be attributed to the slow economic growth

and inflation in the economy (elaborated further in Section

B).
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The sector-wise break-up of the exports is as follows

� Iron ore: Brazil’s largest iron ore exporting company,

Vale, registered a net income of $30 billion, up from the

last year’s July-September quarter of $24 billion.

However, Brazil lost most of its market share to

Australia, whose currency stability proved to be a

winning factor.

� Petroleum and crudes: Brazil’s oil exports skyrocketed

in July 2013, at 9.2 million barrels exported [7] . There

has been a slight deterioration in the boom, but it

continues to be above average.

� Sugar, Soya-beans and poultry: Brazil reported a $4.8

billion revenue in October 2013 from poultry exports,

mainly beef, making it the leading exporter in this sector.

Sugar exports were on an all time high in September

2013, but the trend slowed due to loss of inventory in

a fire in the port. Soya- bean export grew to 3.5 million

tons in September 2013, up from 1.68 million tons a

year earlier.

III. Effect on  Current Account Deficit (CAD)

The CAD in June 2013 was $6.42 billion, lesser by

22.31% as compared to the May 2013 figure. The figure

declined further to $3.95 billion in July 2013. However, as a

result of stagflation, the figure shot up to $9.01 billion in

August 2013. Investor sentiments were revived in September

and October, leading to a gradual decline of the figure.

October marked a low of $2.62 billion CAD.

Russia

I. Russia’s main exports [2]

� Crude petroleum oils which constitute 36.34% of

the total exports.

� Refined petroleum oils, 16.05% of the total exports.

� Petroleum gases, 11.91 % of the total exports.

�  Briguette coal, 2.63% of total exports.

� Semi-finished coal products, 1.83% of total

exports.

II. Fluctuations in volume in the June-October 2013 period

The Russian export economy followed the fluctuating

trend with respect to total volume. There was not a marked

difference in June 2013, but in July 2013 the exports increased

by 4.5% to $43.45 billion. The graph slumped in August

2013, when exports hit $42.15 billion but increased by 5.6%

in the September-October 2013 period to $44.53 billion.

The sector-wise break-up of the exports is as follows

� Petroleum and crude oils: There was a fall in oil exports

in July-October 2013 quarter by 8.1% to 4.9 million

barrels, attributing to the rising shipping costs.

� Coal and coal products: There was an increase coal

exports by 8% in the quarter and the main buyers were

Asian countries like China and Japan.

III. Effect on  Current Account Surplus (CAS)

The Russian economy had a strong surplus of  $25.02

billion in the early quarter of 2013. However, strong

devaluation of the currency led to the surplus being valued

at $11 billion in the July-October 2013 quarter. The wavering

demand for exports had a contributing effect in the current

situation.

India

I. India’s main exports [3]

� Refined petroleum oils, constituting 15.40% of the

exports.

� Diamonds, 11.71% of the exports.

� Iron ores and concentrates, 3.57% of the exports.

� Precious metal jewellery, 3.28% of the exports.

� Packaged medicines, 2.96% of the exports.

II. Fluctuations in volume in the June-October 2013 period

There was a double digit rise in exports from India in

the month of July 2013, registering a 11.64% growth. The

trend continued and October registered a growth rate of

14%. Contributing factors to this upward curve were the

favourable government policies and opening of new havens

such as Latin America and Africa.

The sector-wise break-up of the exports is as follows

� Petroleum: There was a staggering 124% increase in

petroleum exports from India in July 2013. However, as

the market price became competitive, the trend receded,

but it is still rendered to be above average.

� Diamonds: There was 11% increase to the tune of $606

million in diamonds exports in September 2013 and the

trend continues.

� Iron ore: Iron ore exports faced a 54% slump due to the

new stringent mining laws. The total volume being 6.8

million tonnes.

� Precious metals: There was 21% increase in the gold

exported by India in August 2013 when it exported $561

million worth of it. However, there was a slump in the

trend in October 2013.

� Pharmacy: There has been a 25% surge in pharmacy

exports in 2012-13, the total revenue being $14.7 billion.
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III. Effect on  Current Account Deficit (CAD)

The CAD grew upto 20% as compared to $18.17 billion

in February-May 2013 to $21.8 billion in June-August 2013.

The main reasons for this is the sharp devaluation of the

currency as well as increase in imports. The general increase

in exports had little corrective effect.

China

I. China’s main exports[4]

� Automatic data processing machines, constituting

8.87% total exports.

� Telephones, 4.12% of total exports.

�  Transmission apparatus, 3.80% of total exports.

� Accessories for office machines, 2.63% of total exports.

� Printers and copying machines, 2.01% of the total

exports.

II. Fluctuations in volume in the June-October 2013 period

The strengthening of the Chinese Yuan did not have

much effect on the volume of exports from China, given

their competitive pricing in the international market. There

was a dip of 4.5% in June-July 2013, owing to the currency

depreciation of competing countries. It rose to $190.6 billion

in August-September 2013 but fell again to $185.4 billion in

September-October 2013. However, there is a consistency

maintained.

The electronics and IT sector itself generated $50.49

billion of the total exports.

III. Effect on  Current Account Surplus (CAS)

There has been a reduction of 22% in the Current

Account Surplus of China, dropping from $50.9 billion to

$39.7 billion. This can be attributed to the strengthening of

the Yuan against the US dollar, as well as increase in imports

from Asian countries as well as America.

South  Africa

I. South Africa’s main exports[5]

� Basic iron and steel, 15.51% of total exports.

� Motor vehicles, 12.93% of total exports.

� Precious and non-ferrous metals, 12.12% of total

exports.

� Basic chemicals, 6.13% of total exports.

� Refined petroleum products, 3.47% of total exports.

II. Fluctuations in volume in the June-October 2013 period

The South African export economy follows the same

fluctuation trend as Brazil, Russia and India. The exports

consistently grew over June-September 2013, peaking at

$75687 million in July-August 2013. There has been a decline

but the amount is still above average.

III. Effect on  Current Account Deficit (CAD)

The dramatic devaluation of the South African Rand

led to the widening of the CAD. The CAD is upto 21% from

$19200 million in Feb-May 2013 to $21620 million in June-

September 2013. The wavering export graph has little

corrective effect on the CAD.

Section B: Is There Real Growth In The Economies?

There has been much debate about the substantial

growth of the economy in BRICS. Indicators show that there

has been subpar growth in all countries except China. Brazil

registered a 0.9% GDP growth rate (2012), Russia has

registered 3.4%,  India has registered a 3.2% and South

Africa, 2.5%. The dismal scenario wanes further when

compared to the whopping 7.8% growth rate in China.

It can thus be concluded that the inflation in the

economies is a direct result of demand overshot supply.

This is causing havoc in the domestic and international

economy to equal measure.

China has emerged as a frontrunner in this debacle

because of its effective (albeit stringent) labour laws and

monitoring governance. 56% of the entire population of

China was employed in factories (72% of India’s population

is in agriculture). This has opened massive opportunities in

foreign markets for Chinese products. This has also ensured

that inflation or stagflation will be quickly absorbed into the

production system itself and not produce tremors in the

economy.

Another reason for inflation in the EMEs is the massive

liquidity injections into the economy without any

substantiating development. The money supply increases,

thereby causing problems such as increased WPI

(Wholesale Price Index) and CPI (Consumer Price Index).

This is relevant to foreign trade because the quantity of

goods that are to be exported are now diverted to the

domestic economy in order to control the inflation.

Thus, China is the only exception to the inflated

emerging market economies.

Section C: Future of The Export Economy of The Brics

The Fed recently announced that it would restart its

bond-buying policy. This is good news for the EMEs as

there are prospects of currency stabilisation. However, the

effect on the import-export economy is ambiguous since

the extent of stability solely depends on investor sentiments.
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A generic pattern of  slowing of the export boom is

seen in the recent figures.  The net devaluation of the

currency in the long run will determine the position of the

country in the international market. However, forging of new

alliances, exploring new import destinations and advent of

technology can become solidifying factors to trade. The

biggest boost that the country will have is that of real growth,

which will not only improve the trade, but also correct

inflation, boost productivity and reaffirm the country’s

potential in the global diaspora.

CONCLUSION

It is said that the one with key to all answers is the

king and it has been proven that China is the clear winner in

the race to become the next economic stronghold. The export

sector has proven to be its ace, as there is a universal demand

for all of its goods. It is the country with the largest US

dollar reserves, and this has been strategically achieved by

selling more and buying less. The next big step that will

favour China in all spheres - export, import, alliances,

diplomatic relations, economic dominance, leadership in

Asian countries - is the internationalisation of the Renminbi/

Yuan, a step that the International Monetary Fund (IMF)

has been paving way for.

The remainder of the BRICS have many economic,

legal and political measures to take to be considered in the

same league as China. India especially has a long way to go.

Reforming trade laws would be a starting step; radically

changing perspective on international trade would be the

final one.
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